A COMPENDIUM OF RECENT RESEARCH ON STEM CELL-BASED THERAPY FOR COVID-19

EDITED BY: Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Bernat Soria, Robert Chunhua Zhao, Tarik Smani and Israel Valverde PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-225-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-225-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

A COMPENDIUM OF RECENT RESEARCH ON STEM CELL-BASED THERAPY FOR COVID-19

Topic Editors:

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Universidad Pablo de Olavide, Spain
Bernat Soria, Miguel Hernández University of Elche, Spain
Robert Chunhua Zhao, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union
Medical College, China
Tarik Smani, Sevilla University, Spain
Israel Valverde, Institute of Biomedicine of Seville, Spanish National Research
Council (CSIC), Spain

Citation: Hmadcha, A., Soria, B., Zhao, R. C., Smani, T., Valverde, I., eds. (2022). A Compendium of Recent Research on Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Covid-19. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-225-7

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: A Compendium of Recent Research on Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Covid-19

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Bernat Soria, Robert C. Zhao, Tarik Smani and Israel Valverde

08 Combating COVID-19 With Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cell Therapy: Promise and Challenges

Shihua H. Wang, Ashok K. Shetty, Kunlin Jin and Robert Chunhua Zhao

11 SARS-CoV-2-Specific Memory T Lymphocytes From COVID-19 Convalescent Donors: Identification, Biobanking, and Large-Scale Production for Adoptive Cell Therapy

C. Ferreras, B. Pascual-Miguel, C. Mestre-Durán, A. Navarro-Zapata, L. Clares-Villa, C. Martín-Cortázar, R. De Paz, A. Marcos, J. L. Vicario, A. Balas, F. García-Sánchez, C. Eguizabal, C. Solano, M. Mora-Rillo, B. Soria and A. Pérez-Martínez

- 23 Targeted Mitochondrial Therapy With Over-Expressed MAVS Protein From Mesenchymal Stem Cells: A New Therapeutic Approach for COVID-19 Amirhesam Babajani, Pooya Hosseini-Monfared, Samin Abbaspour, Elham Jamshidi and Hassan Niknejad
- 33 COVID-19 Pathology on Various Organs and Regenerative Medicine and Stem Cell-Based Interventions

Babak Arjmand, Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam, Peyvand Parhizkar Roudsari, Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani, Fakher Rahim, Kambiz Gilany, Fereshteh Mohamadi-Jahani, Hossein Adibi and Bagher Larijani

- **47** Developing Cytokine Storm-Sensitive Therapeutic Strategy in COVID-19 Using 8P9R Chimeric Peptide and Soluble ACE2 Yasaman Nazerian, Kimia Vakili, Ali Ebrahimi and Hassan Niknejad
- **59** Application of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cellular and Organoid Models for COVID-19 Research Yumei Luo, Mimi Zhang, Yapei Chen, Yaoyong Chen and Detu Zhu
- 67 Immunopathology and Immunosenescence, the Immunological Key Words of Severe COVID-19. Is There a Role for Stem Cell Transplantation? Mattia Emanuela Ligotti, Fanny Pojero, Giulia Accardi, Anna Aiello, Calogero Caruso, Giovanni Duro and Giuseppina Candore
- **98** Recent Advances of COVID-19 Modeling Based on Regenerative Medicine Bagher Larijani, Najmeh Foroughi-Heravani, Mina Abedi, Akram Tayanloo-Beik, Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani, Hossein Adibi and Babak Arjmand
- 118 T Cell Immunity Evaluation and Immunodominant Epitope T Cell Receptor Identification of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Spike Glycoprotein in COVID-19 Convalescent Patients Luo Li, Qian Chen, Xiaojian Han, Meiying Shen, Chao Hu, Siyin Chen, Jing Zhang, Yingming Wang, Tingting Li, Jingjing Huang, Shenglong Li, Yanan Hao and Aishun Jin





Editorial: A Compendium of Recent Research on Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Covid-19

Abdelkrim Hmadcha^{1,2,3}*, Bernat Soria^{2,4}, Robert C. Zhao^{5,6,7}, Tarik Smani^{8,9} and Israel Valverde^{10,11}

¹Department of Biotechnology, University of Alicante, Alicante, Spain, ²University of Pablo de Olavide, Seville, Spain, ³Spanish Biomedical Research Centre in Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Disorders (CIBERDEM), Madrid, Spain, ⁴Department of Physiology, Institute of Bioengineering-ISABIAL, University Miguel Hernández School of Medicine, Alicante, Spain, ⁵Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, School of Basic Medicine, Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China, ⁶School of Life Sciences, Shanghai University, Shanghai, China, ⁷International Society on Aging and Disease, Bryan, TX, United States, ⁸Cardiovascular Pathophysiology, Institute of Biomedicine of Seville, University Hospital of Virgen del Rocío, University of Seville, CSIC, Seville, Spain, ⁹Department of Medical Physiology and Biophysics, University of Seville, Seville, Spain, ¹⁰Pediatric Cardiology Unit, Virgen del Rocio University Hospital, Seville, Spain, ¹¹Institute of Biomedicine of Seville, University Hospital of Virgen del Rocío, University of Seville, CSIC, Seville, Spain

Keywords: advanced therapies, clinical trials, cell therapy, mesenchymal stromal cells, CAR T cells, COVID-19, cytokine storm, immunomodulaion

Editorial on the Research Topic

A Compendium of Recent Research on Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Covid-19

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Valerie Kouskoff, The University of Manchester, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Abdelkrim Hmadcha khmadcha@upo.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 11 November 2021 Accepted: 18 November 2021 Published: 14 December 2021

Citation:

Hmadcha A, Soria B, Zhao RC, Smani T and Valverde I (2021) Editorial: A Compendium of Recent Research on Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Covid-19. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:813384. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.813384

INTRODUCTION

We have been dealing with an unprecedented global health crisis for nearly 2 years now. This started after an outbreak of atypical pneumonia of unknown etiology that was described in late December 2019 in China's Wuhan Province, the etiologic agent causing this pneumonia episode was identified as a novel coronavirus named "Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome CoronaVirus-2" (SARS-CoV-2)" (Coronaviridae Study Group of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses, 2020; Wu et al., 2020) and the disease was designated COronaVIrus Disease-2019 (COVID-19). The rapid expansion of COVID-19 cases in number and geographic distribution led the World Health Organization (WHO) to declare a global health emergency. The control of the disease was challenged by the lack of antiviral treatment and vaccines, by asymptomatic carriers and the rapid increase in infections worldwide; COVID-19 was officially classified and declared by WHO as a pandemic on March 11, 2020 (WHO, 2020).

COVID-19 affects people differently, the majority of infected individuals develop mild to moderate disease and recover without hospitalization, but a subgroup of patients progresses to severe disease, with a high mortality rate and limited treatment options. However, the clinical features of COVID-19 vary from asymptomatic forms to conditions involving multi-organ and systemic manifestations in terms of septic shock and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS). Common primary pathologic features of critical COVID-19 overlap with acute lung injury (ALI) and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). While most infected individuals are usually asymptomatic or have mild symptoms, about 15% are affected by ARDS, of which 5% progress to multiple organ dysfunction syndrome or failure (Hui and Zumla, 2019).

COVID-19 involves direct attacks by SARS-CoV-2 on cells and secondary attacks on the body following activation of the immune system. Consequently, both the virus and the immune response

can cause damage to the body, leading to common complications or secondary infection. The spike protein (S-protein) of SARS-CoV-2 binds to its functional receptor angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), triggering endocytosis of virus particles to infect target cells (Li et al., 2003; Tay et al., 2020). Therefore, potential therapeutic candidates for studying the mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 infection include the ACE2 receptor (Zhang et al., 2020).

Given that the exact pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 and the dynamics of the disease are not yet fully understood, nor are specific antiviral options available, makes the treatment of patients with COVID-19 still a challenge (Tay et al., 2020); therefore, the available treatment options are limited. Several antiviral drugs (Grein et al., 2020), corticosteroids (Wang et al., 2020; Rasheedi et al., 2021), convalescent plasma (Shen et al., 2020; Verma et al., 2020) and neutralizing monoclonal antibodies (Shanmugaraj et al., 2020) have been tested and have undergone different phases of clinical trials, but none have been approved for COVID-19. Another alarming development is the recurrence of infection in recovered and even vaccinated individuals, which challenges the efficacy of current treatments (Lan et al., 2020). Under this situation, research has been carried out at an unprecedented speed to achieve a vaccine. Although several vaccines are now available and millions of people have received their full dose, the process of assessing safety, efficacy is still challenged, and a longer follow-up is still required (Kadkhoda, 2021; Olliaro et al., 2021; Yan et al., 2021). While the efficacy of vaccines has focused on the reduction of the number of symptomatic cases, the durability of acquired immunity following vaccination, the protection against reinfection by SARS-CoV-2 and its emerging variants remain to be proven and even improved (Townsend et al., 2021).

Thus, there is an urgent need for the development of feasible, safe and effective therapies. Therefore, growing experimental and clinical evidence suggests that advanced therapies could provide a potential therapeutic alternative for COVID-19 caused by SARS-CoV-2 and its emerging variants. In particular, cell therapy has been proven to significantly improve the sequelae related to COVID-19. In this regard, MSCs are among the most frequently used cell type for cell therapy, and considerable efforts have been made to introducing this advanced cell-based therapy into clinical practice. MSCs have been established as promising candidate sources for cell-based therapy their broad pharmacological effects and due to their contributions to tissue and organ homeostasis, repair and support by self-renewal and multi-differentiation, as well as by their anti-inflammatory, antiproliferative, immunomodulatory, pro-angiogenic, pleiotropic, tropic and trophic properties. Various diseases have been successfully treated by MSCs in animal models and hundreds of clinical trials related to the potential benefits of MSCs are ongoing or have been successfully concluded so far. MSCs also secrete a myriad of soluble factors and vesicles altogether contribute to tissues and organs support, repair, homeostasis and functionality. The efficacy of MSCs and their secretory factors has been proven in successfully reducing inflammation, dampening immune responses and repairing lung damage in various pre-clinical and clinical models (Hmadcha et al., 2009).

As described in the review by Ligotti et al., the key roles of both immunosenescence and immunopathology in the outcome of SARS-CoV-2 infection are supported by the beneficial results obtained with infusion of MSCs that act by restoring immune homeostasis and contributing to lung repair. In addition, the potential of MSC-based therapy as an option for severe or critically ill COVID-19 patients has been explored (Leng et al., 2020; Sánchez-Guijo et al., 2020). Several studies focus on regenerative, immunomodulatory, and anti-inflammatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) to reduce the manifestation of cytokine storm and to restore ARDS and ALI, exhibiting an important option to be applied to critical COVID-19 patients; or on MSCs secretome to treat COVID-19 pneumonia (Li et al., 2020; Liang et al., 2020; Meng et al., 2020; Tang et al., 2020; Lanzoni et al., 2021). The contribution of Arjmand et al., summarizes the research on cytokine storm, one of the key causes of MODS as a hallmark of COVID-19 severity, highlights the benefit of stem cell-based therapies to attenuate cytokine release syndrome and suggests emerging advantages of MSCs secretome and extracellular vesicles (EVs) as treatment approaches for COVID-19. Besides, 2 interesting hypotheses and theories are formulated on the one hand, Nazerian et al., hypothesize that the use of chimeric 8P9R peptide and soluble ACE2 using exosome-liposome hybrids in the form of a two-step phase-dependent therapeutic strategy could inhibit the viral intracellular pathway and also inhibit progression in cytokine storm in a personalized manner. Given that this strategy is sensitive to the inflammatory status of individuals, it may improve the outcome of COVID-19 mortality. On the other hand, Babajani et al., provided new shreds of evidence about mitochondrial dysfunction and its effects on the immune response in COVID-19 and hypothesized that in vivo and in vitro experimental transferring healthy mitochondria by MSCs to damaged cells can provide a new therapeutic approach for COVID-19.

Within the cell therapy approach, other research includes the use of hematopoietic stem cells derived from umbilical cord blood, bone marrow, or mobilized peripheral blood, as well as immune chimeric antigen receptor T-cell (CAR-T cells) (Vardhana and Wolchok, 2020). Of note, an interesting immunology and virology original paper by Li et al., provided data that can further improve development of vaccines and new therapies against COVID-19. In this regard, authors reported a series of potential epitopes on SARS-CoV-2 spike glycoprotein which are recognized by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells from patients recovered from COVID-19 in China. The authors found that CD134⁺ and CD137⁺ T cells can react to an epitope outside the spike receptor domain (RBD), isolated T-cell receptor (TCR) sequences from the immunoreactive T cells and also inserted into Jurkat and CD4⁺ T cells to identify an epitope-specific TCR. Ferreras et al., for their part, characterized SARS-CoV-2-specific T-cell population within the CD45RA $^-$ memory T cells (either CD4⁺ or CD8⁺) from blood of convalescent donors. In addition, the authors have demonstrated that these cells can be easily, effectively, and rapidly isolated following a donor selection strategy based on IFN- γ expression after exposure with SARS-CoV-2-specific peptides and HLA antigen expression, thereby obtaining clinical-grade CD45RA⁻ memory T cells, without requirements for GMP conditions, allowing the establishment of a biobank of SARS-CoV-2 specific memory T cells to be used to treat moderate to severe cases of COVID-19 patients.

The understanding of the mechanism of infection and pathogenesis also have great appeal and are still limited. In this regard; the use of human pluripotent stem cells, both embryonic stem cells (hESCs) and induced stem cells (hiPSCs), to generate tissue-specific human organoids (lung, intestinal, liver, vascular, heart, and kidney organoids) may provide a next-generation cellular model for investigating viral infection and drug screening (Yang et al., 2020). In this context, Larijani et al., reviewed the currently available iPSC-derived cells, iPSC-derived organoid models and animal models for studying the pathophysiology mechanisms of COVID-19-associated disorders and discussed the challenges and limitations that need to be overcome to optimize modelling approaches for the disease, and proposed potential therapeutic advances identified in experimental studies. Relatedly, in their review Luo et al., recapitulated findings on the application of hiPSC-derived cell models and organoids for COVID-19 to understand the action of SARS-COV-2 on human cells, underlining the importance of developing these models for longterm experiments not only to study the pathology of SARS-CoV-2 infection, respiratory failure and dysregulation of organs and systems, but also, to mimic the natural host-virus interaction, to clarify viral infection mechanisms and to elucidate the in vivo conditions of viral life cycles and drug screening.

We would like to conclude referring to the opinion by Zhao CR and others, pioneer in using MSCs to improve the

REFERENCES

- Coronaviridae Study Group of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (2020). The Species Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Related Coronavirus: Classifying 2019-nCoV and Naming it SARS-CoV-2. Nat. Microbiol. 5 (4), 536–544. eng. Epub 20200302. doi:10.1038/s41564-020-0695-z
- Grein, J., Ohmagari, N., Shin, D., Diaz, G., Asperges, E., Castagna, A., et al. (2020). Compassionate Use of Remdesivir for Patients with Severe Covid-19. N. Engl. J. Med. 382 (24), 2327–2336. eng. Epub 20200410. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa2007016
- Hmadcha, A., Abdelkrim, H., Domínguez-Bendala, J., Juan, D. B., Wakeman, J., Jane, W., et al. (2009). The Immune Boundaries for Stem Cell Based Therapies: Problems and Prospective Solutions. J. Cel Mol Med 13 (8A), 1464–1475. eng. Epub 20090706. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00837.x
- Hui, D. S. C., and Zumla, A. (2019). Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome. Infect. Dis. Clin. North America 33 (4), 869–889. Cited in: Pubmed; PMID 31668196. doi:10.1016/j.idc.2019.07.001
- Kadkhoda, K. (2021). Post-adenoviral-based COVID-19 Vaccines Thrombosis: A Proposed Mechanism. J. Thromb. Haemost. 19 (7), 1831–1832. eng. Epub 20210505. doi:10.1111/jth.15348
- Lan, L., Xu, D., Ye, G., Xia, C., Wang, S., Li, Y., et al. (2020). Positive RT-PCR Test Results in Patients Recovered from COVID-19. *JAMA* 323 (15), 1502–1503. eng. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.2783
- Lanzoni, G., Linetsky, E., Correa, D., Messinger Cayetano, S., Alvarez, R. A., Kouroupis, D., et al. (2021). Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells for COVID -19 Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: A Double-blind, Phase 1/2a, Randomized Controlled Trial. *Stem Cell Transl Med* 10 (5), 660–673. eng. Epub 20210105. doi:10.1002/sctm.20-0472

outcome in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia (Leng et al., 2020). Wang et al., bring the debate about the clinical use of MSCs and MSCs-derived EVs for combating COVID-19, the risk of their uncontrolled commercial application to the forefront and the lack of any suggestions on regulations and guidelines for regulatory agencies to adopt new policies to prevent the sale of unproven MSC-based treatments in COVID patients.

Here we assembled a compendium of 9 manuscripts (2 original research, 4 reviews, 2 hypothesis and theory and 1 opinion) that cover the scope of this research topic, thus highlighting some of the recent advances and progresses of preclinical and clinical research and discussing some of the critical aspects related to the application of stem cell for COVID-19. Altogether, the ultimate goal of all these strategies is to achieve a safe and controlled therapy for COVID-19.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all contributing authors, reviewers and Frontiers journal editorial team for their support to this Research Topic.

- Leng, Z., Zhu, R., Hou, W., Feng, Y., Yang, Y., Han, Q., et al. (2020). Transplantation of ACE2- Mesenchymal Stem Cells Improves the Outcome of Patients with COVID-19 Pneumonia. *Aging Dis.* 11 (2), 216–228. doi:10.14336/AD.2020.0228
- Li, W., Moore, M. J., Vasilieva, N., Sui, J., Wong, S. K., Berne, M. A., et al. (2003). Angiotensin-converting Enzyme 2 Is a Functional Receptor for the SARS Coronavirus. *Nature* 426 (6965), 450–454. Pubmed; PMID 14647384. doi:10.1038/nature02145
- Li, Z., Niu, S., Guo, B., Gao, T., Wang, L., Wang, Y., et al. (2020). Stem Cell Therapy for COVID-19, ARDS and Pulmonary Fibrosis. *Cell Prolif* 53 (12), e12939, 2020 . eng. Epub 20201024. doi:10.1111/cpr.12939
- Liang, B., Chen, J., Li, T., Wu, H., Yang, W., Li, Y., et al. (2020). Clinical Remission of a Critically Ill COVID-19 Patient Treated by Human Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 99 (31), e21429. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000021429
- Meng, F., Xu, R., Wang, S., Xu, Z., Zhang, C., Li, Y., et al. (2020). Human Umbilical Cord-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy in Patients with COVID-19: a Phase 1 Clinical Trial. Sig Transduct Target. Ther. 5 (1), 172. doi:10.1038/ s41392-020-00286-5
- Olliaro, P., Torreele, E., and Vaillant, M. (2021). COVID-19 Vaccine Efficacy and Effectiveness-The Elephant (Not) in the Room. *Lancet Microbe* 2 (7), e279–e280. eng. We declare no competing interests. Epub 20210420. doi:10.1016/S2666-5247(21)00069-0
- Rasheedi, M. A., Alhazmi, Y., Almaqwashi, N., Mateq Ali, A., Kardam, A., Sharaf, M., et al. (2021). Corticosteroid Therapy for 2019-nCoV-infected Patients: A Case Series of Eight Mechanically Ventilated Patients. *Clin. Case Rep.* 9 (5), e04066, 2021. eng. None declared. Epub 20210326. doi:10.1002/ccr3.4066
- Sánchez-Guijo, F., García-Arranz, M., López-Parra, M., Monedero, P., Mata-Martínez, C., Santos, A., et al. (2020). Adipose-derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for the Treatment of Patients with Severe SARS-CoV-2

Pneumonia Requiring Mechanical Ventilation. A Proof of Concept Study. *EClinicalMedicine* 25, 100454. doi:10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100454

- Shanmugaraj, B., Siriwattananon, K., Wangkanont, K., and Phoolcharoen, W. (2020). Perspectives on Monoclonal Antibody Therapy as Potential Therapeutic Intervention for Coronavirus Disease-19 (COVID-19). Asian Pac. J. Allergy Immunol. 38 (1), 10–18. doi:10.12932/AP-200220-0773
- Shen, C., Wang, Z., Zhao, F., Yang, Y., Li, J., Yuan, J., et al. (2020). Treatment of 5 Critically Ill Patients with COVID-19 with Convalescent Plasma. *JAMA* 323 (16), 1582–1589. Pubmed; PMID 32219428. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.4783
- Tang, L., Jiang, Y., Zhu, M., Chen, L., Zhou, X., Zhou, C., et al. (2020). Clinical Study Using Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Patients with Severe COVID-19. *Front. Med.* 14 (5), 664–673. eng. Epub 20200806. doi:10.1007/ s11684-020-0810-9
- Tay, M. Z., Poh, C. M., Rénia, L., MacAry, P. A., and Ng, L. F. P. (2020). The trinity of COVID-19: Immunity, Inflammation and Intervention. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 20 (6), 363–374. eng. Epub 20200428. doi:10.1038/s41577-020-0311-8
- Townsend, J. P., Hassler, H. B., Wang, Z., Miura, S., Singh, J., Kumar, S., et al. (2021). The Durability of Immunity against Reinfection by SARS-CoV-2: a Comparative Evolutionary Study. *Lancet Microbe*. doi:10.1016/S2666-5247(21) 00219-6
- Vardhana, S. A., and Wolchok, J. D. (2020). The many Faces of the Anti-COVID Immune Response. J. Exp. Med. 217 (6), 678. doi:10.1084/jem.20200678
- Verma, H. K., Farran, B., and Bhaskar, L. V. K. S. (2020). Convalescent Plasma Transfusion a Promising Therapy for Coronavirus Diseases 2019 (COVID-19): Current Updates. *Antib Ther.* 3 (2), 115–125. eng. Epub 20200527. doi:10.1093/ abt/tbaa010
- Wang, Y., Jiang, W., He, Q., Wang, C., Liu, B., Zhou, P., et al. (2020). Early, Low-Dose and Short-Term Application of Corticosteroid Treatment in Patients with Severe COVID-19 Pneumonia: Single-center Experience from Wuhan. *China. Medrxiv* 2020, 32342. doi:10.1101/2020.03.06.20032342
- WHO (2020). Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV). situation report, 22. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO.

- Wu, F., Zhao, S., Yu, B., Chen, Y.-M., Wang, W., Song, Z.-G., et al. (2020). A New Coronavirus Associated with Human Respiratory Disease in China. *Nature* 579 (7798), 265–269. eng. Epub 20200203. doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2008-3
- Yan, Y., Pang, Y., Lyu, Z., Wang, R., Wu, X., You, C., et al. (2021). The COVID-19 Vaccines: Recent Development, Challenges and Prospects. *Vaccines (Basel)* 9 (4), 349. doi:10.3390/vaccines9040349
- Yang, L., Han, Y., Nilsson-Payant, B. E., Gupta, V., Wang, P., Duan, X., et al. (2020). A Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-Based Platform to Study SARS-CoV-2 Tropism and Model Virus Infection in Human Cells and Organoids. *Cell Stem Cell* 27 (1), 125–136. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2020.06.015
- Zhang, H., Penninger, J. M., Li, Y., Zhong, N., and Slutsky, A. S. (2020). Angiotensin-converting Enzyme 2 (ACE2) as a SARS-CoV-2 Receptor: Molecular Mechanisms and Potential Therapeutic Target. *Intensive Care Med.* 46 (4), 586–590. eng. Epub 20200303. doi:10.1007/s00134-020-05985-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Hmadcha, Soria, Zhao, Smani and Valverde. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Combating COVID-19 With Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cell Therapy: Promise and Challenges

Shihua H. Wang¹, Ashok K. Shetty², Kunlin Jin³ and Robert Chunhua Zhao^{1,4*}

¹ Institute of Basic Medical Sciences Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, School of Basic Medicine Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China, ² Institute for Regenerative Medicine and Department of Molecular and Cellular Medicine, Texas A&M University College of Medicine, College Station, TX, United States, ³ Department of Pharmacology and Neuroscience, University of North Texas Health Science Center Fort Worth, Fort Worth, TX, United States, ⁴ Department of Cell Biology, School of Life Sciences, Shanghai University, Shanghai, China

Keywords: mesenchymal stem cell, COVID-19, therapy, extracellular vesicle, exosome

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erdal Karaoz, Istinye University, Turkey

Reviewed by:

Philippe Bourin, Independent researcher, Toulouse, France Simone Pacini, University of Pisa, Italy

***Correspondence:** Robert Chunhua Zhao zhaochunhua@ibms.pumc.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 09 November 2020 Accepted: 09 December 2020 Published: 05 January 2021

Citation:

Wang SH, Shetty AK, Jin K and Chunhua Zhao R (2021) Combating COVID-19 With Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cell Therapy: Promise and Challenges. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:627414. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.627414 There is no effective therapy for COVID-19 currently. Until an efficient vaccine is developed, therapeutic strategies that facilitate faster recovery in COVID-19 patients developing life-threatening complications are urgently needed. From this perspective, mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) that have been used in the clinic for moderating the immune system in graft vs. host disease (GVHD) (Fisher et al., 2019), type 2 diabetes (Path et al., 2019), autoimmune diseases (Weiss and Dahlke, 2019), spinal cord injury (Shende and Subedi, 2017), and several other diseases deserve consideration for treating COVID-19. Importantly, MSCs lack angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2) receptor, which is a receptor widely distributed on the surface of human cells, and required for the entry of coronavirus into host cells. Such property ensures that injected MSCs can accomplish immunomodulatory effects without being destroyed by the virus. Our clinical trial, which is also the first published report, showed that the intravenous injection of human umbilical cord-derived MSCs eased the cytokine storm syndrome (CSS) and significantly improved the outcome in severe COVID-19 patients (Leng et al., 2020), suggesting the promise of MSC therapy for saving lives of COVID-19 patients developing severe complications. Although we repeatedly emphasize that studies in a larger cohort of patients are urgently needed to validate this promising therapeutic intervention, some businesses are taking advantage of our findings and offer cell therapy for COVID-19 patients, using types of cells that might not have been tested vigorously for safety and efficacy in FDA-approved clinical trials. This unethical commercial use of MSCs is criticized by Leigh Turner in his article entitled "Preying on Public Fears and Anxieties in a Pandemic: Businesses Selling Unproven and Unlicensed Stem Cell Treatments for COVID-19" published in Cell Stem Cell (Turner, 2020), which we read with great interest and are inspired to write this opinion paper. We strongly agree that such businesses could pose significant risks to patients and detract efforts to advance evidence-based stem cell therapy for COVID-19. We must emphasize that there are no approved MSC-based approaches for the prevention or treatment of COVID-19 patients, although several FDA-approved clinical trials are ongoing at present. Furthermore, we would like to suggest some guidelines from regulatory agencies that might stop such businesses from selling stem cell therapy to COVID-19 patients. Such guidelines should: (1) require companies to provide detailed scientific information on the safety and efficacy of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells in preclinical trials; clear criteria of MSCs manufacture and quality control; scientific rationale of organizing a clinical trial using stem cell therapy for patients; the qualifications of the principal investigators and all the medical staff; registered information



in clinical trial https://clinicaltrials.gov/. (2) promote central or local government to establish an independent stem cell therapy committee that could update latest research outcomes or provide professional suggestions for patients. (3) encourage the public to report unproven stem cell therapy to the state administration so that the illegal company could be punished. The objective of these guidelines is to help patients and their caretakers to enroll only in randomized clinical trials conducted in renowned hospitals with approvals from the local Institutional Review Board (IRB) and the Federal Drug Administration (FDA). We think generating and implementing a new policy or law at the national level could stop such cell treatment to COVID-19 patients. Besides, the social platform, including media, should publicize and educate the public regarding dangers associated with cell treatment offered by businesses that are not FDA-compliant.

In addition to MSCs, some businesses are also selling MSCderived extracellular vehicles (EVs) for COVID-19 therapy. EVs, nanosized vesicles secreted by virtually all cells for intercellular communication, carry a cargo comprising cytokines, growth factors, lipids, and microRNAs (Robbins and Morelli, 2014; Phinney and Pittenger, 2017; Kalluri and LeBleu, 2020). Studies in disease models have suggested that stem cell-derived EVs exert similar effects as their parental cells (Yanez-Mo et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2016). Because the therapeutic effects of MSCs have been attributed mainly to their secretome with a significant portion of which is disseminated through EVs (Rani et al., 2015; Keshtkar et al., 2018). MSC-derived EVs could be exploited for cell-free therapy. Compared to MSCs, EVs released from them have unique advantages such as more accessible storage and higher biosafety. However, the disadvantages include that

MSCs could home to sites of injury or inflammation and change their secretome depending on the local microenvironment. Importantly, MSCs are relatively large cells with an estimated average size of around $30 \,\mu$ m in suspension (ranging from 16 to 53 µm) (Furlani et al., 2009; Leibacher and Henschler, 2016). This large size makes them easily trapped in lungs after intravenous administration, which might be a hurdle for the treatment of other diseases but a benefit for COVID-19 as lung is the major target organ of coronavirus. So, this specific and preferential pulmonary localization after administration is an advantage of MSCs compared to EVs in terms of treating COVID-19 or other lung diseases. On the other hand, the targeted delivery of EVs to intended tissues after an intravenous administration is currently challenging to achieve. More importantly, the cargo of EVs is determined by the status of parental MSCs as well as culture conditions (Figure 1), which do not change after interactions with the local microenvironment.

A very recent article reported the safety and efficacy of allogeneic bone marrow MSC-derived EVs in severe COVID-19 patients who were already on hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin treatment. The study was a prospective, nonrandomized, open-label, investigation in which 24 SARS-CoV-2 PCR positive patients at a single hospital center received MSC-derived EVs (Sengupta et al., 2020). Although such EV treatment did result in 71% of patients recovering from COVID-19, it was unclear whether the recovery could be attributed to EVs as the study lacked a matching control group and the protein or the microRNA composition of EVs employed was not reported in the study. One should be extremely cautious with clinical trials using EVs as their cargo determines the functional effects. Therefore, before MSC-derived EVs can be used in a clinical setting, standardized protocols for scaledup production, isolation, functional evaluation, and batchto-batch consistency need to be developed. These require a rigorous characterization of the composition of EVs generated in different batches using proteomics and small-RNA sequencing, the release criteria, and the biological properties. Also, the efficacy of EVs needs to be validated in animal models. While the MSC-derived EVs have the potential to replace MSC therapy for many conditions (Kim et al., 2016, 2020; Long et al., 2017), EV therapy does not seem ready in a short time.

In summary, we would like to emphasize that well-controlled, rationally designed clinical trials based on reliable scientific data are needed for both MSCs and MSCs-derived EVs for combating COVID-19.

REFERENCES

- Fisher, S. A., Cutler, A., Doree, C., Brunskill, S. J., Stanworth, S. J., Navarrete, C., et al. (2019). Mesenchymal stromal cells as treatment or prophylaxis for acute or chronic graft-versus-host disease in haematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipients with a haematological condition. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 1:CD009768. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009768.pub2
- Furlani, D., Ugurlucan, M., Ong, L., Bieback, K., Pittermann, E., Westien, I., et al. (2009). Is the intravascular administration of mesenchymal stem cells safe? Mesenchymal stem cells and intravital microscopy. *Microvasc Res.* 77, 370–376. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2009.02.001
- Kalluri, R., and LeBleu, V. S. (2020). The biology, function, and biomedical applications of exosomes. Science 367:eaau6977. doi: 10.1126/science.aau6977
- Keshtkar, S., Azarpira, N., and Ghahremani, M. H. (2018). Mesenchymal stem cellderived extracellular vesicles: novel frontiers in regenerative medicine. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 9:63. doi: 10.1186/s13287-018-0791-7
- Kim, D. K., Nishida, H., An, S. Y., Shetty, A. K., Bartosh, T. J., and Prockop, D. J. (2016). Chromatographically isolated CD63+CD81+ extracellular vesicles from mesenchymal stromal cells rescue cognitive impairments after TBI. *Proc. Natl. Accad. Sic. U.S.A.* 113, 170–175. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1522297113
- Kim, H., Lee, M. J., Bae, E. H., Ryu, J. S., Kaur, G., Kim, H. J., et al. (2020). Comprehensive molecular profiles of functionally effective MSCderived extracellular vesicles in immunomodulation. *Mol Ther.* 28, 1628–1644. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.04.020
- Leibacher, J., and Henschler, R. (2016). Biodistribution, migration and homing of systemically applied mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 7:7. doi: 10.1186/s13287-015-0271-2
- Leng, Z., Zhu, R., Hou, W., Feng, Y., Yang, Y., Han, Q., et al. (2020). Transplantation of ACE2- Mesenchymal stem cells improves the outcome of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. *Aging Dis.* 11, 216–228. doi: 10.14336/AD.2020.0228
- Long, Q., Upadhya, D., Hattiangady, B., Kim, D. K., An, S. Y., Shuai, B., et al. (2017). Intranasal MSC-derived A1-exosomes ease inflammation, and prevent abnormal neurogenesis and memory dysfunction after status epilepticus. *Proc. Natl. Accad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, E3536–E3545. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1703920114
- Path, G., Perakakis, N., Mantzoros, C. S., and Seufert, J. (2019). Stem cells in the treatment of diabetes mellitus - focus on mesenchymal stem cells. *Metabolism* 90, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.10.005

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SW, AS, and RZ conceived, researched, and wrote the manuscript with input from KJ. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was funded by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81902848), the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central University (3332019062), CAMS Innovation Fund for Medical Sciences (2017-I2M-3-007), The National Key Research and Development Program of China (2016YFA0101000 and 2016YFA0101003), Beijing Key Laboratory of New Drug Development, and Clinical Trial of Stem Cell Therapy (BZ0381), National Institutes of Health (R01 NS106907 to AS).

- Phinney, D. G., and Pittenger, M. F. (2017). Concise review: MSC-derived exosomes for cell-free therapy. *Stem Cells* 35, 851–858. doi: 10.1002/st em.2575
- Rani, S., Ryan, A. E., Griffin, M. D., and Ritter, T. (2015). Mesenchymal stem cellderived extracellular vesicles: toward cell-free therapeutic applications. *Mol. Ther.* 23, 812–823. doi: 10.1038/mt.2015.44
- Robbins, P. D., and Morelli, A. E. (2014). Regulation of immune responses by extracellular vesicles. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 14, 195–208. doi: 10.1038/nr i3622
- Sengupta, V., Sengupta, S., Lazo, A. Jr., Woods, P., Nolan, A., and Bremer, N. (2020). Exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells as treatment for severe COVID-19. *Stem Cells Dev.* 29, 747–754. doi:10.1089/scd.2020.0080
- Shende, P., and Subedi, M. (2017). Pathophysiology, mechanisms and applications of mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of spinal cord injury. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 91, 693–706. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.04.126
- Turner, L. (2020). Preying on public fears and anxieties in a pandemic: businesses selling unproven and unlicensed "stem cell treatments" for COVID-19. *Cell Stem Cell* 26, 806–810. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2020.05.003
- Weiss, A. R. R., and Dahlke, M. H. (2019). Immunomodulation by mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs): mechanisms of action of living, apoptotic, and dead MSCs. *Front. Immunol.* 10:1191. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01191
- Yanez-Mo, M., Siljander, P. R., Andreu, Z., Zavec, A. B., Borras, F. E., Buzas, E. I., et al. (2015). Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions. *J Extracell. Vesicl.* 4:27066. doi: 10.3402/jev.v4. 27066

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Wang, Shetty, Jin and Chunhua Zhao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





SARS-CoV-2-Specific Memory T Lymphocytes From COVID-19 Convalescent Donors: Identification, Biobanking, and Large-Scale Production for Adoptive Cell Therapy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Khalid Ahmed Al-Anazi, King Fahad Specialist Hospital, Saudi Arabia

Reviewed by:

Eva M. Martinez-Caceres, Hospital Germans Trias i Pujol, Spain Aruna De Silva, General Sir John Kotelawala Defence University, Sri Lanka

*Correspondence:

A. Pérez-Martínez aperezmartinez@salud.madrid.org [†]These authors have contributed

equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 23 October 2020 Accepted: 01 February 2021 Published: 25 February 2021

Citation:

Ferreras C, Pascual-Miguel B, Mestre-Durán C, Navarro-Zapata A, Clares-Villa L, Martín-Cortázar C, De Paz R, Marcos A, Vicario JL, Balas A, García-Sánchez F, Eguizabal C, Solano C, Mora-Rillo M, Soria B and Pérez-Martínez A (2021) SARS-CoV-2-Specific Memory T Lymphocytes From COVID-19 Convalescent Donors: Identification, Biobanking, and Large-Scale Production for Adoptive Cell Therapy. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:620730. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.620730 C. Ferreras^{1†}, B. Pascual-Miguel^{1†}, C. Mestre-Durán¹, A. Navarro-Zapata¹, L. Clares-Villa¹, C. Martín-Cortázar¹, R. De Paz², A. Marcos², J. L. Vicario³, A. Balas³, F. García-Sánchez³, C. Eguizabal^{4,5}, C. Solano⁶, M. Mora-Rillo⁷, B. Soria^{8,9} and A. Pérez-Martínez^{1,10,11*}

¹ Hospital La Paz Institute for Health Research, IdiPAZ, University Hospital La Paz, Madrid, Spain, ² Hematology Department, University Hospital La Paz, Madrid, Spain, ³ Histocompatibility, Centro de Transfusión de Madrid, Madrid, Spain, ⁴ Research Unit, Basque Center for Blood Transfusion and Human Tissues, Osakidetza, Galdakao, Spain, ⁶ Cell Therapy, Stem Cells and Tissues Group, Biocruces Bizkaia Health Research Institute, Barakaldo, Spain, ⁶ Hospital Clínico Universitario de Valencia/Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria INCLIVA, Universidad de Valencia, Valencia, Spain, ⁷ Infectious Diseases Unit, Internal Medicine Department, Hospital La Paz Institute for Health Research, IdiPAZ, University Hospital La Paz, Madrid, Spain, ⁸ Instituto de Bioingeniería, Universidad Miguel Hernández de Elche, Alicante, Spain, ⁹ Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Hospital General y Universitario de Alicante (ISABIAL), Alicante, Spain, ¹⁰ Pediatric Hemato-Oncology Department, University Hospital La Paz, Madrid, Spain, ¹¹ Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Madrid, Spain

Syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic is causing a second outbreak significantly delaying the hope for the virus' complete eradication. In the absence of effective vaccines, we need effective treatments with low adverse effects that can treat hospitalized patients with COVID-19 disease. In this study, we determined the existence of SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells within CD45RA⁻ memory T cells in the blood of convalescent donors. Memory T cells can respond quickly to infection and provide long-term immune protection to reduce the severity of COVID-19 symptoms. Also, CD45RA⁻ memory T cells confer protection from other pathogens encountered by the donors throughout their life. It is of vital importance to resolve other secondary infections that usually develop in patients hospitalized with COVID-19. We found SARS-CoV-2specific memory T cells in all of the CD45RA⁻ subsets (CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺) and in the central memory and effector memory subpopulations. The procedure for obtaining these cells is feasible, easy to implement for small-scale manufacture, quick and costeffective, involves minimal manipulation, and has no GMP requirements. This biobank of specific SARS-CoV-2 memory T cells would be immediately available "off-the-shelf" to treat moderate/severe cases of COVID-19, thereby increasing the therapeutic options available for these patients.

Keywords: memory T cells (Tmem), adoptive cell therapy (ACT), COVID-19, lymphopenia, biobank

INTRODUCTION

The new severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) emerged as a worldwide pandemic in late 2019, causing an infectious disease known as COVID-19, with a wide and diverse range of symptoms. In most infected patients, the virus causes mild symptoms including fever and cough. In some cases, however, the virus causes a life-threatening disease with symptoms that include pneumonia, dyspnea and a hyperinflammatory process that includes cytokine storms and systemic immune thrombosis. Patients suffering from these symptoms require hospitalization and intensive treatment. A common feature of this severe disease is lymphopenia, which makes patients more vulnerable to co-infections and correlates with the severity disease (Qin et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2020).

The first wave of the pandemic was contained with strong restrictive measures, social distancing, and healthcare interventions, although thousands of patients died. Far from disappearing, the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic has begun its second wave, thereby dimming the hopes for its complete eradication. The development of vaccines has vigorously pursued to generate active immunity through immunization (Thanh Le et al., 2020), but there is uncertainty as to the duration of the antibody-mediated immune response to COVID-19 (Li et al., 2008). Effective treatments are needed that can reduce symptoms severity and hospital stays and increase survival.

So far, the only treatment for COVID-19 is supportive. Antiviral therapy with lopinavir–ritonavir is ineffective in improving the outcomes hospitalized patients with COVID-19 (Cao and Hayden, 2020). Remdesivir has been recently approved to treat COVID-19, although its beneficial effect is still controversial (Jomah et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Preliminary results with anti-inflammatory therapies such as dexamethasone (Recovery Collaborative Group et al., 2020) and mesenchymal stromal cells (Sanchez Guijo et al., 2020) have shown promising results for critically ill patients (World Health Organization [WHO] grade 6 and 7) (World Health Organization, 2020), but there are as of yet no effective antiviral therapies for stopping the progress of this disease in its early stages (WHO grade 1–4 moderate and severe) or even to prevent COVID-19.

The role of adaptive immunity in COVID-19 and the protective immunity conferred by T cells is still being characterized (Grifoni et al., 2020; Huang et al., 2020; Leung et al., 2020; Rodda et al., 2020; Sekine et al., 2020), and the role of memory T cells in conferring protection against SARS-CoV-2 has not yet been properly defined. The presence of memory T cells specific for another SARS coronavirus was found up to 11 years post-infection (Ng et al., 2016). This immunological memory creates a more rapid and robust secondary immune response to reinfections, which is determinant and constitutes the basis of adoptive cell therapy for viral infections in immunosuppressed patients in the context of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT). With this approach, the infusion of CD45RA⁻ memory T cells considerably reduces the morbidity and mortality induced by viral reactivations by, for example, cytomegalovirus (CMV) and Epstein Barr virus (EBV) and simultaneously reduces the alloreactivity conferred by naïve

CD45RA⁺ T cells (Bleakley et al., 2014, 2015; Teschner et al., 2014; Triplett et al., 2015, 2018).

Memory T cells do appear when T cells recognize a pathogen presented by their local antigen-presenting cells. These T cells activate, proliferate, and differentiate into effector cells secreting compounds to control the infection. Once the pathogen has been cleared, most of the antigen-specific T cells disappear, and a pool of heterogeneous long-lived memory T cells persist (Mueller et al., 2013; Pennock et al., 2013). This population of memory T cells, defined as CD45RA⁻ or CD45RO⁺, is maintained over time conferring rapid and long-term immune protection against subsequent reinfections (Berard and Tough, 2002; Channappanavar et al., 2014).

In this study, we report the presence of a SARS-CoV-2 specific T-cell population within CD45RA⁻ memory T cells from the blood of convalescent donors that can be easily, effectively, and rapidly isolated by CD45RA depletion. These specific SARS-CoV-2 CD45RA⁻ memory T cells may be able to clear virally infected cells and confer T-cell immunity for subsequent reinfections. These cells can be stored for use in moderate and severe cases of COVID-19 patients requiring hospitalization, thereby representing an off-the-shelf living drug.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Donors' Characteristics

The study included 6 COVID-19 convalescent donors and 2 healthy controls (Table 1). The convalescent donors were all tested for SARS-CoV-2 using reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) in nasopharyngeal samples between March and April 2020. The eligibility criteria included an age of 21-65 years, a history of COVID-19 with a documented positive RT-PCR test for SARS-CoV-2. At the time of this study, all donors tested negative for SARS-CoV-2. The median age of the convalescent donors was 37 years (range 23-41), 3 were women and 3 were men. The median duration until a negative PCR for SARS-CoV-2 was 13 days (range 5-17). Two of the donors presented with bilateral pneumonia but did not require hospitalization. Only 1 of the donors underwent treatment with oral hydroxychloroquine plus azithromycin plus lopinavir/ritonavir, while the other was treated with oral hydroxychloroquine plus azithromycin. The study enrolled two healthy donors who had not been exposed to COVID-19 patients and tested negative for anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in June 2020. All participants granted their written consent, and the study was approved by the Hospital Institution Review Board (IRB number: 254/20).

Cell Processing and Detection of SARS-CoV-2-Specific Memory T Cells by Interferon-Gamma Assay

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from healthy donors and convalescent donors were isolated from their peripheral blood by density gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-Paque (GE Healthcare, Chicago, IL, United States). Briefly,

TABLE 1 | Participants' characteristics.

Number of donors	6
Mean age, years (range)	37 (23–41)
Sex (female/male)	3/3
Time to SARS-CoV-2-negative PCR, days (range)	12.83 (5–17)
Bilateral pneumonia, n(%)	2 (33.3%)
Time until samples taken from negative PCR, days (range)	14.70 (7–33)
Outpatients, n (%)	6 (100%)
Treatment	
Acetaminophen	4
Hydroxychloroquine + azithromycin + lopinavir/ritonavir	1
Hydroxychloroquine + azithromycin	1

the cells were rested overnight (o/n) at 37°C in TexMACS Medium (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) supplemented with 10% AB serum (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, United States) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich). The following day 1×10^6 cells were stimulated with pooled or individual overlapping SARS-CoV-2 peptides at a final concentration of 0.6 nmol/mL. For the positive control, 1×10^6 cells were stimulated in the presence of the plate-bound stimulator OKT3 at a final concentration of 2.8 µg/mL (mouse anti-human CD3 Clone OKT3, BD Biosciences). Cells with SARS-CoV-2 peptides and positive control were co-stimulated with CD28/CD49d at a final concentration of 5 µg/mL (anti-human CD28/CD49d Purified Clone L293 L25, BD Biosciences). Basal interferon gamma (IFN-y) production by PBMCs was included as a background control in the absence of stimulation and costimulation. The peptide pools were short 15-mer peptides with 11 amino acid overlaps that can bind MHC class I and class II complexes and were therefore able to stimulate CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. The peptides cover the immunodominant sequence domains of the surface glycoprotein S, the complete sequence of the nucleocapsid phosphoprotein N and the membrane glycoprotein M (GenBank MN908947.3, Protein QHD43416.1, Protein QHD43423.2, Protein QHD43419.1; Miltenyi Biotec, Germany). After 5 h of stimulation, the cells were labeled with IFN-y Catch Reagent (IFN-y Secretion Assay-Detection Kit, human Miltenyi Biotec) containing bispecific antibodies for CD45 and IFN-y, which were secreted by the stimulated target cells. After the secretion phase, the cell surface-bound IFN- γ was targeted using the IFN- γ PE antibody included in the kit.

Phenotype of Memory T Cells Containing SARS-CoV-2-Specific T Cells Determined by Flow Cytometry Assay

We analyzed the cell composition of the T cells specifically activated by SARS-CoV-2 in the IFN- γ assay by subtracting the basal cytokine response from the background control. We stained the cell surface for 20 min at 4°C using the following fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies titrated to their optimal concentrations: CD45RA FITC (BD Pharmingen), CD27 APC (BD Pharmingen), CD3 VioGreen (Miltenyi Biotec), CD4 PECy7 (BD Pharmingen), CD8 APC Cy7 (BD Pharmingen), and 7AAD (BD Horizon). For the Treg panel CD25 BV421 (BD Horizon) and CD127 PE-CF594 (BD Horizon), were used. For the activation panel, HLA-DR BV 421 (BD Pharmingen), CD69 BV421 (Biolegend), and CD25 BV421 (BD Horizon), were used. For the exhaustion panel PD1 AF700 (Biolegend) and NKG2A BV421 (Biolegend) were used. For the chemokine panel, CD103 BV421 (BD Horizon) and CCR7 PE-CF594 (BD Horizon) were used. Cell acquisition was performed using a Navios cytometer (Beckman Coulter), acquiring an average of 200,000 cells. The analysis was performed using FlowJo 10.7.1 (FlowJo LLC).

Interleukin-15 Stimulation of Memory T Cells

CD45RA⁻ memory T lymphocytes from the convalescent donor were thawed and stimulated with interleukin (IL)-15 to obtain an activated phenotype. Cells were incubated in TexMACS Medium (Miltenyi Biotec, Germany) supplemented with 5% AB serum (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, United States), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, United States) and 50 ng/mL of IL-15 o/n and for 72 h. After that time the cells were harvested and the phenotypic assay was performed. The same culture without IL-15 was run in parallel as a control.

Donor Selection, Human Leukocyte Antigen Typing, and Large Clinical Scale CD45RA⁺ T Cell Depletion

The criteria for selecting convalescent donors were as follows: (1) IFN- γ secretion upon activation with the three SARS-CoV-2-specific peptides (M, N, S) and, (2) the most frequent human leukocyte antigen (HLA) typing to cover most of the population. The HLA phenotype of the convalescent donor was performed at the Centro de Transfusión of the Comunidad of Madrid on two independent samples by SSO and NGS: A*02:01,A*24:02/B*44:02,B*51:01/C*16:02,C*16:04/DRB1*07:01,DRB1*11:03/DQB1*02:02,DQB1*03:01.

Non-mobilized apheresis was performed at the Bone Marrow Transplantation and Cell Therapy Unit of University Hospital La Paz (Madrid, Spain) using a CliniMACS Plus cell separation system (Miltenyi Biotec). The donor provided written informed consent, and the study was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki protocol and the guidelines of the local ethics committee (IRB number 5579). The Unit was responsible for complying with the requirements regarding the quality and safety of the donation, obtention, storage, distribution, and preservation of human cells and tissues under the Spanish specific regulation. Following apheresis, CD45RA⁺ cells were depleted by immunomagnetic separation using a CliniMACS CD45RA Reagent and the CliniMACS Plus system (both from Miltenyi Biotec), following the manufacturer's instructions. CD45RAcells were frozen using autologous plasma plus 5% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and stored. We were able to cryopreserve 30 aliquots at various doses according to the trial design. The viability, purity, phenotype and spectratyping of the CD45RA⁻ fraction were analyzed by flow cytometry (FCM).

TCR Spectratyping

Most of the CDR3-encoding regions of the TCRV- and TCRV- γ genes were amplified using 2 V-J multi-primer sets for each locus and one additional multi-primer set covering D-J TCRV- β (Vitro, Master Diagnostica, Spain). Primers marked at their 5' end with 6-FAM fluorochrome enabled the denatured fragment size analysis by capillary electrophoresis (ABI3130 DNA-analyzer) and Genemapper software (Thermo Fisher Scientific, United States).

Statistical Analysis

The quantitative variables are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD), while the qualitative variables are expressed as percentages (%). A two-tailed Mann–Whitney non-parametric test was used for comparison means for the non-paired samples using GraphPad Prism (version 8.0.0 for Windows, GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA,

United States). A P-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Memory T Cells From Convalescent Donors Contain a SARS-CoV-2-Specific Population

We detected the presence of a SARS-CoV-2-specific population in both subsets of naïve CD45RA⁺ and memory CD45RA⁻ T cells in the PBMCs of the convalescent donors but not in the healthy controls (**Table 2** and **Figure 1**). The subsets also showed reactivity for the single peptides M, N, and S (data not shown). The mean CD45RA⁻CD3⁺ population in the convalescent donors was 90.01%. IFN- γ expression within the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺ population was 1.12%, whereas IFN- γ

TABLE 2 | Immunophenotypic characterization of the healthy controls and the convalescent donors after co-culture with the mixture of the three SARS-CoV-2 peptides (M, N, S).

Cell type	Subpopulation	C1	C2	Mean Pepx3	SD	D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	Mean Pepx3	SD
CD45RA-	% CD45RA-	37.68	22.17	29.93	10.97	31.20	24.07	18.16	43.90	19.90	33.24	28.41	9.67
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.77	0.99	3.00	0.30	0.90	0.87	1.14	0.94
CD45RA ⁻ CD3+	% CD3+	61.69	78.38	70.04	11.80	93.84	93.45	94.53	77.12	86.64	94.48	90.01	6.99
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.69	0.79	3.03	0.34	1.01	0.83	1.12	0.96
CD45RA ⁻ CD8+	% CD8+	17.14	9.97	13.56	5.07	17.02	22.17	16.27	26.62	11.88	35.07	21.51	8.37
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.38	0.46	3.45	0.12	0.70	0.00	0.85	1.29
	% CD8 + CM	87.86	87.29	87.58	0.40	86.52	65.72	76.30	88.00	90.01	42.50	74.84	18.28
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.31	0.33	2.88	0.11	0.64	0.48	0.79	1.04
	% CD8 + EM	12.06	12.67	12.37	0.43	13.44	34.25	23.70	11.94	9.85	57.47	25.11	18.30
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.79	5.58	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.06	2.23
CD45RA ⁻ CD4+	% CD4+	68.15	86.69	77.42	13.11	75.99	75.83	79.31	70.60	80.07	60.63	73.74	7.24
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.81	0.91	2.93	0.43	1.11	1.32	1.25	0.87
	% CD4 + CM	89.09	81.50	85.30	5.37	70.76	86.05	90.34	82.88	91.94	90.78	85.46	7.96
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.56	1.01	2.93	0.47	1.13	1.44	1.26	0.89
	% CD4 + EM	10.87	18.47	14.67	5.37	29.23	13.94	9.66	17.10	8.01	9.22	14.53	7.97
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.37	0.39	3.17	0.21	1.35	0.98	1.25	1.06
CD45RA+	% CD45RA+	61.91	77.83	69.87	11.26	68.69	75.86	81.86	55.98	80.30	66.75	71.57	9.74
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.67	0.93	6.47	0.10	0.52	0.32	1.50	2.45
CD45RA + CD3+	% CD3+	70.44	78.05	74.25	5.38	52.93	79.05	60.97	59.8	74.60	79.16	67.75	11.26
	IFN-γ+	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.40	0.27	1.25	0.06	0.23	0.17	0.40	0.43
CD45RA + CD8+	% CD8+	22.77	24.35	23.56	1.12	56.52	27.24	49.85	32.1	33.08	38.60	39.57	11.34
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.13	0.46	1.69	0.09	0.41	0.21	0.50	0.60
	% CD8 + Naive	72.84	83.57	78.21	7.59	76.57	84.64	80.40	95.9	80.80	44.83	77.19	17.19
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.17	0.22	0.51	0.10	0.29	0.15	0.24	0.15
	% CD8 + TEMRA	27.14	16.43	21.79	7.57	23.43	15.35	19.60	4.1	19.20	55.17	22.81	17.19
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.07	1.81	7.02	0.00	1.37	0.29	1.76	2.68
CD45RA + CD4+	% CD4+	70.26	70.09	70.18	0.12	32.35	70.30	47.27	65.88	59.50	54.40	54.95	13.75
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.47	0.14	0.55	0.06	0.22	0.09	0.26	0.21
	% CD4 + Naive	99.53	98.72	99.13	0.57	95.67	99.53	99.32	99.57	99.35	99.21	98.78	1.53
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.21	0.13	0.52	0.07	0.21	0.09	0.21	0.16
	% CD4 + TEMRA	0.47	1.28	0.88	0.57	4.33	0.47	0.68	0.43	0.65	0.79	1.23	1.53
	IFN-γ+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	5.77	0.00	2.30	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.35	2.35

The mean value after 5 h of exposure for the three SARS-CoV-2 peptides (M,N,S) is shown. SD, standard deviation; C, healthy controls; D, convalescent donors; Pepx3, mixture of the single SARS-Cov-2 peptides M,N,S.



expression within the CD45RA⁺CD3⁺ population was 0.40% (P = 0.065) (**Table 2**). We detected no IFN- γ expression in the healthy individuals. Despite the cohort's small size, we found no synergistic effect on the percentage of IFN- γ when the three peptides were mixed when compared with the single peptides (data not shown).

Identification of SARS-CoV-2-Specific CD4⁺ T and CD8⁺ T-Cell Responses Within CD45RA⁻ Memory T Cells

We then sought to determine whether both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ subsets contained specific SARS-CoV-2 T cells within the PBMCs of the convalescent donors. Among all subsets studied, we observed that CD45RA⁻CD4⁺ and CD45RA⁻CD8⁺ cells expressed 1.25 and 0.85% of IFN- γ , respectively (P = 0.132) (**Table 2**, **Figure 2**, and data not shown). Thus, all of the convalescent donors who recovered from COVID-19 generated CD4⁺ T and CD8⁺ T-cell responses against SARS-CoV-2 within the memory CD45RA⁻ T-cell population.

We then analyzed the T central memory (CM) (CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD27⁺) and T effector memory (EM) (CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD27⁻) compartments. Although there were no significant differences, we observed responses to the SARS-CoV-2-specific peptides within all subpopulations. Within the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ CM T-cell subsets, we detected a mean of 1.26 and 0.79% of IFN- γ^+ cells, respectively (P = 0.132). When examining the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ EM T-cell subsets, we detected a mean of 1.25 and 1.06% of IFN- γ^+ cells, respectively (P = 0.108) (**Table 2** and **Figure 3**). These data demonstrate the presence of a population of memory T cells specific for SARS-CoV-2 within the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺ memory T cells.

Large-Scale CD45RA Depletion. Creation of an Off-the-Shelf Biobank of CD45RA⁻ Memory T Cells From a COVID-19 Convalescent Donor

After depletion of the CD45RA⁺ cells (as described in the Materials and Methods section), 99.8% of the cells were CD45RA⁻CD3⁺, and most of the CD45RO⁺ cells were CD4⁺



with a high CD4/CD8 ratio. The viability of the cells after thawing was 98-99% (data not shown).

Identification of SARS-CoV-2-Specific CD4⁺ T and CD8⁺ T-Cell Responses Within CD45RA⁻ Memory T Cells After CD45RA Depletion

After CD45RA depletion, the percentage of CD45RA⁻CD3⁺ cells were 80.05%. Within that population, 83.56% of the cells were CD4⁺ and 14.37% were CD8⁺ T cells. After exposure to the three SARS-CoV-2-specific peptides, the CD3⁺, CD3⁺CD4⁺, and CD3⁺CD8⁺ subsets expressed IFN- γ at a rate of 0.36, 0.38, and 0.31%, respectively (**Table 3**).

Most of the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells had a CM phenotype (89.1 and 61.6%, respectively). Both the CM and EM subpopulations expressed IFN- γ after exposure to the three peptides. Thus, we

found that 0.38, 0.70, and 0.39% of the cells within the CD4⁺ CM, CD8⁺ CM, and CD4⁺ EM subsets expressed IFN- γ , respectively. We found no specific IFN- γ expression within the CD8⁺ EM subset (**Table 3**).

We then characterized in-depth the phenotypic expression of the activation, exhaustion, and Treg markers within the CD45RA⁻ population of the convalescent donor. The percentage of Treg defined by CD127^{low}CD25⁺ was 11.26%. We found that the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺ cells expressed the activation marker HLA-DR (19.40%) in both subsets of CD4⁺ (16.70%) and CD8⁺ cells (29.19%). After exposure to the three SARS-CoV-2-specific peptides, we observed that 0.93, 0.70, and 1.21% of the cells within the CD3⁺HLA⁻DR⁺, CD4⁺HLA⁻DR⁺, and CD8⁺HLA-DR⁺ populations expressed IFN- γ , respectively. The CD45RA⁻CD3⁺ cells also expressed the exhaustion marker NKG2A (1.88%), and this expression was 10.24% within the CD8⁺ subset, whereas it was nearly undetectable in the CD4⁺



EM = effector memory.

cells (0.14%). We found no IFN- γ expression within the NKG2A⁺ population. In addition, 0.70% of the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺ cells expressed the exhaustion marker PD-1, and this expression was 1.43% within the CD4⁺ subset and 0.13% within the CD8⁺ cells. We found 0.62% of IFN- γ^+ cells within the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD4⁺PD-1⁺ population after exposure to the three peptides (**Table 3**).

CDR3 Use of TCR

The polyclonal distribution for both TCR- β and TCR- γ CDR3encoding regions was almost identical among the controls and the CD45RA⁻ population, whereas different oligoclonal fragments were observed in the CD45RA⁺ population. Three of the oligoclonal fragments seen in the CD45RA⁺ cells were also identified in the CD45RA⁻ cells (**Figure 4**). TABLE 3 | Phenotype of CD45RA memory T cells from a convalescent donor after large scale CD45RA depletion.

	Cell marker	% of cells after thawing	% IFN- γ^+	Fold change IL-15 (o/n)*	Fold changelL-15 (72 h)*
CD45RA ⁻ subpopulation	CD45RA-	99.85	0.36	1.00	0.99
	CD45RA-CD3+	80.05	0.36	1.05	0.99
	CD45RA-CD3+CD4+	83.56	0.38	1.02	0.98
	CD45RA-CD3+CD8+	14.37	0.31	0.84	1.10
	CD45RA-CD4+				
	CD27+ (CM)	89.13	0.38	1.01	1.02
	CD27- (EM)	10.86	0.39	0.94	0.86
	CD127lowCD25 ⁺ (Treg)	11.26	N/A	1.27	2.03
	CD45RA- CD8+				
	CD27+ (CM)	61.65	0.70	1.07	1.03
	CD27- (EM)	38.34	0.00	0.89	0.95
F-cell activation marker	CD3 ⁺				
	HLA-DR+	19.40	0.93	1.15	2.63
	CD69 BV421 high	0.46	0.00	3.18	29.59
	CD25+	60.68	N/A	1.50	8.52
	CD4 ⁺				
	HLA-DR ⁺	16.70	0.70	1.16	2.42
	CD69 BV421 high	0.38	0.00	2.90	59.75
	CD25+	66.10	N/A	1.48	8.58
	CD8 ⁺				
	HLA-DR+	29.19	1.21	1.15	1.89
	CD69 BV421 high	0.31	1.04	2.77	5.64
	CD25+	9.60	N/A	4.42	36.42
F-cell exhaustion markers	CD3 ⁺				
	NKG2A+	1.88	0.00	0.73	1.39
	PD1 AF700	0.70	0.75	0.71	8.70
	CD4 ⁺				
	NKG2A+	0.14	0.00	1.24	0.56
	PD1 AF700	1.43	0.62	0.84	9.15
	CD8 ⁺				
	NKG2A ⁺	10.24	0.00	0.76	1.22
	PD1 AF700	0.13	0.00	1.69	6.14
Chemokine receptor and integrin	CD3 ⁺				
	CCR7	81.00	N/A	1.03	1.00
	CD103	2.18	N/A	0.74	1.24
	CD4 ⁺				
	CCR7	88.13	N/A	1.00	0.97
	CD103	1.38	N/A	0.74	0.99
	CD8 ⁺				
	CCR7	45.42	N/A	1.48	1.40
	CD103	5.96	N/A	0.89	1.39

*Fold change increase after overnight (o/n) treatment with IL-15. **Fold change increase after 72 h with IL-15. Fold change regarding the receptor expression has been calculated as the ratio between the value with IL-15 and the value from a control without IL-15. N/A, not available.

Induction of an Activated Memory T-Cell Phenotype Within CD45RA⁻ Memory T Cells After CD45RA Depletion

IL-15 is an essential cytokine for memory T cells that induces the activation, proliferation, and survival of T cells. After incubating the CD45RA⁻ T cells with IL-15, we observed an increase in the activation markers HLA-DR, CD69, and CD25 after 72 h of incubation (2.63-fold, 29.59-fold, and 8.52-fold, respectively) when compared with the o/n incubation (1.15-fold, 3.18-fold, and

1.50-fold) (**Table 3**). The expression of the exhaustion markers NKG2A and PD-1 was also higher after 72 h of incubation (**Supplementary Figures 1–5**). We then examined the expression of chemokine CCR7 and integrin CD103, which are important for the homing of T-cells to the respiratory tract (Campbell et al., 2001; Uss et al., 2006). We observed that most of the CD3⁺CD4⁺ cells expressed CCR7⁺ cells (88.13%), whereas the CD3⁺CD8⁺ subpopulation expressed 45.42% of CCR7⁺ cells. As expected, CD103 expression was low in the peripheral blood (Uss et al., 2006). We detected an expression of 2.18, 5.96, and 1.38% in the



convalescent donor populations.

CD3⁺CD103⁺, CD3⁺CD8⁺CD103⁺, and CD3⁺CD4⁺CD103⁺ compartments, respectively. Although the fold increase was not particularly remarkable in the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺ cells after 72 h of incubation (1.00-fold CCR7 and 1.24-fold CD103), the increase was higher (1.40) within the CD8⁺ subpopulation (**Table 3** and **Supplementary Figures 6,7**).

DISCUSSION

In the absence of an effective vaccine and with the emergence of a second wave, there is an urgent need to find effective treatments for COVID-19. Here we report the presence of a SARS-CoV-2-specific T-cell population within the CD45RA⁻ memory T cells of blood from convalescent donors. These cells can be easily, effectively, and rapidly isolated following a donor selection strategy based on IFN- γ expression after exposure with SARS-CoV-2-specific peptides and HLA antigen expression, thereby obtaining clinical-grade CD45RA⁻ memory T cells from the blood of convalescent donors. These cells can be biobanked, thawed, and employed as a treatment for moderate to severe cases of COVID-19. These so-called "living drugs" retain the memory

against SARS-CoV-2 and other pathogens the donors have encountered. Unlike plasma, where the concentration decreases after infusion, memory T cells expand and proliferate and should therefore have a more lasting effect.

In previous studies, this population of CD45RA⁻ memory T cells showed no alloreactivity when compared with the CD45RA⁺ counterpart (Fernández et al., 2017). These cells were mainly CD4+ (Fernández et al., 2019) and showed effectiveness against viral infections (Triplett et al., 2015). Phenotypically, we found that CD45RA⁻ memory T cells were fully capable of producing IFN-y in the presence of SARS-CoV-2-specific peptides. Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ CM and EM subsets were able to generate IFN-y after exposure to the SARS-CoV-2 peptides, showing coverage of response. CD8⁺ cytotoxic cells can kill virally infected cells by secreting cytokines; at the same time, CD4⁺ T cells increase the ability of CD8⁺ T cells to eliminate the virus. They have been shown to play an important role in controlling the viral replication of other viruses such as EBV and CMV (Juno et al., 2017). EM T cells are the first responders to infection, with a quick and strong response to pathogens, whereas CM T cells proliferate and create a new round of effector T cells (Pennock et al., 2013; Farber et al., 2014). IL-15 is essential for the survival of memory CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T-cell subsets, promoting the activation of CD4⁺T cells, cytokine production and proliferation, and the maintenance of the memory population (Brincks and Woodland, 2010; Chen et al., 2014). After incubating the cells for 3 days with IL-15, we obtained a phenotype characteristic of an activated state, as shown by the fold increase in the activation markers HLA-DR, CD69, and CD25 and in the CCR7 and CD103 markers characteristic of the homing of T cells to the lymph nodes and mucosal tissues.

In our study, we observed no IFN- γ production by the SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells in healthy unexposed individuals, which agrees with the findings of Peng et al. (2020) but differs from other previously published data (Grifoni et al., 2020). This discrepancy could be due to the different detection methods employed and the small sample size.

Studies have shown the correlation between neutralizing antibodies and symptom severity, where antibody responses wane over time even in as short a period as 6–7 weeks after symptoms onset (Ibarrondo et al., 2020; Long et al., 2020; Seow et al., 2020). Importantly our data shows the presence of SARS-CoV-2 memory T cells in convalescent donors with mild symptoms, which has enormous implications for protection against further SARS-CoV-2 infections and in decreasing the severity of COVID-19. Further studies with larger cohorts are needed to determine the SARS-CoV-2 memory duration and thereby elucidate the long-term protection to SARS-CoV-2, as has been previously demonstrated for another coronavirus (Ng et al., 2016).

For proper T-cell recognition, both the donor and recipient need to share HLA alleles. Given the vast number of convalescent donors, finding the proper haploidentical donor based on HLA typing would not be difficult. Based on previously published data (Leung et al., 2020), this donor can cover around 93.6% of Spain's population. In accordance with the HLA donor-recipient match, we estimate that four donors will cover almost the whole of Spain's population (Leen et al., 2013; Leung et al., 2020). These cells are expected to remain in the patients until the host immune system is recovered. Previous experience with HSCT has shown that these cells can be detected in the host for weeks (Triplett et al., 2015). Besides data from the phase I clinical trial (unpublished) shows that we can detect donor chimerism for 3 weeks.

The procedure for obtaining the cells is easy to implement for small-scale manufacture, is quick and cost-effective, and involves minimal manipulation. AlsoCD45RA⁻ memory T cellbased therapy is manufactured under the quality standards that apply to blood banks that perform HSCT daily with complex manipulations that are not considered advanced therapy medicinal product and can therefore be obtained without GMP condition requirements. The manufacturing of CD45RA⁻ memory T cells is carried out in closed automated systems similar to clean rooms that guarantee an aseptic process for the administration to the patient. These factors make it feasible to create a biobank or stock from the blood of convalescent donors, which would be immediately available "off the shelf" for subsequent outbreaks, increasing the therapeutic options in the current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. A clinical trial is currently assessing the safety of these cells for patients with moderate to severe COVID-19 (NCT04578210).

These cells could provide patients with (1) a pool of SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells that will respond quickly to the infection, (2) a pool of cells for patients with severe disease presenting with lymphopenia, and (3) a pool of specific memory T cells for other pathogens from the donors encountered during their life, which are vital for eliminating other secondary infections that usually develop in patients hospitalized with COVID-19 (Kim et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2020).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Hospital Ramon y Cajal, Madrid, Spain. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CF, BS, and AP-M designed the study. CF, BP-M, and CM-D performed the *in vitro* experiments. JV, AB, and FG-S performed the HLA typing and TCR spectratyping. RD and AM performed the non-mobilized apheresis and cryopreservation of the cells. CM-C performed the statistics. CF, BP-M, BS, and AP-M wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors revised the manuscript, participated in the interpretation of the data and the approval and submission of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the donors for their blood donation and the CRIS Cancer Foundation (http://criscancer.org) and the Government of Valencia AVI-GVA COVID-19-68 for their support.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcell.2021. 620730/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | HLD-DR expression in the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺, CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD4⁺, and CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD8⁺ populations from the convalescent donor. Cells were cultured with 50 ng/mL of IL-15 o/n and for 72 h.

Supplementary Figure 2 CD69 expression in the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺, CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD4⁺, and CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD8⁺ populations from the convalescent donor. Cells were cultured with 50 ng/mL of IL-15 o/n and for 72 h. Supplementary Figure 3 | CD25 expression in the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺, CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD4⁺, and CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD8⁺ populations from the convalescent donor. Cells were cultured with 50 ng/mL of IL-15 o/n and for 72 h.

 $\label{eq:supersonance} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Supplementary Figure 4} \mid \mbox{NKG2A expression in the CD45RA^-CD3^+,} \\ \mbox{CD45RA^-CD3} + \mbox{CD4^+,and CD45RA^-CD3^+CD8^+ populations from the} \\ \mbox{convalescent donor. Cells were cultured with 50 ng/mL of IL-15 o/n and for 72 h.} \end{array}$

Supplementary Figure 5 | PD-1 expression in the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺, CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD4⁺, and CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD8⁺ populations from the

REFERENCES

- Berard, M., and Tough, D. F. (2002). Qualitative differences between na¹-ve and memory T cells. *Inmunology* 106, 127–138.
- Bleakley, M., Heimfeld, S., Jones, L. A., Turtle, C., Krause, D., Riddell, S. R., et al. (2014). Engineering human peripheral blood stem cell grafts that are depleted of naïve t cells and retain functional pathogen- specific memory T cells. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant*. 20, 705–716. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2014.01.032
- Bleakley, M., Heimfield, S., Loeb, K. R., Jones, L. A., Chaney, C., Seropian, S., et al. (2015). Outcomes of acute leukemia patients transplanted with naïve T cell-depleted stem cell grafts. *J. Clin. Invest.* 125, 2677–2689. doi: 10.1172/ jci81229
- Brincks, E. L., and Woodland, D. L. (2010). Novel roles for IL15 in T cell survival. *F1000 Biol. Rep.* 2:67. doi: 10.3410/B2-6
- Campbell, J. J., Murphy, K. E., Kunkel, E. J., Brightling, C. E., Soler, D., Shen, Z., et al. (2001). CCR7 expression and memory T cell diversity in humans. *J. Immunol.* 166, 877–884. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.2.877
- Cao, B., and Hayden, F. G. (2020). Antiviral monotherapy for hospitalised patients with COVID-19 is not enough. *Lancet* 396, 1310–1311. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32078-X
- Channappanavar, R., Zhao, J., and Perlman, S. T. (2014). Cell-mediated immune response to respiratory coronaviruses. *Immunol. Res.* 59, 118–128. doi: 10.1007/ s12026-014-8534-z
- Chen, X.-L., Bobbala, D., Donates, Y. C., Mayhue, M., Ilangumaran, S., and Ramanathan, S. (2014). IL15 trans-presentation regulates homeostasis of CD4+. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 11, 387–397.
- Farber, D. L., Yudanin, N. A., and Restifo, N. (2014). Human memory T cells: generation, compartmentalization and homeostasis. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 14, 24–35.
- Fernández, L., Fernández, A., Mirones, I., Escudero, A., Cardoso, L., Vela, M., et al. (2019). GMP-compliant manufacturing of NKG2D CAR memory T cells using CliniMACS prodigy. *Front. Immunol.* 10:2361. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019. 02361
- Fernández, L., Metais, J. Y., Escudero, A., Vela, M., Valentín, J., Vallcorba, I., et al. (2017). Memory T cells expressing an NKG2D-CAR efficiently target Osteosarcoma cells. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 23, 5824–5835. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-17-0075
- Grifoni, A., Weiskopf, D., Ramirez, S. I., Mateus, J., Dan, J. M., Moderbacher, C. R., et al. (2020). Targets of T cell responses to SARS-CoV-2 coronavirus in humans with COVID-19 disease and unexposed individuals. *Cell* 181:1489-1501.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.015
- Huang, A. T., Garcia-Carreras, B., and Hitchings, M. D. T. (2020). A systematic review of antibody mediated immunity to coronaviruses: antibody kinetics, correlates of protection, and association of antibody responses with severity of disease. *medRxiv* [Preprint]. doi: 10.1101/2020.04.14.20065771
- Ibarrondo, F. J., Fulcher, J. A., Goodman-Meza, D., Elliot, J., Hofmann, C., Hausner, M. A., et al. (2020). Rapid decay of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in persons with mild Covid-19. N. Engl. J. Med. 383, 1085–1087. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMc2025179
- Jomah, S., Asdaq, S. M. B., and Al-Yamani, M. J. (2020). Clinical efficacy of antivirals against novel coronavirus (COVID-19). J. Infect. Public Health 13, 1187–1195.
- Juno, J. A., van Bocker, D., Kent, S. J., Kelleher, A. D., Zaunders, J. J., and Munier, C. M. L. (2017). Cytotoxic CD4 T cells—friend or foe during viral infection? *Front. Immunol.* 8:19. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00019
- Kim, D., Quinn, J., Pinsky, B., Shah, N. H., and Brown, I. (2020). Rates of coinfection between SARS-CoV-2 and other respiratory pathogens. JAMA 323, 2085–2086. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.6266

convalescent donor. Cells were culture with 50 cultured/mL of IL-15 o/n and for 72 h.

Supplementary Figure 6 | CCR7 expression in the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺, CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD4⁺, and CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD8⁺ populations from the convalescent donor. Cells were cultured with 50 ng/mL of IL-15 o/n and for 72 h.

Supplementary Figure 7 | CD103 expression in the CD45RA⁻CD3⁺, CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD4⁺, and CD45RA⁻CD3⁺CD8⁺ populations from the convalescent donor. Cells were cultured with 50 ng/mL of IL-15 o/n and for 72 h.

- Leen, A. M., Bollard, C. M., Mendizabal, A. M., Shpall, E. J., Szabolcs, P., Antin, J. H., et al. (2013). Multicenter study of banked third-party virus-specific T cells to treat severe viral infections after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood* 121, 5113–5123. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-486324
- Leung, W., Soh, T. G., Linn, Y. C., Low, J. G., Loh, J., Chan, M., et al. (2020). Rapid production of clinical-grade SARS-CoV-2 specific T cells. *Adv. Cell Gene Ther.* 3:e101. doi: 10.1002/acg2.101 [Epub ahead of print].
- Li, C. K., Wu, H., Yan, H., Ma, S., Wang, L., Zhang, M., et al. (2008). T cell responses to whole SARS coronavirus in humans. J. Immunol. 181, 5490–5500. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.8.5490
- Long, Q.-X., Tang, X.-J., Shi, Q.-L., Li, Q., Deng, H.-J., Yuan, J., et al. (2020). Clinical and immunological assessment of asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infections. *Nat. Med.* 26, 1200–1204. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0965-6
- Mueller, S. N., Gebhardt, T., Carbone, F. R., and Heath, W. R. (2013). Memory T cell subsets, migration patterns, and tissue residence. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 31, 137–161. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095954
- Ng, O. W., Chia, A., Tan, A. T., Jadi, R. S., Leong, H. N., and Bertoletti, A., et al. (2016). Memory T cell responses targeting the SARS coronavirus persist up to 11 years post-infection. *Vaccine* 34, 2008–2014. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.02. 063
- Peng, Y., Mentzer, A. J., Liu, G., Yao, X., Yin, Z., Dong, D., et al. (2020). Broad and strong memory CD4+ and CD8+ T cells induced by SARS-CoV-2 in UK convalescent individuals following COVID-19. *Nat. Immunol.* 21, 1336–1345. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0782-6
- Pennock, N. D., White, J. T., Cross, E. W., Cheney, E. E., Tamburini, B. A., and Kedl, R. M. T. (2013). cell responses: naïve to memory and everything in between. Adv. Physiol. Educ. 37, 273–283.
- Qin, C., Zhou, L., Hu, Z., Zhang, S., Yang, S., Tao, Y., et al. (2020). Dysregulation of immune response in patients with coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) in Wuhan. China. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 71, 762–768. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa248
- Recovery Collaborative Group, P., Lim, W. S., Emberson, J. R., Mafham, M., Bell, J. L., et al. (2020). Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with Covid-19 – preliminary report. *N. Engl. J. Med.* doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2021436 [Epub ahead of print].
- Rodda, L. B., Netland, J., Shehata, L., Pruner, K. B., Morawski, P. M., Thouvenel, C., et al. (2020). Functional SASR-CoV-2- specific immune memory persists after mild COVID-19. *medRxiv* [Preprint]. doi: 10.1101/2020.08.11.20171843.th
- Sanchez Guijo, F., García-Arranz, M., Parra-López, M., Monedero, P., Mata-Martínez, C., Santos, A., et al. (2020). Adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells for the treatment of patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia requiring mechanical ventilation. A proof of concept study. *EclinicalMedicine* 25:100454. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100454
- Sekine, T., Pérez-Potti, A., Rivera-Ballesteros, O., Stralin, K., Gorin, J.-B., Olsson, A., et al. (2020). Robust T cell immunity in convalescent individuals with asymptomatic or mild COVID-19. *Cell* 183, 158–168. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020. 08.017
- Seow, J., Graham, C., Merrick, B., Acors, S., Steel, K. J. A., Hemmings, O., et al. (2020). Longitudinal evaluation and decline of antibody responses in SARS-CoV-2 infection. *medRxiv* [Preprint]. doi: 10.1101/2020.07.09.20148429
- Teschner, D., Distler, E., Wehler, D., Frey, M., Marandiuc, D., Langeveld, K., et al. (2014). Depletion of naive T cells using clinical grade magnetic CD45RA beads: a new approach for GVHD prophylaxis. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. 49, 138–144. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2013.114
- Thanh Le, T., Andreadakis, Z., Kumar, A., Gómez Román, R., Tollefsen, S., Saville, M., et al. (2020). The COVID-19 vaccine development landscape. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 19, 305–306.
- Triplett, B., Shook, D. R., Eldridge, P., Li, Y., Kang, G., Dallas, M., et al. (2015). Rapid memory T-cell reconstitution recapitulating

CD45RA-depleted haploidentical transplant graft content in patients with hematologic malignancies. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 50, 968–977. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2014.324

- Triplett, B. M., Muller, B., Kang, G., Li, Y., Cross, S. J., Moen, J., et al. (2018). Selective T-cell depletion targeting CD45RA reduces viremia and enhances early T-cell recovery compared to CD3-targeted T-cell depletion. *Transpl. Infect. Dis.* 20:e12823. doi: 10.1111/tid.12823
- Uss, E., Rowshani, A. T., Hooibrink, B., Lardy, N. M., van Lier, R. A. W., and ten Berge, I. J. M. (2006). CD103 is a marker for alloantigen-induced regulatory CD8+ T cells. J. Immunol. 177, 2775–2783. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.5.2775
- Wang, Y., Zhang, D., Du, G., Du, R., Zhao, J., Jin, Y., et al. (2020). Remdesivir in adults with severe COVID-19: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial. *Lancet* 395, 1569–1578. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31022-9
- World Health Organization (2020). World Health Organization and R&D Blueprint Strategy for COVID-19. Available online at: https://www.who.int/ teams/blueprint/covid-19 (accessed Oct 12, 2020)
- Zhao, Q., Meng, M., Kumar, R., Wu, Y., Huang, J., Deng, Y., et al. (2020). Lymphopenia is associated with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infections: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* 96, 131–135.

Zhu, X., Ge, Y., Wu, T., Zhao, K., Chen, Y., Wu, B., et al. (2020). Co-infection with respiratory pathogens among COVID-2019 cases. *Virus Res.* 285:198005. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2020.198005

Conflict of Interest: CF, BS, and AP-M filed a patent on this topic. BS received fees from Celgene, Gilead, Sanofi and Novo-Nordisk unrelated to this work.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Ferreras, Pascual-Miguel, Mestre-Durán, Navarro-Zapata, Clares-Villa, Martín-Cortázar, De Paz, Marcos, Vicario, Balas, García-Sánchez, Eguizabal, Solano, Mora-Rillo, Soria and Pérez-Martínez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Targeted Mitochondrial Therapy With Over-Expressed MAVS Protein From Mesenchymal Stem Cells: A New Therapeutic Approach for COVID-19

Amirhesam Babajani^{1†}, Pooya Hosseini-Monfared^{1†}, Samin Abbaspour^{1†}, Elham Jamshidi^{1,2} and Hassan Niknejad^{1*}

¹ Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ² Functional Neurosurgery Research Center, Shohada Tajrish Comprehensive Neurosurgical Center of Excellence, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Fundación Andaluza de I+D, FAID, Associations Andalusian Foundations, Spain

Reviewed by:

Monia Orciani, Marche Polytechnic University, Italy Fatima Saleh, Beirut Arab University, Lebanon

*Correspondence: Hassan Niknejad niknejad@sbmu.ac.ir †These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 14 April 2021 Accepted: 17 May 2021 Published: 11 June 2021

Citation:

Babajani A, Hosseini-Monfared P, Abbaspour S, Jamshidi E and Niknejad H (2021) Targeted Mitochondrial Therapy With Over-Expressed MAVS Protein From Mesenchymal Stem Cells: A New Therapeutic Approach for COVID-19. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:695362. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.695362 The SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19, has infected millions of people worldwide. The symptoms of this disease are primarily due to pulmonary involvement, uncontrolled tissue inflammation, and inadequate immune response against the invader virus. Impaired interferon (IFN) production is one of the leading causes of the immune system's inability to control the replication of the SARS-CoV-2. Mitochondria play an essential role in developing and maintaining innate cellular immunity and IFN production. Mitochondrial function is impaired during cellular stress, affecting cell bioenergy and innate immune responses. The mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS), located in the outer membrane of mitochondria, is one of the key elements in engaging the innate immune system and interferon production. Transferring healthy mitochondria to the damaged cells by mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) is a proposed option for regenerative medicine and a viable treatment approach to many diseases. In addition to mitochondrial transport, these cells can regulate inflammation, repair the damaged tissue, and control the pathogenesis of COVID-19. The immune regulatory nature of MSCs dramatically reduces the probability of an immune rejection. In order to induce an appropriate immune response against the SARS-CoV-2, we hypothesize to donate mitochondria to the host cells of the virus. We consider MSCs as an appropriate biological carrier for mitochondria. Besides, enhancing the expression of MAVS protein in MSCs and promoting the expression of SARS-CoV-2 viral spike protein as a specific ligand for ACE2⁺ cells will improve IFN production and innate immune responses in a targeted manner.

Keywords: COVID-19, mesenchymal stem cell, MAVS, S protein, SARS-CoV-2, mitochondria

INTRODUCTION

The novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), has caused a serious worldwide pandemic that has influenced different aspects of people's lives. The disease is rapidly spreading, with almost 130 million confirmed cases and 2.8 million deaths by the end of March 2021 (WHO Coronavirus (Covid-19) Dashboard, 2021). RNA-based next-generation sequencing and proteomics approaches have

revealed structural and non-structural proteins of the SARS-CoV-2. The S, N, M, and E genes encode structural proteins, while non-structural proteins are encoded by the open reading frame (ORF) regions (Huang et al., 2020). The virus enters the host cells by binding of its viral S protein to the angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in different target organs, including the lung (type II surfactant-secreting alveolar cells), heart, kidney, brain, and intestine (Hoffmann et al., 2020). Initial manifestations of COVID-19 infection consist of fever, fatigue, myalgia, cough, dyspnea, and chest pain (Alimohamadi et al., 2020). Although most patients (85%) experience mild to moderate symptoms, some patients go through severe complications, including acute respiratory failure, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), septic shock, and acute cardiac injury (Dallan et al., 2020; Long et al., 2020). Despite the unclear underlying reasons for the lifethreatening complications of COVID-19, severe inflammatory response due to high levels of pro-inflammatory mediators is theorized to be the leading cause of severe disease and death (Song et al., 2020). Following the identification and characterization of the SARS-CoV-2, a growing body of efforts has been made to suggest a curative approach for eliminating the complications of the disease. Considering the crucial role of the immune system in COVID-19 pathogenesis, targeting the cells and inflammatory mediators of the innate and adaptive immune system will provide interesting curative approaches to conquer the complications of the disease.

On the other hand, suggested therapeutic approaches should eliminate chronic and various complications of COVID-19, such as neurological, renal, cardiovascular, musculoskeletal, and longterm respiratory complications (Fraser, 2020; Kunutsor and Laukkanen, 2020; Heidarpour et al., 2021; Talasaz et al., 2021). Current treatments mainly consist of supportive care by invasive mechanical ventilation, antiviral drugs, and immunomodulatory agents (Rodríguez-Baño et al., 2021; Young et al., 2021). However, each of these therapies is only appropriate for a specific stage of the disease, and the effectiveness of these therapies is under question. Therefore, developing efficient therapies to control the COVID-19 complications is necessary.

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE FOR HYPOTHESIS

Interferons Impairment in COVID-19

Following cell infection by SARS-CoV-2, many immune and non-immune cells are activated in response to the virus, which altogether leads to the release of considerable amounts of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α , which is called "cytokine storm." Ordinarily, it is expected that a wellcoordinated immune response restricts the spread of the virus, whereas an excessive inflammatory response causes cytokine storm. It seems that this hyperinflammatory/immunodeficiency state is developed as a result of impaired innate immune response (Jamshidi et al., 2021). Type I interferons (IFNs), a group of innate immune cytokines, are secreted from virally infected cells and act on more than 7,000 genes that regulate critical cellular processes, including metabolism, survival, migration, and inhibition of virus replication and assembly (Wang and Fish, 2019). Many studies have proven the pivotal roles of IFNs in effective innate and adaptive immune responses against viral infections. In addition, the importance of IFNs in triggering antiviral immune responses during coronavirus infections is acknowledged (Lee and Ashkar, 2018; Banerjee et al., 2019).

It has been shown that severely impaired type I IFN response, marked as no IFN- β or low IFN- α , is the distinctive phenotype observed in critical COVID-19 patients. Impaired type I IFN response is associated with a higher viral load and uncontrolled inflammatory responses (Blanco-Melo et al., 2020; Hadjadj et al., 2020). In addition, some studies revealed that impaired IFN antiviral responses in the elderlies might emerge as a reason for poor prognosis in this group (Molony et al., 2018). Furthermore, the higher susceptibility of African-American populations to SARS-CoV-2 is attributed to the lower IFN-I production in response to the SARS-CoV-2 RNAs (Maiti, 2020).

In order to overcome impaired IFN-mediated immune response in COVID-19, previous studies proposed some solutions. For instance, it has been suggested to administer exogenous IFNs to improve the performance of the innate immune system. A retrospective cohort study in China revealed that early administration of inhaled aerosolized IFN-α2b results in lower death and shorter admission period. However, late administration of IFN- α 2b is associated with the more extended admission period and higher mortality (Wang et al., 2020). In another study, forty-eight COVID-19 patients inhaled IFN-B1a, which led to a significant improvement on day 15 compared to the placebo group (Monk et al., 2021). Although administration of IFNs as an accepted therapeutic strategy improves immune responses, IFN therapy has faced controversial outcomes. It seems that the efficacy of administration of IFNs depends on the stage of the disease. In this line, using IFNs in the early stages generates desirable outcomes, whereas this strategy is ineffective in the severe or later stages of viral infection (Channappanavar et al., 2016).

As another solution, drug repurposing has been recently developed as an attractive topic due to lower costs and shorter timeline compared to standard drug discovery methods. Previously, it has been proposed that azithromycin, a macrolide antibiotic, can promote the response of type I IFN (IFN- β) and some virus recognition receptors in epithelial cells (Menzel et al., 2017; Li et al., 2019b). In this line, the antiviral efficacy of azithromycin on COVID-19 combined with hydroxychloroguine was showed in vitro (Damle et al., 2020). Trametinib, an anticancer drug, is another proposed drug against COVID-19, which acts via inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MEK) 1 and 2. It has been shown that MEK inhibitors triggered expression of some antiviral genes, including interferon regulatory factor 1 (IRF1), both at the mRNA and protein level, which results in improved IFN response (Lulli et al., 2017). However, drug repurposing is facing many challenges that may overweight its benefits. Serious adverse effects of some drugs, especially anticancer and immunomodulatory medications, lack of appropriate clinical trials and controversial reports regarding their effects are the main challenges.

It seems that targeting the IFN production pathway can improve the innate immune response, particularly in the early phases of COVID-19. It also prevents the pro-inflammatory overreactions or cytokine storm resulting from the rapid replication of SARS-CoV-2 in the absence of sufficient amounts of IFNs (Fung et al., 2020; Mozafari et al., 2020).

Mitochondrial-Mediated Impairment of the Immune Response in COVID-19

Different cellular organelles participate in coordinating the IFN production and innate immune responses. Mitochondria take part in regulating cell bioenergy, cell metabolism, apoptosis, and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and consumption. Besides, mitochondria play an essential role in inducing innate antiviral immune reactions mainly through stimulating IFN production. Studies have shown that following mitochondrial dysfunction, endothelial cells release large amounts of pro-inflammatory mediators such as IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-alpha and enhance the expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) that cause monocyte infiltration and activation (Choi S.J. et al., 2018). In order to trigger innate immune responses, the pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) are identified by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as intercellular retinoic acid-inducible gene-I-like receptors (RLRs). There are various RLRs, such as melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 (MDA5) and retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-1), that are the principal activators of mitochondrial antiviral pathways. These receptors are expressed in both immune and non-immune cells and activate several pathways, including interferon production, after recognizing single-strand and double-strand RNAs of viruses (Banoth and Cassel, 2018).

It has been shown that 26 out of 29 viral proteins of the SARS-CoV-2 interact with a significant number of mitochondrial proteins that participate in critical cellular metabolic pathways. This study suggests that the SARS-CoV-2 infection could result in mitochondrial dysfunction (Gordon et al., 2020). Besides, mitochondrial dysfunction is related to the clinical evidence that some metabolic disorders such as obesity or diabetes exponentially increase severe complications and mortality risk of COVID-19 (Bertsimas et al., 2020). It has been indicated that immune responses are affected by sex in which women display more effective innate immune responses than men. The data is along with a much higher mortality rate of COVID-19 in men. It can be attributed to the exclusive natural selection of healthy mitochondria in females. In this manner, mitochondria with malfunctioning or mutations that can be harmful to the females are eliminated (Iessi et al., 2021). Taken together, it seems that mitochondrial dysfunction plays a critical role in severe complications of COVID-19.

It has been hypothesized that mitochondrial-targeted ubiquinone (MitoQ), a mitochondrial-targeted antioxidant, could play a potential role in COVID-19 treatment. The particular MitoQ structure promotes its targeted accumulation within the mitochondria and sequestering the ROS (Ouyang and Gong, 2020). However, eliminating ROS only affects the narrow

aspect of mitochondrial dysfunction while the impairment of mitochondrion-mediated immune response is still not resolved.

MAVS as a Key Regulator of Innate Immune Response in COVID-19

Mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS), also known as IFN-ß promoter stimulator I (IPS-1), is one of the essential messenger molecules for inducing the mitochondrial antiviral pathways, which was first described by Seth et al. in 2005 (Seth et al., 2005). MAVS consists of 540 amino acids and has three components, an N terminal caspase activation recruitment domain (CARD), a proline-rich domain, and a transmembrane C terminal domain (TM). Its gene is located on chromosome 20, and the protein itself is present in the outer membrane of the mitochondria (Wang et al., 2019). The binding of the virus antigens and RLRs complex to MAVS induces an innate immune response in the infected cells through two different mechanisms. The first mechanism is the activation of interferon regulatory factors (IRFs) and the nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) pathway that inhibits viral replication and assembly via enhancing the production of interferon- α and - β (Refolo et al., 2020). The second mechanism involves the activation of caspase-8 protein as a promoter of the internal pathway of apoptosis in the virusinfected cells that removes the infected cells and protects adjacent cells (El Maadidi et al., 2014).

The pivotal role of MAVS in IFN production makes it a valuable evading target for many viruses. In the coexistence of viruses and host cells, these pathogens have developed various strategies to conquer MAVS-mediated signaling. Cleavage of MAVS is one of the mechanisms involved in the dislocation of MAVS, resulting in the impairment of IFN-mediated immune response (Lu et al., 2020). For instance, it has been shown that different viruses such as cytomegalovirus (CMV), hepatitis C virus (HCV) and Zika virus can disrupt MAVS function and therefore impair IFN production (Choi H.J. et al., 2018; Ma et al., 2018; Yan et al., 2021). In this line, SARS-CoV-2 disrupts interferon response through damage to the MAVS protein, which leads to decreased expression of interferons in the early stages of infection and provides an excellent opportunity for the virus to multiply and spread (Lei et al., 2020). It is demonstrated that SARS-CoV-2 carries a protein gene called open reading frame-9b (ORF-9b) that inhibits the interferon response in the infected cells by inhibiting mitochondria and the MAVS signalosome. Additionally, it seems that disruption of mitochondrial energy production may induce lactic acid production and inhibit proper interferon response (Jiang et al., 2020). Besides, ORF-9b induces mitochondrial elongation by promoting ubiquitination and degradation of dynamin-like protein 1 (DNM1L) that participates in mitochondrial fission and maintenance (Shi et al., 2014).

It has been proposed to administer drugs that interact with ORFs and consequently prevent their role in virus replication and distribution. Regarding amino acid sequence searching, some chemical substances such as benzyl (2-oxopropyl) carbamate and 4-(dimethylamino) benzoic acid may prevent virus replication via targeting ORFs. However, they only inhibit a small range of viral proteins, and their efficacy in the treatment of COVID-19 has not been evaluated yet (Chen and Zhong, 2020).

Mitochondrial Therapy and Mesenchymal Stem Cell

It is demonstrated that mitochondrial dysfunction plays a vital role in inhibiting antiviral response in the infected cells. It seems that restoring mitochondrial function and providing new healthy mitochondria could improve cell resistance against infectionrelated stress through regulating the bioenergy and innate immune response of the affected cells (Li et al., 2019a).

Some studies have suggested that mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are a viable option to transfer healthy mitochondria to infected cells. Mesenchymal stem cells are a group of nonhematopoietic stem cells that originate from a variety of adult tissues. Some of the characteristics of these cells, such as their ability to regenerate tissues, anti-inflammatory effects, immuneevading properties, and interaction with various intracellular or extracellular pathways, make them a new treatment for a variety of pathological conditions (Babajani et al., 2020). Mitochondrial transfer using the MSCs has been broadly evaluated in various organs, including cardiovascular, neurological, renal, and respiratory systems. MSCs have been utilized in ischemic vascular diseases to save human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) with mitochondrial dysfunction. The mitochondrial donation recovered aerobic respiration and reduced apoptosis of ischemic endothelial cells (Liu et al., 2014). It is reported that mitochondria can move from the MSCs to neural cells and recover the bioenergetics and proliferation of the recipient cells (Babenko et al., 2018). It has been shown that mitochondrial transfer from MSCs to the respiratory epithelial cells of the asthma model can reduce epithelial cell apoptosis by reinstating mitochondrial function and regulating inflammation (Yao et al., 2018). In another study, transferring mitochondria to the stem cells improved oxidative phosphorylation and ATP production, resulting in increased proliferation, migration, and differentiation (Guo et al., 2020). Treatment of damaged renal cells with MSCs diminished ROS levels, downregulated mitochondrial apoptosis-related proteins and reduced cell apoptosis, shedding light on the beneficial effects of MSCs in regulating mitochondrial respiratory function (Geng et al., 2017). It was indicated that effective mitochondrial transfer is achieved by forming tunneling nanotubes (TNTs) between MSCs and the recipient cells, which allows direct intercellular communication (Jiang et al., 2016).

On the other hand, the possible benefits of MSCs administration in the treatment of COVID-19 have been widely studied in recent months (Rajarshi et al., 2020). MSCs reduce the complications of COVID-19 by affecting the pathological mechanisms of the disease. MSCs participate in immune regulation by modulating the cellular immunity and cytokine responses such as M1 to M2 macrophage alteration and activation of T reg cells (Zhang et al., 2019). They also enhance tissue repair in two different manners; first, by the paracrine effect on host cells of the tissue and second by differentiating to replace damaged cells (Li et al., 2017;

Westhauser et al., 2017). Additionally, they regulate the function of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) by reducing angiotensin II accumulation in the alveoli. Angiotensin II plays an essential role in developing pulmonary fibrosis following the viral infection (Chen and Chou, 2018). MSCs increase the fluid clearance of alveoli and regulate the coagulation process, which reduces the chance of disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) and thrombosis (Wang et al., 2012).

HYPOTHESIS

We suggest that the *in vivo* transferring of mitochondria from manipulated MSCs that express viral S protein and have overexpressed MAVS protein could enhance the innate immune response and appropriate IFN production in a targeted manner. This hypothesis consists of three steps:

- (1) It is possible to improve innate immune response by donating mitochondria with overexpressed MAVS protein as a crucial initiator of the immune response of the cell against the virus. Enhancing MAVS expression can compensate for the destructive effects of viral proteins such as ORF-9b on immune-related proteins of mitochondria, which results in IFN production in its due time. The appropriate action of mitochondria produces sufficient amounts of IFNs as a crucial innate immunity arm that inhibits replication and assembly of new viruses. It also eliminates damaged and infected cells by promoting apoptosis that limits infection. The proposed roles of donated mitochondria with over-expressed MAVS to the type II pneumocytes are shown in Figure 1.
- (2) It is possible to utilize MSCs as a biological carrier for mitochondria to donate these organelles to the infected and damaged cells in COVID-19 cases. The immunomodulatory functions of MSCs enable us to transport considerable amounts of mitochondria to the damaged organs in an immune reaction-free condition. In addition to the carrier role of MSCs, these cells can provide extra benefits due to their inherent characteristics, such as immunomodulatory effect by controlling cytokine release, regulating RAAS function, increasing alveolar fluid clearance, and decreasing the chance of hypercoagulation (Jamshidi et al., 2021). The roles of MSCs in eliminating COVID-19 complications are shown in **Figure 2**.
- (3) In order to make the donation process more targeted, we can use ACE2 specific ligands to target susceptible cells for infection. Viral S protein seems to be the best option for administration as a specific ACE2 ligand. The SARS-CoV-2 S protein is preserved among all human coronaviruses and participates in the virus recognition, attachment, and entry into the susceptible cells (Huang et al., 2020). Using S protein enables us to target all possible SARS-CoV-2 hosts (ACE2⁺ cells) in various parts of the body, such as the lungs, oral mucosa, GI tract, kidney, and heart (Xu et al., 2020). Besides, SARS-CoV-2 S protein induces antibody production that brings about vaccine-like



FIGURE 1 | Improving anti-SARS-CoV-2 response during mitochondrial therapy by donating mitochondria with over-expressed MAVS. **1.** SARS-CoV-2 infects ACE2 expressing cells such as surfactant-secreting type II alveolar cells via interaction between the viral spike protein and ACE2. **2.** Cell infection with SARS-CoV-2 results in mitochondrial dysfunction and disturbances of bioenergetics and innate immune response in infected cells. **3.** The RNA content of SARS-CoV-2 is recognized by pattern recognition receptors such as MDA-5 and RIG-1. **4.** MSCs that express surface spike protein as ACE2 ligand and containing mitochondria with overexpressed MAVS transfer these modified mitochondria to the surfactant-secreting type II alveolar cells. **5.** Binding of activated MDA-5 and RIG-1 to the MAVS on the outer membrane of healthy donated mitochondria would activate NF-κB and IRF transcription factors. **6.** NF-κB and IRF translocate into the cell nucleus and upregulate genes related to the innate immune response against SARS-CoV-2. **7.** Function of NF-κB and IRF will lead to the production of IFNs, which play a pivotal role in the antiviral response.

effects. It has been shown that the administration of viral S protein can provoke an immune response and produce anti-spike IgG (Keech et al., 2020). In another study, injection of manipulated MSCs, which expressed surface viral S proteins, into an animal model showed an effective antibody production (Liu et al., 2020).

EVALUATION OF THE HYPOTHESIS

This hypothesis can be evaluated by conducting *in vitro* and *in vivo* experimental studies to address the hypothesis's building block questions.

In vitro Studies

The viral vector containing the SARS-CoV-2 S protein gene will be transduced to MSCs using lentivirus transduction based on previous protocols (Meyerrose et al., 2008). Utilizing lentivirus vectors enables MSCs to produce S protein for a long period which raises the chance of targeted therapy of susceptible cells. The transduction success rate should be measured by GFP-labeled vectors. Administration of 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl-2H-tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay is recommended to evaluate MSCs viability after cell manipulation. Spike protein expression on the surface of modified MSCs can be studied by using specific antibodies against the spike protein and the flow cytometry method.



In order to enhance IFN production, the spike proteinexpressing MSCs can be transfected with MAVS gene-containing plasmid by electroporation protocol based on previous protocols (Peister et al., 2004). The transfection success rate could be measured by GFP-labeled vectors, and MSCs viability after the manipulation should be assessed by MTT assay. Western blotting on cell lysates would evaluate MAVS expression and successful translation after plasmid transfection. Determining the subcellular localization of MAVS and accurate translocation of produced MAVS to the cell mitochondria is critical in this study.

It has been shown that MAVS is localized in the mitochondrial outer membrane, and MAVS's mislocalization abolishes its activity (Seth et al., 2005). Evaluation of MAVS protein translocation to the mitochondrial outer membrane should be done by utilizing immunofluorescence assay and fluorescentlabeled antibodies for MAVS protein and mitochondrial outer membrane described by previous studies (Vazquez et al., 2017).

It is expected that MSCs transfer their mitochondria to the ACE2⁺ cells. Thus, mitochondrial transfer from modified MSCs to the infected surfactant-secreting type II alveolar cells should be evaluated using fluorescence labeling of mitochondria and FACS method after in vitro coculture of modified MSCs and SARS-Cov-2 infected type II pneumocytes. It is expected that mitochondrial transfer to the infected cells results in four changes: (1) reduction of oxidative stress, (2) enhancement of IFN production, (3) decreasing the apoptosis rate in the initial stages of SARS-CoV-2 infection, and (4) reduction of viral load in infected surfactant-secreting type II alveolar cells. IFN production can be measured by using the ELISA method. To assess the effects of mitochondrial transfer and improved IFN production on apoptosis of type II pneumocytes, annexin V/PI staining and flow cytometry is recommended. Viral replication in type II pneumocytes is expected to be interrupted after the intervention. Therefore, viral load should be measured by quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR).

In vivo Studies

In vivo studies could include evaluating spike⁺ MSCs distribution within the animal body, histopathological changes of the target organs of SARS-CoV-2, and measuring anti-SARS-CoV-2 IgM and IgG after the intervention. The animal model should be susceptible to SARS-CoV-2 infection with a sensitized respiratory tract. It is possible to transduce the model with adenovirus or adeno-associated virus that expresses human ACE2 protein (Muñoz-Fontela et al., 2020).

In order to assess spike⁺ MSCs distribution in the body of the COVID-19 animal model, MSCs will be labeled with ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron-oxide nanoparticles (USPIO), and these cells could be tracked using MRI until 21 days after injection to the COVID-19 animal model (Crabbe et al., 2010). Histopathological changes of the lungs should be examined for inflammatory cell infiltration and fibrin deposition in the lung tissue of the COVID-19 animal model in treated and untreated groups at days 0, 2, 7, 10, 14, and 21 after the treatment by H&E staining and light microscopy. These changes should be compared with the untreated COVID-19 animal model. Antispike protein antibody titers would also be compared in treated and untreated groups. For this purpose, 20 days after the treatment, the blood samples will be obtained from both groups, and anti-spike antibody titers will be measured using ELISA.

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTION

Most complications of COVID-19 come from the impaired innate and adaptive immune responses against SARS-CoV-2. This immunodeficiency/hyperinflammation state results in high viral load and cytokine storm. Considering the crucial role of mitochondria in inducing innate and adaptive immune responses by promoting IFN production and activating antiviral pathways, we suggested that transferring healthy mitochondria will improve innate immune response and prevent the distribution of the infection in the body. Besides, healthy mitochondria will improve cellular bioenergy that is impaired during metabolic syndrome and infection. In order to boost mitochondrial-mediated immune response, we suggest increasing the expression of mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS) protein as a pivotal player of the cellular innate immune response.

Targeted therapy of COVID-19 provides several benefits, including targeted mitochondria delivery to eligible cells, reduced side effects of direct mitochondria application, and a lesser number of administered mitochondria needed. It has been shown that the administration of mitochondria without any carrier causes inflammation. Considering the bacterial origin of mitochondria, the application of uncovered mitochondrial DNA, which is similar to bacterial DNA, induces toll-like receptor-9 (TLR9)-mediated inflammatory responses (Oka et al., 2012). Thus, designing appropriate carriers with the ability of targeted therapy improves the outcome. MSCs have been administered for targeted therapy in different pathological situations. These cells are immune evasive, which results in reducing the chance of immune rejection (Babajani et al., 2020). Additionally, MSCs and their exosomes possess innate therapeutic effects in different conditions, including cancer and COVID-19 (Golchin et al., 2020). The safety of clinical administration of MSCs was approved by many clinical studies (Thompson et al., 2020), and a growing body of studies are applying MSCs from different sources for the treatment of COVID-19 (available on www.clinicaltrials.gov). Additionally, it seems that expressing S protein, a ligand for ACE2, on the surface of MSCs will make the delivery of mitochondria more targeted. Besides, viral S protein might promote antibody production that induces vaccine-like effects (Kuate et al., 2007). Taken together, the antiinflammatory features of spike expressing MSCs, along with their ability to eliminate complications of COVID-19, could make them valuable mitochondrial-targeted carriers for prevention and therapy in COVID-19.

Utilizing non-cellular or cellular carriers may provide some advantages and disadvantages. However, selecting a semi-biologic carrier that offers both cellular and non-cellular cargos benefits is the optimal aim in targeted mitochondrial therapy. As a miniature copy of the original cell, exosomes possess various beneficial functions of MSCs, including immunomodulation and regeneration (Jafari et al., 2021). Exosomes can be found in the cellular secretions that regulate several intercellular communications. Intercellular transfer of exosome-mediated mitochondria is reported in some studies (Maremanda et al., 2019). It has been reported that exosomes with encapsulated mitochondria can transfer these organelles from myeloidderived regulatory cells (MDRCs) to CD4⁺ T cells that resulted in alteration of pro-inflammatory function, bioenergetic, T cell differentiation and signaling of mitochondria in chronic inflammatory diseases (Hough et al., 2018). Administration of exosomes would provide some advantages over cells, including circumventing invasive cell harvesting, controlling dosage and potency, supply storable and easy-accessible sources, and extra stability (Yin et al., 2019). Thus, exosomes can be the future options for mitochondrial transfer-based therapies.

To the best of our knowledge, no studies have focused on administering MAVS overexpressed mitochondrial therapy to treat COVID-19. Therefore, it is essential to investigate the potential therapeutic effects of mitochondrial therapy for COVID-19.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AB, PH-M, SA, and HN: conceptualization. AB, PH-M, and SA: investigation. AB, PH-M, and EJ: writing—original draft preparation. AB, PH-M, EJ, and HN: writing—review and editing. HN: supervision. All authors read and agreed to the submitted version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Alimohamadi, Y., Sepandi, M., Taghdir, M., and Hosamirudsari, H. (2020). Determine the most common clinical symptoms in COVID-19 patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Prev. Med. Hyg. 61, E304–E312. doi: 10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2020.61.3.1530
- Babajani, A., Soltani, P., Jamshidi, E., Farjoo, M. H., and Niknejad, H. (2020). Recent advances on drug-loaded mesenchymal stem cells with anti-neoplastic agents for targeted treatment of cancer. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 8:748. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2020.00748
- Babenko, V. A., Silachev, D. N., Popkov, V. A., Zorova, L. D., Pevzner, I. B., Plotnikov, E. Y., et al. (2018). Miro1 enhances mitochondria transfer from multipotent mesenchymal stem cells (MMSC) to neural cells and improves the efficacy of cell recovery. *Molecules* 23:687. doi: 10.3390/molecules23030687
- Banerjee, A., Falzarano, D., Rapin, N., Lew, J., and Misra, V. (2019). Interferon regulatory factor 3-mediated signaling limits Middle-East respiratory syndrome (MERS) Coronavirus propagation in cells from an insectivorous bat. *Viruses* 11:152. doi: 10.3390/v11020152
- Banoth, B., and Cassel, S. L. (2018). Mitochondria in innate immune signaling. Transl. Res. 202, 52–68. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2018.07.014
- Bertsimas, D., Lukin, G., Mingardi, L., Nohadani, O., Orfanoudaki, A., Stellato, B., et al. (2020). COVID-19 mortality risk assessment: An international multicenter study. *PLoS One* 15:e0243262. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0243262
- Blanco-Melo, D., Nilsson-Payant, B. E., Liu, W.-C., Uhl, S., Hoagland, D., Møller, R., et al. (2020). Imbalanced host response to SARS-CoV-2 drives development of COVID-19. *Cell* 181, 1036.e9–1045.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.026
- Channappanavar, R., Fehr, A. R., Vijay, R., Mack, M., Zhao, J., Meyerholz, D. K., et al. (2016). Dysregulated type I interferon and inflammatory monocytemacrophage responses cause lethal pneumonia in SARS-CoV-infected mice. *Cell. Host Microbe* 19, 181–193. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.01.007
- Chen, C.-M., and Chou, H.-C. (2018). Human mesenchymal stem cells attenuate hyperoxia-induced lung injury through inhibition of the renin-angiotensin system in newborn rats. *Am. J. Transl. Res.* 10, 2628–2635.
- Chen, L., and Zhong, L. (2020). Genomics functional analysis and drug screening of SARS-CoV-2. *Genes Dis.* 7, 542–550. doi: 10.1016/j.gendis.2020.04.002
- Choi, H. J., Park, A., Kang, S., Lee, E., Lee, T. A., Ra, E. A., et al. (2018). Human cytomegalovirus-encoded US9 targets MAVS and STING signaling to evade type I interferon immune responses. *Nat. Commun.* 9:125. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02624-8
- Choi, S.-J., Piao, S., Nagar, H., Jung, S.-B., Kim, S., Lee, I., et al. (2018). Isocitrate dehydrogenase 2 deficiency induces endothelial inflammation via p66shmediated mitochondrial oxidative stress. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 503, 1805–1811. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.07.117
- Crabbe, A., Vandeputte, C., Dresselaers, T., Sacido, A. A., Verdugo, J. M. G., Eyckmans, J., et al. (2010). Effects of MRI contrast agents on the stem cell phenotype. *Cell Transplant.* 19, 919–936. doi: 10.3727/096368910X494623
- Dallan, C., Romano, F., Siebert, J., Politi, S., Lacroix, L., and Sahyoun, C. (2020). Septic shock presentation in adolescents with COVID-19. *Lancet Child Adolesc. Health* 4, e21–e23. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30164-4

FUNDING

This work was supported by Vice-Chancellor's in Research Affairs, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran and Research Grant Committee from the National Institutes for Medical Research Development (NIMAD), Tehran, Iran, under award number 963951.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to express their most sincere words of appreciation to Tahereh Tayebi for her valuable contribution.

- Damle, B., Vourvahis, M., Wang, E., Leaney, J., and Corrigan, B. (2020). Clinical pharmacology perspectives on the antiviral activity of azithromycin and use in COVID-19. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 108, 201–211. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1857
- El Maadidi, S., Faletti, L., Berg, B., Wenzl, C., Wieland, K., Chen, Z. J., et al. (2014). A novel mitochondrial MAVS/Caspase-8 platform links RNA virus-induced innate antiviral signaling to Bax/Bak-independent apoptosis. *J. Immunol.* 192, 1171–1183. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300842
- Fraser, E. (2020). Long term respiratory complications of covid-19. BMJ 370:m3001. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m3001
- Fung, S.-Y., Yuen, K.-S., Ye, Z.-W., Chan, C.-P., and Jin, D.-Y. (2020). A tugof-war between severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 and host antiviral defence: lessons from other pathogenic viruses. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* 9, 558–570. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2020.1736644
- Geng, X., Hong, Q., Wang, W., Zheng, W., Li, O., Cai, G., et al. (2017). Biological membrane-packed mesenchymal stem cells treat acute kidney disease by ameliorating mitochondrial-related apoptosis. *Sci. Rep.* 7:41136. doi: 10.1038/ srep41136
- Golchin, A., Seyedjafari, E., and Ardeshirylajimi, A. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for COVID-19: present or future. *Stem Cell. Rev. Rep.* 16, 427–433. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-09973-w
- Gordon, D. E., Jang, G. M., Bouhaddou, M., Xu, J., Obernier, K., White, K. M., et al. (2020). A SARS-CoV-2 protein interaction map reveals targets for drug repurposing. *Nature* 583, 459–468. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2286-9
- Guo, Y., Chi, X., Wang, Y., Heng, B. C., Wei, Y., Zhang, X., et al. (2020). Mitochondria transfer enhances proliferation, migration, and osteogenic differentiation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell and promotes bone defect healing. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11:245. doi: 10.1186/s13287-020-01704-9
- Hadjadj, J., Yatim, N., Barnabei, L., Corneau, A., Boussier, J., Smith, N., et al. (2020). Impaired type I interferon activity and inflammatory responses in severe COVID-19 patients. *Science* 369, 718–724. doi: 10.1126/science.abc 6027
- Heidarpour, M., Vakhshoori, M., Haghighatpanah, M. A., Ashrafi, L., Khorvash, F., and Iraj, B. (2021). Rhabdomyolysis plus hypocalcemia and diabetic ketoacidosis as concurrent rare COVID-19 manifestations. *Case Rep. Med.* 2021:6625086. doi: 10.1155/2021/6625086
- Hoffmann, M., Kleine-Weber, H., Schroeder, S., Krüger, N., Herrler, T., Erichsen, S., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 cell entry depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and is blocked by a clinically proven protease inhibitor. *Cell* 181, 271.e8–280.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052
- Hough, K. P., Trevor, J. L., Strenkowski, J. G., Wang, Y., Chacko, B. K., Tousif, S., et al. (2018). Exosomal transfer of mitochondria from airway myeloid-derived regulatory cells to T cells. *Redox Biol.* 18, 54–64. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2018.06. 009
- Huang, Y., Yang, C., Xu, X.-F., Xu, W., and Liu, S.-W. (2020). Structural and functional properties of SARS-CoV-2 spike protein: potential antivirus drug development for COVID-19. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 41, 1141–1149. doi: 10.1038/ s41401-020-0485-4
- Iessi, E., Cittadini, C., Anticoli, S., Fecchi, K., Matarrese, P., and Ruggieri, A. (2021). Sex differences in antiviral immunity in SARS-CoV-2 infection: mitochondria

and mitomiR come into view. Acta Physiol. (Oxf.) 231:e13571. doi: 10.1111/apha.13571

- Jafari, A., Babajani, A., Abdollahpour-Alitappeh, M., Ahmadi, N., and Rezaei-Tavirani, M. (2021). Exosomes and cancer: from molecular mechanisms to clinical applications. *Med. Oncol.* 38:45. doi: 10.1007/s12032-021-01491-0
- Jamshidi, E., Babajani, A., Soltani, P., and Niknejad, H. (2021). Proposed mechanisms of targeting COVID-19 by delivering mesenchymal stem cells and their exosomes to damaged organs. *Stem Cell. Rev. Rep.* 17, 176–192. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-10109-3
- Jiang, D., Gao, F., Zhang, Y., Wong, D. S. H., Li, Q., Tse, H.-F., et al. (2016). Mitochondrial transfer of mesenchymal stem cells effectively protects corneal epithelial cells from mitochondrial damage. *Cell Death Dis.* 7, e2467–e2467. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.358
- Jiang, H.-W., Zhang, H.-N., Meng, Q.-F., Xie, J., Li, Y., Chen, H., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Orf9b suppresses type I interferon responses by targeting TOM70. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 17, 998–1000. doi: 10.1038/s41423-020-0514-8
- Keech, C., Albert, G., Cho, I., Robertson, A., Reed, P., Neal, S., et al. (2020). Phase 1-2 trial of a SARS-CoV-2 recombinant spike protein nanoparticle vaccine. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 383, 2320–2332. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2026920
- Kuate, S., Cinatl, J., Doerr, H. W., and Uberla, K. (2007). Exosomal vaccines containing the S protein of the SARS coronavirus induce high levels of neutralizing antibodies. *Virology* 362, 26–37. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2006.12.011
- Kunutsor, S. K., and Laukkanen, J. A. (2020). Renal complications in COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann. Med. 52, 345–353. doi: 10.1080/ 07853890.2020.1790643
- Lee, A. J., and Ashkar, A. A. (2018). The dual nature of type I and type II interferons. *Front. Immunol.* 9:2061. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02061
- Lei, X., Dong, X., Ma, R., Wang, W., Xiao, X., Tian, Z., et al. (2020). Activation and evasion of type I interferon responses by SARS-CoV-2. *Nat. Commun.* 11:3810. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17665-9
- Li, C., Cheung, M. K. H., Han, S., Zhang, Z., Chen, L., Chen, J., et al. (2019a). Mesenchymal stem cells and their mitochondrial transfer: a double-edged sword. *Biosci. Rep.* 39:BSR20182417. doi: 10.1042/BSR20182417
- Li, C., Zu, S., Deng, Y.-Q., Li, D., Parvatiyar, K., Quanquin, N., et al. (2019b). Azithromycin protects against Zika virus infection by upregulating virusinduced Type I and III interferon responses. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 63, e00394–e00419. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00394-19
- Li, X., Wang, Y., An, G., Liang, D., Zhu, Z., Lian, X., et al. (2017). Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells attenuate silica-induced pulmonary fibrosis via paracrine mechanisms. *Toxicol. Lett.* 270, 96–107. doi: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2017. 02.016
- Liu, J., Jiao, H., and Yin, X. (2020). Engineered human mesenchymal stem cells as new vaccine platform for COVID-19. *bioRxiv [preprint]* doi: 10.1101/2020.06. 20.163030
- Liu, K., Ji, K., Guo, L., Wu, W., Lu, H., Shan, P., et al. (2014). Mesenchymal stem cells rescue injured endothelial cells in an in vitro ischemia-reperfusion model via tunneling nanotube like structure-mediated mitochondrial transfer. *Microvasc. Res.* 92, 10–18. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2014.01.008
- Long, B., Brady, W. J., Koyfman, A., and Gottlieb, M. (2020). Cardiovascular complications in COVID-19. Am. J. Emerg. Med. 38, 1504–1507. doi: 10.1016/j. ajem.2020.04.048
- Lu, L.-F., Li, Z.-C., Zhang, C., Zhou, X.-Y., Zhou, Y., Jiang, J.-Y., et al. (2020). Grass carp Reovirus (GCRV) giving its all to suppress IFN production by countering MAVS signaling transduction. *Front. Immunol.* 11:545302. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2020.545302
- Lulli, D., Carbone, M. L., and Pastore, S. (2017). The MEK inhibitors trametinib and cobimetinib induce a type I interferon response in human keratinocytes. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:2227. doi: 10.3390/ijms18102227
- Ma, J., Ketkar, H., Geng, T., Lo, E., Wang, L., Xi, J., et al. (2018). Zika virus nonstructural protein 4A blocks the RLR-MAVS signaling. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:1350. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.01350
- Maiti, A. (2020). African-American population is more vulnerable to SARSCoV2 infection and IFN-beta supplement can be an effective treatment. SSRN Electron. J. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3566710 [Epub ahead of print].
- Maremanda, K. P., Sundar, I. K., and Rahman, I. (2019). Protective role of mesenchymal stem cells and mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes in cigarette smoke-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in mice. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 385:114788. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2019.114788

- Menzel, M., Akbarshahi, H., Tufvesson, E., Persson, C., Bjermer, L., and Uller, L. (2017). Azithromycin augments rhinovirus-induced IFNβ via cytosolic MDA5 in experimental models of asthma exacerbation. *Oncotarget* 8, 31601–31611. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16364
- Meyerrose, T. E., Roberts, M., Ohlemiller, K. K., Vogler, C. A., Wirthlin, L., Nolta, J. A., et al. (2008). Lentiviral-transduced human mesenchymal stem cells persistently express therapeutic levels of enzyme in a xenotransplantation model of human disease. *Stem Cells* 26, 1713–1722.
- Molony, R. D., Malawista, A., and Montgomery, R. R. (2018). Reduced dynamic range of antiviral innate immune responses in aging. *Exp. Gerontol.* 107, 130–135. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.08.019
- Monk, P. D., Marsden, R. J., Tear, V. J., Brookes, J., Batten, T. N., Mankowski, M., et al. (2021). Safety and efficacy of inhaled nebulised interferon beta-1a (SNG001) for treatment of SARS-CoV-2 infection: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Respir. Med.* 9, 196–206. doi: 10.1016/ S2213-2600(20)30511-7
- Mozafari, N., Azadi, S., Mehdi-Alamdarlou, S., Ashrafi, H., and Azadi, A. (2020). Inflammation: a bridge between diabetes and COVID-19, and possible management with sitagliptin. *Med. Hypotheses* 143:110111. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy. 2020.110111
- Muñoz-Fontela, C., Dowling, W. E., Funnell, S. G. P., Gsell, P.-S., Riveros-Balta, A. X., Albrecht, R. A., et al. (2020). Animal models for COVID-19. *Nature* 586, 509–515. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2787-6
- Oka, T., Hikoso, S., Yamaguchi, O., Taneike, M., Takeda, T., Tamai, T., et al. (2012). Mitochondrial DNA that escapes from autophagy causes inflammation and heart failure. *Nature* 485, 251–255. doi: 10.1038/nature10992
- Ouyang, L., and Gong, J. (2020). Mitochondrial-targeted ubiquinone: a potential treatment for COVID-19. *Med. Hypotheses* 144:110161. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy. 2020.110161
- Peister, A., Mellad, J. A., Wang, M., Tucker, H. A., and Prockop, D. J. (2004). Stable transfection of MSCs by electroporation. *Gene Ther.* 11, 224–228. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3302163
- Rajarshi, K., Chatterjee, A., and Ray, S. (2020). Combating COVID-19 with mesenchymal stem cell therapy. *Biotechnol. Rep. (Amst.)* 26:e00467. doi: 10. 1016/j.btre.2020.e00467
- Refolo, G., Vescovo, T., Piacentini, M., Fimia, G. M., and Ciccosanti, F. (2020). Mitochondrial interactome: a focus on antiviral signaling pathways. *Front. Cell. Dev. Biol.* 8:8. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00008
- Rodríguez-Baño, J., Pachón, J., Carratalà, J., Ryan, P., Jarrín, I., Yllescas, M., et al. (2021). Treatment with tocilizumab or corticosteroids for COVID-19 patients with hyperinflammatory state: a multicentre cohort study (SAM-COVID-19). *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 27, 244–252. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.08.010
- Seth, R. B., Sun, L., Ea, C.-K., and Chen, Z. J. (2005). Identification and characterization of MAVS, a mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein that activates NF-kappaB and IRF 3. *Cell* 122, 669–682. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.08. 012
- Shi, C.-S., Qi, H.-Y., Boularan, C., Huang, N.-N., Abu-Asab, M., Shelhamer, J. H., et al. (2014). SARS-coronavirus open reading frame-9b suppresses innate immunity by targeting mitochondria and the MAVS/TRAF3/TRAF6 signalosome. J. Immunol. 193, 3080–3089. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1303196
- Song, J.-W., Zhang, C., Fan, X., Meng, F.-P., Xu, Z., Xia, P., et al. (2020). Immunological and inflammatory profiles in mild and severe cases of COVID-19. Nat. Commun. 11:3410. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17240-2
- Talasaz, A. H., Kakavand, H., Van Tassell, B., Aghakouchakzadeh, M., Sadeghipour, P., Dunn, S., et al. (2021). Cardiovascular complications of COVID-19: pharmacotherapy perspective. *Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther.* 35, 249–259. doi: 10. 1007/s10557-020-07037-2
- Thompson, M., Mei, S. H. J., Wolfe, D., Champagne, J., Fergusson, D., Stewart, D. J., et al. (2020). Cell therapy with intravascular administration of mesenchymal stromal cells continues to appear safe: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *EClinicalMedicine* 19:100249. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm. 2019.100249
- Vazquez, C., Beachboard, D. C., and Horner, S. M. (2017). Methods to visualize MAVS subcellular localization. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1656, 131–142. doi: 10.1007/ 978-1-4939-7237-1_7
- Wang, B., Wu, S.-M., Wang, T., Liu, K., Zhang, G., Zhang, X.-Q., et al. (2012). Pre-treatment with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells inhibits systemic intravascular coagulation and attenuates organ dysfunction in

lipopolysaccharide-induced disseminated intravascular coagulation rat model. *Chin. Med. J. (Engl.)* 125, 1753–1759.

- Wang, B. X., and Fish, E. N. (2019). Global virus outbreaks: interferons as 1st responders. Semin. Immunol. 43:101300. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2019.101300
- Wang, N., Zhan, Y., Zhu, L., Hou, Z., Liu, F., Song, P., et al. (2020). Retrospective multicenter cohort study shows early interferon therapy is associated with favorable clinical responses in COVID-19 patients. *Cell Host Microbe* 28, 455.e2–464.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.07.005
- Wang, Y., Yuan, S., Jia, X., Ge, Y., Ling, T., Nie, M., et al. (2019). Mitochondrialocalised ZNFX1 functions as a dsRNA sensor to initiate antiviral responses through MAVS. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 21, 1346–1356. doi: 10.1038/s41556-019-0416-0
- Westhauser, F., Senger, A.-S., Reible, B., and Moghaddam, A. (2017). * in vivo models for the evaluation of the osteogenic potency of bone substitutes seeded with mesenchymal stem cells of human origin: a concise review. *Tissue Eng. Part C Methods* 23, 881–888. doi: 10.1089/ten.TEC.2017.0164
- WHO Coronavirus (Covid-19) Dashboard (2021). WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. Available online at: https://covid19.who.int (accessed March 6, 2021).
- Xu, H., Zhong, L., Deng, J., Peng, J., Dan, H., Zeng, X., et al. (2020). High expression of ACE2 receptor of 2019-nCoV on the epithelial cells of oral mucosa. *Int. J. Oral Sci.* 12:8. doi: 10.1038/s41368-020-0074-x
- Yan, J., Zhang, Y., Su, Y., Tian, L., Qin, P., Xu, X., et al. (2021). microRNA-125a targets MAVS and TRAF6 to modulate interferon signaling and promote HCV infection. *Virus Res.* 296:198336. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2021.198336

- Yao, Y., Fan, X.-L., Jiang, D., Zhang, Y., Li, X., Xu, Z.-B., et al. (2018). Connexin 43-mediated mitochondrial transfer of iPSC-MSCs alleviates asthma inflammation. *Stem Cell Rep.* 11, 1120–1135. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2018.09.012
- Yin, K., Wang, S., and Zhao, R. C. (2019). Exosomes from mesenchymal stem/stromal cells: a new therapeutic paradigm. *Biomark. Res.* 7:8. doi: 10.1186/ s40364-019-0159-x
- Young, B., Tan, T. T., and Leo, Y. S. (2021). The place for remdesivir in COVID-19 treatment. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 21, 20–21. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30911-7
- Zhang, J., Kong, X., Jin, X., Gao, P., Wang, M., and Yang, L. (2019). Bone marrow stromal cells transplantation promotes the resolution and recanalization of deep vein thrombosis in rabbits through regulating macrophage infiltration and angiogenesis. J. Cell. Biochem. 120, 11680–11689. doi: 10.1002/jcb. 28447

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Babajani, Hosseini-Monfared, Abbaspour, Jamshidi and Niknejad. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





COVID-19 Pathology on Various Organs and Regenerative Medicine and Stem Cell-Based Interventions

Babak Arjmand^{1*†‡}, Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam^{1†}, Peyvand Parhizkar Roudsari², Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani^{3†}, Fakher Rahim^{4†}, Kambiz Gilany^{5,6,7†}, Fereshteh Mohamadi-Jahani⁸, Hossein Adibi⁹ and Bagher Larijani^{10*†‡}

¹ Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ² Metabolomics and Genomics Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ⁸ Proteomics Research Center, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ⁴ Health Research Institute, Thalassemia and Hemoglobinopathies Research Center, Ahvaz Jundishapur University of Medical Sciences, Ahvaz, Iran, ⁶ Reproductive Immunology Research Center, Avicenna Research Institute, The Academic Center for Education, Culture and Research (ACECR), Tehran, Iran, ⁶ Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium, ⁷ Department of Integrative Oncology, Breast Cancer Research Center, Motamed Cancer Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran, ⁸ Brain and Spinal Cord Injury Research Center, Neuroscience Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ⁹ Diabetes Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ¹⁰ Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus 2, a novel betacoronavirus, has caused the global outbreak of a contagious infection named coronavirus disease-2019. Severely ill subjects have shown higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Cytokine storm is the term that can be used for a systemic inflammation leading to the production of inflammatory cytokines and activation of immune cells. In coronavirus disease-2019 infection, a cytokine storm contributes to the mortality rate of the disease and can lead to multiple-organ dysfunction syndrome through auto-destructive responses of systemic inflammation. Direct effects of the severe acute respiratory syndrome associated with infection as well as hyperinflammatory reactions are in association with disease complications. Besides acute respiratory distress syndrome, functional impairments of the cardiovascular system, central nervous system, kidneys, liver, and several others can be mentioned as the possible consequences. In addition to the current therapeutic approaches for coronavirus disease-2019, which are mostly supportive, stem cell-based therapies have shown the capacity for controlling the inflammation and attenuating the cytokine storm. Therefore, after a brief review of novel coronavirus characteristics, this review aims to explain the effects of coronavirus disease-2019 cytokine storm on different organs of the human body. The roles of stem cell-based therapies on attenuating cytokine release syndrome are also stated.

Keywords: coronavirus disease 2019, cytokine storm, mesenchymal stem cells, multi-organ failure, severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus 2

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Fundación Andaluza de I+D, FAID, Associations Andalusian Foundations, Spain

Reviewed by:

Guido Moll, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany Cristina Ferreras, University Hospital La Paz Research Institute (IdiPAZ), Spain

*Correspondence:

Babak Arjmand barjmand@sina.tums.ac.ir Bagher Larijani emrc@tums.ac.ir

[†]ORCID:

Babak Arjmand orcid.org/0000-0001-5001-5006 Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam orcid.org/0000-0003-4488-9131 Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani orcid.org/0000-0003-1767-7475 Fakher Rahim orcid.org/0000-0002-2857-4562 Kambiz Gilany orcid.org/0000-0003-2916-7245 Bagher Larijani orcid.org/0000-0001-5386-7597

[‡]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 02 March 2021 Accepted: 03 May 2021 Published: 14 June 2021

INTRODUCTION

In certain pathological conditions, such as a viral infection, the immune system may overproduce inflammatory cytokines. This situation sometimes can result in organ failure and death, known as a "cytokine storm." Today, the cytokine storm has drawn further consideration because of the new pandemic disease related to the novel coronavirus [severe acute respiratory syndrome- coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)] or coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (Tisoncik et al., 2012; Cena and Chieppa, 2020; Fajgenbaum and June, 2020; Puelles et al., 2020; Song et al., 2020). Herein, COVID-19 has warned us of the essential role of high host immunity and the detrimental outcomes of immune dysregulation. Indeed, the cytokine storm in COVID-19 is known to be one of the key causes of multiple-organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS) or multi-organ failure (MOF) as a hallmark of COVID-19 severity (Wang and Ma, 2008; Zaim et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2021). Many elderly individuals and those with comorbidities are more prone to developing a cytokine storm and dysfunctional immune reactions (Ciabattini et al., 2020; Nidadavolu and Walston, 2020; Tay et al., 2020). In severe cases, the involvement of assorted organs finally ends up in protracting the hospitalization time and raising the share of mortality (Rieg et al., 2020). Acute lung failure, acute kidney damage, acute liver failure, cardiovascular disease, and a broad range of hematological anomalies along with neurological disorders are characterized by MOF and MODS. Accordingly, since the MOF and MODS in COVID-19 subjects are important health issues, developing the application of modern therapeutic solutions can lead to ameliorate results and reduce mortality rates (Mokhtari et al., 2020; Sherren et al., 2020). Nowadays, cell therapy and regenerative medicine as one of the assuring and modern therapies have been able to promote the function of organs involved in various disorders and trigger their real healing reactions. Hereupon, different cells, specifically various stem cells, can be applied (Wong et al., 2013; Monsel et al., 2014; Mao and Mooney, 2015; Goodarzi et al., 2019). Therefore, the purpose of the current review is to highlight the effects of cytokine storms on different organs in COVID-19 individuals and how stem cells manage this phenomenon.

CHARACTERISTICS OF NOVEL CORONAVIRUS AND CORONAVIRUS DISEASE 2019

Since December 2019, SARS-CoV-2 infection has led to a highly contagious disease named COVID-19 (Hu et al., 2020; Sun P. et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). Coronaviruses, as a member of the Coronavirinae subfamily (in the Coronaviridae family), are positive-sense, single-stranded, non-segmented, and enveloped RNA viruses (Arjmand et al., 2020; Harrison et al., 2020; Zamanian Azodi et al., 2020). This novel betacoronavirus has been shown 79% of genome sequence identity to the previous betacoronaviruses, including severe

acute respiratory syndrome-CoV (SARS-CoV) and Middle East respiratory syndrome-CoV (MERS-CoV), which also caused fatal respiratory illnesses (Hu et al., 2020). The genome sequence of SARS-CoV-2 contains 14 open reading frames (ORFs) that 16 non-structural proteins (nsp) are encoded by two-thirds of that. Moreover, nine accessory proteins (ORF) plus four structural proteins are encoded by the remaining one-third (Harrison et al., 2020). Transmembrane spike (s) glycoprotein mediates the coronavirus entry, which is mentioned to be the main antibody target (Walls et al., 2020). Indeed, each S protein of SARS-CoV-2 has two subunits, S1 and S2 domains. Receptor-binding domain (within the S1 domain) is used by the virus to bind to the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) as the cellular receptor. It could also promote the effects of transmembrane protease serine type 2 (TMPRSS2) on cleaving S protein (Dong et al., 2020). After binding, viral-host cell membrane fusion is activated leading to the release of viral RNA into the cytoplasm (Ni et al., 2020). ACE2 and TMPRSS2 can be expressed by different organs and tissues in addition to the lungs including the heart, kidney, colon, esophagus, liver, brain, testis, and gallbladder, which suggests the extrapulmonary effects of SARS-CoV-2 (Dong et al., 2020). On the other hand, COVID-19, according to its severity, can be classified into four types, namely, mild, moderate, severe, and critical, with different manifestations in each group. Herein, fever, fatigue, dry cough, and diarrhea are mentioned as the most common symptoms (Wang Y. et al., 2020). Upper respiratory tract-related symptoms can be seen in the mild form of the disease. Moderate patients also have cough, shortness of breath, and tachypnea symptoms with no severe form of symptoms. Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), septic shock, sepsis, severe dyspnea, and tachypnea are the signs and symptoms of severe pneumonia seen in the severe form of the disease. Moreover, in some of the patients, a critical disease can be developed with the manifestations of respiratory failure, septic shock, and MODS or MOF (Hassan et al., 2020). Droplet and humanto-human transmission as the direct ways and contaminated objects/airborne contagion as indirect means are the ways that SARS-CoV-2 can spread (Lotfi et al., 2020). Herein, the incubation period of COVID-19 ranges from 0 to 24 days, which is averagely estimated at around 6.4 days (Wang Y. et al., 2020). The most common radiological characteristics of COVID-19 are ground-glass opacities in the lungs, patchy consolidation, interlobular involvement, and alveolar exudates (Sahin et al., 2020). Moreover, laboratory studies have shown increased lactate dehydrogenase, C-reactive protein (CRP), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), total bilirubin levels, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) as well as higher creatine kinase (CK) and D-dimer level. In addition, lymphocyte and eosinophil counts have shown lower levels as well as the levels of serum albumin and hemoglobin (Cascella et al., 2020; Velavan and Meyer, 2020). Additionally, as it was mentioned, MODS and systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) can be the results of SARS-CoV-2 infection in which a powerful cytokine storm has an important role (Sun X. et al., 2020).

CYTOKINE STORM

It has been found that different triggers, including infections and malignancy, can result in unregulated host immune responses leading to the activated pathways of cytokine production. Thus, cytokine storm can be introduced as a systemic inflammation leading to the production of inflammatory cytokines and activation of immune cells (Tang Y. et al., 2020). Different immunity dysregulation disorders recognized by systemic inflammation, constitutional symptoms, and MOF (as the possible result of MODS) can be mentioned in this definition, too. Cytokine storm in different conditions can be varying in onset and duration, which depends on the cause and administered therapeutic approaches. However, the clinical manifestations of it usually overlap (Grupp et al., 2013; Fajgenbaum and June, 2020). Additionally, higher infiltration of cytokines has been seen in lung tissues of patients, too. In this regard, COVID-19 patients with severe conditions have shown more elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines compared to those in moderate conditions. Thus, it can be also related to the poor prognosis of the disease. Taken together, this can indicate the contribution of cytokine storm to the mortality of COVID-19 (Tang Y. et al., 2020). Therefore, it is essential to monitor patients for cytokine storm signs (Henderson et al., 2020).

Clinical Features and Laboratory Abnormalities

Generally, cytokine storm can cause fever in almost all of the patients, which can be in high grades in severe patients. Cytokine storm can promote tissue damage pathways that, along with acute-phase physiological changes and immune cell-mediated reactions, may lead to some other symptoms, too. Some of these symptoms are fatigue, anorexia, rash, arthralgia, myalgia, headache, diarrhea, and neuropsychiatric changes (confusion, delirium, aphasia, and seizure). It can also lead to disseminated intravascular coagulation, hemostatic imbalance, catastrophic hemorrhages, hypotension, vasodilatory shock, and even death. It has been found that spontaneous hemorrhage is related to hyperinflammation, low platelet levels, and coagulopathy. Dyspnea, tachypnea, cough, pulmonary edema, ARDS, and hypoxemia are also possible respiratory symptom-related events that can be accompanied by cytokine storm. Splenomegaly and hepatomegaly, in addition to cardiac damage, liver injury, and renal failure, can be developed due to the more severe conditions of cytokine storm (Lee et al., 2014; Templin et al., 2015; Fajgenbaum and June, 2020; Gao et al., 2021). On the other hand, some laboratory findings of patients with cytokine storm syndrome are pancytopenia, abnormalities in liver function tests, increased triglyceride and ferritin, and lower fibrinogen levels. The cerebrospinal fluid analysis may also show some abnormalities in patients who have neurological manifestations (Rosado and Gopal, 2019). Exhaustion of natural killer cells/T cells leading to lymphopenia are other characteristics of chronic COVID-19 condition. Studies have shown that lymphocyte count is decreased significantly in severe COVID-19, and thus, lymphopenia can predict the disease prognosis and its clinical

outcomes (Tan et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2020). Cytokines impose a positive effect on the immune system to recruit immune cells to the inflammation sites. It could develop inflammation and some organ damages. Some of the important cytokines that have roles in this extreme activation are growth factors (GF), chemokines, interleukins (IL), tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interferons (IFN), and colony-stimulating factors (CSF). These cytokines, according to their functions, can be placed in two groups of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory factors. For instance, TNF, IFN-y, IL-1β, and IL-12 are in the proinflammatory group of factors, whereas transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β), IL-4, and IL-13 are some anti-inflammatory factors (Song et al., 2020). The concept of cytokine storm for COVID-19 infection is derived from the data that showed that critically ill patients have higher levels of TNFa, IFN gammainduced protein-10 (IP-10), and the chemokine (C-C motif) ligand-2 (CCL2), compared to the patients in mild or moderate stages of the disease (Castelli et al., 2020). In addition to IP-10 and TNF- α , severely ill patients have shown higher levels of IL-2, IL-10, IL-7, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), macrophage inflammatory protein-1A (MIP-1A), and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), too (Fara et al., 2020). In this regard, lower CD4, CD8, and natural killer (NK) T cell levels and increased monocyte and macrophage levels in COVID-19 patients can explain the higher levels of chemicals in them (Dong et al., 2020). IL-6 is also an important inflammatory cytokine that is elevated during COVID-19 inflammatory condition. It is useful for disease monitoring and can indicate the severity of the disease in its initial phases (Aziz et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020). Chimeric antigen receptor T cell (CAR-T) treatment technology is introduced as a proper approach for immunotherapy (in infections and disorders such as hematological cancers). It can lead to cytokine release syndrome (CRS) as an adverse effect that is mainly caused by IL-6 (Bonifant et al., 2016; Kishimoto, 2021). Taken together, a valid immunological feature of COVID-19 is CRS in which hyper inflammation can manifest by a disrupted immune activation. Herein, an important association has been found between mortality rates and severe inflammation (Fara et al., 2020).

Pathophysiological Features

In response to invading pathogens, the effective immune system is expected to return the body's homeostasis by recognizing invaders and responding to them proportionally. In order to obtain this homeostasis, sufficient cytokine production is required along with the avoidance of hyperinflammatory reactions. Because, although inflammation activates innate and adaptive immune systems, it can cause collateral damages in hyperinflammatory states (Fajgenbaum and June, 2020). Endothelial dysfunction, metabolic abnormalities, and MOD can occur as the results of higher cytokine levels. Herein, elevated levels of TNF and IL-1 β as acute phase response cytokines and higher IL-8 and MCP-1 levels can cause a facilitated increase of IL-6 levels (which, in COVID-19 subjects, is considered as a main intermediary of viral cytokine storm and inflammation). IL-6 in combination with membrane-bound IL-6 receptor or soluble IL-6 receptor forms a complex that affects glycoprotein 130 (gp130).
Subsequently, it can lead to the regulated IL-6, granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and MCP-1 and thus the perpetuation of the inflammatory responses. This process could be done through the Janus kinases (JAK)/signaltransducer and activator of transcription (STAT) pathway. The acute phase responses driven by IL-6 and other cytokines result in elevated ferritin, CRP, complement, and also pro-coagulant factors. On the other hand, the hyperinflammatory reactions of cytokine storm can produce reactive oxygen species (ROS) that causes cell death and stimulation of NLR family pyrin domain containing3 (NLRP3) and nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) (Bhaskar et al., 2020). Herein, it has been found that transcription factor NF-kB can drive induced cytokine storm (Khalil et al., 2020). NLRP3 inflammasome can induce the immune responses leading to the increased release of cytokines and circulating cell debris, named danger-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs). This can trigger and amplify the innate immunity reactions and the complement cascade (ComC) whose activation can be related to the worsened prognosis of COVID-19 patients (Ratajczak and Kucia, 2020). Pulmonary-activated platelets through the formation of platelet-neutrophil complexes (PNCs) have an important contribution to systemic sepsis, too. Herein, they are mentioned to be considerable sources of cytokines and ROS. Moreover, the effects of PNCs on increasing neutrophil recruitment and development of proinflammatory/procoagulant environment and their contribution to ARDS have been also found (Morris et al., 2020).

Cytokine Storm and Multi-Organ Involvement in Coronavirus Disease 2019

Inappropriate reactions of host cells to a different group of acute insults can result in MODS, which is mentioned to be an important reason for mortality and morbidity in intensive care units (Wang and Ma, 2008). Indeed, in MODS condition, an autodestructive response of generalized inflammation can be the result of elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine levels (Aikawa, 1996). Hereupon, in COVID-19 infection, the hyperinflammatory responses along with severe acute respiratory syndrome direct effects are in association with disease complications (Zaim et al., 2020). The disease progression has been shown to be highly affected by extrapulmonary manifestations and its comorbidities. In this regard, multi-organ effects of COVID-19 have accompanied the infection since its emergence. Therefore, plausible organ injuries and comorbidities of COVID-19 require full attention in order to reduce death numbers (Sun X. et al., 2020; Wu T. et al., 2020; Zaim et al., 2020). Some important organ involvements of COVID-19 are explained separately in the next subtitles (Figure 1).

Cardiac Damage

Cardiovascular disease (CVD), as an important comorbidity accompanied by SARS-CoV-2 infection, can lead to a higher mortality rate than other associated comorbidities. Cytokine storm along with other mechanisms including thrombosis, endotheliosis, and lymphocytopenia can cause this cardiac damage or make it worsen (Unudurthi et al., 2020). Thus, the cardiovascular system can be involved in virus extrapulmonary effects with diverse manifestations of myocarditis, pericarditis, decompensated heart failure, cardiogenic shock, edema, myocardial fibrosis, and some other complications (Ellison-Hughes et al., 2020; Vitiello and Ferrara, 2020). The virus can cause its effects on the cardiac system through different ways of direct infection, binding to the functional receptors of ACE2, and immune damage. Cardiomyocyte infection by COVID-19 following by virus replication can lead to tissue degeneration, necrosis (Benítez-Guerra et al., 2020), and apoptosis (Heffernan et al., 2020). Indeed, the viral infection of COVID-19 can cause extracellular matrix remodeling leading to the production of fibrotic scars. These fibrotic lesions have some pathological effects that can even lead to death in patients including cardiac dysfunction and reduction of ejection fraction. Cardiac electrical conduction system can also experience some alterations that cause cardiac arrhythmias (Vitiello and Ferrara, 2020). The cardiac damage measured by increased levels of high-sensitivity troponin I has been mentioned to be found in about 20% of COVID-19 patients (Heffernan et al., 2020). Besides cardiac troponin I, increased levels of other laboratory cardiac markers have been seen in patients, such as higher levels of CK, creatine kinase-muscle/brain activity, myoglobin, alpha-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase (α-HBDH), N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP), and AST (Benítez-Guerra et al., 2020). Cardiac markers are stated to be instrumental in cardiac damage diagnosis. In this regard, high-sensitivity troponin I is an appropriate marker for both diagnostic and prognostic approaches (Mishra et al., 2020). Early diagnosis of cardiac involvement is an essential step to utilize effective therapeutic approaches (Vitiello and Ferrara, 2020) due to the higher morbidity and mortality rates of patients with cardiac injury (Mishra et al., 2020).

Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome

Acute respiratory distress syndrome is defined by an acute respiratory failure as a clinical syndrome in which arterial hypoxemia and dyspnea along with higher work of breathing can be presented. ARDS patients mostly need positive pressure ventilation and intubation. ARDS could be manifested in different disorders such as sepsis, pneumonia, major trauma, and aspiration (Matthay and Zemans, 2011). It has a broad range of causes and a wide spectrum of severity, imaging abnormalities, and other manifestations (Hariri and Hardin, 2020), which can overlap with some other conditions. Nonetheless, respiratory distress symptoms (for instance, dyspnea, and tachypnea); decreased arterial oxygen saturation; as well as epigastric pain, nausea/vomiting, hypotension, and fever are some mentionable symptoms (Parhizkar Roudsari et al., 2020). Hereupon, the associated symptoms of pneumonia-related COVID-19 range from asymptomatic (or mild upper respiratory tract infection) to severe forms of pneumonia, ARDS, and death (Xiao et al., 2020). Thus, ARDS is also an important and plausible comorbidity of COVID-19, the mentioned main cause of which is damages to the alveolar epithelial cells (Khalil et al., 2020). Cytokine storm, impaired IFN-I and IFN-III responses, and vasculopathy of COVID-19, as well as the host immune responses of COVID-19, can explain the underlying pathways of pneumonia-induced



ARDS. The pro-inflammatory cascades of SARS-CoV-2 infection due to cytokine storm has a mentionable link to macrophage activation syndrome (MAS), which is a life-threatening feature of autoimmune diseases and can be mimicked in several viral infections. It can cause the damaged cytolytic activity of NK cells and CD8 + T cells. High levels of IL-6 may reflect an overexuberant inflammatory reaction as the result of cytokine storm and can drive these impairments associated with MAS (Torres Acosta and Singer, 2020). Because of the rapid development of ARDS, the high mortality rate, and the lower quality of life among survivors, finding novel and more effective therapeutic approaches is considerably required (Xiao et al., 2020).

Renal Damage

Renal damage also takes a part in the extrapulmonary effects of COVID-19 that has been observed in a significant population of COVID-19-infected patients. Autopsy studies have also shown renal involvement due to COVID-19 infection. In this regard, acute kidney injury (AKI) is a common finding that can be observed in up to 25% of critically ill patients of COVID-19 (with underlying comorbidities) (Patel et al., 2020). Needing for renal replacement therapy and electrolyte disturbance, such as hyperkalemia, are other common renal complications of

COVID-19 (Kunutsor and Laukkanen, 2020). Renal damage can be manifested by higher levels of uric acid, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), D-dimer, and creatinine as well as hematuria and proteinuria (Puelles et al., 2020). Indeed, proteinuria can be the presentation of patients at hospital admission, and AKI mostly develops in critically ill patients at later stages of COVID-19. Thus, it could be a marker for MOD and the severity of the disease (Ronco et al., 2020). Taken together, it has been mentioned that renal damage is related to the severe forms of COVID-19 infection with fatal outcomes, and preexisting CKD can lead to a higher incidence of AKI. A high expression of ACE2, TMPRSS2, and cathepsin L (CTSL) in the kidneys and direct cytopathic effects of the virus are possible causes of kidney involvement during the COVID-19 pandemic (Naicker et al., 2020; Puelles et al., 2020). Hypovolemia and ARDS-related AKI are other possible mechanisms of kidney injury associated with COVID-19. Moreover, cytokine storm in association with secondary hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (sHLH) has a significant role in renal involvement of COVID-19. Hemodynamic changes, hypercoagulable state, and direct effects of cytokines (such as IL-6 and TNF) can be caused by hyperinflammatory states of cytokine storm that may lead to acute tubular necrosis (ATN) and tubulointerstitial nephritis (TIN) (Ahmed et al., 2020). There are no specific therapeutic options for AKI-related COVID-19, and intensive care along with clinical experience are mainly supportive that declares the requirement for developing new approaches for the management of this involvement (Ronco et al., 2020).

Liver Damage

There are numerous studies that have shown liver involvement due to COVID-19 infection. Although the exact underlying mechanism of liver damage has not been founded yet, abnormal ALT or AST levels along with slightly increased bilirubin are common manifestations of liver dysfunction (Wu J. et al., 2020). Higher liver enzymes are found more commonly in males. In addition, severe cases have more elevated liver enzymes than milder cases of the disease. Low albumin is also an indicator of severe infection with a worse prognosis. According to the effects of cytokine storm on liver damage, the inflammation biomarkers such as CRP, serum ferritin, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), IL-6, IL-2, and D-dimer were significantly higher in severely ill patients of COVID-19 (Sun J. et al., 2020). Results of an autopsy pathological study have shown moderate microvascular steatosis that was along with mild inflammation of the lobular portal zone, but direct killing influences of the virus were not observed (Wu J. et al., 2020). Taken together, direct viral effects on bile ducts, the role of cholangiocytes (for instance with their cell entry receptor of ACE2), and immune system activation particularly cytokine storm could be the probable causes for liver injury

(Alqahtani and Schattenberg, 2020). On the other hand, druginduced liver injury and hypoxia-induced damage are other possible mechanisms that can be hypothesized for liver damage because of SARS-CoV-2 infection (Kudaravalli et al., 2020; Wu J. et al., 2020). It should be mentioned that patients with a past medical history of liver diseases are more susceptible to liver damage from SARS-CoV-2 (Sun J. et al., 2020). However, more in-depth studies are required to demonstrate the causes of liver damage and to provide anti-COVID-19 treatments that particularly work on liver function (Vitiello et al., 2021).

Central Nervous System Damage

Besides the typical symptoms of COVID-19, some patients may show some neurological symptoms such as headache and malaise. Unstable walking as well as cerebral hemorrhage and cerebral infarction, meningitis/encephalitis, stroke, anosmia, and ageusia are other possible effects of SARS-CoV-2 infection on the nervous system (Alomari et al., 2020; Berger, 2020). Conducted studies have shown that neurological symptoms may be manifested in more than one-third of patients with COVID-19. However, they may be more commonly seen in severe infections (Niazkar et al., 2020). It has been shown that the virus can infect neurons and reduce synapse formation between them in which the olfactory route and blood–brain barrier could be the possible routes of invasion (Iadecola et al., 2020a; Marshall, 2020). In vivo studies done on human ACE2 transgenic mice found that an ACE2-dependent manner of neuronal infection



can lead to neuronal death due to the organoids. Viral proteins and molecular complexes of damaged cells could enter the compromised blood-brain barrier, and after brain entry, they act as DAMPs and pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). This can promote innate immune responses and express Tolllike receptors (TLR). It was found that these receptors can mediate the SARS-CoV pro-inflammatory effects that may result in higher cytokine production and impaired brain function (Iadecola et al., 2020a). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) axis can be also activated due to the unregulated cytokines in COVID-19, which can cause the autonomic nervous system and catecholamine/steroids release (Iadecola et al., 2020b). Despite all this, pathophysiological mechanisms underlying CNSrelated COVID-19 infection should be found more precisely (Divani et al., 2020).

TREATMENTS FOR CYTOKINE STORMS

Overall, important strategies to avoid the development of cytokine storms and ameliorate the prognosis of infection include the reduction of viral load by targeted therapeutic approaches in the early stages of the disease (with no or moderate symptoms) and the regulation of inflammatory reactions via immune modulators (Florindo et al., 2020; Khadke et al., 2020; Pan et al., 2020; Tang L. et al., 2020; Ye et al., 2020). Herein, cytokine inhibition, blood purification medical care, corticosteroid therapies, and cell-based approaches are the foremost therapeutic strategies (Jannaccone et al., 2020; Ye et al., 2020). Accordingly, cytokine inhibition, e.g., by means of IL-6/IL-6R blockers, IL-1 family blockers, TNF- α blockers, and IFN- $\alpha\beta$ blockers; blood purification medical care through the adsorption, plasma exchange, perfusion, and filtration of blood/plasma; corticosteroid therapies, which contribute to histone acetyltransferase (HAT) inhibition and histone deacetylase 2 (HDAC2) interest recruitment to be able to downregulate inflammatory genes; and cell-based approaches have powerful anti-inflammatory and immune-regulatory roles (Choudhary et al., 2020; Henriksen, 2020; Hojyo et al., 2020; Iannaccone et al., 2020).

REGENERATIVE MEDICINE AND CELL-BASED TREATMENTS

Cell therapy and regenerative medicine are marked as one of the most hopeful possible strategies for the regeneration of damaged or failed tissue and organs in the medical system. There are different approaches here, containing the use of cells from both autologous and allogeneic sources (Saberi et al., 2008; Aghayan et al., 2014a; Goodarzi et al., 2014, 2015). In other words, it encompasses a wide range of treatments via using various types of cells (e.g., T cells, NK lymphocytes, and different stem cells) with varying outcomes. In this context, the adoptive T-cell therapy or CAR T-cell therapy approach as a kind of immunotherapy has been shown to be effective against some infections and diseases. Herein, T cells from patient's own immune system (autologous source) are extracted and sent to a lab for genetic modification. The patient is then re-infused with the engineered cells (Maus et al., 2014; Bonifant et al., 2016; Maus and Levine, 2016; Seif et al., 2019). Despite the impressive effectiveness of CAR T-cell therapy in the treatment, it has a number of serious side effects including CRS and neurologic difficulties. CRS with an immediate onset tends to be a cytokine storm (Chen et al., 2019; Hong et al., 2021). Currently, T-cell therapy has also shown promise in immunosuppressed individuals as a preventive measure against COVID-19. Accordingly, investigators employed peripheral blood cells from convalescent subjects who had been endangered by the virus (Keller et al., 2020). Regulatory T cell-related strategies have been also suggested as considered treatment approaches for disease management according to their capacity for inactivation of innate/adaptive immunity through inhibitory molecules (Stephen-Victor et al., 2020). Additionally, transferring modified/unmodified antigen-specific T cells has shown promising results in the treatment of different disorders by reconstituting T cell subsets (effector/memory cells). In this context, adoptive T cell therapy by transferring T cell immune subsets is mentioned to have therapeutic benefits that can be the same as adult tissue stem cell features. However, high maintenance of memory T cells required and engraftment processes may create some limitations (Busch et al., 2016). In this regard, specific COVID-19-related T cells (within CD45RAmemory T cells) have been recognized that can be feasibly received by CD45RA depletion from convalescent donors. These cells can provide a population of cells for lymphopenia condition along with quick reactions to infection. COVID-19 CD45RA- memory T cells also provide immunity against secondary probable infections that may be found in COVID-19-hospitalized individuals (Ferreras et al., 2021). HLA-matched cytotoxic T cells isolated from convalescent patients are other promising approaches for the treatment of COVID-19 same to EBV-specific cytotoxic T cells, which were utilized for EBV + related lymphomas (Hanley et al., 2020). Another promising candidate for significant advancement has been NK cell therapy. Hereupon, autologous or allogeneic origins may be used to create pure populations of NK cells. Using the allogeneic NK cells as a platform for CAR engineering has risen due to the limitations of autologous NK cells (such as decreased effector role and the demand for a patient-specific stock) (Veluchamy et al., 2017; Daher and Rezvani, 2018). Since a decrease in the number of NK cells can be linked to the severity of the COVID-19 infection, some clinical trials used engineered NK cells to help battle COVID-19 (Market et al., 2020; van Eeden et al., 2020). However, using NK cell also has a number of drawbacks that may hinder their effectiveness. Short lifespan (in the lack of cytokine support), low cell numbers, and vulnerability to the immunosuppressive situation, all of which could limit their trafficking and operation (Nayyar et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2021). In accordance with various introduced limitations, as the epicenter of regenerative medicine, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been widely investigated and applied, and also have appeared throughout this area as a strong and commonly used cell source. Their capacity to differentiate into diverse cell

TABLE 1 | Number of cell-based clinical trials for COVID-19 (https://clinicaltrials.gov/).

Clinical trial heading	Applied cell	Thetotal number of participants	State of the recruitment	ClinicalTrials.gov identifier	Locations
Mesenchymal Stem Cell Infusion for COVID-19 Infection	Mesenchymal stem cells	20	Recruiting	NCT04444271	Pakistan
Mesenchymal Stem Cell for Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Due for COVID-19 (COVID-19)	Mesenchymal Stem cells	10	Recruiting	NCT04416139	Mexico
Safety and Efficacy of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Management of Severe COVID-19 Pneumonia	Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells	30	Not yet recruiting	NCT04429763	United State
Novel Coronavirus Induced Severe Pneumonia Treated by Dental Pulp Mesenchymal Stem Cells	Dental pulp mesenchymal stem cells	24	Not yet recruiting	NCT04302519	China
Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Patients Diagnosed With COVID-19	Mesenchymal stem cells	20	Recruiting	NCT04611256	United State
Use of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Caused by COVID-19	Mesenchymal stem cells derived from Wharton's jelly of umbilical cords	9	Active, not recruiting	NCT04456361	United State
Efficacy of Infusions of MSC From Wharton Jelly in the SARS-Cov-2 (COVID-19) Related Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	<i>Ex vivo</i> expanded Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells	30	Not yet recruiting	NCT04625738	France
Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for SARS-CoV-2-related Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	Mesenchymal stem cells	60	Recruiting	NCT04366063	Iran
Novel Adoptive Cellular Therapy With SARS-CoV-2 Specific T Cells in Patients With Severe COVID-19	Adoptive T-cell therapy	8	Recruiting	NCT04351659	Singapore
Mesenchymal Stem Cells Therapy in Patients With COVID-19 Pneumonia	Mesenchymal stem cells	21	Completed	NCT04713878	Turkey
Part Two of Novel Adoptive Cellular Therapy With SARS-CoV-2 Specific T Cells in Patients With Severe COVID-19	SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells	18	Recruiting	NCT04457726	Singapore
A Study of Cell Therapy in COVID-19 Subjects With Acute Kidney Injury Who Are Receiving Renal Replacement Therapy	Allogeneic human mesenchymal stromal cells	22	Recruiting	NCT04445220	United State
Safety of T Regulatory Cell Therapy in Subjects With COVID-19 Induced Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome	T regulatory cells	20	Not yet recruiting	NCT04737161	United State
Cell Therapy Using Umbilical Cord-derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in SARS-CoV-2-related ARDS	Umbilical cord Wharton's jelly derived human mesenchymal stromal cells	47	Active, not recruiting	NCT04333368	France
Treatment of Coronavirus COVID-19 Pneumonia (Pathogen SARS-CoV-2) With Cryopreserved Allogeneic P_MMSCs and UC-MMSCs	Cryopreserved placenta-derived mesenchymal stromal cells	30	Recruiting	NCT04461925	Ukraine
Study of Intravenous Administration of Allogeneic Adipose Stem Cells for COVID-19	Adipose-derived allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell	20	Recruiting	NCT04486001	United State
A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial to Determine the Safety and Efficacy of Hope Biosciences Allogeneic Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy (HB-adMSCs) to Provide Protection Against COVID-19	Allogeneic adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells	100	Active, not recruiting	NCT04348435	United State
Mesenchymal Stromal Cell Therapy for Severe Covid-19 Infection	Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal Cells	20	Recruiting	NCT04445454	Belgium
Treatment of COVID-19 Patients Using Wharton's jelly Mesenchymal Stem Cells	Umbilical cord Wharton's jelly derived human mesenchymal stem cells	5	Recruiting	NCT04313322	Jordan

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Clinical trial heading	Applied cell	Thetotal number of participants	State of the recruitment	ClinicalTrials.gov identifier	Locations
A Phase I/II Study of Universal Off-the-shelf NKG2D-ACE2 CAR-NK Cells for Therapy of COVID-19	NK cells	90	Recruiting	NCT04324996	China
Safety and Efficacy of Allogeneic Human Dental Pulp Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Treat Severe COVID-19 Patients	Allogeneic human dental pulp mesenchymal stem cells	20	Recruiting	NCT04336254	China
Treatment With Human Umbilical Cord-derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Severe Corona Virus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)	Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells	100	Completed	NCT04288102	China
Clinical Research of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Treatment of COVID-19 Pneumonia	Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells	30	Recruiting	NCT04339660	China
Cell Therapy Using Umbilical Cord-derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in SARS-CoV-2-related ARDS	Umbilical cord Wharton's jelly derived human mesenchymal stromal cells	47	Active, not recruiting	NCT04333368	France
Study of Human Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Treatment of Novel Coronavirus Severe Pneumonia	Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells	48	Not recruiting	NCT04273646	China
Mesenchymal Stem Cell Treatment for Pneumonia Patients Infected With 2019 Novel Coronavirus	Mesenchymal stem cells	20	Recruiting	NCT04252118	China
Umbilical Cord (UC)-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) Treatment for the 2019-novel Coronavirus (n COV) Pneumonia	Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells	16	Recruiting	NCT04269525	China
NK Cells Treatment for Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia	NK cells	30	Recruiting	NCT04280224	China

lineages, migration, and cellular regulator secretion together with immunosuppressive and immunomodulatory potential of MSC secretome are the features that make them extremely valuable. On the other hand, their isolation is almost easy and does not have significant ethical concerns (Aghayan et al., 2014b; Larijani et al., 2014, 2015, 2021; Goodarzi et al., 2018a,b; Payab et al., 2018; Arjmand et al., 2019; Abedi et al., 2020; Tayanloo-Beik et al., 2021). These features makes them the most suitable stem cell approaches among many of them (Azmi et al., 2020). The umbilical cord, adipose tissue bone marrow, dental pulp, and menstrual blood are important sources of MSCs. MSCs derived from adipose tissue have been mentioned to have more interesting results initially, but the best source of stem cell is required to be found yet (Song et al., 2021). Moreover, through their impacts on T and B cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells, they help regenerate and refresh the condition (Lee and Song, 2018; Wang et al., 2018). Accordingly, by inhibiting the proliferation of T and B cells and by successful regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines to optimize the microenvironment for intrinsic recovery, MSCs can reduce the cytokine storm. On the other hand, as the indirect effects to attenuate cytokine storm, they can restrict the innate immune system cell infiltration and consequently decrease the secretion of inflammatory cytokines (Ellison-Hughes et al., 2020; Gupta et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2020; Jeyaraman et al., 2021; Figure 2). 6 days after MSC therapy, cytokine storm-related immunity cells were showed to have dwindled. Increased levels of lymphocytes and regulatory dendritic cells along with decreased CRP; IL-1, 6, and 12; IFN- γ ; and TNF levels are also other results of this kind of therapy. Indeed, MSCs can provide antimicrobial peptides and anti-inflammatory cytokines (Leng et al., 2020; Rajarshi et al., 2020; Wang H.C. et al., 2020). Besides these anti-inflammatory features, secretion of IL-10 and some growth factors along with their regeneration and reparative capacity make them a potent therapeutic approach for lung repair and ARDS treatment in early stages (Azmi et al., 2020). MSC administration has been also shown to have benefits in sepsis and septic shock conditions regarding their capacity to normalize inflammatory biomarkers, oxygen saturation, and pulmonary improvements on CT imaging. For sepsis condition, umbilical cord-derived MSCs [especially from Wharton's jelly (WJ)], due to their effectiveness and acceptability, are mentioned to be the best source for MSCs (Laroye et al., 2020). In this respect, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has recently confirmed the safety and efficacy of MSCs for widespread application in COVID-19 cases (Choudhery and Harris, 2020; Kavianpour et al., 2020). In addition to the mentioned benefits of MSC administration, there are still some challenges; MSC-related features regarding their dosage, route of administration, frequency, and homing into the damaged sites have provided some limitations. Remaining ethical concerns along with lack of standardized protocols in preparation and isolation processes are other challenges. One other important concern about MSC therapy is the side effect of increased hypercoagulability (Jeyaraman et al., 2021). Thus, according to the higher risk of thrombosis, cell-free therapies including MSC secretome and MSC extracellular vesicles (EVs) seem to be interesting treatment approaches for COVID-19 that have shown no risk of mutagen/oncogenicity. Exosomes harbor different types of miRNAs/mRNAs and diverse protein components and have lower accompanied risk and decreased infection transmission. However, dosage, timing, and route of cell delivery are required to be known more clearly. Their capability for nebulized delivery and their longer storage periods also make them promising alternative therapeutic approaches (Maron-Gutierrez and Rocco, 2020; Kheirkhah et al., 2021). Therein, a number of cell-based clinical trials for COVID-19 are reviewed in **Table 1**.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE SCOPE

Due to the prevalence and complications of COVID-19, including cytokine storm, which is followed by organ dysfunction or failure and death, finding the efficient approach to treat and improve patients is of great importance. Cell therapy is now a modern way of treating several diseases, and many experiments have been performed in recent months to use different types of cells to treat the COVID-19, i.e., the MSC transplantation (Parhizkar Roudsari et al., 2020). Manifold aspects associated with the MSC application (e.g., standard protocols for isolation and harvesting, selection of the proper source for isolation, the appropriate dosage, route, and the

REFERENCES

- Abedi, M., Alavi-Moghadam, S., Payab, M., Goodarzi, P., Mohamadi-jahani, F., Sayahpour, F. A., et al. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell as a novel approach to systemic sclerosis; current status and future perspectives. *Cell Regen*. 9:20.
- Aghayan, H. R., Arjmand, B., Yaghoubi, M., Moradi-Lakeh, M., Kashani, H., and Shokraneh, F. (2014a). Clinical outcome of autologous mononuclear cells transplantation for spinal cord injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Med. J. Islam. Repub. Iran.* 28:112.
- Aghayan, H.-R., Goodarzi, P., and Arjmand, B. (2014b). "GMP-compliant human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells for cellular therapy," in *Stem Cells and Good Manufacturing Practices: Methods in Molecular Biology*, ed. K. Turksen (Cham: Springer), 93–107. doi: 10. 1007/7651_2014_112
- Ahmed, A. R., Ebad, C. A., Stoneman, S., Satti, M. M., and Conlon, P. J. (2020). Kidney injury in COVID-19. World J. Nephrol. 9, 18–32.
- Aikawa, N. (1996). [Cytokine storm in the pathogenesis of multiple organ dysfunction syndrome associated with surgical insults]. Nihon Geka Gakkai Zasshi 97, 771–777.
- Al-Khawaga, S., and Abdelalim, E. M. (2020). Potential application of mesenchymal stem cells and their exosomes in lung injury: an emerging therapeutic option for COVID-19 patients. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11:437.
- Alomari, S. O., Abou-Mrad, Z., and Bydon, A. (2020). COVID-19 and the central nervous system. *Clin. Neurol. Neurosurg.* 198:106116.
- Alqahtani, S. A., and Schattenberg, J. M. (2020). Liver injury in COVID-19: the current evidence. United Eur. Gastroenterol. J. 8, 509–519. doi: 10.1177/ 2050640620924157
- Arjmand, B., Ghorbani, F., Koushki, M., and Rezai-Tavirani, M. (2020). Gastrointestinal symptoms in patients with mild and severe COVID-19: a scoping review and meta-analysis. *Gastroenterol. Hepatol. Bed Bench* 13, 321– 330.
- Arjmand, B., Goodarzi, P., Aghayan, H. R., Payab, M., Rahim, F., Alavi-Moghadam, S., et al. (2019). Co-transplantation of human fetal mesenchymal and hematopoietic stem cells in type 1 diabetic mice model. *Front. Endocrinol.* 10:761. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00761

ideal timing of delivery) should be more discussed. Herein, in explaining the potential of MSCs, preclinical researches and continuing randomized trials will perform an important part to promote our knowledge about MSCs' fight against SARS-CoV-2 (Mastrolia et al., 2019; Al-Khawaga and Abdelalim, 2020). Because of possible accompanying side effects and limitations of stem cell-based therapeutic approaches, EVs are emerging alternative cellular treatments that have some advantages over MSCs (Maron-Gutierrez and Rocco, 2020). On the other hand, the importance of conducting more extensive studies to better understand the new coronavirus and its different variants cannot be ignored. This opens the door to researchers for designing more effective treatments. Accordingly, genetically modified MSCs have the ability to solve the challenges as a new sector and a developing field (Sage et al., 2016).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SA-M and PP wrote the first draft of the manuscript. FM-J, MR-T, and HA helped to study and gather information. FR and KG extensively edited the manuscript. BL participated in a critical review. BA helped to supervise the project and gave final approval of the version to be published. All authors contributed to the study's conception and design.

- Aziz, M., Fatima, R., and Assaly, R. (2020). Elevated interleukin-6 and severe COVID-19: a meta-analysis. J. Med. Virol. 92, 2283–2285. doi: 10.1002/jmv. 25948
- Azmi, N. U., Puteri, M. U., and Lukmanto, D. (2020). Cytokine storm in COVID-19: an overview, mechanism, treatment strategies, and stem cell therapy perspective. *Pharm. Sci. Res.* 7:1. doi: 10.7454/psr.v7i4.1092
- Benítez-Guerra, D., Piña-Flores, C., Zamora-López, M., Escalante-Padrón, F., Lima-Rogel, V., González-Ortiz, A. M., et al. (2020). Respiratory syncytial virus acute respiratory infection-associated hospitalizations in preterm Mexican infants: a cohort study. *Influenza Other Resp. Viruses* 14, 182–188.
- Berger, J. R. (2020). COVID-19 and the nervous system. J. Neurovirol. 26, 143-148.
- Bhaskar, S., Sinha, A., Banach, M., Mittoo, S., Weissert, R., Kass, J. S., et al. (2020). Cytokine storm in COVID-19—immunopathological mechanisms, clinical considerations, and therapeutic approaches: the REPROGRAM consortium position paper. *Front. Immunol.* 11:1648. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01648
- Bonifant, C. L., Jackson, H. J., Brentjens, R. J., and Curran, K. J. (2016). Toxicity and management in CAR T-cell therapy. *Mol. Ther. Oncol.* 3:16011. doi: 10. 1038/mto.2016.11
- Busch, D. H., Fräßle, S. P., Sommermeyer, D., Buchholz, V. R., and Riddell, S. R. (2016). Role of memory T cell subsets for adoptive immunotherapy. *Semin. Immunol.* 28, 28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2016.02.001
- Cascella, M., Rajnik, M., Cuomo, A., Dulebohn, S. C., and Di Napoli, R. (2020). "Features, evaluation and treatment coronavirus (COVID-19)," in *StatPearls* [*Internet*], ed. S. C. Dulebohn (Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing).
- Castelli, V., Cimini, A., and Ferri, C. (2020). Cytokine Storm in COVID-19: "When You Come Out of the Storm, You Won't Be the Same Person Who Walked in". *Front. Immunol.* 11:2132. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.02132
- Cena, H., and Chieppa, M. (2020). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19–SARS-CoV-2) and nutrition: is infection in Italy suggesting a connection? *Front. Immunol.* 11:944. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00944
- Chen, H., Wang, F., Zhang, P., Zhang, Y., Chen, Y., Fan, X., et al. (2019). Management of cytokine release syndrome related to CAR-T cell therapy. *Front. Med.* 13, 610–617. doi: 10.1007/s11684-019-0714-8
- Choudhary, S., Sharma, K., Singh, H., and Silakari, O. (2020). The interplay between inflammatory pathways and COVID-19: a critical review on

pathogenesis and therapeutic options. *Microb. Pathogen.* 150:104673. doi: 10. 1016/j.micpath.2020.104673

- Choudhery, M. S., and Harris, D. T. (2020). Stem cell therapy for COVID-19: possibilities and challenges. *Cell Biol. Int.* 44, 2182–2191. doi: 10.1002/cbin. 11440
- Ciabattini, A., Garagnani, P., Santoro, F., Rappuoli, R., Franceschi, C., and Medaglini, D. (eds) (2020). Shelter from the cytokine storm: pitfalls and prospects in the development of SARS-CoV-2 vaccines for an elderly population. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 42, 619–634. doi: 10.1007/s00281-020-00821-0
- Daher, M., and Rezvani, K. (2018). Next generation natural killer cells for cancer immunotherapy: the promise of genetic engineering. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 51, 146–153. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.03.013
- Divani, A. A., Andalib, S., Biller, J., Di Napoli, M., Moghimi, N., Rubinos, C. A., et al. (2020). Central nervous system manifestations associated with COVID-19. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep.* 20:60.
- Dong, M., Zhang, J., Ma, X., Tan, J., Chen, L., Liu, S., et al. (2020). ACE2, TMPRSS2 distribution and extrapulmonary organ injury in patients with COVID-19. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 131:110678. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110678
- Ellison-Hughes, G. M., Colley, L., O'Brien, K. A., Roberts, K. A., Agbaedeng, T. A., and Ross, M. D. (2020). The role of MSC therapy in attenuating the damaging effects of the cytokine storm induced by COVID-19 on the heart and cardiovascular system. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 7:602183. doi: 10.3389/fcvm. 2020.602183
- Fajgenbaum, D. C., and June, C. H. (2020). Cytokine storm. N. Eng. J. Med. 383, 2255–2273.
- Fara, A., Mitrev, Z., Rosalia, R. A., and Assas, B. M. (2020). Cytokine storm and COVID-19: a chronicle of pro-inflammatory cytokines. *Open Biol.* 10:200160. doi: 10.1098/rsob.200160
- Ferreras, C., Pascual-Miguel, B., Mestre-Durán, C., Navarro-Zapata, A., Clares-Villa, L., Martín-Cortázar, C., et al. (2021). SARS-CoV-2-specific memory T lymphocytes from COVID-19 convalescent donors: identification, biobanking, and large-scale production for adoptive cell therapy. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9:620730. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.620730
- Florindo, H. F., Kleiner, R., Vaskovich-Koubi, D., Acúrcio, R. C., Carreira, B., Yeini, E., et al. (2020). Immune-mediated approaches against COVID-19. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 15, 630–645. doi: 10. 1038/s41565-020-0732-3
- Gao, Y.-M., Xu, G., Wang, B., and Liu, B.-C. (2021). Cytokine storm syndrome in coronavirus disease 2019: a narrative review. J. Internal Med. 289, 147–161. doi: 10.1111/joim.13144
- Goodarzi, P., Aghayan, H. R., Larijani, B., Soleimani, M., Dehpour, A.-R., Sahebjam, M., et al. (2015). Stem cell-based approach for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Med. J. Islam. Repub. Iran.* 29:168.
- Goodarzi, P., Aghayan, H. R., Soleimani, M., Norouzi-Javidan, A., Mohamadi-Jahani, F., Jahangiri, S., et al. (2014). Stem cell therapy for treatment of epilepsy. *Acta Med. Iran.* 52, 651–655.
- Goodarzi, P., Alavi-Moghadam, S., Sarvari, M., Beik, A. T., Falahzadeh, K., Aghayan, H., et al. (2018a). "Adipose tissue-derived stromal cells for wound healing," in *Cell Biology and Translational Medicine*, Vol. 4, ed. K. Turksen (Cham: Springer), 133–149.
- Goodarzi, P., Falahzadeh, K., Aghayan, H., Payab, M., Larijani, B., Alavi-Moghadam, S., et al. (2019). Therapeutic abortion and ectopic pregnancy: alternative sources for fetal stem cell research and therapy in Iran as an Islamic country. *Cell Tissue Bank.* 20, 11–24. doi: 10. 1007/s10561-018-9741-y
- Goodarzi, P., Larijani, B., Alavi-Moghadam, S., Tayanloo-Beik, A., Mohamadi-Jahani, F., Ranjbaran, N., et al. (2018b). "Mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes for wound regeneration," in *Cell Biology and Translational Medicine: Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, Vol. 4, ed. K. Turksen (Cham: Springer), 119–131. doi: 10.1007/5584_2018_251
- Grupp, S. A., Kalos, M., Barrett, D., Aplenc, R., Porter, D. L., Rheingold, S. R., et al. (2013). Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. *N. Eng. J. Med.* 368, 1509–1518.
- Gupta, A., Kashte, S., Gupta, M., Rodriguez, H. C., Gautam, S. S., and Kadam, S. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cells and exosome therapy for COVID-19: current status and future perspective. *Hum. Cell* 33, 907–918. doi: 10.1007/s13577-020-00407-w

- Hanley, B., Roufosse, C. A., Osborn, M., and Naresh, K. N. (2020). Convalescent donor SARS-COV-2-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte infusion as a possible treatment option for COVID-19 patients with severe disease has not received enough attention till date. *Br. J. Haematol.* 189, 1062–1063. doi: 10.1111/bjh. 16780
- Hariri, L., and Hardin, C. C. (2020). Covid-19, angiogenesis, and ARDS endotypes. N. Eng. J. Med. 383, 182–183. doi: 10.1056/nejme2018629
- Harrison, A. G., Lin, T., and Wang, P. (2020). Mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 transmission and pathogenesis. *Trends Immunol.* 41, 1100–1115. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2020.10.004
- Hassan, S. A., Sheikh, F. N., Jamal, S., Ezeh, J. K., and Akhtar, A. (2020). Coronavirus (COVID-19): a review of clinical features, diagnosis, and treatment. *Cureus* 12:e7355.
- Heffernan, K. S., Michos, E. D., and Gump, B. B. (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and cardiac injury. JAMA Cardiol. 5:1198. doi: 10.1001/ jamacardio.2020.2450
- Henderson, L. A., Canna, S. W., Schulert, G. S., Volpi, S., Lee, P. Y., Kernan, K. F., et al. (2020). On the alert for cytokine storm: immunopathology in COVID-19. *Arthr. Rheumatol.* 72, 1059–1063.
- Henriksen, M. (2020). Anti-il6 Treatment of Serious COVID-19 Disease with Threatening Respiratory Failure (TOCIVID). Washington, DC: U.S. Federal Government.
- Hojyo, S., Uchida, M., Tanaka, K., Hasebe, R., Tanaka, Y., Murakami, M., et al. (2020). How COVID-19 induces cytokine storm with high mortality. *Inflamm. Regen.* 40:37.
- Hong, R., Hu, Y., and Huang, H. (2021). Biomarkers for chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: prospects for personalized management and prognostic prediction. *Front. Immunol.* 12:627764. doi: 10. 3389/fimmu.2021.627764
- Hu, B., Guo, H., Zhou, P., and Shi, Z.-L. (2020). Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 19, 141–154.
- Iadecola, C., Anrather, J., and Kamel, H. (2020a). Effects of COVID-19 on the nervous system. Cell 183, 16–27.e1.
- Iadecola, C., Buckwalter, M. S., and Anrather, J. (2020b). Immune responses to stroke: mechanisms, modulation, and therapeutic potential. J. Clin. Investig. 130, 2777–2788. doi: 10.1172/jci135530
- Iannaccone, G., Scacciavillani, R., Del Buono, M. G., Camilli, M., Ronco, C., Lavie, C. J., et al. (2020). Weathering the cytokine storm in COVID-19: therapeutic implications. *Cardio. Med.* 10, 277–287. doi: 10.1159/00050 9483
- Jeyaraman, M., John, A., Koshy, S., Ranjan, R., Anudeep, T. C., Jain, R., et al. (2021). Fostering mesenchymal stem cell therapy to halt cytokine storm in COVID-19. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1867:166014. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2020. 166014
- Kavianpour, M., Saleh, M., and Verdi, J. (2020). The role of mesenchymal stromal cells in immune modulation of COVID-19: focus on cytokine storm. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11:404.
- Keller, M. D., Harris, K. M., Jensen-Wachspress, M. A., Kankate, V. V., Lang, H., Lazarski, C. A., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells are rapidly expanded for therapeutic use and target conserved regions of the membrane protein. *Blood* 136, 2905–2917. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020008488
- Khadke, S., Ahmed, N., Ahmed, N., Ratts, R., Raju, S., Gallogly, M., et al. (2020). Harnessing the immune system to overcome cytokine storm and reduce viral load in COVID-19: a review of the phases of illness and therapeutic agents. *Virol. J.* 17:154.
- Khalil, J., Yamada, S., Tsukamoto, Y., Abe, H., Shimojima, M., Kato, H., et al. (2020). The non-structural protein NSs of SFTSV causes cytokine storm through the hyper-activation of NF-κB. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 41, e00542-20.
- Kheirkhah, A. H., Shahcheraghi,S. H.,Lotfi, M., Raeisi, S., and Mirani, Z. (2021). Mesenchymal stem cell derived-exosomes as effective factors in reducing cytokine storm symptoms of COVID-19. *Protein Pept. Lett.* 28. doi: 10.2174/ 0929866528666210222150347 [Epub ahead of print].
- Kim, J. S., Lee, J. Y., Yang, J. W., Lee, K. H., Effenberger, M., Szpirt, W., et al. (2021). Immunopathogenesis and treatment of cytokine storm in COVID-19. *Theranostics* 11:316. doi: 10.7150/thno.49713
- Kishimoto, T. (2021). Interleukin-6: from arthritis to CAR-T-cell therapy and COVID-19. *Int. Immunol.* dxab011. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxab011 [Epub ahead of print].

- Kudaravalli, P., Saleem, S. A., Ibeche, B., and John, S. (2020). Case series and review of liver dysfunction in COVID-19 patients. *Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 32, 1244–1250. doi: 10.1097/meg.000000000001806
- Kunutsor, S. K., and Laukkanen, J. A. (2020). Renal complications in COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann. Med. 52, 345–353. doi: 10.1080/ 07853890.2020.1790643
- Larijani, B., Aghayan, H., Goodarzi, P., Mohamadi-Jahani, F., Norouzi-Javidan, A., Dehpour, A. R., et al. (2015). Clinical grade human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell banking. *Acta Med. Iran.* 53, 540–546.
- Larijani, B., Aghayan, H.-R., Goodarzi, P., and Arjmand, B. (2014). "GMP-grade human fetal liver-derived mesenchymal stem cells for clinical transplantation," in *Stem Cells and Good Manufacturing Practices*, ed. K. Turksen (Cham: Springer), 123–136. doi: 10.1007/7651_2014_101
- Larijani, B., Roudsari, P. P., Hadavandkhani, M., Alavi-Moghadam, S., Rezaei-Tavirani, M., Goodarzi, P., et al. (2021). Stem cell-based models and therapies: a key approach into schizophrenia treatment. *Cell Tissue Bank*. 1–7.
- Laroye, C., Gibot, S., Huselstein, C., and Bensoussan, D. (2020). Mesenchymal stromal cells for sepsis and septic shock: lessons for treatment of COVID-19. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 9, 1488–1494. doi: 10.1002/sctm.20-0239
- Lee, D. K., and Song, S. U. (2018). Immunomodulatory mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cells and their therapeutic applications. *Cell. Immunol.* 326, 68–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2017.08.009
- Lee, D. W., Gardner, R., Porter, D. L., Louis, C. U., Ahmed, N., Jensen, M., et al. (2014). Current concepts in the diagnosis and management of cytokine release syndrome. *Blood* 124, 188–195. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-05-552729
- Leng, Z., Zhu, R., Hou, W., Feng, Y., Yang, Y., Han, Q., et al. (2020). Transplantation of ACE2-mesenchymal stem cells improves the outcome of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. *Aging Dis.* 11:216. doi: 10.14336/ad.2020. 0228
- Liu, S., Galat, V., Galat, Y., Lee, Y. K. A., Wainwright, D., and Wu, J. (2021). NK cell-based cancer immunotherapy: from basic biology to clinical development. *J. Hematol. Oncol.* 14:7.
- Liu, T., Zhang, J., Yang, Y., Zhang, L., Ma, H., Li, Z., et al. (2020). The potential role of IL-6 in monitoring coronavirus disease 2019. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 12:e12421.
- Lotfi, M., Hamblin, M. R., and Rezaei, N. (2020). COVID-19: transmission, prevention, and potential therapeutic opportunities. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 508, 254–266. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2020.05.044
- Mao, A. S., and Mooney, D. J. (2015). Regenerative medicine: current therapies and future directions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 14452–14459. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1508520112
- Market, M., Angka, L., Martel, A. B., Bastin, D., Olanubi, O., Tennakoon, G., et al. (2020). Flattening the COVID-19 curve with natural killer cell based immunotherapies. *Front. Immunol.* 11:1512. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01512
- Maron-Gutierrez, T., and Rocco, P. R. M. (2020). Cell-free therapies: novel approaches for COVID-19. Front. Immunol. 11:583017. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2020.583017
- Marshall, M. (2020). How COVID-19 can damage the brain. *Nature* 585, 342–343. doi: 10.1038/d41586-020-02599-5
- Mastrolia, I., Foppiani, E. M., Murgia, A., Candini, O., Samarelli, A. V., Grisendi, G., et al. (2019). Challenges in clinical development of mesenchymal stromal/stem cells: concise review. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 8, 1135–1148. doi: 10.1002/sctm.19-0044
- Matthay, M. A., and Zemans, R. L. (2011). The acute respiratory distress syndrome: pathogenesis and treatment. *Ann. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis.* 6, 147–163.
- Maus, M. V., Fraietta, J. A., Levine, B. L., Kalos, M., Zhao, Y., and June, C. H. (2014). Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer or viruses. *Ann. Rev. Immunol.* 32, 189–225.
- Maus, M. V., and Levine, B. L. (2016). Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for the community oncologist. Oncologist 21, 608–617. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist. 2015-0421
- Mishra, A. K., Sahu, K. K., George, A. A., and Lal, A. (2020). A review of cardiac manifestations and predictors of outcome in patients with COVID – 19. *Heart Lung* 49, 848–852. doi: 10.1016/j.hrtlng.2020.04.019
- Mokhtari, T., Hassani, F., Ghaffari, N., Ebrahimi, B., Yarahmadi, A., and Hassanzadeh, G. (2020). COVID-19 and multiorgan failure: a narrative review on potential mechanisms. *J. Mol. Histol.* 51, 613–628. doi: 10.1007/s10735-020-09915-3

- Monsel, A., Zhu, Y.-G., Gennai, S., Hao, Q., Liu, J., and Lee, J. W. (2014). Cell-based therapy for acute organ injury: preclinical evidence and ongoing clinical trials using mesenchymal stem cells. *Anesthesiology* 121, 1099–1121.
- Morris, G., Bortolasci, C. C., Puri, B. K., Olive, L., Marx, W., O'Neil, A., et al. (2020). The pathophysiology of SARS-CoV-2: a suggested model and therapeutic approach. *Life Sci.* 258:118166. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118166
- Naicker, S., Yang, C.-W., Hwang, S.-J., Liu, B.-C., Chen, J.-H., and Jha, V. (2020). The novel coronavirus 2019 epidemic and kidneys. *Kidney Int.* 97, 824–828. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.03.001
- Nayyar, G., Chu, Y., and Cairo, M. S. (2019). Overcoming resistance to natural killer cell based immunotherapies for solid tumors. *Front. Oncol.* 9:51. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00051
- Ni, W., Yang, X., Yang, D., Bao, J., Li, R., Xiao, Y., et al. (2020). Role of angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in COVID-19. *Crit. Care* 24:422.
- Niazkar, H. R., Zibaee, B., Nasimi, A., and Bahri, N. (2020). The neurological manifestations of COVID-19: a review article. *Neurol. Sci.* 41, 1667–1671. doi: 10.1007/s10072-020-04486-3
- Nidadavolu, L. S., and Walston, J. D. (2020). Underlying vulnerabilities to the cytokine storm and adverse COVID-19 outcomes in the aging immune system. *J. Gerontol. Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 76, e13–e18.
- Pan, X.-w., Xu, D., Zhang, H., Zhou, W., Wang, L.-h., and Cui, X.-g. (2020). Identification of a potential mechanism of acute kidney injury during the COVID-19 outbreak: a study based on single-cell transcriptome analysis. *Intensive Care Med.* 46, 1114–1116. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06026-1.
- Parhizkar Roudsari, P., Alavi-Moghadam, S., Payab, M., Sayahpour, F. A., Aghayan, H. R., Goodarzi, P., et al. (2020). Auxiliary role of mesenchymal stem cells as regenerative medicine soldiers to attenuate inflammatory processes of severe acute respiratory infections caused by COVID-19. *Cell Tissue Bank.* 21, 405– 425. doi: 10.1007/s10561-020-09842-3
- Patel, S. K., Singh, R., Rana, J., Tiwari, R., Natesan, S., Harapan, H., et al. (2020). The kidney and COVID-19 patients – important considerations. *Travel Med. Infect. Dis.* 37:101831. doi: 10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101831
- Payab, M., Goodarzi, P., Heravani, N. F., Hadavandkhani, M., Zarei, Z., Falahzadeh, K., et al. (2018). "Stem cell and obesity: current state and future perspective," in *Cell Biology and Translational Medicine: Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, Vol. 2, ed. K. Turksen (Cham: Springer), 1–22. doi: 10.1007/5584_ 2018_227
- Puelles, V. G., Lütgehetmann, M., Lindenmeyer, M. T., Sperhake, J. P., Wong, M. N., Allweiss, L., et al. (2020). Multiorgan and renal tropism of SARS-CoV-2. *N. Eng. J. Med.* 383, 590–592.
- Rajarshi, K., Chatterjee, A., and Ray, S. (2020). Combating COVID-19 with mesenchymal stem cell therapy. *Biotechnol. Rep.* 26:e00467. doi: 10.1016/j.btre. 2020.e00467
- Ratajczak, M. Z., and Kucia, M. S. A. R. S. (2020). CoV-2 infection and overactivation of Nlrp3 inflammasome as a trigger of cytokine "storm" and risk factor for damage of hematopoietic stem cells. *Leukemia* 34, 1726–1729. doi: 10.1038/s41375-020-0887-9
- Rieg, S., von Cube, M., Kalbhenn, J., Utzolino, S., Pernice, K., Bechet, L., et al. (2020). COVID-19 in-hospital mortality and mode of death in a dynamic and non-restricted tertiary care model in Germany. *PLoS One* 15:e0242127. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0242127
- Ronco, C., Reis, T., and Husain-Syed, F. (2020). Management of acute kidney injury in patients with COVID-19. *Lancet Resp. Med.* 8, 738–742.
- Rosado, F. G., and Gopal, P. (2019). "Laboratory features and pathology of the cytokine storm syndromes," in *Cytokine Storm Syndrome*, eds R. Cron and E. Behrens (Cham: Springer), 43–59. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-22094-5_4
- Saberi, H., Moshayedi, P., Aghayan, H.-R., Arjmand, B., Hosseini, S.-K., Emami-Razavi, S.-H., et al. (2008). Treatment of chronic thoracic spinal cord injury patients with autologous Schwann cell transplantation: an interim report on safety considerations and possible outcomes. *Neurosci. Lett.* 443, 46–50. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008.07.041
- Sage, E. K., Thakrar, R. M., and Janes, S. M. (2016). Genetically modified mesenchymal stromal cells in cancer therapy. *Cytotherapy* 18, 1435–1445. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.09.003
- Sahin, A. R., Erdogan, A., Agaoglu, P. M., Dineri, Y., Cakirci, A. Y., Senel, M. E., et al. (2020). 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) Outbreak: a review of the current literature. *EJMO*. 4, 1–7.

- Seif, M., Einsele, H., and Löffler, J. (2019). CAR T cells beyond cancer: hope for immunomodulatory therapy of infectious diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 10:2711. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02711
- Sherren, P. B., Ostermann, M., Agarwal, S., Meadows, C. I., Ioannou, N., and Camporota, L. (2020). COVID-19 related organ dysfunction and management strategies on the intensive care unit. *Br. J. Anaes.* 125, 912–925. doi: 10.1016/j. bja.2020.08.050
- Song, N., Wakimoto, H., Rossignoli, F., Bhere, D., Ciccocioppo, R., Chen, K.-S., et al. (2021). Mesenchymal stem cell immunomodulation: in pursuit of controlling COVID-19 related cytokine storm. *Stem Cells* 39, 707–722. doi: 10.1002/stem.3354
- Song, P., Li, W., Xie, J., Hou, Y., and You, C. (2020). Cytokine storm induced by SARS-CoV-2. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 509, 280–287. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2020.06. 017
- Stephen-Victor, E., Das, M., Karnam, A., Pitard, B., Gautier, J.-F., and Bayry, J. (2020). Potential of regulatory T-cell-based therapies in the management of severe COVID-19. *Eur. Resp. J.* 56:2002182. doi: 10.1183/13993003.02182-2020
- Sun, J., Aghemo, A., Forner, A., and Valenti, L. (2020). COVID-19 and liver disease. Liver Int. 40, 1278–1281. doi: 10.1111/liv.14470
- Sun, P., Qie, S., Liu, Z., Ren, J., Li, K., and Xi, J. (2020). Clinical characteristics of hospitalized patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection: a single arm meta-analysis. *J. Med. Virol.* 92, 612–617. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25735
- Sun, X., Wang, T., Cai, D., Hu, Z., Chen, J., Liao, H., et al. (2020). Cytokine storm intervention in the early stages of COVID-19 pneumonia. *Cytokine Growth Fact. Rev.* 53, 38–42. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2020.04.002
- Tan, L., Wang, Q., Zhang, D., Ding, J., Huang, Q., Tang, Y.-Q., et al. (2020). Lymphopenia predicts disease severity of COVID-19: a descriptive and predictive study. *Signal Transduct. Target. Ther.* 5:33.
- Tang, L., Yin, Z., Hu, Y., and Mei, H. (2020). Controlling cytokine storm is vital in COVID-19. Front. Immunol. 11:3158. doi: 10. 3389/fimmu.2020.570993
- Tang, Y., Liu, J., Zhang, D., Xu, Z., Ji, J., and Wen, C. (2020). Cytokine storm in COVID-19: the current evidence and treatment strategies. *Front. Immunol.* 11:1708. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01708
- Tay, M. Z., Poh, C. M., Rénia, L., MacAry, P. A., and Ng, L. F. (2020). The trinity of COVID-19: immunity, inflammation and intervention. *Nat. Reviews Immunol.* 20, 363–374. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0311-8
- Tayanloo-Beik, A., Rabbani, Z., Soveyzi, F., Alavi-Moghadam, S., Rezaei-Tavirani, M., Goodarzi, P., et al. (2021). Cellular therapy for treatment of spinal cord injury in Zebrafish model. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 48, 1787–1800.
- Templin, C., Ghadri, J. R., Diekmann, J., Napp, L. C., Bataiosu, D. R., Jaguszewski, M., et al. (2015). Clinical features and outcomes of Takotsubo (stress) cardiomyopathy. *N. Eng. J. Med.* 373, 929–938.
- Tisoncik, J. R., Korth, M. J., Simmons, C. P., Farrar, J., Martin, T. R., and Katze, M. G. (2012). Into the eye of the cytokine storm. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 76, 16–32.
- Torres Acosta, M. A., and Singer, B. D. (2020). Pathogenesis of COVID-19-induced ARDS: implications for an ageing population. *Eur. Resp. J.* 56:2002049. doi: 10.1183/13993003.02049-2020
- Unudurthi, S. D., Luthra, P., Bose, R. J. C., McCarthy, J. R., and Kontaridis, M. I. (2020). Cardiac inflammation in COVID-19: lessons from heart failure. *Life Sci.* 260:118482. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118482
- van Eeden, C., Khan, L., Osman, M. S., and Cohen Tervaert, J. W. (2020). Natural killer cell dysfunction and its role in COVID-19. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:6351. doi: 10.3390/ijms21176351
- Velavan, T. P., and Meyer, C. G. (2020). Mild versus severe COVID-19: laboratory markers. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* 95, 304–307. doi: 10. 1016/j.ijid.2020.04.061
- Veluchamy, J. P., Kok, N., van der Vliet, H. J., Verheul, H. M. W., de Gruijl, T. D., and Spanholtz, J. (2017). The rise of allogeneic natural killer cells as a platform for cancer immunotherapy: recent innovations and future developments. *Front. Immunol.* 8:631. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00631
- Vitiello, A., and Ferrara, F. (2020). Pharmacological agents to therapeutic treatment of cardiac injury caused by Covid-19. *Life Sci.* 262:118510. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs. 2020.118510

- Vitiello, A., La Porta, R., D'Aiuto, V., and Ferrara, F. (2021). The risks of liver injury in COVID-19 patients and pharmacological management to reduce or prevent the damage induced. *Egypt. Liver J.* 11:11.
- Walls, A. C., Park, Y.-J., Tortorici, M. A., Wall, A., McGuire, A. T., and Veesler, D. (2020). Structure, function, and antigenicity of the SARS-CoV-2 spike glycoprotein. *Cell* 181, 281–292.e6.
- Wang, H., and Ma, S. (2008). The cytokine storm and factors determining the sequence and severity of organ dysfunction in multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. Am. J. Emerg. Med. 26, 711–715. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2007.10.031
- Wang, H. C., Wang, X., and Long, X. (2020). Stem cell transplantation therapy: a potential method for treating cytokine storm syndromes induced by COVID-19. *Cell Transpl.* 29:0963689720965980.
- Wang, M., Yuan, Q., and Xie, L. (2018). Mesenchymal stem cell-based immunomodulation: properties and clinical application. *Stem Cells Int.* 2018;3057624.
- Wang, Y., Wang, Y., Chen, Y., and Qin, Q. (2020). Unique epidemiological and clinical features of the emerging 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia (COVID-19) implicate special control measures. J. Med. Virol. 92, 568–576. doi: 10.1002/ jmv.25748
- Wong, V. W., Sorkin, M., and Gurtner, G. C. (2013). Enabling stem cell therapies for tissue repair: current and future challenges. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 31, 744–751. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2012.11.006
- Wu, J., Song, S., Cao, H. C., and Li, L. J. (2020). Liver diseases in COVID-19: etiology, treatment and prognosis. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 26, 2286–2293. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v26.i19.2286
- Wu, T., Zuo, Z., Kang, S., Jiang, L., Luo, X., Xia, Z., et al. (2020). Multi-organ dysfunction in patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aging Dis.* 11, 874–894. doi: 10.14336/ad.2020.0520
- Xiao, K., Hou, F., Huang, X., Li, B., Qian, Z. R., and Xie, L. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cells: current clinical progress in ARDS and COVID-19. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 11:305.
- Yang, Y., Xiao, Z., Ye, K., He, X., Sun, B., Qin, Z., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2: characteristics and current advances in research. *Virol. J.* 17:117.
- Ye, Q., Wang, B., and Mao, J. (2020). The pathogenesis and treatment of theCytokine Storm'in COVID-19. J. Infect. 80, 607–613. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf. 2020.03.037
- Zaim, S., Chong, J. H., Sankaranarayanan, V., and Harky, A. (2020). COVID-19 and multi-organ response. *Curr. Prob. Cardiol.* 45:100618.
- Zamanian Azodi, M., Arjmand, B., Zali, A., and Razzaghi, M. (2020). Introducing APOA1 as a key protein in COVID-19 infection: a bioinformatics approach. *Gastroenterol. Hepatol. Bed Bench* 13, 367–373.
- Zhao, Q., Meng, M., Kumar, R., Wu, Y., Huang, J., Deng, Y., et al. (2020). Lymphopenia is associated with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infections: a systemic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* 96, 131–135. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.04.086
- Zhu, Y., Geng, S., Li, Q., and Jiang, H. (2020). Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells: a potential adjuvant therapy for COVID-19. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 8:557652. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2020.557652

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Citation: Arjmand B, Alavi-Moghadam S, Parhizkar Roudsari P, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Rahim F, Gilany K, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Adibi H and Larijani B (2021) COVID-19 Pathology on Various Organs and Regenerative Medicine and Stem Cell-Based Interventions. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:675310. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.675310

Copyright © 2021 Arjmand, Alavi-Moghadam, Parhizkar Roudsari, Rezaei-Tavirani, Rahim, Gilany, Mohamadi-Jahani, Adibi and Larijani. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

GLOSSARY

SARS-CoV-2, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2; COVID-19, coronavirus disease-2019; SARS-CoV, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus; MERS-CoV, Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus; ORFs, open reading frames; nsp, nonstructural proteins; S, spike; ACE2, angiotensin converting enzyme 2; TMPRSS2, transmembrane protease serine type 2; ARDS, acute respiratory distress syndrome; MODS, multiple-organ dysfunction syndrome; MOF, multi-organ failure; CRP, C-reactive protein; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; CK, creatine kinase; SIRS, systemic inflammatory response syndrome; GF, growth factor; IL, interleukin; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; IFN, interferon; CSF, colony-stimulating factor; TGF-β, transforming growth factor beta; IP-10, IFN gamma-induced protein-10; CCL2, chemokine (C-C motif) ligand-2; MIP-1A, macrophage inflammatory protein-1A; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; CRS, cytokine release syndrome; G-CSF, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor; GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; JAK: Janus kinases; STAT, signal-transducer and activator of transcription; ROS, reactive oxygen species; NF-KB, nuclear factor-kappa B; DAMPs, danger-associated molecular pattern molecules; ComC, complement cascade; PNCs, platelet-neutrophil complexes; CVD, cardiovascular disease; α -HBDH, alpha-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase; NT-proBNP, N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide; MAS, macrophage activation syndrome; AKI, acute kidney injury; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; CTSL, cathepsin L; sHLH, hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis; ATN, acute tubular necrosis; TIN, tubulointerstitial nephritis; PAMPs, pathogen-associated molecular patterns; TLR, Toll-like receptors; HPA, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical; HAT, histone acetyltransferase; HDAC2, histone deacetylase 2; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; MSCs, mesenchymal stem cells; WJ, Wharton's jelly; EVs, extracellular vesicles; NK, natural killer; CAR, chimeric antigen receptor.





Developing Cytokine Storm-Sensitive Therapeutic Strategy in COVID-19 Using 8P9R Chimeric Peptide and Soluble ACE2

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Center for Biomedical Research Network of Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Diseases (CIBERDEM), Spain

Reviewed by:

Sebastian Schloer, University of Münster, Germany Ramasamy Palaniappan, Sree Balaji Medical College and Hospital, India

*Correspondence:

Hassan Niknejad niknejad@sbmu.ac.ir †These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 31 May 2021 Accepted: 06 August 2021 Published: 03 September 2021

Citation:

Nazerian Y, Vakili K, Ebrahimi A and Niknejad H (2021) Developing Cytokine Storm-Sensitive Therapeutic Strategy in COVID-19 Using 8P9R Chimeric Peptide and Soluble ACE2. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:717587. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.717587 Yasaman Nazerian^{1†}, Kimia Vakili^{1†}, Ali Ebrahimi^{1†} and Hassan Niknejad^{2*}

¹ Student Research Committee, School of Medicine, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ² Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Currently, the COVID-19 pandemic is an international challenge, largely due to lack of effective therapies. Pharmacotherapy has not yet been able to find a definitive treatment for COVID-19. Since SARS-CoV-2 affects several organs, treatment strategies that target the virus in a wider range are expected to be ultimately more successful. To this end, a two-step treatment strategy has been presented. In the first phase of the disease, when the patient is newly infected with the virus and the cytokine storm has not yet been developed, a chimeric peptide is used to inhibit virus entry into the host cell cytosol (by inhibiting endosomal pH acidification) and viral replication. After the virus entry and decrease of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) level, some people are unable to properly compensate for the ACE2 pathway and progress toward the cytokine storm. In the beginning of the cytokine storm, sACE2 protein is very effective in regulating the immune system toward the anti-inflammatory pathway, including M2 macrophages. Hence, the genes of 8P9R chimeric peptide and sACE2 would be inserted in an episomal vector with a separate promoter for each gene: the chimeric peptide gene promoter is a CMV promoter, while the sACE2 gene promoter is a NFκB-sensitive promoter. The NF-κB-sensitive promoter induces the expression of sACE2 gene soon after elevation of NF-kB which is the main transcription factor of inflammatory genes. Thus, as the expression of inflammatory cytokines increases, the expression of sACE2 increases simultaneously. In this condition, sACE2 can prevent the cytokine storm by inhibiting the pro-inflammatory pathways. To deliver the designed vector to the target cells, mesenchymal stem cell-derived (MSC-derived) exosome-liposome hybrids are used. Herein, the strategy can be considered as a personalized clinical therapy for COVID-19, that can prevent morbidity and mortality in the future.

Keywords: 8P9R chimeric peptide, sACE2, cytokine storm, mesenchymal stem cells, exosomes, COVID-19, ARDS, NF- κ B

INTRODUCTION

Acute respiratory disease caused by COVID-19 has become a public health emergency and is a major health problem causing respiratory tract infection which can range from an asymptomatic form to severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). ARDS is one of the most common complications and also the major cause of respiratory failure in severe COVID-19 patients. Approximately 33% of hospitalized COVID-19 patients develop ARDS. The mortality rate in COVID-19-associated ARDS is 45%, and the prevalence of ARDS in patients who died from COVID-19 is about 90% (Tzotzos et al., 2020). COVID-19 can also lead to multi-organ dysfunction and failure in severe cases. Currently, the therapeutic strategies are mainly based on supportive care and non-specific antiviral drugs. Due to its devastating consequences, it is essential to identify a potential therapeutic option to prevent and repair the destruction caused by the disease.

The virus entry into the host cells is one of the major factors in viral infection which allows viruses to reach replication sites. SARS-CoV-2 uses the membrane protein angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) as an entry receptor. The S glycoprotein of the virus composes of S1 subunit including RBD for binding to the membrane receptor and the S2 subunit for the fusion of the viral and cellular membrane (Yang et al., 2020). Coronaviruses enter the host cells via two routes: endocytic pathway is the main route and the other route is non-endosomal pathway. Hence, targeting the endocytic pathway could be a promising therapeutic strategy against coronaviruses. As SARS-CoV-2 entry requires acidification of endosomes and finally lysosomes, neutralizing the acidic environment of endosomes could impair viral entry pathways. Three groups of inhibitors have been used to block viral entry; they are lysosomotropic agents, endosomallysosomal protease inhibitors, and clathrin-mediated endocytosis inhibitors (Yang and Shen, 2020). These drugs are not specific for SARS-CoV-2 and may have some off-target effects. Therefore, designing a specific antiviral peptide to bind to the virus and neutralizing the endosomal pH and subsequent viral entry would be an interesting therapeutic option.

ACE2 is the main cell entry receptor for SARS-CoV-2. Following the entry of the virus into the host cell via the ACE2 receptor-mediated endocytosis, plasma membrane ACE2 levels are reduced. Decreased levels of membrane-bound ACE2 promote Ang II accumulation which is leading to increased over-activation in the ACE/Ang II/AT1 receptor axis and loss of ACE2/Ang-(1–7)/MasR axis. ACE2/Ang-(1–7)/MasR axis exerts anti-inflammatory effect. ACE2 regulate the balance of Ang II/Ang-(1–7) levels, resulting in exertion of protective effects of Ang-(1–7) and protection against destructive effects of Ang II. So, this imbalance in renin-angiotensin system (RAS) system may lead to systemic inflammation and consequence cytokine storm (Mahmudpour et al., 2020; Verdecchia et al., 2020). Due to the importance of ACE2/Ang II balance in development of cytokine storm, it can be considered as a potential therapeutic option.

Herein a novel strategy to overcome the above challenges in the treatment of COVID-19 is proposed. This strategy is a phase-dependent two-step therapeutic strategy which is sensitive to cytokine storm. In the first phase, the goal is to block the intracellular pathways via inhibiting the acidification of the endosomes environment which is resulted in the prevention of the virus escape to the cytosol and also prevention of the virus replication. For this purpose, 8P9R chimeric peptide would be used. This peptide specifically binds to the virus and enter only to the virus-infected cells.

Following the entry of the virus into the cell and internalization of the ACE2, the negative consequences of ACE2 depletion may occur. The second aim of the present study is to prevent these negative consequences only in individuals who are progressing into inflammatory state caused by depleted ACE2 and cytokine storm. This strategy can be considered as personalized therapy for COVID-19 patients. To achieve this goal, an engineered exosome-liposome hybrid containing an episomal vector is proposed. This vector contains a chimeric peptide gene and an ACE2 soluble form gene. Chimeric peptide gene expression is controlled by the CMV promoter, which is always active. But, the expression of the sACE2 gene is controlled by the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells-sensitive (NF-kB-sensitive) promoter. NF-kB is a transcription factor for inflammatory-related genes. This transcription factor is selected to activate sACE2 gene expression in parallel with increased expression of inflammatory genes and progression into cytokine storm. sACE2 can perform its enzymatic activity in the extracellular space and also can block viruses as a decoy receptor.

SUPPORTING EVIDENCES FOR STRATEGY

Cell Entry Mechanism of SARS-CoV-2

The entry of SARS-CoV-2 into the host cell is the early stage of host cell infection and virus replication. Effective inhibition at this early stage of the disease is likely to lead to successful prevention and treatment. SARS-CoV-2 has four types of proteins, one of them is the spike surface protein which binds to the ACE2 receptor. After binding, the virus enters the endosome through endocytosis and travels along the intracellular pathway. The subsequent maturation and acidification of early endosomes to endolysosomes, and finally lysosomes, is required for fusionactivating S protein cleavage by cathepsin L. Several evidences on the roles of protease activators demonstrate that lysosomal cysteine protease Cathepsin L is crucial for SARS-CoV-2 entry (Muralidar et al., 2021). In lysosomes, cathepsin L (the last component of the intracellular pathway) fuses viral particles with lysosomal membrane and allows viral RNA to enter the cytosol and start the replication process. Activation of cathepsin L requires an acidic environment (optimal pH 5.0-5.5). Thus, the inhibition of lysosomal acidification by cysteine protease inhibitors, vacuolar H + ATPase inhibitors, and lysosomotropic inhibitors, has been shown to inhibit the fusion of viral particles bound to ACE2 with lysosomal membrane. Lysosomes with inhibited acidic pH are not able to activate cathepsin L and therefore viral escape does not occur in them (Blaess et al., 2020). Thus, effective inhibition at this early stage of the disease is likely to lead to successful prevention and treatment of COVID-19.

Acidification is essential for endosomal maturation through which viruses escape from the endosomes. So, using drugs which dysregulate endosomal acidification would be useful to impair viral infection. Recent studies have reported that using drugs which negatively affects endosomal cholesterol release and increase endolysosomal cholesterol storage in combination with antiviral drugs would enhance antiviral activity due to synergistic interaction. Very recently, studies have shown the efficacy of the repurposed drugs that interfere with the SARS-CoV-2 cell entry mechanism in inhibiting viral entry and thus reducing the viral replication and load. Fluoxetine and itraconazole are drugs that were previously licensed for some other clinical uses. Schloer et al. (2020) and Zimniak et al. (2021) showed the efficacy of these host-directed drugs in fighting COVID-19 infection both alone and in combination with an antiviral drug, remdesivir. In another study, they investigated the in vitro antiviral activity of fluoxetine against SARS-CoV-2 in a model of acute infection and the level of infectious particles was lower than that in controls (Dechaumes et al., 2021). The mechanism through which fluoxetine exhibits its inhibitory effect in viral cell entry is that it prevents endolysosomal acidification by inactivating endolysosomal proton pump (v-ATPase) which leads to endolysosomal pH neutralization. In this condition, virus-endosome fusion and releasing of viral genome will not occur. Fluoxetine is a functional inhibitor of sphingomyelinase (FIASMA) which accumulates cholesterol in endolysosomes and causes a secondary reduction in the cholesterol content of other cell membranes which reduces the amount of cholesterol available for the virus to produce its envelope. This might also impact TMPRSS2 activity and/or virus-membrane fusion capacity, which might either reduce SARS-CoV-2 entry and/or shift the entry route in favor of an endosomal uptake (Schloer et al., 2021). In another study, Creeden et al. (2021) provided evidences that fluoxetine can inhibit IL-6 and NF-κB signaling, and therefore disrupt the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL6 and IL6ST and mitigate the progression of cytokine storm. It has also been reported that using a standard dose of fluoxetine (21.6 mg daily) in 35 patients who were hospitalized for COVID-19 reduced risk of intubation and death (Hoertel et al., 2021). These evidences show that the combination of the proposed antiviral strategy with FDA-approved drugs can target the pivotal mechanisms of COVID-19 physiopathology and might provide a novel treatment for this disease.

Immune System Response and Cytokine Storm in COVID-19

Clinically, SARS-CoV-2 induced immune responses have two distinct phases. Protective phase in which immune responses especially adaptive immune responses have important roles in elimination of the virus at early stages of the disease. Damaging phase in which immune responses can also cause tissue damage via release of pro-inflammatory cytokines at severe stages (Duan et al., 2020). In severe conditions, excessive and uncontrolled production of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6, IL-1, and TNF- α results in convergence of immune cells and leads to systemic inflammatory response, known as cytokine storm. These excessive reactions can progress into multi-organ failure, acute lung injury and in severe cases cause ARDS, which is one of the critical causes of death in COVID-19 patients (Ragab et al., 2020). One of the main components of the immune system which is involved in creating cytokine storm are macrophages. M1 macrophages are essential for inducing immune responses against viral infection but this function could be impaired due to infection by SARS-CoV-2. M2 macrophages are anti-inflammatory macrophages which are essential for suppression of inflammation and have tissue healing effects. So, switching of M1 macrophages to M2 phenotype is necessary to suppress inflammation. Inflammatory responses caused by the SARS-CoV-2 can aggregate alveolar macrophages. Following the activation of TLRs and PRRs, these resident macrophages are highly prone to polarization toward the M1 phenotype. Activation of M1 macrophages in large amount causes 'macrophage activation syndrome' (MAS), which is involved in SARS-CoV-2 induced ARDS. Therefore, switching macrophage polarization from M1 to M2 phenotype in the early phase of the disease can resolve inflammation and reduce excessive pro-inflammatory cytokines production within cytokine storm (Gracia-Hernandez et al., 2020; Kosyreva et al., 2021).

Acute respiratory distress syndrome cause mortality in 70% of sever COVID-19 cases (Hojyo et al., 2020). The immediate recognition and treatment of cytokine storm would improve the outcome of the disease. Thus, inhibiting the cytokine storm could be a potential therapeutic target to decrease mortality rate in severe COVID-19 patients (Ragab et al., 2020).

Role of ACE2 and RAS in COVID-19

In addition to the dysregulation of the immune system, dysfunction of the RAS due to the downregulation of ACE2 is associated with the mortality of COVID-19 patients. Both mechanisms are directly or indirectly associated with cytokine storm that promotes vascular hyperpermeability and vascular edema which is leading to hypercoagulation and eventually multi-organ damage (Choudhary et al., 2020). ACE2 has a crucial role in lung protection. In normal physiology of the body, ACE2 catalyzes the degradation of Ang-II into Ang-(1-7). Then, Ang-(1-7) binds to Mas receptors and exerts its positive effects, including anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic effects (South et al., 2020). Ang-(1-7) by acting via the Mas receptor inhibits NF-kB signaling pathway and interferes with inflammation (Issa et al., 2021). Ang-(1-7) reduces expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, promotes anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype, and reduces pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype (de Carvalho Santuchi et al., 2019; Magalhaes et al., 2020). On the other hand, Ang-II induces pro-inflammatory and pro-fibrotic pathways through AT1R receptors. Ang-II causes vascular damage through inflammatory mechanisms. The high prevalence of thromboembolism in COVID-19 patients is due to endothelial cell damage as a result of increased inflammatory cytokines. ACE2 counteracts the negative effects of Ang-II by balancing the ACE2/Ang (1-7)/MasR and ACE/Ang-II/AT1R pathways and prevents cytokine storm. Improper activation of macrophages leads to increased inflammation, activation of thrombotic pathways, Ang-II and bradykinin storm, which are the main causes of vascular inflammation (Banu et al., 2020).

ACE2 plays an important role in regulating inflammatory responses by lowering Ang-II levels. Following SARS-CoV-2 binding to ACE2 receptor, internalization of the receptor causes ACE2 levels to decrease. In SARS-CoV-2 infection, increased activity of the ACE-Ang-II axis relative to the ACE2-Ang-(1-7) axis causes acute lung damage. ACE2 downregulation leads to pulmonary vascular hyperpermeability and pulmonary edema, which eventually induce ARDS. ACE2 is expressed in the endothelial cells of blood vessels, epithelial cells of the lung, heart, intestine, and kidney, as well as in the CNS, so the virus can cause complications in various organs. Due to the increased vascular permeability, blood clot formation occurs (coagulation), which leads to multi-organ damage and ultimately death (Choudhary et al., 2020; Jafarzadeh et al., 2020; South et al., 2020).

Angiotensin converting enzyme 2 has been shown to have protective effects on various organs. ACE2/Ang-(1-7)/MasR pathway provides direct protection for lungs against destructive agents, improves insulin resistance in the liver, and reduces production of inflammatory cytokines and thus protects the kidneys against inflammation and fibrosis. On the other hand, the absence of ACE2 in the lung leads to inflammation, fibrosis and edema in lungs, oxidative stress and production of inflammatory cytokines and fibrosis in liver, and expression of hypoxia-related genes in cardiovascular system, increase in blood pressure and eventually heart disorders (Banu et al., 2020).

There are many reports that COVID-19 increases the incidence of stroke in patients. Damage of the cardiovascular and cerebrovascular system following SARS-CoV-2 infection may be attributed to the downregulation of ACE2. ACE2 downregulation impairs the balance of the RAS and results in uncontrolled hypertension, and may cause subsequent rupture of microaneurysms and aneurism of cerebral vessels. Downregulation of ACE2 also promotes inflammation, coagulation, and endothelial dysfunction. The main role of angiotensin II as a vasoconstrictor is well known. Downregulation of ACE2 augments this effect, causing uncontrolled hypertension, and may also induce rupture of cerebral microaneurysm in individuals with chronic hypertension (Rahmawati et al., 2021). Therefore, inhibiting the imbalance of RAS system may contribute to the prevention of the negative effects of the virus.

NF-κB Pathway Involved in Cytokine Storm

NF-κB is a major transcription factor that induces expression of various pro-inflammatory genes. NF-κB pathway plays a critical role in SARS-CoV-2 induced inflammation as it has been reported that hyper-activation of the NF-κB pathway implicates in the pathogenesis of the severe COVID-19 patients. The SARS-CoV-2 spike protein subunit 1 itself activates the proinflammatory NF-κB pathway and, in consequence, induces production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokine and cause damage in lung epithelial cells (Kircheis et al., 2020).

The SARS-CoV-2 can cause a shift from protecting ACE2/RAS axis into the AngII/AT1R axis. The AngII-AT1R pathway triggers NF- κ B/IL-6/STAT3 pathway which can activate the IL-6 amplifier via a positive feedback loop of NF- κ B and STAT3 co-activation. IL-6 amplifier enhances production of proinflammatory cytokines, leading to cytokine storm (Hirano and Murakami, 2020). It has been shown that inhibition of NF- κ B pathway can inhibit cytokine storm. It has demonstrated that inhibition of the nuclear translocation of the transcription factor NF- κ B reduced the release of the pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokine and interfered with their damaging effects such as multi-organ tissue damage and ARDS. Therefore, targeting the cytokine pathway via inhibiting NF- κ B pathway have pronounced clinical effect in critical COVID-19 patients (Kircheis et al., 2020).

Chimeric 8P9R for Early Neutralization of SARS-CoV-2

P9R, which is a defensin-like peptide, is known for its antiviral activity against pH-dependent viruses (Zhao et al., 2020). PHdependent viruses including rhinovirus, A(H1N1)pdm09 virus, A(H7N9) virus and coronaviruses (SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV, and SARS-CoV-2) are a group of viruses that a key step of their life cycle depends on endosomal acidification (Vigant et al., 2015). The positive charge of P9R can efficiently inhibit protons to move from cytosol into the endosome and therefore prevent endosomal acidification. Similar to P9R, well-known anti-malaria drugs chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine can also inhibit endosomal acidification in several viruses including zika virus (Li et al., 2017), enterovirus-A71 (Tan et al., 2018), and SARS-CoV-2 (Liu et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Another drug that acts via disturbing endosomal acidification is niclosamide (an anti-parasitic drug) that has been proved to inhibit rhinovirus, influenza virus, and dengue virus (Jurgeit et al., 2012; Kao et al., 2018). Another interesting fact about P9R peptide is that it can also bind to viruses and inhibit their replication directly (Zhao et al., 2020). In vivo antiviral efficacy of P9R was also proved against influenza (H1N1)-infected mice (Zhao et al., 2020).

The drawback of P9R peptide is solely inhibition of the endosomal pathway. SARS-CoV-2 could enter and infect cells via two distinct mechanisms: The endosomal pathway and the TMPRSS2-mediated pathway. Although P9R inhibits the endosomal pathway efficiently, but it has not enough efficacy in inhibiting the TMPRSS2-mediated pathway. This suggests that using a multi-targeting drug or drug combination to block the both entry pathways of coronavirus infection might be more efficient in inhibiting viral replication in patients because different human cells could express ACE2 and TMPRSS2 separately or simultaneously. To solve this problem, 8P9R is suggested, which is a branched form of P9R. A new 2021 study has shown that branched P9R could crosslink viruses to enhance the antiviral activity (Zhao et al., 2021). In this study, Zhao et al. developed a dual-functional antiviral peptide 8P9R which could cross-link viruses to block viral entry on cell surface through the TMPRSS2-mediated pathway and simultaneously inhibited endosomal acidification to block viral entry through endocytic pathway. While the single P9R lacks the ability to crosslink viruses to form big viral clusters, 8P9R suppresses SARS-CoV-2 infection more potently than P9R and shows significant antiviral activity against SARS-CoV-2 in hamsters and mice (Zhao et al., 2021).

Chimeric peptides are also well-known and they have been used for several purposes. Antibody-peptide chimers have been used in the treatment of cancer. The main application of this method is targeted internalization of toxic enzymes into tumor cells. Chimeric antibody-enzyme proteins help to increase tumor specificity, increase therapeutic potency, and reduce side effects compared to conventional cancer therapies (Andrady et al., 2011). Recently, application of chimeric proteins antibodyantiviral peptide for the treatment of MERS virus was reported (Wang et al., 2019). Thus, the use of a chimeric 8P9R-antispike peptide could efficiently inhibit the SARS-CoV-2 from entering the cells and replicating while providing more specificity for 8P9R to bind SARS-CoV-2.

Exosomes as a Vehicle and a Treatment

Mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)-derived exosomes have been used to modulate inflammatory responses and reduce multi-organ failure (Ghamari et al., 2020). Exosome-based therapies can be effective in treatment of severe pulmonary involvement in COVID-19 patients (Jamshidi et al., 2021). In ARDS, administration of MSC-derived exosomes reduces inflammation and increases regeneration of the alveolar epithelium and repairs the pulmonary endothelium. An animal study revealed that MSCs-derived exosomes detract extravascular lung fluid by 43% with a decline in pulmonary edema and permeability of lung (Dauletova et al., 2021). Modulation of the inflammatory response by exosomes is achieved primarily by decreasing inflammatory cytokines and neutrophil infiltration and subsequently by increasing anti-inflammatory cytokines and differentiating macrophages toward the M2 phenotype (Khalaj et al., 2020). In addition, exosomes stimulate the secretion of surfactant, which prevents the collapse of the alveolar wall. Treatment with exosomes has been shown to stop the progression of fibrosis (Rezakhani et al., 2021).

It should be noted that the advantage of using exosomes is that they can be loaded with different types of cargo, including drugs, mRNA, miRNA and protein, to improve the therapeutic potential (Babajani et al., 2020). Due to the specific structure of the exosomes, various drugs can be inserted into them; so, they can be used in a variety of diseases as drug delivery systems (Gardin et al., 2020). Exosomes containing spike protein have also been used as a new vaccine against SARS-CoV infections. Recently, administration of exosomes by inhalation was suggested in the treatment of respiratory diseases. This method has less pain and invasion, faster onset of action, and the possibility of using lower doses to achieve the same therapeutic effect compared to the oral or injection routes (Heo et al., 2019). Thus, exosomes could be used as a vehicle to transport the new proposed treatment to the cells and also as a regenerative strategy after the ARDS caused by COVID-19.

Soluble ACE2 Therapy for Balancing the RAS System

So far, therapies such as recombinant ACE2 and AT1R inhibitors have been used to treat COVID-19 patients. A 2020 study showed that human recombinant soluble ACE2 protein (hrsACE2) could significantly inhibit SARS-CoV-2-induced infection. They also showed that SARS-CoV-2, which can directly infect human organoids, was inhibited by hrsACE2 (Monteil et al., 2020). Also in 2020, the first use of hrsACE2 and a positive result was reported in a patient with COVID-19. Treatment with hrsACE2 caused the significant decrease of patient's Ang-II and increase of Ang-(1-7) and (1-9). The concentration of inflammatory cytokines also dropped dramatically. According to the results of this report, it seems that hrsACE2 can have protective enzymatic effects in COVID-19 patients (Zoufaly et al., 2020; Krishnamurthy et al., 2021). So, sACE2 may contribute to make a balance between Ang-II and Ang-(1-7) and also prevent inflammation caused by the virus.

STRATEGY

Considering the supporting evidences, there are two major phases in COVID-19 immunity. The first phase is elimination of the virus and inhibit disease progression into sever stages and the second phase is inflammatory state which leads to cytokine storm. So, in addition to boosting the immune responses, inhibiting viral replication can be helpful in the first phase and could reduce the burden on the immune system specially in patients who may lack innate immune responses. Moreover, inhibition of progression into cytokine storm in a precision way by using sensitivity to a critical inflammatory factor (NF- κ B) in each person could use as a personalized therapeutic approach.

Here, for the first time, a two-step strategy which applies for both phases of the COVID-19 (viral clearance and inflammatory damaging phase) is introduced.

Using 8P9R chimeric peptide and sACE2 by utilization of exosome-liposome hybrids in the form of a phase-dependent two-step therapeutic strategy could inhibit the viral intracellular pathway and also inhibit progression into cytokine storm in a personalized manner. This strategy is sensitive to inflammatory state in individuals, so it can make improvements in COVID-19 mortality outcome. This strategy consists of two major phases:

1. In the first phase, it is possible to inhibit intracellular pathways which are crucial in viral replication by using a chimeric peptide that is specifically binds to the virus. 8P9R Chimeric Peptide specifically enters the virus-infected cells by binding to the virus and subsequently inhibit the acidification of the endosomes environment and thus prevent the virus escape into the cytosol and also inhibit virus replication. Therefore, the viral load would be reduced and the patients would not progress into hyperinflammatory state. The proposed effects of 8P9R chimeric peptide in inhibiting the intracellular mechanisms are shown in **Figure 1**.



FIGURE 1 The role of intervention in the primary phase of the COVID-19: (1) The SARS-CoV-2 virus enters the host cell via angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors with the help of TMPRSS-2. (2) Following the complete entrance of the virus, the early endosome forms. (3) The environment of the early endosome becomes acidic, as it matures and turns into late endosome. This acidification is caused by inward flow of protons through V-ATPase channels. (4) The acidification of endosome helps the virus. This attachment can prevent the viral ligand (spike protein) from bonding to its receptor and therefore neutralizes the virus. Thereafter, this peptide would internalize alongside with the virus to help the host cell to battle against the virus with the help of its inherent antiviral characteristics. (6) This peptide has a strong positive charge that interferes with the inward flow of protons and attenuates the acidic environment of endosome and thus prevents the viral escape. (7) Not only this peptide is able to prevent viral escape via attenuated endosomal acidification, but also it can directly interfere with viral replication and therefore decrease the viral load.

2. In the second phase, the goal is to prevent the negative consequences of the ACE2 downregulation in patients who are progressing into the hyper-inflammatory state. To achieve this goal, soluble form of ACE2 could be a potential therapeutic option. As mentioned above, ACE2/Ang II imbalance caused by the virus leads to a shift in immune system to an inflammatory state. This inflammatory state

consists of macrophages switching to M1 phenotype and producing pro-inflammatory cytokines. As an important key, NF- κ B is the main factor that regulates and activates inflammatory and immune responses such as inflammatory cytokine release and switching immune cells into inflammatory phenotype like M1 macrophages which are main mechanisms of creating cytokine storm

in COVID-19. Hence, using NF- κ B-sensitive promoter to control the expression of sACE2 gene is an appropriate conditional switch that is sensitive to progression into inflammation. Indeed, it can induce expression of sACE2 just in parallel with the activating inflammatory pathways. Furthermore, sACE2 can also acts as a decoy receptor in addition to its enzymatic activity. This viral trapping can reduce viral load. The negative effects of the downregulation of ACE2 and the role of sACE2 in preventing the inflammatory state is shown in **Figure 2**.

In this paper, MSC-derived exosomes are suggested as a biological carrier for the designed vector. Due to low immunogenicity of the exosomes, the designed vector can be transferred in an immune reaction-free condition. In addition, the immunomodulatory and regenerative effects of these exosomes have been reported in COVID-19 patients (Jayaramayya et al., 2020; Pinky et al., 2021). To extend the exosomes capability and efficacy, preparing a liposome-exosome hybrid would be an appropriate option.

EVALUATION OF STRATEGY

To evaluate the strategy, first a specific liposome-exosome hybrid will be prepared to increase the function of the exosomes based on previous protocols (Sato et al., 2016). This specific hybrid contains a non-viral episomal vector containing GFP,



FIGURE 2 The imbalance in the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) system caused by SARS-CoV-2 and the role of sACE2 in prevention of progression into the cytokine storm. (1) Following the entry of the virus into the host cell via the ACE2 receptor-mediated endocytosis, decreasing of the plasma membrane ACE2 levels and conversion of Ang II to Ang 1-7 occurs. (2a, 2b) Reduced ACE2 level in the cell membrane results in Ang II accumulation due to ACE enzymatic activity and in turn detrimental consequences of ACE2 depletion. Accumulation of Ang II may cause a shift in RAS axis toward the harmful arm of RAS system through AT1R over-activation. (3a, 3b) AngII/AT1R axis activation enhances ROS production which stimulates the nuclear translocation of the transcription factor NF- κ B. (4) NF- κ B is a key regulator of macrophage-driven inflammatory reaction and plays a critical role in polarization toward the pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype. (5a, 5b) Following activation of NF- κ B. excessive release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, IL-1, and TNF- α , leads to cytokine storm. (6) The deleterious inflammation can cause endothelial dysfunction, endothelial leakage, hyper-coagulation, thrombosis, atherosclerosis, and eventually leads to tissue damage and sever multi-organ destruction. (7) In parallel with increased expression of inflammatory genes, sACE2 expression can make balance in RAS system as sACE2 can perform its enzymatic activity in the extracellular space. (8) Production of Ang 1-7 via enzymatic cleavage possesses counteracting effects against negative consequences of Ang II. Ang 1-7 has protective functions mainly in heart, kidney, brain, and lungs. Ang 1-7 promotes anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype and reduces pro-inflammatory with inflammatory cytokines. (9) Ang-(1-7) by acting via the Mas receptor inhibits NF- κ B signaling pathways and interferes with inflammation. (10) sACE2 can also block viruses as a decoy receptor and this viral trapping reduces viral load.

CMV promoter, 8P9R, NF- κ B sensitive promoter and sACE2 sequences. *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies will be conducted to determine the efficacy of suggested treatment.

In vitro Studies

Primary human lung epithelial cell and macrophage cell cultures are needed for *in vitro* experiments. In primary human lung epithelial cell culture, the efficacy of the chimeric 8P9R will be determined. To do so, at first the cell must be transfected with SARS-CoV-2 virus. After treating with vectorcontaining exosome-liposome hybrids, the viral load could be measured by VNT assay and cellular viability will be measured by TUNNEL assay.

On the other hand, macrophage cell culture can be used, as a critical part of both innate and adaptive immunity, to determine the anti-inflammatory effects of sACE2. Similar to epithelial cell culture, it is necessary to transfect macrophages with SARS-CoV-2 and treat them with vector-containing exosome-liposome hybrids. Then, the expression level of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, TNF α and IL-1 β [via real-time-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) at mRNA level and western blot at protein level] and cellular viability should be measured by TUNNEL assay.

At both cell cultures, the transduction success rate of exosomeliposome hybrids (by expression of GFP protein) and expression of 8P9R and sACE2 (by RT-qPCR at mRNA level and western blot at protein level) must be approved at first.

It is expected that exosome-liposome hybrids transferring to cells results in two main changes: (1) reduction of viral load in infected cells and (2) reduction of inflammatory cytokines levels at both mRNA and protein levels.

In vivo Studies

For in vivo experiments, transgenic mice that are able to express human ACE2 receptors should be used as an animal model. First animals should be infected with SARS-CoV-2 virus. The route of exosome-liposome hybrids administration could be intravenous injection or nasal administration. Then the efficacy of vector-containing exosome-liposome hybrids in treatment of COVID-19 is evaluated. Similar to in vitro studies, the internalization of exosome-liposome hybrids should be apprived (via expression of GFP protein) and expression of 8P9R and sACE2 (via RT-qPCR at mRNA level and western blot at protein level). After administration of exosomeliposome hybrids, viral load (by RT-qPCR), expression of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, TNFa, and IL-1β (by RTqPCR at mRNA level and western blot at protein level) and remission of clinical symptoms such as fever, respiratory distress can be measured.

Then, these changes should be compared with the untreated COVID-19 animal model. For this purpose, 20 days after the treatment, the blood samples will be obtained from both treated (both inhalation and I.V injection groups) and untreated groups, and viral load will be measured using RT-qPCR and the expression of inflammatory cytokines will be measured using RT-qPCR at mRNA level and western blot at protein level.

It is expected that exosome-liposome hybrids transferring to treated groups results in: (1) reduction of viral load, (2) reduction of inflammatory cytokines levels at both mRNA and protein level, (3) remission of clinical symptoms, and (4) reduction of mortality rate.

It must be investigated to find out which route of administration (inhalation vs. I.V injection) is more effective to overcome the disease and its consequences.

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTION

After more than a year from the rise of COVID-19, several antiviral drugs and other pharmaceutical agents have been investigated as potential therapeutic candidates, but shockingly, most of them had been failed during clinical trials and yet supportive treatment strategies are the foremost critical portion of administration in serious cases of COVID-19 (CDC, 2021). Fortunately, the development of efficient vaccines against COVID-19 and initiation of global vaccination have fundamentally assisted with combating the virus, yet the number of daily casualties is significant (WHO, 2021). Then again, the constant emergence of new mutated variants of the virus has a bit compromised the absolute sense of relief caused by the vaccination, as there are certain mutations shown to be able to assist the virus with escaping from polyclonal human serum antibodies (Callaway, 2021; Greaney et al., 2021). Therefore, the lack of a proper treatment strategy, especially in severe cases, is still a global concern.

As mentioned earlier, the pathogenesis of the SARS-CoV-2 virus is extremely phase-dependent. "Phase-dependent" means that the immune response against the virus alters concurrently as the patient's condition deteriorates, this immunological alteration is the reason that this two-step therapeutic strategy has been suggested. In this strategy which can battle the virus in a personalized manner, a designed vector automatically evaluates the patient's condition and gives the appropriate response by expressing the right gene. In other words, two different goals are being pursued at the same time: (1) reducing the viral load and helping the immune system to combat the virus on arrival and (2) predicting and resolving the severe form of the disease including ARDS and multiple organ damage caused by unstrained cytokine storm.

In the primary phase of the disease, the virus enters the host's body and starts to infect host cells by its well-known receptor ACE2 (Yao et al., 2020). In this phase, a proper response of the immune system is crucial, so that the viral load decreases and the least possible number of cells become infected. Both innate and adaptive immune systems are recruited in this phase (Chowdhury et al., 2020). Regarding the adaptive immune system, neutralizing antibodies (from humoral immunity) can efficiently block the viral entry and limit the infection; in addition to their protective effects at the later stage of disease and their ability to prevent infection relapse (Chowdhury et al., 2020). Moreover, it has been shown that helper T cells and cytotoxic T cells (from cellular immunity) are extremely important for the clearance of infected cells (Kumar et al., 2020). In the suggested treatment, chimeric 8P9R peptide acts in this phase and prevents both viral entry and proliferation. Following the attachments of the virus to ACE2, the viral entry occurs through either the TMPRSS2-mediated pathway or the endocytic pathway (Zhao et al., 2021). Chloroquine, which interferes with endocytic pathway through inhibiting endosomal inhibition, was introduced as a potential therapeutic agent in the very first beginning of the emergence of the disease, but unfortunately has been shown that has an adverse clinical efficacy and might be accompanied by cardiac side effects (Hashem et al., 2020; Axfors et al., 2021). Zhao et al., who have previously designed two antiviral peptides P9 (Zhao et al., 2016) and P9R (Zhao et al., 2020), recently introduced a novel cross-linking peptide 8P9R (Zhao et al., 2021). This cross-linking peptide exerts its antiviral effects through both inhibiting viral entry (via TMPRSS2 pathway) and interfering with endosomal acidification and viral escape to the cytosol (via endocytic pathway). They reported promising results on 8P9R peptide antiviral activity in their in vitro studies on hamsters and mice. Seeing these promising results, it is better to take advantage of 8P9R as the main defense tool in the first phase of the disease. It is also suggested that attaching an anti-spike peptide and developing a chimeric P89R that specifically attaches to the spike protein of the virus could lead to even better results. In other words, this chimeric peptide not only entails beneficial properties of 8P9R but also can directly attach to the spike protein of the virus and decrease the chance of its attachment to ACE2, and prevent viral entry. In addition, several repurposed drugs have been introduced which are able to prevent viral entry via different mechanisms. These repurposed drugs, including fluoxetine and itraconazole, which can dysregulate the endosomal cholesterol release and increase endolysosomal cholesterol storage have been suggested as synergistic combinatory therapeutic agents alongside with conventional antiviral therapies (Creeden et al., 2021; Dechaumes et al., 2021; Schloer et al., 2021). According to these promising results, using repurposed therapeutic agents as adjuvant therapy alongside with the two-step strategy seems to be very helpful with comprehensive blockade of viral entry.

In the second phase of the disease, when the disease becomes more severe, the protective role of the immune system is not prominent anymore and its unrestrained activity leads to cytokine storm, which is accompanied by a poor prognosis. ARDS, which is one of the main causes of death in COVID-19 patients, is significantly associated with cytokine storm syndrome (Kumar et al., 2020; Yao et al., 2020). It has been shown that, during ARDS, immune effector cells release very high amount of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and this uncontrolled activation of the immune system can lead to multi-organ (especially respiratory system) failure (Kumar et al., 2020). In this paper, for this phase of the disease, using sACE2 in addition to the baseline expression of chimeric 8P9R is suggested. The reason for choosing this agent is based on the pathophysiology of the virus and the response of the human body to it. By the expression of sACE2 which will be administered to the patients, the downregulated level of

ACE2, that have been caused by viral entry and receptor internalization (Mahmudpour et al., 2020), is compensated and the ACE pathway (that can lead to cytokine storm) will not be upregulated anymore. In other words, we are counting on the enzymatic activity of the sACE2 to re-establish the impaired balance between ACE (leading to the production of inflammatory Ang 2 and activation of AT1 receptors) and ACE2 (leading to the production of anti-inflammatory Ang (1-7) and activation of MAS receptors) pathways. In addition, sACE2 can act as a decoy receptor, neutralize the virus inside the bloodstream, and prevent its entry to the host cell. Using recombinant sACE2 against SARS-CoV-2 is not a novel suggestion and this theory has been tested in the previous studies. Monteil et al. (2020) used Vero cells and engineered human blood vessel and kidney organoids to investigate the efficacy of clinicalgrade recombinant soluble ACE2 (rsACE2) in SARS-CoV-2 blockade. In another study, Zoufaly et al. (2020) reported the first case of treatment with human rsACE2 in a patient with severe COVID-19. The SARS-CoC-2 virus rapidly disappeared from the serum, and later from the nasal cavity and lungs, following hrsACE2 therapy. However, due to the limitations of this study, the fact that this viral clearance was because of the treatment course or part of the natural history of the disease remains unclear. Recently, the therapeutic effect of combination therapy with remdesivir and rsACE2 was investigated on Vero E6 and kidney organoid and revealed that a strong additive effect can be reached at sub-toxic concentrations (Monteil et al., 2020). To make the treatment strategy personalized and sensitive to the condition of patients, using NF-kB-susceptible [a transcription factor for inflammatory cytokines (Kircheis et al., 2020)] promoter for the ACE2 gene is proposed, so that the expression of sACE2 will be proportionate to the level of the ACE2 downregulation.

At last, the reason for using MSC derived exosomes as carriers is that the immunomodulatory and regenerative effects of these exosomes have been confirmed in COVID-19 patients (Jayaramayya et al., 2020; Gupta et al., 2021). However, there is a potential limitation for using exosomes. The capacity of the MSC-derived exosomes is limited, therefore the vector, which entails several sequences, might not fit in the natural exosomes. To bypass this limitation, the MSC-derived exosomes can be hybridized with appropriate sized synthetic liposomes, similar to a method that Sato et al. (2016) for engineering the exosomeliposome hybrids.

According to the paradoxical response of the immune system to SARS-CoV-2 and its detrimental effect on the outcome of patients, developing an appropriate therapeutic approach is necessary. Therefore, a new two-steps strategy against COVID-19 targeting both viral entry and inflammatory state was introduced in this paper.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YN, KV, AE, and HN: conceptualization and writing — review and editing. YN, KV, and AE: investigation and writing — original draft preparation. HN: supervision. All authors read and agreed to the submitted version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Vice-Chancellor's in Research Affairs, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran and Research Grant Committee from the National Institutes

REFERENCES

- Andrady, C., Sharma, S. K., and Chester, K. A. (2011). Antibody–enzyme fusion proteins for cancer therapy. *Immunotherapy* 3, 193–211. doi: 10.2217/imt. 10.90
- Axfors, C., Schmitt, A. M., Janiaud, P., van't Hooft, J., Abd-Elsalam, S., Abdo, E. F., et al. (2021). Mortality outcomes with hydroxychloroquine and chloroquine in COVID-19 from an international collaborative meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Nat. Commun.* 12:2349.
- Babajani, A., Soltani, P., Jamshidi, E., Farjoo, M. H., and Niknejad, H. (2020). Recent advances on drug-loaded mesenchymal stem cells with anti-neoplastic agents for targeted treatment of cancer. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 8:748. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2020.00748
- Banu, N., Panikar, S. S., Leal, L. R., and Leal, A. R. (2020). Protective role of ACE2 and its downregulation in SARS-CoV-2 infection leading to macrophage activation syndrome: therapeutic implications. *Life Sci.* 256:117905. doi: 10. 1016/j.lfs.2020.117905
- Blaess, M., Kaiser, L., Sauer, M., Csuk, R., and Deigner, H.-P. (2020). COVID-19/SARS-CoV-2 infection: lysosomes and lysosomotropism implicate new treatment strategies and personal risks. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:4953. doi: 10.3390/ ijms21144953
- Callaway, E. (2021). Could new COVID variants undermine vaccines? Labs scramble to find out. *Nature* 589, 177–178. doi: 10.1038/d41586-021-00031-0
- CDC 2021. Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/ therapeutic-options.html (accessed April 29, 2021).
- Choudhary, S., Sharma, K., Singh, H., and Silakari, O. (2020). The interplay between inflammatory pathways and COVID-19: a critical review on pathogenesis and therapeutic options. *Microb. Pathog.* 150:104673.
- Chowdhury, M. A., Hossain, N., Kashem, M. A., Shahid, M. A., and Alam, A. (2020). Immune response in COVID-19: a review. J. Infect. Public Health 13, 1619–1629.
- Creeden, J. F., Imami, A. S., Eby, H. M., Gillman, C., Becker, K. N., Reigle, J., et al. (2021). Fluoxetine as an anti-inflammatory therapy in SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 138:111437. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2021. 111437
- Dauletova, M., Hafsan, H., Mahhengam, N., Zekiy, A. O., Ahmadi, M., and Siahmansouri, H. (2021). Mesenchymal stem cell alongside exosomes as a novel cell-based therapy for COVID-19: a review study. *Clin. Immunol.* 226:108712. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2021.108712
- de Carvalho Santuchi, M., Dutra, M. F., Vago, J. P., Lima, K. M., Galvão, I., de Souza-Neto, F. P., et al. (2019). Angiotensin-(1-7) and alamandine promote anti-inflammatory response in macrophages *In Vitro* and *In Vivo. Mediators Inflamm.* 2019:2401081.
- Dechaumes, A., Nekoua, M. P., Belouzard, S., Sane, F., Engelmann, I., Dubuisson, J., et al. (2021). Fluoxetine can inhibit SARS-CoV-2 in vitro. *Microorganisms* 9:339. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms90 20339
- Duan, F., Guo, L., Yang, L., Han, Y., Thakur, A., Nilsson-Payant, B. E., et al. (2020). Modeling COVID-19 with human pluripotent stem cell-derived cells reveals

for Medical Research Development (NIMAD), Tehran, Iran, under award number 963951.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to express our most sincere words of appreciation to Amirhossein Nazerian for his valuable assistance with designing and creating figures, Seved Mamoud Hashemi Vahid and Jajarmi for constructive advices and insightful suggestions and Dr. Mohammad Hadi Farjoo, Dr. Mohammad Abbas Sheikholeslami, and Dr. Tahereh Tayebi for their valuable contribution.

synergistic effects of anti-inflammatory macrophages with ACE2 inhibition against SARS-CoV-2. Res. Sq.

- Gardin, C., Ferroni, L., Chachques, J. C., and Zavan, B. (2020). Could mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes be a therapeutic option for critically Ill COVID-19 patients? *J. Clin. Med.* 9:2762. doi: 10.3390/jcm90 92762
- Ghamari, S.-H., Abbasi-Kangevari, M., Tayebi, T., Bahrami, S., and Niknejad, H. (2020). The bottlenecks in translating placenta-derived amniotic epithelial and mesenchymal stromal cells into the clinic: current discrepancies in marker reports. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 8:180. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2020. 00180
- Gracia-Hernandez, M., Sotomayor, E. M., and Villagra, A. (2020). Targeting macrophages as a therapeutic option in coronavirus disease 2019. Front. Pharmacol. 11:577571. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.577571
- Greaney, A. J., Loes, A. N., Crawford, K. H. D., Starr, T. N., Malone, K. D., Chu, H. Y., et al. (2021). Comprehensive mapping of mutations in the SARS-CoV-2 receptor-binding domain that affect recognition by polyclonal human plasma antibodies. *Cell Host Microbe* 29, 463–76.e6.
- Gupta, S., Krishnakumar, V., Sharma, Y., Dinda, A. K., and Mohanty, S. (2021). Mesenchymal stem cell derived exosomes: a nano platform for therapeutics and drug delivery in combating COVID-19. *Stem Cell Rev. Rep.* 17, 33–43. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-10002-z
- Hashem, A. M., Alghamdi, B. S., Algaissi, A. A., Alshehri, F. S., Bukhari, A., Alfaleh, M. A., et al. (2020). Therapeutic use of chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine in COVID-19 and other viral infections: a narrative review. *Travel Med. Infect. Dis.* 35:101735. doi: 10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101735
- Heo, J. S., Choi, Y., and Kim, H. O. (2019). Adipose-Derived mesenchymal stem cells promote M2 macrophage phenotype through exosomes. *Stem Cells Int.* 2019:7921760.
- Hirano, T., and Murakami, M. (2020). COVID-19: a new virus, but a familiar receptor and cytokine release syndrome. *Immunity* 52, 731–733. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2020.04.003
- Hoertel, N., Sánchez-Rico, M., Vernet, R., Beeker, N., Jannot, A.-S., Neuraz, A., et al. (2021). Association between antidepressant use and reduced risk of intubation or death in hospitalized patients with COVID-19: results from an observational study. *Mol. Psychiatry* 1–14.
- Hojyo, S., Uchida, M., Tanaka, K., Hasebe, R., Tanaka, Y., Murakami, M., et al. (2020). How COVID-19 induces cytokine storm with high mortality. *Inflamm. Regen.* 40:37.
- Issa, H., Eid, A. H., Berry, B., Takhviji, V., Khosravi, A., Mantash, S., et al. (2021). Combination of angiotensin (1-7) agonists and convalescent plasma as a new strategy to overcome angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) inhibition for the treatment of COVID-19. *Front. Med.* 8:620990. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021. 620990
- Jafarzadeh, A., Chauhan, P., Saha, B., Jafarzadeh, S., and Nemati, M. (2020). Contribution of monocytes and macrophages to the local tissue inflammation and cytokine storm in COVID-19: lessons from SARS and MERS, and potential therapeutic interventions. *Life Sci.* 257:118102. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.1 18102

- Jamshidi, E., Babajani, A., Soltani, P., and Niknejad, H. (2021). Proposed mechanisms of targeting COVID-19 by delivering mesenchymal stem cells and their exosomes to damaged organs. *Stem Cell Rev. Rep.* 17, 176–192. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-10109-3
- Jayaramayya, K., Mahalaxmi, I., Subramaniam, M. D., Raj, N., Dayem, A. A., Lim, K. M., et al. (2020). Immunomodulatory effect of mesenchymal stem cells and mesenchymal stem-cell-derived exosomes for COVID-19 treatment. *BMB Rep.* 53, 400–412. doi: 10.5483/bmbrep.2020.53. 8.121
- Jurgeit, A., McDowell, R., Moese, S., Meldrum, E., Schwendener, R., and Greber, U. F. (2012). Niclosamide is a proton carrier and targets acidic endosomes with broad antiviral effects. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002976. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1002976
- Kao, J.-C., HuangFu, W.-C., Tsai, T.-T., Ho, M.-R., Jhan, M.-K., Shen, T.-J., et al. (2018). The antiparasitic drug niclosamide inhibits dengue virus infection by interfering with endosomal acidification independent of mTOR. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 12:e0006715. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.00 06715
- Khalaj, K., Figueira, R. L., Antounians, L., Lauriti, G., and Zani, A. (2020). Systematic review of extracellular vesicle-based treatments for lung injury: are EVs a potential therapy for COVID-19? *J. Extracell. Vesicles* 9:1795365. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2020.1795365
- Kircheis, R., Haasbach, E., Lueftenegger, D., Heyken, W. T., Ocker, M., and Planz, O. (2020). NF-κB pathway as a potential target for treatment of critical stage COVID-19 patients. *Front. Immunol.* 11:598444. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020. 598444
- Kosyreva, A., Dzhalilova, D., Lokhonina, A., Vishnyakova, P., and Fatkhudinov, T. (2021). The role of macrophages in the pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2-associated acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Front. Immunol.* 12:682871. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2021.682871
- Krishnamurthy, S., Lockey, R. F., and Kolliputi, N. (2021). Soluble ACE2 as a potential therapy for COVID-19. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 320, C279–C281.
- Kumar, S., Nyodu, R., Maurya, V. K., and Saxena, S. K. (2020). "Host immune response and immunobiology of human SARS-CoV-2 infection," in *Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Medical Virology: From Pathogenesis to Disease Control*, ed. S. Saxena (Singapore: Springer).
- Li, C., Zhu, X., Ji, X., Quanquin, N., Deng, Y.-Q., Tian, M., et al. (2017). Chloroquine, a FDA-approved drug, prevents Zika virus infection and its associated congenital microcephaly in mice. *EBioMedicine* 24, 189–194. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.09.034
- Liu, J., Cao, R., Xu, M., Wang, X., Zhang, H., Hu, H., et al. (2020). Hydroxychloroquine, a less toxic derivative of chloroquine, is effective in inhibiting SARS-CoV-2 infection in vitro. *Cell Discov*. 6:16.
- Magalhaes, G. S., da Gloria Rodrigues-Machado, M., Motta-Santos, D., Campagnole-Santos, M. J., and Souza Santos, R. A. (2020). Activation of Ang-(1-7)/Mas receptor is a possible strategy to treat coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) infection. *Front. Physiol.* 11:730. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020. 00730
- Mahmudpour, M., Roozbeh, J., Keshavarz, M., Farrokhi, S., and Nabipour, I. (2020). COVID-19 cytokine storm: the anger of inflammation. *Cytokine* 133:155151. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2020.155151
- Monteil, V., Kwon, H., Prado, P., Hagelkrüys, A., Wimmer, R. A., Stahl, M., et al. (2020). Inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 infections in engineered human tissues using clinical-grade soluble human ACE2. *Cell* 181, 905–913.e7.
- Muralidar, S., Gopal, G., and Ambi, S. V. (2021). Targeting the viral-entry facilitators of SARS-CoV-2 as a therapeutic strategy in COVID-19. J. Med. Virol. 93, 5260–5276. doi: 10.1002/jmv. 27019
- Pinky, Gupta, S., Krishnakumar, V., Sharma, Y., Dinda, A. K., and Mohanty, S. (2021). Mesenchymal stem cell derived exosomes: a nano platform for therapeutics and drug delivery in combating COVID-19. *Stem Cell Rev. Rep.* 17, 33–43.
- Ragab, D., Eldin, H. S., Taeimah, M., Khattab, R., and Salem, R. (2020). The COVID-19 cytokine storm; what we know

so far. Front. Immunol. 11:1446. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020. 01446

- Rahmawati, P. L., Tini, K., Susilawathi, N. M., Wijayanti, I. A. S., and Samatra, D. P. (2021). Pathomechanism and management of stroke in COVID-19: review of immunopathogenesis, coagulopathy, endothelial dysfunction, and downregulation of ACE2. J. Clin. Neurol. 17:155. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2021.17.2.155
- Rezakhani, L., Kelishadrokhi, A. F., Soleimanizadeh, A., and Rahmati, S. (2021). Mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)-derived exosomes as a cell-free therapy for patients Infected with COVID-19: real opportunities and range of promises. *Chem. Phys. Lipids* 234:105009. doi: 10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2020. 105009
- Sato, Y. T., Umezaki, K., Sawada, S., Mukai, S.-A., Sasaki, Y., Harada, N., et al. (2016). Engineering hybrid exosomes by membrane fusion with liposomes. *Sci. Rep.* 6:21933.
- Schloer, S., Brunotte, L., Goretzko, J., Mecate-Zambrano, A., Korthals, N., Gerke, V., et al. (2020). Targeting the endolysosomal host-SARS-CoV-2 interface by clinically licensed functional inhibitors of acid sphingomyelinase (FIASMA) including the antidepressant fluoxetine. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* 9, 2245–2255. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2020.1829082
- Schloer, S., Brunotte, L., Mecate-Zambrano, A., Zheng, S., Tang, J., Ludwig, S., et al. (2021). Drug synergy of combinatory treatment with remdesivir and the repurposed drugs fluoxetine and itraconazole effectively impairs SARS-CoV-2 infection in vitro. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 178, 2339–2350. doi: 10.1111/bph. 15418
- South, A. M., Tomlinson, L., Edmonston, D., Hiremath, S., and Sparks, M. A. (2020). Controversies of renin-angiotensin system inhibition during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 16, 305–307. doi: 10.1038/s41581-020-0279-4
- Tan, Y. W., Yam, W. K., Sun, J., and Chu, J. J. H. (2018). An evaluation of chloroquine as a broad-acting antiviral against hand, foot and mouth disease. *Antiviral Res.* 149, 143–149. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2017. 11.017
- Tzotzos, S. J., Fischer, B., Fischer, H., and Zeitlinger, M. (2020). Incidence of ARDS and outcomes in hospitalized patients with COVID-19: a global literature survey. *Crit. Care* 24:516.
- Verdecchia, P., Cavallini, C., Spanevello, A., and Angeli, F. (2020). The pivotal link between ACE2 deficiency and SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Eur. J. Intern. Med.* 76, 14–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2020.04.037
- Vigant, F., Santos, N. C., and Lee, B. (2015). Broad-spectrum antivirals against viral fusion. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 13, 426–437. doi: 10.1038/ nrmicro3475
- Wang, L., Xu, J., Kong, Y., Liang, R., Li, W., Li, J., et al. (2019). Engineering a novel antibody-peptide bispecific fusion protein against MERS-CoV. Antibodies 8:53. doi: 10.3390/antib8040053
- Wang, M., Cao, R., Zhang, L., Yang, X., Liu, J., Xu, M., et al. (2020). Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. *Cell Res.* 30, 269–271. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0282-0
- WHO 2021. Available online at: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novelcoronavirus-2019/covid-19-vaccines (accessed April 29, 2021).
- Yang, J., Petitjean, S. J. L., Koehler, M., Zhang, Q., Dumitru, A. C., Chen, W., et al. (2020). Molecular interaction and inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 binding to the ACE2 receptor. *Nat. Commun.* 11:4541.
- Yang, N., and Shen, H.-M. (2020). Targeting the endocytic pathway and autophagy process as a novel therapeutic strategy in COVID-19. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 16, 1724–1731. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.45498
- Yao, X., Ye, F., Zhang, M., Cui, C., Huang, B., Niu, P., et al. (2020). In vitro antiviral activity and projection of optimized dosing design of hydroxychloroquine for the treatment of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 71, 732–739. doi: 10.1093/cid/ ciaa237
- Zhao, H., To, K. K. W., Lam, H., Zhou, X., Chan, J. F.-W., Peng, Z., et al. (2021). Cross-linking peptide and repurposed drugs inhibit both entry pathways of SARS-CoV-2. *Nat. Commun.* 12:1517.
- Zhao, H., To, K. K. W., Sze, K.-H., Yung, T. T.-M., Bian, M., Lam, H., et al. (2020). A broad-spectrum virus-and host-targeting peptide against respiratory viruses including influenza virus and SARS-CoV-2. *Nat. Commun.* 11:4252.

- Zhao, H., Zhou, J., Zhang, K., Chu, H., Liu, D., Poon, V. K.-M., et al. (2016). A novel peptide with potent and broad-spectrum antiviral activities against multiple respiratory viruses. *Sci. Rep.* 6:22008.
- Zimniak, M., Kirschner, L., Hilpert, H., Geiger, N., Danov, O., Oberwinkler, H., et al. (2021). The serotonin reuptake inhibitor Fluoxetine inhibits SARS-CoV-2 in human lung tissue. *Sci. Rep.* 11:5890.
- Zoufaly, A., Poglitsch, M., Aberle, J. H., Hoepler, W., Seitz, T., Traugott, M., et al. (2020). Human recombinant soluble ACE2 in severe COVID-19. *Lancet Respir. Med.* 8, 1154–1158.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Nazerian, Vakili, Ebrahimi and Niknejad. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Application of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cellular and Organoid Models for COVID-19 Research

Yumei Luo^{1,2}, Mimi Zhang^{1,2}, Yapei Chen^{1,2}, Yaoyong Chen^{1,2} and Detu Zhu^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Key Laboratory for Major Obstetric Diseases of Guangdong Province, The Third Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ² Key Laboratory of Reproduction and Genetics of Guangdong Higher Education Institutes, The Third Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Center for Biomedical Research Network of Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Diseases (CIBERDEM), Spain

Reviewed by:

Ramasamy Palaniappan, Sree Balaji Medical College and Hospital, India Philippe Bourin, Independent Researcher, Toulouse, France

> *Correspondence: Detu Zhu clover_jato@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 03 June 2021 Accepted: 12 August 2021 Published: 06 September 2021

Citation:

Luo Y, Zhang M, Chen Y, Chen Y and Zhu D (2021) Application of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cellular and Organoid Models for COVID-19 Research. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:720099. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.720099 The outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and its rapid international spread has caused the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemics, which is a global public health crisis. Thus, there is an urgent need to establish biological models to study the pathology of SARS-CoV-2 infection, which not only involves respiratory failure, but also includes dysregulation of other organs and systems, including the brain, heart, liver, intestines, pancreas, kidneys, eyes, and so on. Cellular and organoid models derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) are ideal tools for *in vitro* simulation of viral life cycles and drug screening to prevent the reemergence of coronavirus. These iPSC-derived models could recapitulate the functions and physiology of various human cell types and assemble the complex microenvironments similar with those in the human organs; therefore, they can improve the study efficiency of viral infection mechanisms, mimic the natural host-virus interaction, and be suited for long-term experiments. In this review, we focus on the application of *in vitro* iPSC-derived cellular and organoid models in COVID-19 studies.

Keywords: induced pluripotent stem cell, organoid, cellular model, COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2

INTRODUCTION

Since its outbreak in 2019, the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemics have infected more than 190 million people and caused more than 4 million deaths¹. COVID-19 is caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), an enveloped positive-sense single-stranded RNA virus. It enters the host cells using angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) as the cell surface receptor and transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2) as the effector to cleave its spike protein (Hoffmann et al., 2020). SARS-CoV-2 spreads mainly through the respiratory

¹www.worldometers.info/coronavirus

tract (Lu et al., 2020). Respiratory failure is the most common cause of death in COVID-19 patients; meanwhile, severe fatal manifestations are also observed in other organs, such as the brain, heart, liver, intestines, and pancreas (Puelles et al., 2020). Therefore, it is of particular importance to find models that can imitate the natural host-virus interactions of SARS-CoV-2 in a variety of human cell types and organs, thus improving the study efficiency for identifying key molecular regulators and the underlying mechanisms of virus infection and disease progression.

There have been both animal models (e.g., transgenic mice expressing human ACE2 and non-human primates) and cell line models (e.g., African green monkey Vero E6 cells and human cancer cell lines) available for COVID-19 research (Takayama, 2020). However, animal models are quite costly and display very different physiological characteristics from human, and cell line models have limitations in reproducing the viral life cycle and the pathology of COVID-19 in different human organs and tissues that contain a variety of cell types (Liu et al., 2011). For example, the entry routes of SARS-CoV-2 vary between cell lines and human tissues, as do immune responses and hostvirus interactions (Milewska et al., 2020). In addition, human cancer cells carry numerous tumor-associated mutations, such as P53 mutations, which could interfere the SARS-CoV-2 infection (Ma-Lauer et al., 2016). Therefore, there is an urgent need to establish more cost-efficient and human-relevant models for COVID-19 research.

The emergence of human induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) has enabled derivation of functional human cells or organoids to model human diseases, including infectious diseases, to develop new therapeutic approaches and to promote drug discovery (Yu et al., 2007; Luo et al., 2015a, 2018), without ethical issues like the human embryonic stem cells (Luo et al., 2014). For example, functional liver organoids generated by human iPSCs have been developed as personalized models of hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection, which is a powerful longterm platform for both research and drug screening of HBV (Nie et al., 2018). Recently, iPSC-derived cellular and organoid models have been utilized to simulate SARS-CoV-2 infections in multiple organs, not only the lung, but also the heart, brain, liver, intestines, and pancreas (Jacob et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2020) (Figure 1). These studies have demonstrated that SARS-CoV-2 can infect and propagate in a variety of cell types, leading to transcriptional alternations that indicate inflammatory responses and changes in cell function (Marshall, 2020). The purpose of this review is to describe the usefulness of these iPSC-derived cellular and organoid models in simulating human cellular physiology and tissue microenvironment, and enabling the study of hostvirus interaction and drug screening for the COVID-19 disease, thus leading to a more comprehensive understanding of the SARS-CoV-2 pathogenesis.

LUNG ORGANOIDS

Human iPSC-derived airway and alveolar organoids have been developed and used for studying the processes of SARS-CoV-2

infection and transmission in the lungs (Pei et al., 2020). With these organoid models, the researchers have determined the cellular tropism of the virus. Ciliated cells, club cells, and alveolar type II cells (AT2) cells, which are arranged from the proximal to the distal airway and terminal alveoli in sequence, have been confirmed as SARS-CoV-2-targeted cells in the study (Mulay et al., 2021). Moreover, the viral infection downregulates metabolic processes, particularly the lipid metabolism, which, together with the already known upregulation of immune responses, is another molecular feature of SARS-CoV-2-infected cells (Pei et al., 2020). On the other hand, infected SARS-CoV-2 can decrease the level of its target ACE2 on the host cell surface through a variety of mechanisms. A comprehensive analysis of these information might enable better understanding about the viral pathogenesis and discovery therapeutic targets for the treatment of COVID-19 (Pei et al., 2020).

In addition, the early immune responses to viral infections were investigated using iPSC-derived AT2 (iAT2) cells (Huang J. et al., 2020). The results showed that AT2 cells are a central component of the inflammatory signaling that responds to SARS-CoV-2 infection within the first 24 h, with NF-κB signaling predominating this response (Huang J. et al., 2020). These findings are consistent with those in newly purified primary AT2 cells infected with SARS-CoV-2 (Mulay et al., 2021). They also observed cellular stress, toxicity, iAT cell death, and significant loss of surfactant genes expression in their model (Huang J. et al., 2020). These findings may be clinically relevant, as similar results were found in lung autopsies of multiple individuals who died of COVID-19 (Bradley et al., 2020; Hou et al., 2020). Other researchers have previously shown that the primary AT2 cells can be infected with SARS-CoV in the body (Qian et al., 2013); it has also been recently shown that AT2 cells may help promote lung regeneration in COVID-19 survivors (Chen J. et al., 2020). The correlation between AT2 cells and SARS-CoV-2 infection was further emphasized.

Furthermore, the researchers have demonstrated that human iPSC-derived lung cells and organoids could serve as powerful platforms for discovering and testing anti-SARS-CoV-2 drugs (Huang J. et al., 2020; Pei et al., 2020). They have demonstrated that Remdesivir, a predrug nucleotide analog that inhibits virus replication (Eastman et al., 2020), CB6, a human neutralizing antibody (Shi R. et al., 2020), as well as TMPRSS2 protease inhibition could effectively inhibit the replication of SARS-CoV-2 in the iPSC-derived models. These results are consistent with those in fundamental studies using primary cell models and in clinical trials (Beigel et al., 2020; Wang M. et al., 2020). Therefore, iPSC-derived *in vitro* human models could be employed to identify and test therapeutic entities for the treatment of COVID-19.

Taken together, the above results demonstrated that lung cells and organoids derived from human iPSCs can be utilized as pathophysiological models to study the potential mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 transmission and to identify and test COVID-19 therapeutic agents (Pei et al., 2020).



CARDIOMYOCYTES

There is growing evidence that patients with COVID-19 exhibit severe heart complications, elevated biomarkers of heart damage, and cardiac function deterioration, including cardiovascular complications such as cardiomyopathy, acute myocardial infarction, arrhythmia, and heart failure, greatly increasing the risk of death (Aggarwal et al., 2020a; Bansal, 2020; Long et al., 2020; Madjid et al., 2020; Shi S. et al., 2020). Several compounds and antibodies, such as Remdesivir, Olumiant + Remdesivir, Casirivimab + Imdevimab, Bamlanivimab + Etesevimab, Sotrovimab and Tocilizumab are currently licensed drug for treatment of COVID-19 patients under emergency use authorization². However, there is limited safety information on these recommended drugs, especially since heart toxicity caused by the drug can lead to lethal complications, including myocardial ischemia, arrhythmias, and heart failure. Therefore, it is critical to evaluate any potential adverse effects on the cardiovascular system associated with current COVID-19 medications to avoid fatal side effects (Aggarwal et al., 2020b).

Human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes (CMs) can be utilized to recapitulate cardiac pathophysiology and are considered as one of the most promising sources for cardic disease modeling, heart repair and cardiac toxicology screening (Mitcheson et al., 1998; Lan et al., 2013; Moreno and Pearson, 2013; Sharma et al., 2014, 2017; Burridge et al., 2016). In this context, iPSC-CMs are recommended as a reliable method of heart toxicity examination in the comprehensive *in vitro* proarrhythmia assay (CiPA), as a non-clinical safety pharmacological paradigm, to circumvent the limitations of existing methods used in preclinical safety assessment of drugs (Gintant et al., 2016; Goineau and Castagné, 2017; Sala et al., 2017). Choi et al. (2020) have shown that iPSC-CMs acutely treated with Remdesivir show a risk of arrhythmia and changes in the electrophysiological properties of myocardial cells in a dose-dependent manner, indicating that overdose or drug accumulation may lead to noteworthy adverse heart reactions, such as prolonged QT interstitial periods. In addition, they have demonstrated that iPSC-CMs not only allow SARS-CoV-2 infection, but also support the propagation of infectious viral particles (Choi et al., 2020).

INTESTINAL ORGANOIDS

Up to 50% of COVID-19 patients develop gastrointestinal symptoms associated with longer duration and increased severity of the disease (Luo et al., 2020; Wang F. et al., 2020; Wei et al., 2020; Xiao et al., 2020). However, it remains debatable whether the virus found in the intestines is contagious, as few studies have examined infectious viruses in feces (Zang et al., 2020). In cell culture, primary intestinal cells are highly susceptible to SARS-CoV-2 and can produce infectious viral particles. Intestinal organoids can quickly grow from adult stem cells derived from cells of large intestine and small intestine biopsy tissue (Sato et al., 2011). Stem cell-derived intestinal organoids have similar characteristics with primary intestinal cells and have been widely used to study viral infection (Sato et al., 2011; Ettayebi et al., 2016).

Studies have employed human iPSC-derived intestinal organoids to study SARS-CoV-2 tropisms in different intestinal cell types. In both *in vivo* and iPSC-derived organoid models,

²www.fda.gov/emergency-preparedness-and-response/mcm-legal-regulatoryand-policy-framework/emergency-use-authorization#coviddrugs

ACE2 is strongly expressed in the small intestine, as well as TMPRSS2. In contrast, colon organoids have lower ACE2 expression (Zang et al., 2020). In intestinal organs, TMPRSS4 performs the same functions as TMPRSS2 to support virus entry (Zang et al., 2020). Experiments have shown that two groups of small intestinal organoid models can be infected with SARS-CoV-2 (Lamers et al., 2020; Zang et al., 2020). In these organoid models, SARS-CoV-2, like its closest relative SARS-CoV, mainly infects mature enterocytes and dividing cells (Lamers et al., 2020; Zang et al., 2020). On the other hand, studies have shown that when the SARS-CoV-2 viruses are cultured in gastric fluid in the large intestine and small intestine, they quickly lose their infectious power (Simoneau and Ott, 2020; Zang et al., 2020). Therefore, even though viral particles were found in the feces occasionally, it might not be the primary pathway for virus transmission.

Furthermore, human iPSC-derived intestinal organoids generate valuable pathological models for studying the underlying mechanisms of intestinal SARS-CoV-2 infection. It is reported that SARS-CoV-2 actively infects both proximally and distally patterned intestinal organoids, thus resulting in production of infectious viral particles and significant transcriptional alterations, such as upregulation of the interferonrelated genes, in multiple epithelial cell types (Mithal et al., 2021). Another organoid study shows that SARS-CoV-2 can infect all intestinal cell types investigated except goblet cells, and disrupt intestinal integrity, which might be the cause of diarrhea and other gastrointestinal symptoms associated with COVID-19 (Krüger et al., 2021).

More importantly, these organoids can serve as a potential platform for organ-specific drug testing and drug screening. For example, the researchers found that Remdesivir therapy inhibits SARS-CoV-2 viral replication in the intestinal organoids (Krüger et al., 2021). Therefore, clinical treatment with this drug may prevent intestinal damage caused by SARS-CoV-2 and relieve intestinal symptoms.

BRAIN ORGANOIDS

Approximately 36.4% of the COVID-19 patients develop a variety of neurological complications, ranging from loss of smell, nausea, dizziness, and headache to encephalopathy and stroke (Mao et al., 2020). RNA of SARS-COV-2 was found in the brains of some patients (Helms et al., 2020; Moriguchi et al., 2020). The mechanisms of SARS-COV-2 disrupting the brain-blood barrier and infecting the central nervous system (CNS) draw great concerns (Li et al., 2020). Studies have shown that CNS infections may lead to the pathophysiological and clinical manifestations associated with COVID-19 (Steardo et al., 2020). Therefore, it is necessary to establish a suitable *in vitro* model to study nerve infection by SARS-CoV-2.

IPSC-derived brain organoids are valuable tools for investigating the biological properties of SARS-CoV-2 in the CNS (Bullen et al., 2020; Jacob et al., 2020). Studies using iPSC-derive brain organoids find that choroid plexus epithelial

cells are the main target of SARS-CoV-2 infection in the CNS; meanwhile, neurons, and astrocytes are sparsely infected (Jacob et al., 2020; Pellegrini et al., 2020). This finding is consistent with the discovery that the choroid plexus region is one of the hotspots of ACE2 expression in the CNS under inflammatory status, and it is more susceptible to SARS-CoV-2 infection than other regions (Chen R. et al., 2020). After SARS-CoV-2 infection, increased cellular remodeling and inflammatory responses were observed in choroid plexus epithelial cells (Chen R. et al., 2020). This finding provides an evidence that SARS-CoV-2 infection of the choroid plexus leads to disruptions in blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCB) integrity. Researchers have proposed that BCB decomposition can promote entry of the virus as well as immune cells expressing cytokines into the cerebrospinal fluid and brain tissue, potentially causing nerve inflammation (Pellegrini et al., 2020).

Whether SARS-CoV-2 propagates in the CNS remains controversial. Some studies have reported successful SARS-CoV-2 replication in brain organoids (Zhang et al., 2020), while the others suggest that the viral replication and proliferation are less efficient in the brain organoids (Ramani et al., 2020). These opposite results may be due to differences in the methods of establishing brain organoid models and the multiplicities of infection (MOI) used in these studies. In the former study, the neural progenitor cell (NPC) population is also found to be a target of SARS-CoV-2 (Ramani et al., 2020). This is an important finding as NPCs are responsible for repairing brain lesions caused by degenerative diseases or malignancies (Zhu et al., 2013, 2014; Luo and Zhu, 2014; Luo et al., 2015b). The impaired NPC population might be the reason for late or incomplete recovery of neurological manifestations in COVID-19 patients. On the other hand, it should be noted that although human brain organoids represent valuable models for in vitro research on SARS-CoV-2 infection, they merely have simplified structures (e.g., vein systems and blood-brain barriers) like the developing fetal brain, and lack mature cells, particularly asteroid cells and astrocytes (Jacob et al., 2020; Ramani et al., 2020).

PANCREATIC ENDOCRINE CELLS

Single-cell RNA-seq analysis of primary human islets has indicated that both alpha cells and beta cells are positive for ACE2 and TMPRSS2 (Yang et al., 2020). Further validation experiments in humanized mouse model established by human iPSC-derived pancreatic endocrine cells confirm that both alpha cells and beta cells are susceptible to SARS-CoV-2 (Yang et al., 2020). Infected pancreatic endocrine cells display higher expression of pathways associated with apoptosis and viral infection, and lower expression of pathways associated with the normal functions of alpha cells and beta cells, thus leading to increased cell death and loss of cell identities (Yang et al., 2020). The infected cells are also expressing higher levels of chemokines, including CCL2, CXCL5, and CXCL6, and other degenerative factors and cytokines, which is similar with cells found in autopsies from COVID-19 patients (Blanco-Melo et al., 2020).

LIVER ORGANOIDS

More than 50% of COVID-19 patients have symptoms of viral hepatitis (Ong et al., 2020). Particularly, the proportion of patients with liver damage in patients with severe symptoms is much higher than that in patients with mild symptoms (Huang C. et al., 2020). However, due to the lack of suitable research models, it was unclear whether the liver damages were caused by a direct viral infection or by systemic dysfunctions, such as cytokine storms.

Relevant studies have deployed human organoids as tools to study the correlations of SARS-CoV-2 infection and liver damage at both cellular and molecular levels (Huch et al., 2015; Dutta and Clevers, 2017). Some studies have established human liver organoid models which are capable of preserving the ACE2 + /TMPRSS2 + cholangiocyte population in long-term 3dimensional (3D) cultures (Yang et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2020). Further, the studies have confirmed that the cholangiocytes in the human liver organoids are permissive to SARS-CoV-2 infection and supporting strong viral propagation (Yang et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2020). Moreover, SARS-CoV-2 infection induces cell death in the host cholangiocytes. Thus, these studies supports that liver damage in COVID-19 patients might be caused by gallbladder decomposition and subsequent accumulation of bile acid due to viral infection (Yang et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2020).

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Most COVID-19 patients have mild respiratory symptoms; however, up to 20% of the patients develop severe pneumonia, leading to multi-organ failures and even death (Zhu N. et al., 2020). The development of iPSC technologies and the resulting differentiated cell models have dramatically accelerated studies of the pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 in various organs. Current studies have employed iPSC-derived cells and organoids, including iAT2 cells, cardiomyocytes, pancreatic endocrine cells, lung organoids, brain organoids, intestinal organoids, liver organoids, to investigate the underlying mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 infection (Ardestani and Maedler, 2020; Bojkova et al., 2020; Huang J. et al., 2020; Jacob et al., 2020; Pei et al., 2020; Mithal et al., 2021). As COVID-19 could also cause kidney malfunctions (Chen N. et al., 2020), kidney organoids derived from iPSCs may be a potential research model as well (Phipson et al., 2019).

These iPSC-derived models are suited for leveraging the powers of the latest genetic tools, such as single-cell RNAseq and CRISPR techniques, for COVID-19 research (Zhou et al., 2020). Single-cell RNA-seq techniques have been developed to investigate the viral tropisms and host transcriptional responses to viruses or external stimuli in complex organs and tissues (Zhu et al., 2018; Luo et al., 2019; Zhu D. et al., 2020). In the above studies, single-cell RNA-seq has been employed to screen for cell types that are positive of the SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 and effector protease TMPRSS2, and to illustrate the transcriptional alternations after viral infection (Huang J. et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020; Zang et al., 2020). Furthermore, the CRISPR system can be utilized to create genetically modified iPSC models for mechanism study of the candidate genetic factors (Luo et al., 2015c, 2016; Gkogkou et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2020; Zang et al., 2020; Yu, 2021). For example, with a CRISPR-engineered iPSC model, researchers have demonstrated that the single-nucleotide polymorphism rs4702, which is a common genetic variant located in the 3' UTR of the protease FURIN, influences the SARS-CoV-2 permissiveness of alveolar and neuronal cells (Dobrindt et al., 2021).

On the other hand, there are a few limitations of iPSC-derived cellular and organoid platforms, such as inadequate complexity to reflect real tissue microenvironment and cell-cell interactions, and lack of real-time monitoring methods for 3D cultures. For examples, although the above studies have described the susceptibility of various cell types to SARS-CoV-2 infection with these iPSC derivatives, it is unclear whether these cell types are the primary targets for viral infection in COVID-19 without a more thorough analysis of samples from primary patients (Lamouroux et al., 2020). Besides, these iPSC-derived models are simplified ones compared to the fully functional and reacting human organs. In the future, these platforms should be exploited to produce more complex organoid models, including the immune system components that are missing from the current analysis (Yang et al., 2020).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, human iPSC-derived cells and organoids can be used as ideal models for studying the mechanisms of viral infection and drug screening. Particularly, with the organoid models, the viral tropism and host responses of different cell types could be observed in a single system. These iPSC models help us better understand the pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 in different organs and systems, and provide powerful drug test and discovery platforms.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YL and DZ conceived the study. YL, MZ, and DZ prepared the figure. YL, MZ, YpC, YoC, and DZ wrote the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Guangzhou City Science, Technology and Innovation Commission (Nos. 201804010340 and 202002030077), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 82002774 and 81401206), the Guangdong Province Natural Science Foundation (No. 2020A1515010065), the Guangdong Province Outstanding Youth Medical Talent Program (No. 110217110), the Liwan District Science and Technology Planning Project (No. 201804013), and the Third Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University Elite Talent Fund Project (No. 110217103).

REFERENCES

- Aggarwal, G., Cheruiyot, I., Aggarwal, S., Wong, J., Lippi, G., and Lavie, C. J. (2020a). Association of Cardiovascular Disease With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Severity: a Meta-Analysis. *Curr. Probl. Cardiol.* 45:100617. doi: 10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2020.100617
- Aggarwal, G., Henry, B. M., Aggarwal, S., and Bangalore, S. (2020b). Cardiovascular Safety of Potential Drugs for the Treatment of Coronavirus Disease 2019. Am. J. Cardiol. 128, 147–150. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2020.04.054
- Ardestani, A., and Maedler, K. (2020). Commentary: a Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-Based Platform to Study SARS-CoV-2 Tropism and Model Virus Infection in Human Cells and Organoids. *Front. Endocrinol.* 11:585922. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2020.585922
- Bansal, M. (2020). Cardiovascular disease and COVID-19. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr.* 14, 247–250.
- Beigel, J. H., Tomashek, K. M., Dodd, L. E., Mehta, A. K., Zingman, B. S., and Kalil, A. C. (2020). Remdesivir for the Treatment of Covid-19 - Final Report. N. Engl. J. Med. 383, 1813–1826.
- Blanco-Melo, D., Nilsson-Payant, B. E., Liu, W. C., Uhl, S., Hoagland, D., Møller, R., et al. (2020). Imbalanced Host Response to SARS-CoV-2 Drives Development of COVID-19. *Cell* 181, 1036–1045.e9.
- Bojkova, D., Wagner, J. U. G., Shumliakivska, M., Aslan, G. S., Saleem, U., and Hansen, A. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 infects and induces cytotoxic effects in human cardiomyocytes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 116, 2207–2215. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvaa267
- Bradley, B. T., Maioli, H., Johnston, R., Chaudhry, I., Fink, S. L., Xu, H., et al. (2020). Histopathology and ultrastructural findings of fatal COVID-19 infections in Washington State: a case series. *Lancet* 396, 320–332. doi: 10.1016/ s0140-6736(20)31305-2
- Bullen, C. K., Hogberg, H. T., Bahadirli-Talbott, A., Bishai, W. R., Hartung, T., and Keuthan, C. (2020). Infectability of human BrainSphere neurons suggests neurotropism of SARS-CoV-2. *Altex* 37, 665–671.
- Burridge, P. W., Li, Y. F., Matsa, E., Wu, H., Ong, S. G., and Sharma, A. (2016). Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes recapitulate the predilection of breast cancer patients to doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. *Nat. Med.* 22, 547–556. doi: 10.1038/nm.4087
- Chen, J., Wu, H., Yu, Y., and Tang, N. (2020). Pulmonary alveolar regeneration in adult COVID-19 patients. *Cell Res.* 30, 708–710. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0369-7
- Chen, N., Zhou, M., Dong, X., Qu, J., Gong, F., Han, Y., et al. (2020). Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. *Lancet* 395, 507–513. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30211-7
- Chen, R., Wang, K., Yu, J., Howard, D., French, L., Chen, Z., et al. (2020). The Spatial and Cell-Type Distribution of SARS-CoV-2 Receptor ACE2 in the Human and Mouse Brains. *Front. Neurol.* 11:573095. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020. 573095
- Choi, S. W., Shin, J. S., Park, S. J., Jung, E., Park, Y. G., Lee, J., et al. (2020). Antiviral activity and safety of remdesivir against SARS-CoV-2 infection in human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. *Antiviral Res.* 184:104955. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2020.104955
- Dobrindt, K., Hoagland, D. A., Seah, C., Kassim, B., O'Shea, C. P., Murphy, A., et al. (2021). Common Genetic Variation in Humans Impacts In Vitro Susceptibility to SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Stem Cell Rep.* 16, 505–518. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr. 2021.02.010
- Dutta, D., and Clevers, H. (2017). Organoid culture systems to study host-pathogen interactions. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 48, 15–22. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2017.07.012
- Eastman, R. T., Roth, J. S., Brimacombe, K. R., Simeonov, A., Shen, M., Patnaik, S., et al. (2020). Remdesivir: a Review of Its Discovery and Development Leading to Emergency Use Authorization for Treatment of COVID-19. ACS Cent. Sci. 6, 672–683. doi: 10.1021/acscentsci.0c00489
- Ettayebi, K., Crawford, S. E., Murakami, K., Broughman, J. R., Karandikar, U., and Tenge, V. R. (2016). Replication of human noroviruses in stem cell-derived human enteroids. *Science* 353, 1387–1393. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf5211
- Gintant, G., Sager, P. T., and Stockbridge, N. (2016). Evolution of strategies to improve preclinical cardiac safety testing. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 15, 457–471. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2015.34
- Gkogkou, E., Barnasas, G., Vougas, K., and Trougakos, I. P. (2020). Expression profiling meta-analysis of ACE2 and TMPRSS2, the putative anti-inflammatory

receptor and priming protease of SARS-CoV-2 in human cells, and identification of putative modulators. *Redox Biol.* 36:101615. doi: 10.1016/j. redox.2020.101615

- Goineau, S., and Castagné, V. (2017). Proarrhythmic risk assessment using conventional and new in vitro assays. *Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol.* 88, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.yrtph.2017.05.012
- Helms, J., Kremer, S., Merdji, H., Clere-Jehl, R., Schenck, M., Kummerlen, C., et al. (2020). Neurologic Features in Severe SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 382, 2268–2270.
- Hoffmann, M., Kleine-Weber, H., Schroeder, S., Krüger, N., Herrler, T., Erichsen, S., et al. (2020). Drosten and S. Pöhlmann, SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor. *Cell* 181, 271–280.e8.
- Hou, Y. J., Okuda, K., Edwards, C. E., Martinez, D. R., Asakura, T., and Dinnon, K. H. III (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Reverse Genetics Reveals a Variable Infection Gradient in the Respiratory Tract. *Cell* 182, 429–446.e14.
- Huang, C., Wang, Y., Li, X., Ren, L., Zhao, J., Hu, Y., et al. (2020). Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet* 395, 497–506.
- Huang, J., Hume, A. J., Abo, K. M., Werder, R. B., Villacorta-Martin, C., Alysandratos, K. D., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Infection of Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Human Lung Alveolar Type 2 Cells Elicits a Rapid Epithelial-Intrinsic Inflammatory Response. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 962–973.e7.
- Huch, M., Gehart, H., van Boxtel, R., Hamer, K., Blokzijl, F., and Verstegen, M. M. (2015). Long-term culture of genome-stable bipotent stem cells from adult human liver. *Cell* 160, 299–312. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.11.050
- Jacob, F., Pather, S. R., Huang, W. K., Zhang, F., Wong, S. Z. H., Zhou, H., et al. (2020). Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Neural Cells and Brain Organoids Reveal SARS-CoV-2 Neurotropism Predominates in Choroid Plexus Epithelium. Cell Stem Cell 27, 937–950.e9.
- Kim, J., Koo, B. K., and Knoblich, J. A. (2020). Human organoids: model systems for human biology and medicine. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 21, 571–584. doi: 10.1038/s41580-020-0259-3
- Krüger, J., Groß, R., Conzelmann, C., Müller, J. A., Koepke, L., Sparrer, K. M. J., et al. (2021). Drug Inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 Replication in Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Intestinal Organoids. *Cell. Mol. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 11, 935–948. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2020.11.003
- Lamers, M. M., Beumer, J., van der Vaart, J., Knoops, K., Puschhof, J., Breugem, T. I., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 productively infects human gut enterocytes. *Science* 369, 50–54. doi: 10.1126/science.abc1669
- Lamouroux, A., Attie-Bitach, T., Martinovic, J., Leruez-Ville, M., and Ville, Y. (2020). Evidence for and against vertical transmission for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 223, 91.e1–91.e4.
- Lan, F., Lee, A. S., Liang, P., Sanchez-Freire, V., Nguyen, P. K., Wang, L., et al. (2013). Abnormal calcium handling properties underlie familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy pathology in patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 12, 101–113. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.10.010
- Li, Y. C., Bai, W. Z., and Hashikawa, T. (2020). The neuroinvasive potential of SARS-CoV2 may play a role in the respiratory failure of COVID-19 patients. *J. Med. Virol.* 92, 552–555. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25728
- Liu, L., Wei, Q., Alvarez, X., Wang, H., Du, Y., Zhu, H., et al. (2011). Epithelial cells lining salivary gland ducts are early target cells of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection in the upper respiratory tracts of rhesus macaques. J. Virol. 85, 4025–4030. doi: 10.1128/jvi.02292-10
- Long, B., Brady, W. J., Koyfman, A., and Gottlieb, M. (2020). Cardiovascular complications in COVID-19. Am. J. Emerg. Med. 38, 1504–1507.
- Lu, R., Zhao, X., Li, J., Niu, P., Yang, B., Wu, H., et al. (2020). Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. *Lancet* 395, 565–574. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30251-8
- Luo, S., Zhang, X., and Xu, H. (2020). Don't Overlook Digestive Symptoms in Patients With 2019 Novel Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19). *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 18, 1636–1637. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020. 03.043
- Luo, Y., Huang, J., Tang, Y., Luo, X., Ge, L., Sheng, X., et al. (2019). Regional methylome profiling reveals dynamic epigenetic heterogeneity and convergent hypomethylation of stem cell quiescence-associated genes in breast cancer following neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Cell Biosci.* 9:16.

- Luo, Y., Li, J., Zhu, D., Fan, Y., Li, S., and Sun, X. (2014). High-resolution chromosomal microarray analysis of early-stage human embryonic stem cells reveals an association between X chromosome instability and skewed X inactivation. *Cell Biosci* 4:74. doi: 10.1186/2045-3701-4-74
- Luo, Y., Xu, X., An, X., Sun, X., Wang, S., and Zhu, D. (2016). Targeted Inhibition of the miR-199a/214 Cluster by CRISPR Interference Augments the Tumor Tropism of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Neural Stem Cells under Hypoxic Condition. Stem Cells Int. 2016:3598542.
- Luo, Y., and Zhu, D. (2014). Combinatorial control of transgene expression by hypoxia-responsive promoter and microrna regulation for neural stem cellbased cancer therapy. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2014;751397.
- Luo, Y., Zhu, D., Du, R., Gong, Y., Xie, C., Xu, X., et al. (2015a). Uniparental disomy of the entire X chromosome in Turner syndrome patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. *Cell Discov.* 1:15022.
- Luo, Y., Zhu, D., Lam, D. H., Huang, J., Tang, Y., Luo, X., et al. (2015b). A Double-Switch Cell Fusion-Inducible Transgene Expression System for Neural Stem Cell-Based Antiglioma Gene Therapy. *Stem Cells Int.* 2015:649080.
- Luo, Y., Zhu, D., Xu, X., Ge, L., Sun, X., Chen, G., et al. (2018). Generation of an induced pluripotent stem cell line from an adult male with 45,X/46,XY mosaicism. Stem Cell Res 27, 42–45. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2018.01.003
- Luo, Y., Zhu, D., Zhang, Z., Chen, Y., and Sun, X. (2015c). Integrative Analysis of CRISPR/Cas9 Target Sites in the Human HBB Gene. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015:514709.
- Madjid, M., Safavi-Naeini, P., Solomon, S. D., and Vardeny, O. (2020). Potential Effects of Coronaviruses on the Cardiovascular System: a Review. JAMA Cardiol. 5, 831–840. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.1286
- Ma-Lauer, Y., Carbajo-Lozoya, J., Hein, M. Y., Müller, M. A., Deng, W., Lei, J., et al. (2016). p53 down-regulates SARS coronavirus replication and is targeted by the SARS-unique domain and PLpro via E3 ubiquitin ligase RCHY1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 113, E5192–E5201.
- Mao, L., Jin, H., Wang, M., Hu, Y., Chen, S., He, Q., et al. (2020). Neurologic Manifestations of Hospitalized Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Neurol. 77, 683–690. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1127
- Marshall, M. (2020). The lasting misery of coronavirus long-haulers. *Nature* 585, 339–341. doi: 10.1038/d41586-020-02598-6
- Milewska, A., Kula-Pacurar, A., Wadas, J., Suder, A., Szczepanski, A., Dabrowska, A., et al. (2020). Replication of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 in Human Respiratory Epithelium. *J. Virol.* 94, e00957–20.
- Mitcheson, J. S., Hancox, J. C., and Levi, A. J. (1998). Cultured adult cardiac myocytes: future applications, culture methods, morphological and electrophysiological properties. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 39, 280–300. doi: 10.1016/ s0008-6363(98)00128-x
- Mithal, A., Hume, A. J., Lindstrom-Vautrin, J., Villacorta-Martin, C., Olejnik, J., Bullitt, E., et al. (2021). Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Intestinal Organoids Model SARS-CoV-2 Infection Revealing a Common Epithelial Inflammatory Response. *Stem Cell Rep.* 16, 940–953. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr. 2021.02.019
- Moreno, L., and Pearson, A. D. (2013). How can attrition rates be reduced in cancer drug discovery? *Expert. Opin. Drug Discov.* 8, 363–368. doi: 10.1517/17460441. 2013.768984
- Moriguchi, T., Harii, N., Goto, J., Harada, D., Sugawara, H., Takamino, J., et al. (2020). A first case of meningitis/encephalitis associated with SARS-Coronavirus-2. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* 94, 55–58.
- Mulay, A., Konda, B., Garcia, G. Jr., Yao, C., Beil, S., Villalba, J. M., et al. (2021). SARS-CoV-2 infection of primary human lung epithelium for COVID-19 modeling and drug discovery. *Cell Rep.* 35:109055. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021. 109055
- Nie, Y. Z., Zheng, Y. W., Miyakawa, K., Murata, S., Zhang, R. R., and Sekine, K. (2018). Recapitulation of hepatitis B virus-host interactions in liver organoids from human induced pluripotent stem cells. *EBioMedicine* 35, 114–123. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.08.014
- Ong, J., Young, B. E., and Ong, S. (2020). COVID-19 in gastroenterology: a clinical perspective. *Gut* 69, 1144–1145. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321051
- Pei, R., Feng, J., Zhang, Y., Sun, H., Li, L., Yang, X., et al. (2020). Host metabolism dysregulation and cell tropism identification in human airway and alveolar organoids upon SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Protein Cell* [Epub Online ahead of print]. doi: 10.1007/s13238-020-00811-w

- Pellegrini, L., Albecka, A., Mallery, D. L., Kellner, M. J., Paul, D., Carter, A. P., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Infects the Brain Choroid Plexus and Disrupts the Blood-CSF Barrier in Human Brain Organoids. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 951–961.e5.
- Phipson, B., Er, P. X., Combes, A. N., Forbes, T. A., Howden, S. E., Zappia, L., et al. (2019). Evaluation of variability in human kidney organoids. *Nat. Methods* 16, 79–87. doi: 10.1038/s41592-018-0253-2
- Puelles, V. G., Lütgehetmann, M., Lindenmeyer, M. T., Sperhake, J. P., Wong, M. N., Allweiss, L., et al. (2020). Multiorgan and Renal Tropism of SARS-CoV-2. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 383, 590–592.
- Qian, Z., Travanty, E. A., Oko, L., Edeen, K., Berglund, A., Wang, J., et al. (2013). Innate immune response of human alveolar type II cells infected with severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 48, 742–748. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2012-03390c
- Ramani, A., Müller, L., Ostermann, P. N., Gabriel, E., Abida-Islam, P., and Müller-Schiffmann, A. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 targets neurons of 3D human brain organoids. *EMBO J.* 39:e106230.
- Sala, L., Bellin, M., and Mummery, C. L. (2017). Integrating cardiomyocytes from human pluripotent stem cells in safety pharmacology: has the time come? *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 174, 3749–3765. doi: 10.1111/bph.13577
- Sato, T., Stange, D. E., Ferrante, M., Vries, R. G., Van Es, J. H., Van den Brink, S., et al. (2011). Long-term expansion of epithelial organoids from human colon, adenoma, adenocarcinoma, and Barrett's epithelium. *Gastroenterology* 141, 1762–1772. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.07.050
- Sharma, A., Burridge, P. W., McKeithan, W. L., Serrano, R., Shukla, P., Sayed, N., et al. (2017). High-throughput screening of tyrosine kinase inhibitor cardiotoxicity with human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 9:eaaf2584. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf2584
- Sharma, A., Marceau, C., Hamaguchi, R., Burridge, P. W., Rajarajan, K., Churko, J. M., et al. (2014). Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes as an in vitro model for coxsackievirus B3-induced myocarditis and antiviral drug screening platform. *Circ. Res.* 115, 556–566. doi: 10.1161/ circresaha.115.303810
- Shi, R., Shan, C., Duan, X., Chen, Z., Liu, P., Song, J., et al. (2020). A human neutralizing antibody targets the receptor-binding site of SARS-CoV-2. *Nature* 584, 120–124.
- Shi, S., Qin, M., Shen, B., Cai, Y., Liu, T., Yang, F., et al. (2020). Association of Cardiac Injury With Mortality in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Cardiol. 5, 802–810. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.0950
- Simoneau, C. R., and Ott, M. (2020). Modeling Multi-organ Infection by SARS-CoV-2 Using Stem Cell Technology. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 859–868. doi: 10.1016/j. stem.2020.11.012
- Steardo, L., Steardo, L. Jr., Zorec, R., and Verkhratsky, A. (2020). Neuroinfection may contribute to pathophysiology and clinical manifestations of COVID-19. *Acta Physiol.* 229:e13473.
- Takayama, K. (2020). In Vitro and Animal Models for SARS-CoV-2 research. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 41, 513–517. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2020.05.005
- Wang, F., Wang, H., Fan, J., Zhang, Y., Wang, H., and Zhao, Q. (2020). Pancreatic Injury Patterns in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 19 Pneumonia. *Gastroenterology* 159, 367–370. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.03.055
- Wang, M., Cao, R., Zhang, L., Yang, X., Liu, J., Xu, M., et al. (2020). Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. *Cell Res.* 30, 269–271. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0282-0
- Wei, X. S., Wang, X., Niu, Y. R., Ye, L. L., Peng, W. B., Wang, Z. H., et al. (2020). Diarrhea Is Associated With Prolonged Symptoms and Viral Carriage in Corona Virus Disease 2019. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 18, 1753–1759.e2.
- Xiao, F., Tang, M., Zheng, X., Liu, Y., Li, X., and Shan, H. (2020). Evidence for Gastrointestinal Infection of SARS-CoV-2. *Gastroenterology* 158, 1831– 1833.e3.
- Yang, L., Han, Y., Nilsson-Payant, B. E., Gupta, V., Wang, P., and Duan, X. (2020). A Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-based Platform to Study SARS-CoV-2 Tropism and Model Virus Infection in Human Cells and Organoids. Cell Stem Cell 27, 125–136.e7.
- Yu, F., Jia, R., Tang, Y., Liu, J., and Wei, B. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 infection and stem cells: interaction and intervention. *Stem Cell Res.* 46:101859. doi: 10.1016/j.scr. 2020.101859
- Yu, J. (2021). Organoids: a New Model for SARS-CoV-2 Translational Research. Int. J. Stem Cells 14, 138–149. doi: 10.15283/ijsc20169

- Yu, J., Vodyanik, M. A., Smuga-Otto, K., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Frane, J. L., Tian, S., et al. (2007). Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. *Science* 318, 1917–1920.
- Zang, R., Castro, M.F. Gomez, McCune, B. T., Zeng, Q., Rothlauf, P. W., Sonnek, N. M., et al. (2020). TMPRSS2 and TMPRSS4 promote SARS-CoV-2 infection of human small intestinal enterocytes. *Sci. Immunol.* 5:eabc3582. doi: 10.1126/ sciimmunol.abc3582
- Zhang, B. Z., Chu, H., Han, S., Shuai, H., Deng, J., Hu, Y. F., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 infects human neural progenitor cells and brain organoids. *Cell Res.* 30, 928–931. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0390-x
- Zhao, B., Ni, C., Gao, R., Wang, Y., Yang, L., Wei, J., et al. (2020). Recapitulation of SARS-CoV-2 infection and cholangiocyte damage with human liver ductal organoids. *Protein Cell* 11, 771–775.
- Zhou, H., Liu, L. P., Fang, M., Li, Y. M., and Zheng, Y. W. (2020). A potential ex vivo infection model of human induced pluripotent stem cell-3D organoids beyond coronavirus disease 2019. *Histol. Histopathol.* 35, 1077–1082.
- Zhu, D., Chen, C., Purwanti, Y. I., Du, S., Lam, D. H., Wu, C., et al. (2014). Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural stem cells transduced with baculovirus encoding CD40 ligand for immunogene therapy in mouse models of breast cancer. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 25, 747–758. doi: 10.1089/hum.2013.160
- Zhu, D., Lam, D. H., Purwanti, Y. I., Goh, S. L., Wu, C., Zeng, J., et al. (2013). Systemic delivery of fusogenic membrane glycoprotein-expressing neural stem cells to selectively kill tumor cells. *Mol. Ther.* 21, 1621–1630. doi: 10.1038/mt. 2013.123
- Zhu, D., Rostami, M. R., Zuo, W. L., Leopold, P. L., and Crystal, R. G. (2020). Single-Cell Transcriptome Analysis of Mouse Liver Cell-Specific Tropism

and Transcriptional Dysregulation Following Intravenous Administration of AAVrh.10 Vectors. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 31, 590–604. doi: 10.1089/hum.2019.366

- Zhu, D., Zhao, Z., Cui, G., Chang, S., Hu, L., See, Y. X., et al. (2018). Single-Cell Transcriptome Analysis Reveals Estrogen Signaling Coordinately Augments One-Carbon, Polyamine, and Purine Synthesis in Breast Cancer. Cell Rep. 25, 2285–2298.e4.
- Zhu, N., Zhang, D., Wang, W., Li, X., Yang, B., Song, J., et al. (2020). A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. N. Engl. J. Med. 382, 727–733.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Luo, Zhang, Chen, Chen and Zhu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Immunopathology and Immunosenescence, the Immunological Key Words of Severe COVID-19. Is There a Role for Stem Cell Transplantation?

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Center for Biomedical Research Network of Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Diseases (CIBERDEM), Spain

Reviewed by:

Bernat Soria, Miguel Hernández University of Elche, Spain Pietro Gentile, Tor Vergata University of Rome, Italy

*Correspondence:

Calogero Caruso calogero.caruso@unipa.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

[‡]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 16 June 2021 Accepted: 06 August 2021 Published: 14 September 2021

Citation:

Ligotti ME, Pojero F, Accardi G, Aiello A, Caruso C, Duro G and Candore G (2021) Immunopathology and Immunosenescence, the Immunological Key Words of Severe COVID-19. Is There a Role for Stem Cell Transplantation? Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:725606. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.725606 Mattia Emanuela Ligotti^{1,2†}, Fanny Pojero^{1†}, Giulia Accardi¹, Anna Aiello¹, Calogero Caruso^{1,3*}, Giovanni Duro^{2‡} and Giuseppina Candore^{1‡}

¹ Laboratory of Immunopathology and Immunosenescence, Department of Biomedicine, Neurosciences and Advanced Diagnostics, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ² Institute for Biomedical Research and Innovation, National Research Council of Italy, Palermo, Italy, ³ International Society on Aging and Disease, Fort Worth, TX, United States

The outcomes of Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) vary depending on the age, health status and sex of an individual, ranging from asymptomatic to lethal. From an immunologic viewpoint, the final severe lung damage observed in COVID-19 should be caused by cytokine storm, driven mainly by interleukin-6 and other pro-inflammatory cytokines. However, which immunopathogenic status precedes this "cytokine storm" and why the male older population is more severely affected, are currently unanswered questions. The aging of the immune system, i.e., immunosenescence, closely associated with a low-grade inflammatory status called "inflammageing," should play a key role. The remodeling of both innate and adaptive immune response observed with aging can partly explain the age gradient in severity and mortality of COVID-19. This review discusses how aging impacts the immune system with stem cell-based therapies. Indeed, due to immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory properties, multipotent mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are a worth-considering option against COVID-19 adverse outcomes.

Keywords: COVID-19, cytokine storm, immunopathology, immunosenescence, stem cell transplantation

INTRODUCTION

From December 2019 onwards, SARS coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection spread across the globe so rapidly that, on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) a global pandemic. While the pandemic is still in progress, the global scientific and medical community is focusing its resources on developing both anti-COVID-19 vaccines and therapeutic drugs, in order to gain control over the quick spread of this novel coronavirus.

SARS-CoV-2 is a *Betacoronavirus* of the *Coronaviridae* family that, like the other respiratory coronaviruses, is transmitted primarily via respiratory droplets, preferentially infecting lung alveolar epithelial cells using the human angiotensin-converting enzyme II (ACE2) as an entry

receptor and the transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2), which cleaves viral spike, for priming (Hoffmann et al., 2020; Wan et al., 2020).

This virus may infect people regardless of age, sex, and ethnicity but with different symptomatic presentation and outcomes. Indeed, clinical manifestations can range from being mild to severe respiratory disease, with a mean incubation period of approximately 5 days before first symptoms onset (Lauer et al., 2020; Li Q. et al., 2020; McAloon et al., 2020).

Fever, fatigue and dry cough are the most common symptoms in patients with mild or moderate disease. Severe characteristic symptoms include pneumonia, dyspnoea and subsequently acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) that requires intensive care unit (ICU) admission with intubation and mechanical ventilation and can be fatal. In some cases, infected patients can present as either asymptomatic or paucisymptomatic, with little or no clinical manifestations (Baj et al., 2020; Chen N. et al., 2020; Gao Z. et al., 2021).

Although the majority of COVID-19 cases are mild symptomatic with a moderate case-fatality rate (Fu L. et al., 2020), older patients are at higher risk of getting severe COVID-19 disease, including hospitalization, and death (Wu and McGoogan, 2020). Last April, there were 140,322,903 confirmed COVID-19 cases and 3,003,794 deaths reported worldwide (World Health Organization, 2021), while in Italy, 3,870,131 total cases of COVID-19 and 116,927 deaths have been registered (Ministero della Salute, 2021). As of March 31, 2021, almost 86% of SARS-CoV-2 positive Italian patients that died were patients over 70 years old, with a mean age of 81 years and a median of 82 years (range 0-109), more than 30 years higher than that registered in infected people (median age 47; 51.2% females, 48.8% males) (Epicentro. Istituto Superiore di Sanità, 2021). Disease severity in older patients is due to not only the viral infection but also to host-related factors that make the individual particularly vulnerable to more severe outcomes of the infection.

An optimal model for identifying the host factors involved in susceptibility and/or protection to SARS-CoV-2 infection is represented by the centenarians, i.e., subjects who have reached ten or more decades of life, escaping the common age-related diseases. Their ability to repair damages and respond well to stressors is due to a combination of "positive features," including intrinsic (genetic), extrinsic (environmental), and stochastic factors. Chance and life circumstances, nutrition, physical activity, and environmental exposures, pathogen burden and biology, with sex, genetic and epigenetic factors are all factors that may contribute to the longevity phenotype (Caruso, 2019). As a result, centenarians exhibit an optimal performance of the immune system, which contributes to their surprising tendency to recover from COVID-19 and complications (Lio et al., 2021). On the other hand, since the immune response to SARS-CoV-2 involves both innate and acquired immunity, dysregulation of the immune system has important consequences for the ability of the immune system to mount an effective response against the pathogen. Therefore, the remodeling of the immune response observed with aging can partly explain the age gradient in severity and mortality of COVID-19 (Cunha et al., 2020). In this context, the favorable prognosis and less severe signs on admission when

hospitalized observed in young people may depend on an efficient acquired immune response against the virus (Gómez-Belda et al., 2021). On the other hand, the older immune system exhibits both cellular and humoral responses that are not efficient enough to limit infection and innate responses that are more prone to uncontrolled activation (Cunha et al., 2020). Various age-related quantitative and qualitative impairments have been reported in both innate and acquired immune responses, and they are commonly known as "immunosenescence." Reduction in the ability to respond to new antigens, attributed to insufficient production of naïve immune cells, and increased memory responses, due to the lifelong antigen-exposure during persistent viral infections, have been associated with immunosenescence (Brunner et al., 2011; Aiello et al., 2019). With advancing age, there is gradual atrophy of the thymus, responsible for the development and selection of immunocompetent T cells (Kurd and Robey, 2016). This phenomenon, called thymic involution, involves structural changes in tissue mass and cellularity, as well as functional decline, ultimately resulting in a significantly decreased thymic output of naïve T cells, important for the response to novel pathogens that have not yet been encountered, contributing to shrinkage of the T cell diversity repertoire (Palmer, 2013). Since SARS-CoV-2 is a novel coronavirus with seemingly no prior sensitization, the naïve T cell decline caused by thymic involution might contribute to the increased vulnerability to severe COVID-19 outcomes in the older population, as well as reduced vaccination efficiency (Genebat et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021).

Another characteristic of the older immune system is the presence of a chronic, low-grade inflammation, called inflammageing (Franceschi and Campisi, 2014), associated with increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, acute phase proteins, and oxidative stress (Fulop et al., 2018; Aiello et al., 2019). Inflammageing is considered one of the main risk factors for many age-related degenerative diseases and is caused by several factors, including life-long antigenic stimulation of the innate immune system by chronic infections, senescent cells and their senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) (De Martinis et al., 2005; Hearps et al., 2012; Franceschi and Campisi, 2014). As a consequence, there is an increase in serum inflammatory mediators with age, including interleukin (IL)-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , IL-1, and C-reactive protein (CRP) (Franceschi and Campisi, 2014; Barbé-Tuana et al., 2020). This inflammatory environment could exacerbate the immune response to the SARS-CoV-2. It has previously been seen that a dysregulated and excessive inflammatory response is responsible for sub-optimal T cells, antibody responses and impaired virus clearance which ultimately lead to worsening of SARS-CoV-1 and MERS-CoV infections, discovered in November 2002 and June 2012 respectively, with approximately 80 and 50% genetic similarity with SARS-CoV-2 respectively (To et al., 2013; Channappanavar and Perlman, 2017; Rabaan et al., 2020). Similarly, in SARS-CoV-2 infection, uncontrolled inflammation leads to severe and irreversible multi-organ damage, especially on the cardiac, hepatic and renal systems (Tian et al., 2020).

In the early phases of infection occurring in the respiratory tract, SARS-CoV-2 infected cells produce damage-associated

molecular patterns (DAMP), such as ATP and nucleic acids, which are recognized by neighboring epithelial cells, endothelial cells and alveolar macrophages. This triggers the production of various pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, allowing the recruitment of innate and acquired immune cells to the site of infection, including T cells (Tay et al., 2020; Ortega et al., 2021). In a healthy immune system, this initial inflammation recruits and activates virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells that kill the infected cells before the virus spreads, indirectly via induction of neutralizing antibody production o directly by inducing apoptosis, respectively. In a dysfunctional immune response, the accumulation of immune cells in the lungs can lead to the overproduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines, causing local cell and tissue damage with systemic implications (Tay et al., 2020). Considering that some cytokines can be both helpful in controlling the infection progression and harmful to the host, it is not easy to define a border between a regulated and a dysregulated response to a severe infection. Elevated levels of circulating cytokines, known as "cytokine storm," were reported in COVID-19 patients, with variability in onset and duration in the early stages of infection but with convergent and often overlapping late-stage clinical manifestations (Fajgenbaum and June, 2020).

SARS-CoV-2 can infect also monocytes and macrophages through ACE2, by receptor-mediated endocytosis, and independently on ACE2, by pattern recognition receptors (PPRs), mechanisms. That results in their activation and secretion of large amounts of pro-inflammatory mediators, which contribute to local tissue and systemic inflammation (Jafarzadeh et al., 2020; Moore and June, 2020). Thus, in a scenario where the SARS-CoV-2 infection itself causes an excessive and uncontrolled systemic release of proinflammatory cytokines, the inflammageing process can aggravate this condition, amplifying inflammatory events and favoring the insurgence of ARDS, multiple organ failure, and finally death in severe COVID-19 older patients (Meftahi et al., 2020). For these reasons, it could be suggested that early identification of individuals at higher risk of virus-induced cytokine storm could help to determine the most effective treatment to prevent irreversible organ damage contributing to the relatively high mortality in older COVID-19 patients.

Also, it has been hypothesized that the accumulation of highly differentiated T cells with senescence-like features, together with inflammageing, may contribute to the destruction of lung tissue observed in severe COVID-19 patients (Akbar and Gilroy, 2020). Several studies have shown an expansion of senescent T cells in old individuals, driven by ongoing subclinical responses to chronic or persistent infections (Pawelec, 2018). These senescent T cells can express the natural killer cell receptors (NKRs) and can infiltrate into various tissues including the lung, acting as natural killer (NK) cells, thus promoting cytotoxicity against cells that expressed NKR ligands without prior antigen-specific priming (Pereira et al., 2020). According to this hypothesis, inflammation induced by SARS-CoV-2 infection in the lungs, hypothetically exacerbated by inflammatory monocytes infiltrated, would induce the expression of NKR ligands by epithelial cells of the host respiratory tract and

lungs, and these may be recognized and killed by NK-like T cells (Akbar and Gilroy, 2020).

The severity of the disease, therefore, seems to depend primarily on the age and immune dysfunction. Nevertheless, these alone may still not be sufficient to explain the highest number of CFR in over 70 years population in South Korea, Spain, China, and Italy (Our World in data, 2021). Another important risk factor associated with the complications of COVID-19 is the presence of comorbidities, such as arterial hypertension, diabetes, and obesity, and older people are more likely to have these conditions (Guo L. et al., 2020; Li X. et al., 2020; Peña et al., 2020; Fresán et al., 2021). Many reports have confirmed the association between comorbidities and COVID-19 severity (Gao Y. D. et al., 2021), although it should be kept in mind that their high prevalence in the older population could be a confounding factor. The role of genetics is under scrutiny (Pojero et al., 2021).

In addition to all these risk factors, there is growing evidence of sex differences in severity and mortality of COVID-19. Specifically, when the fatality rate was stratified for gender, it was seen that males accounted for the majority of COVID-19 deaths with similar pieces of evidence in different countries (Alkhouli et al., 2020; Heras et al., 2020; Jin et al., 2020; Pradhan and Olsson, 2020; Sha et al., 2021). In Italy, the spread of COVID-19 has hit females (51.2%) slightly more than males (48.8%). However, data suggest that the mortality rate was higher for males than it was for females. Among all age groups, female Italian patients who died with complications associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection represented 43.9% and were older than men (median age: females 86 years, males 80 years). The mortality rate for female patients was 2.6%, while for male patients was 3.5% (Epicentro. Istituto Superiore di Sanità, 2021). This gender discrepancy of COVID-19-related morbidity and mortality can be attributed to a combination of biological sex differences, including differences in sex hormones involved in inflammatory processes and in expression levels of ACE2 and TMPRSS2, but literature data are not yet coherent (Gebhard et al., 2020; Haitao et al., 2020).

The role of sex hormones in immune responses has already been extensively investigated (Moulton, 2018; Márquez et al., 2020b; Fathi et al., 2021). Females show higher levels of estrogen and progesterone, with considerable fluctuations throughout the life span, while testosterone is more expressed in males, and these hormonal differences are assumed to play an important role in the innate and acquired immune responses (Fathi et al., 2021). For example, there is a large body of evidence for the role of estrogen in B cell development and activation and in various functions of T cells, in particular CD4+ T cells (T helper or TH) including differentiation, activation, cytokine production, homeostasis, and regulatory functions (Moulton, 2018). Estrogens have also been implicated in the homeostasis and activation of plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), key cells in antiviral immunity. Human female pDCs produce significantly higher interferon (IFN)- α levels in response to viral nucleic acids or Toll-like receptor (TLR) 7 agonists than pDCs derived from males, resulting in stronger secondary activation of CD8+ T cells (T cytotoxic or CTL) with impact on viral infection response (Berghöfer et al., 2006; Meier et al., 2009). The stronger responses observed in females result in faster pathogen clearance and a better response to vaccines, but could also be responsible for greater susceptibility to autoimmune diseases, considering that 80% of systemic autoimmune disorders occurring in females (Klein and Flanagan, 2016). In comparison to estrogens, several studies reported that exposure to androgens induces suppression of immune reactivity, affecting different immune cell subsets (Gubbels Bupp and Jorgensen, 2018). Detailed analysis on the sex differences in immune phenotype in SARS-CoV-2 infection has detected that, although plasma levels of many inflammatory cytokines and chemokines were generally elevated in patients, IL-8, IL-18, and CCL5 levels were significantly higher in male compared to female patients (Takahashi et al., 2020), suggesting a high risk of the cytokine storm.

It has also been proposed that the high plasma levels of ACE2 observed in males may partly explain their increased susceptibility to SARS-CoV-2 infection (Sama et al., 2020), although another study reported no differences in ACE2 expression in various human tissues between males and females or between young and old people (Li M. Y. et al., 2020). Similarly, an association between increased COVID-19 severity in males and expression of TMPRSS2, which is involved in cellular entry of the virus, has been theorized. TMPRSS2 gene expression is modulated by the androgen receptor signaling and increases following exposure to androgens (Lin et al., 1999). The upregulated TMPRSS2 expression in response to androgens could explain the sex-discrepancy in COVID-19 outcomes (Mjaess et al., 2020).

Therefore, immunosenescence, inflammageing (i.e., immunopathology), comorbidities, as well as male gender, play an important role in contributing to increased vulnerability to severe SARS-CoV-2 infection outcomes in older adults. Thus, the heterogeneity of patients makes it difficult to identify a consensus COVID-19 immune signature. In addition, some variability in the parameters used to classify the severity of COVID-19 could contribute to making it more difficult to compare the findings. However, understanding the immunological status prior to encountering the novel virus and how this is affected during infection provides interesting targets for better understanding the pathogenesis and treatment of SARS-CoV-2 infection.

In this review, we provide a detailed assessment of how aging impacts the immune response to the virus, providing when possible a parallelism with COVID-19-induced immune changes, focusing on possible strategies to rejuvenate the immune system with stem cell-based therapies. Indeed, due to immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory properties, multipotent mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are a worthconsidering option against COVID-19 adverse outcomes (Moradinasab et al., 2021).

CYTOKINE STORM IN COVID-19 DISEASE

Several analyses of the cytokine profile from COVID-19 patients have correlated the cytokine storm with lung tissue damage,

multi-organ failure, and disease severity. Cellular origins of this large amount of cytokines is difficult to identify since SARS-CoV-2 infection requires the engagement of several immune cells, including the innate macrophages, dendritic cells, natural killer cells, and T and B lymphocytes (Ragab et al., 2020). It was reported significantly increased plasma levels of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1β, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, interferon (IFN)- γ , and TNF- α in patients with COVID-19 than in healthy adults, but similar levels of IL-5, IL12p70, and IL-15. In addition, severe cases admitted to the ICU have shown higher plasma concentrations of IL-2, IL-7, IL-10, TNFα, and other cytokines and chemokines than non-ICU patients (Huang et al., 2020). Levels of IL-6, mediator of the acute inflammatory response, and C-reactive protein (CRP), nonspecific marker of inflammation, in these patients continue to increase over time and is significantly associated with ARDS and death in COVID-19 patients (Herold et al., 2020; Ruan et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2020; Zhou F. et al., 2020). Also analysis in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid, a source of information of the microenvironment on bronchioles and lung alveoli, have shown higher levels of inflammatory cytokines, including IL-8, IL-6, and IL-1β, in severe cases compared to patients with moderate COVID-19 infection (Liao et al., 2020). When compared to survivor recovered patients, remarkably higher serum levels of IL-2R, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and TNF- α at admission were found in COVID-19 deceased patients, with a rapid increase during hospitalization, reinforcing the idea that dynamics of these cytokines and related receptors were highly associated with disease outcome (Cui et al., 2020). Likewise, it is reasonable to assume that the appropriate production of anti-inflammatory cytokines can counterbalance the systemic inflammation that occurs after infection. In male centenarians, it has been observed overexpression of anti-inflammatory variants in immune/inflammatory genes that could protect them from damaging effects of the cytokine storm associated with COVID-19 disease (Lio et al., 2021). Thus, cytokine storm prevention and control may be a crucial strategy in the treatment of COVID-19 patients. In line with that, it was proposed different antiinflammatory strategies, in order to avoid or at least alleviate the cytokine storm. Among these, the use of IL-37 and IL-38 was suggested as potential therapeutic cytokines capable of inhibiting IL-1β and IL-6 (Conti et al., 2020).

INNATE IMMUNITY: NATURAL KILLER (NK) CELLS

Natural killer cells are large granular lymphocytes, which play an important role in the host first line of defense against viral targets, via cell-mediated cytotoxicity mechanisms (CD56lowCD16+ subset) and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (CD56hiCD16- subset). Among cytokines secreted by NK cells there are IFN- γ , with both antiviral and immune enhancing capabilities, TNF- α and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) that can modulate the function of other innate and acquired immune cells (Mirandola et al., 2004; Paul and Lal, 2017). Thus, in addition to directly lysing the infected cell, NK cells are able to activate and mobilize other immune cells, including DCs, involved in the early stages of infection. Evidence of the critical role of NK cells in limiting viral infection prior to the induction of acquired immune responses has been provided by clinical studies of individuals who are deficient in NK cells and/or their functions, leading to current infections by viral pathogens (Orange, 2013). Likewise, changes in NK cell count, phenotype, and functions during aging may have a direct impact on COVID-19 disease progression.

Although less consistently than T cells (see below), NK cell numbers are reduced in COVID-19 patients, particularly evident in severe cases compared with mild disease patients and healthy controls (Jiang et al., 2020; Zheng M. et al., 2020; Belaid et al., 2021; Taghiloo et al., 2021), and their functional exhaustion was correlated with disease progression (Zheng M. et al., 2020). Single-cell analyses of bronchoalveolar samples of patients with COVID-19 have shown the presence of NK cells in the immune cell population analyzed, suggesting NK cell trafficking into the site of infection (Chua et al., 2020; Liao et al., 2020). Cytotoxic CD56low NK cells were depleted mainly in patients requiring mechanical ventilation, whereas cytokine-secreting CD56hi NK cells were significantly depleted in all COVID-19 patients (Wilk et al., 2020; Table 1).

Conversely, an increase in peripheral NK cell frequency and absolute cell count has been observed with advancing age, with a decreasing fraction and cytokines production of CD56hi NK cell subset and an expansion of CD56low NK cells (Solana et al., 2014; Gounder et al., 2018). Whether this correlates with disease severity in the older person is unclear.

Additionally, NK cell cytotoxic and secretory functions are tightly regulated by a dynamic balance between activating

TABLE 1 Observed fluctuation in NK cells in adult COVID-19 natients

and inhibitory signals from an arsenal of membrane receptors, including killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs), randomly generated during NK cell differentiation and maturation (Vidal et al., 2011). Specific KIR/ligand interactions seem to be associated with COVID-19 disease severity as demonstrated in a very recent paper (Bernal et al., 2021) and by preliminary results from our ongoing study (unpublished observations).

OTHER CELLS OF INNATE IMMUNITY: DENDRITIC CELLS (DCS), MONOCYTES, MACROPHAGES, NEUTROPHILS, AND MYELOID DERIVED SUPPRESSOR CELLS (MDSCS)

In addition to NK cells, there are other important players of the innate immune system that provide the host's first line of defense to the virus. Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) expressed on innate immune cells, such as DCs and macrophages, recognize and bind surface viral epitopes, leading to anti-pathogen responses. The activation of these cells by the virus leads secretion of several inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, which activate and recruit other immune cells generating a positive feedback loop of inflammation (Pérez-Galarza et al., 2021). Aging alters also these actors involved in innate immunity in terms of both number/percentage and functionality, with different quantitative and qualitative consequences for DCs, monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils and myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (Agrawal et al., 2017; Ventura et al., 2017; Oh et al., 2019; Feng et al., 2021). These changes in immune response may

NK cell subsets	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References	
CD16+CD56+	Reduction (%)	Deceased	Survivors	Cui et al., 2020	
	Reduction (#)	Deceased	Survivors	Cui et al., 2020; Belaid et al., 202	
	Reduction (#)	Pneumonia patients	HD	Wang F. et al., 2020	
	No change (#)	Severe ^η	Mild	Wang F. et al., 2020	
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	$Mild^{\zeta}$ /moderate ^{θ}	Belaid et al., 2021	
	Reduction (#)	Cases	HD	Jiang et al., 2020	
CD16+	No change (%)	Cases	HD	Taghiloo et al., 2021	
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	Mild [¢]	Taghiloo et al., 2021	
CD56+	No change (%)	Cases	HD	Taghiloo et al., 2021	
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	Mild ^ç	Taghiloo et al., 2021	
CD56low	Reduction (%)	Critical ^L	HD	Wilk et al., 2020	
CD56hi	Reduction (%)	Cases	HD	Wilk et al., 2020	
BAL NK cells	Reduction (%)	Severe ⁿ /Critical ^L	Moderate ^θ	Liao et al., 2020	
	Increase (%)	Moderate ^θ	HD	Liao et al., 2020	

NK cell subset, peripheral blood NK cell subset analyzed in the reported studies; BAL, bronchoalveolar lavage; (%), as frequency values; (#), as absolute number; Cases, COVID-19 patients (irrespective of severity); HD, healthy donors.

⁵Patients with clinical signs of pneumonia with one of the following: respiratory rate > 30 breaths/min, severe respiratory distress, or SpO₂ < 90% on room air.

¹¹Patients experiencing the following: respiratory failure, respiratory rate > 30 bpm, oxygen saturation < 93% at rest, arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂)/fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) (PaO₂/FiO₂) ratio < 300 mmHg.

 $^{\theta}$ Fever, signs of airway disease, with or without a tomographic image indicating pneumonia.

Any of the following: requirement for mechanical ventilation, shock, or concomitant organ failure.
have an important impact in first phases of viral replication. In the following sections, we will discuss specific alterations in the other innate immunity cells in COVID-19 patients recalling those observed in the older immune system.

Although a clear difference in terms of severity and mortality was demonstrated comparing female and male COVID-19 patients as anticipated, to the best of our knowledge no study deeply explored sex related differences in SARS-CoV-2 infection as regards innate immunity.

Dendritic Cells (DCs)

Dendritic cells are important immune cells, specialized to uptake, process and present antigen to naïve T cells, thus linking innate and acquired immunity. After pathogen internalization through recognition by PRRs, including TLRs, DCs process and present viral peptides to T cells via human leukocyte antigens (HLA)-T cell receptor (TCR) interaction, leading to activation of T cells.

Peripheral DCs are historically classified into three subsets based on their phenotype and functional characteristics: two subsets of myeloid DCs (mDCs) and one subset of plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs). The CD141+ mDC subset, named also myeloid (conventional) DC1 (cDC1), and CD1c+ mDCs, or cDC2, is both the primary source of IL-12, driving a TH1 response, but these cells are also able to secrete IL-6 and TNF-α. CD123+ pDCs, instead, produce high amounts of type I IFNs, critical for antiviral response (Collin et al., 2013; Mathan et al., 2013). An additional subset of DCs, called slanDCs, was identified by the use of M-DC8 monoclonal antibody, directed against the 6-sulfo LacNAc1 -slan- carbohydrate modification of P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1. These cells are highly proficient in secreting inflammatory cytokines in both autoimmunity and infections (Schäkel et al., 1998; Dutertre et al., 2012; Günther et al., 2012; Hänsel et al., 2011, 2013; Tufa et al., 2014, 2016; Micheletti et al., 2016; Iannetta et al., 2019).

As regards the involvement of DCs in determining SARS-CoV-2 infection susceptibility and COVID-19 severity, experimental data demonstrated that TLR7 plays a critical role through viral single-stranded RNA recognition in the

DC type	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References
DCs	Reduction (%)	Hospitalized	HD	Zhou R. et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Convalescent	HD	Zhou R. et al., 2020
CD11c+ cDCs	Reduction (%)	Hospitalized	Convalescent	Zhou R. et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)/	Severe/Critical ⁺	HD	Matic et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)/	Severe/Critical+	Mild/Moderate ^{&}	Matic et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Mild ^{\$}	Convalescent	Neeland et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Mild/Moderate ^{&}	HD	Matic et al., 2020
CD123-CD11c+ myeloid DCs	Reduction (%)	Pneumonia	HD	Zingaropoli et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	ARDS	non-ARDS	Zingaropoli et al., 2021
CD11c+ slanDCs	Reduction (%)	Pneumonia	HD	Zingaropoli et al., 2021
AXL+SIGLEC6+ pre-DCs	Reduction (#)	Cases	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
AXL+CD1c+ pre-DC2	Reduction (#)	Cases	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CLEC9A+ cDC1	Reduction (#)	Cases	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CLEC9A- cDC2*	Reduction (#)	Cases	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CD163-CD14- DC3	Reduction (#)	Cases	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CD163-CD14+ DC3	Reduction (#)	Cases	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CD163+CD14+ DC3	Reduction (#)	Cases	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CD5+DC2	Reduction (%)	Severe [§]	Moderate [@]	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CD163-CD14- DC3	Reduction (%)	Severe [§]	Moderate [@]	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
AXL+CD1c+ pre-DC2	Increase (%)	Severe [§]	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CD123+CD11c- pDCs	Reduction (#)	Cases	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	ARDS	non-ARDS	Zingaropoli et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	Pneumonia	HD	Zingaropoli et al., 2021
CD123+Lyn- pDCs	Reduction (%)/	Severe/Critical+	HD	Matic et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)/	Severe/Critical+	Mild/Moderate ^{&}	Matic et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Mild/Moderate ^{&}	HD	Matic et al., 2020

DC, dendritic cell; cDCs, conventional dendritic cells; pDCs, plasmacytoid dendritic cells; (%), as frequency values; (#), as absolute number; HD, healthy donors; ARDS, acute respiratory distress syndrome; Cases, COVID-19 patients (irrespective of severity).

No statistically significant data provided.

+ Fever or suspected respiratory infection with compromised respiratory function and worsening of respiratory symptoms with the necessity for mechanical ventilation.

⁸Mild clinical symptoms of upper respiratory tract viral infection and signs of pneumonia without need for supplemental oxygen.

*Including CD5+ DC2 and CD5- DC3.

[®]Oxygen saturation -SO₂- between 90 and 94% or 0.5 to 3 L/min oxygen requirement at screening.

[§]Treated at the intensive care unit -ICU- or at a high-dependency unit.

\$Including coryza, headaches, nausea, fever, cough, sore throat, malaise, headaches, and muscle aches.

endosomal compartments of pDCs (Moreno-Eutimio et al., 2020; Onofrio et al., 2020; Kim and Shin, 2021; Gabriele et al., 2021). A clinical study showed that loss-of-function variants in X-linked TLR7 genes were associated with impaired type I and II IFN responses in young males, suggesting that the difference in TLR7 gene dosage between males and females could explain, at least in part, the predisposition of males to developing severe COVID-19 (van der Made et al., 2020).

Numerical changes in DC subsets were investigated as putative factors influencing anti-SARS-CoV-2 responses, and various authors demonstrated that DCs tend to decrease in COVID-19 patients vs. healthy controls, but in some reports, data also reached a statistical significance comparing more severe cases with patients with a milder form of the disease (Matic et al., 2020; Zhou R. et al., 2020; Buttenschön and Mattner, 2021; Kvedaraite et al., 2021; Zingaropoli et al., 2021; **Table 2**).

А more detailed analysis of CD11c+ DCs accumulation/decrease as a function of both age and severity should be urgently performed in adult COVID-19 cases. In fact, non-plasmacytoid DCs are reported as numerically stable in the old people (Agrawal et al., 2017; Oh et al., 2019), but this trend seems to be reverted in severe COVID-19 patients, although an age specific stratification of the cases was not performed (Table 2; Matic et al., 2020; Zhou R. et al., 2020; Buttenschön and Mattner, 2021; Kvedaraite et al., 2021; Zingaropoli et al., 2021). Intriguingly, similar data were obtained comparing children in the acute phase of mild disease vs. their convalescent counterpart (Neeland et al., 2021), thus in the case of younger patients, milder disease is accompanied by CD11c+ DC fluctuations resembling those observed in adult severe cases. On the contrary, the contraction of CD11c+ DC pool was not documented comparing adult patients with mild symptoms vs. convalescent subjects (Neeland et al., 2021), and the same DC subset was even reported as increased in mild/moderate patients vs. healthy controls (Matic et al., 2020). Molecular mechanisms causing stability of CD11c+ DCs in older subjects seem to be compromised in both adults with severe disease and children with mild disease, and deserve further investigation.

Instead, plasmacytoid DCs tend to decrease in aging (Agrawal et al., 2017; Oh et al., 2019; Márquez et al., 2020b). A reduction in the plasmacytoid DCs was also reported in COVID-19 patients irrespective of severity (**Table 2**; Arunachalam et al., 2020; Matic et al., 2020; Kvedaraite et al., 2021; Zingaropoli et al., 2021).

During physiological aging processes, DCs exhibit multiple functional defects ranging from mitochondrial dysfunction to an impairment in antigen uptake/presentation and altered cytokine secretion (Giefing-Kröll et al., 2015; Agrawal et al., 2017; Ventura et al., 2017; Oh et al., 2019; Salminen et al., 2019). DCs showed some degree of immunophenotypic/functional alteration also in COVID-19. CD11c+ cDCs in hospitalized patients and convalescent (follow up) outpatients exhibited less surface expression of the co-stimulatory molecule CD86 than DCs in healthy subjects (Zhou R. et al., 2020; Buttenschön and Mattner, 2021). Similarly, expression of CD86 and HLA-DR was uniformly reduced on circulating DC precursor (pre-DC), pre-DC2, CD5+ DC2, CD163- CD14- DC3, CD163- CD14+ DC3, and CD163+ CD14+ DC3 in ICU or high dependency unit severe patients vs. healthy donors (Kvedaraite et al., 2021). Also, cDCs in both hospitalized patients and convalescent (follow up) outpatients showed resistance toward maturation stimuli, and an impaired ability to produce type I IFNs which was more prominent in hospitalized patients (Zhou R. et al., 2020; Buttenschön and Mattner, 2021), recalling a similar panel of IFN secretion defects documented in older individuals (Agrawal et al., 2017). Instead, the ability to answer to type I IFN signaling seemed to be preserved in COVID-19 patients, as demonstrated by the expansion of cell surface receptor tyrosine kinase (AXL) expressing fraction among DC1 pool and the reduced expression of c-kit as measured in DC1 (Rhodes et al., 2019; Kvedaraite et al., 2021). INF-signaling was also highly activated in BAL DC1 (Kvedaraite et al., 2021). However, myeloid DCs showed an impaired ability to answer to TLR stimulation (Arunachalam et al., 2020).

Activation of peripheral blood plasmacytoid DCs was made evident by the decreased expression of CD45RA in COVID-19 patients vs. healthy controls (Kvedaraite et al., 2021). Similarly, a reactive response in COVID-19 patients BAL plasmacytoid DCs was demonstrated by activation of cytokine and chemokine signaling pathways at a transcriptional level (Kvedaraite et al., 2021). However, another report documented an impairment in plasmacytoid DC function, with a reduced production of IFN- α and TNF- α after TLR stimulation (Arunachalam et al., 2020). Plasmacytoid DCs showed less HLA-DR in ICU or high dependency unit severe patients than in moderate cases (Kvedaraite et al., 2021).

Monocytes and Macrophages

Alterations of monocyte phagocytic and cytokine secreting functions were consistently documented in older individuals; however, numerical fluctuations do not affect all monocyte subsets. Based on the expression of the surface markers CD14 and CD16, circulating monocyte can be dived into three subsets: classical, intermediate, and non-classical monocytes, with CD14 decreasing from classical to nonclassical subsets, and CD16 following an opposite expression pattern (Ziegler-Heitbrock et al., 2010).

CD14+ CD16- classical monocyte numbers do not change during aging, whereas CD14+ CD16+ non-classical monocytes tend to increase with age (Ventura et al., 2017; Oh et al., 2019; Feng et al., 2021). Despite these functional changes, monocytes seem to be key determinants of sex associated differences in immunosenescence, with a male superior ability in mounting inflammatory responses. In fact, men exhibit more chromatin accessibility at monocyte specific *loci* than women (Márquez et al., 2020a).

A sex specific study demonstrated that both male and female non-ICU patients exhibited a higher percentage of monocytes than male and female controls, respectively (Takahashi et al., 2020). While CD14+ CD16– classical monocyte frequency was overlapping among groups, CD14lowCD16- non-classical monocytes were detected with higher frequencies in non-ICU male patients vs. both male controls and female patients (Takahashi et al., 2020). However, such a gender related effect on non-classical monocytes was lost in all the studies pooling male and female patients and controls together, leading to inconsistent results ranging from the absence of observed changes in monocyte frequency irrespective of severity to a statistically significant reduction in the case of more serious symptoms (**Table 3**). In addition, to explain the irreproducibility of results for both classical and non-classical monocytes, age dependent repercussions on monocyte dynamics in COVID-19 should be taken into account in the case of severity-based studies. In fact, lower percentages of both CD14+CD16– classical and CD14lowCD16+ non-classical monocytes were encountered in peripheral blood of infected children experiencing mild symptoms vs. convalescent children sampled 4–7 weeks following test results (Neeland et al., 2021).

The observed discrepancy among the available reports on classical and non-classical monocytes may also be a consequence of the lack of shared criteria to stratify SARS-CoV-2 infected subjects according to severity (**Table 3**; Wilk et al., 2020; Zhou R. et al., 2020; Kvedaraite et al., 2021; Neeland et al., 2021; Zingaropoli et al., 2021). In addition, from a more technical point of view, small differences in the immunophenotypic parameters evaluated to define monocytic subsets may be appreciated and may account for the lack of reproducibility of the observed data (**Table 3**).

Data about intermediate monocytes are also conflicting, requiring the inclusion of both gender- and age-related effects on disease severity in the study design. Percentage of CD14+CD16+ intermediate monocytes were reported as augmented in both male and female non-ICU patients vs. their sex matched controls, with more statistically significant results obtained for female subjects (Takahashi et al., 2020). On the contrary, a reduction in the frequency of peripheral blood CD14+CD16+ intermediate monocytes was detected in children with mild disease vs convalescent children sampled (Neeland et al., 2021). As reported in Table 3, a lower frequency of CD14++CD16+ intermediate monocytes was demonstrated in a cohort of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia vs. healthy donors (Zingaropoli et al., 2021). Instead, CD14+CD16+ intermediate monocytes were higher in both moderate and severe cases vs. healthy controls (Kvedaraite et al., 2021). No statistically significant difference was detected comparing contacts of SARS-CoV-2 cases with severe, mild and asymptomatic patients (Carsetti et al., 2020; Table 3). In none of these reports, a sex and age specific analysis was performed (Carsetti et al., 2020; Kvedaraite et al., 2021; Zingaropoli et al., 2021).

The effect of sex and age on COVID-19 patients' monocyte function was not dissected, although some preliminary data explored the behavior of monocyte subsets according to severity. As regards monocyte functionality, levels of CD14+CD16classical and CD14+CD16+ intermediate monocyte HLA-DR and CD86 were reduced in ICU or high-dependency unit patients vs. both healthy controls and moderate cases of the disease, whereas the same markers were reduced on CD14lowCD16++ nonclassical monocytes in severe patients vs. subjects with moderate disease only (Kvedaraite et al., 2021). Similar piece of evidence as regards HLA-DR expression emerged in another study (Arunachalam et al., 2020). Moreover, as previously observed for the mDCs, also COVID-19 patients CD14+ monocytes showed an impaired ability to answer to TLR stimulation, reinforcing the idea of an impaired innate response during COVID-19 disease (Arunachalam et al., 2020). However, classical monocytes from severe (according to the National Early Warning Score) COVID-19 cases showed type I IFN response, and exacerbation of TNF/IL-1 β -driven inflammation (Lee et al., 2020; Kim C.W. et al., 2021). Consistently, in the lung environment, both BAL macrophages from severe patients (Liao et al., 2020; Kim C.W. et al., 2021) and airway macrophages from critical (according to WHO guidelines) cases (Chua et al., 2020) exhibited proinflammatory characteristics (Chua et al., 2020; Liao et al., 2020; Kim C.W. et al., 2021).

Neutrophils

The neutrophil number is preserved during aging, but the reduction in CD16 expression accounts for a notable functional decline (Ventura et al., 2017; Oh et al., 2019; Salminen et al., 2019; Cunha et al., 2020; Zimmermann and Curtis, 2020). Also, using animal models it was documented that lung neutrophils exhibit signs of exhaustion due to exposure to inflammatory mediators associated with advancing age (Ventura et al., 2017; Domingues et al., 2020).

Analysis of peripheral blood composition in COVID-19 cases revealed that in ICU patients neutrophil count was higher than that observed in non-ICU patients (Wang D. et al., 2020), and that neutrophil count was higher in deceased patients vs. survivors (Du et al., 2020; Fu Y. Q. et al., 2020).

SSChiCD16+ low density neutrophils, including migrating cells and immature elements in both healthy conditions and inflammation (Silvestre-Roig et al., 2019; Hassani et al., 2020), seem to exert a protective role in both adults and children. In fact, their accumulation was documented in PCR-negative adults and children exposed to SARS-CoV-2 in the household, with higher percentages recorded when sampling happened during the convalescence period (up to 7 weeks after positive test results) vs. exposure during the acute phase (Neeland et al., 2021).

No changes were recorded for neutrophils and activated CD63+ neutrophils comparing both adult SARS-CoV-2 positive and adult SARS-CoV-2 exposed subjects in acute and convalescent phase (Neeland et al., 2021). Instead, an increase in the percentage of CD63+ neutrophils was detected comparing infected children experiencing mild symptoms with both convalescent children sampled 4–7 weeks following test results and PCR negative children exposed to SARS-CoV-2 through household close contact with a positive in the acute phase (Neeland et al., 2021). Since expression of CD63 on neutrophils is a sign of activation (Silvestre-Roig et al., 2019), it would be worth deepening if more older individuals may experience a difference in neutrophil degranulation in comparison with younger patients, and if such a difference may be related to COVID-19 severity.

Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSCs)

Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) are cells of the myeloid lineage exerting a suppressive function on other

TABLE 3 | Observed fluctuation in monocytic subsets in adult COVID-19 patients.

Monocytes	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References
Classical CD14++CD16- monocytes	Reduction (%)	Hospitalized	HD	Zhou R. et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Convalescent	HD	Zhou R. et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Pneumonia	HD	Zingaropoli et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Mild ^{\$}	Convalescent	Neeland et al., 2021
Classical CD14+CD16- monocytes	No change (%)	Severe ^{&}	Mild*	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ^{&}	Asymptomatic	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ^{&}	Contacts+	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Mild*	Asymptomatic	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Mild*	Contacts ⁺	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Asymptomatic	Contacts ⁺	Carsetti et al., 2020
CD14+CD16+ non-classical monocytes	Reduction (%)	Pneumonia	HD	Zingaropoli et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	ARDS	Non-ARDS	Zingaropoli et al., 2021
CD14-CD16+ non-classical monocytes	Reduction (%)	Severe ^{&}	Mild*	Carsetti et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Severe ^{&}	Asymptomatic	Carsetti et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Severe ^{&}	Contacts	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Mild*	Asymptomatic	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Mild*	Contacts ⁺	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Asymptomatic	Contacts+	Carsetti et al., 2020
CD14lowCD16+ non-classical monocytes	Reduction (%)	Mild ^{\$}	Convalescent	Neeland et al., 2021
CD14lowCD16++ non-classical monocytes	Reduction (%)	Severe [§]	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CD14++CD16+ intermediate monocytes	Reduction (%)	Pneumonia	HD	Zingaropoli et al., 2021
CD14+CD16+ intermediate monocytes	Increase (%)	Moderate [@]	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CD14+CD16+ intermediate monocytes	Increase (%)	Severe [§]	HD	Kvedaraite et al., 2021
CD14+CD16+/- intermediate monocytes	No change (%)	Severe ^{&}	Mild*	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ^{&}	Asymptomatic	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ^{&}	Contacts ⁺	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Mild*	Asymptomatic	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Mild*	Contacts+	Carsetti et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Asymptomatic	Contacts ⁺	Carsetti et al., 2020

(%), as frequency values; HD, healthy donors; ARDS, acute respiratory distress syndrome, asymptomatic patients who tested positive but had no symptoms.

 ${}^{\$}$ Including coryza, headaches, nausea, fever, cough, sore throat, malaise, headaches, and muscle aches.

[§]Treated at the intensive care unit -ICU- or at a high-dependency unit.

[®]Oxygen saturation -SO2- between 90 and 94% or 0.5 to 3 L/min oxygen requirement at screening.

⁸ Pneumonia (fever, cough, dyspnoea, fast breathing) plus one of the following: respiratory rate > 30 breaths/min; severe respiratory distress; or SpO₂ < 90% on room air. *Patients requiring no hospitalization and experiencing symptoms like with fever, myalgia, and fatigue without obvious chest high resolution computed tomography findings for COVID-19.

+Contacts of SARS-CoV-2 confirmed cases who were negative by qPCR.

immune cells through numerous molecular mechanisms (Salminen et al., 2019). MDSCs can be divided into two main branches, CD11b+CD33+CD15+CD14-HLA-DR- granulocytic MDSCs and CD11b+CD33+CD15-CD14+HLA-DRlo/-monocytic MDSCs, together with a further subset devoid of both granulocytic and monocytic markers (Salminen et al., 2019; Bergenfelz and Leandersson, 2020; Kramer and Abrams, 2020). Only the proportion of granulocytic MDSCs is reported as increased during aging (Salminen et al., 2019). However, to the best of our knowledge, no sexual dimorphism was described about distribution and function of MDSCs in individuals.

Expansion of functional granulocytic MDSCs was documented in COVID-19 patients vs. healthy donors, and was particularly evident in severe cases (Agrati et al., 2020) and in ICU patients (Sacchi et al., 2020). The percentage of monocytic myeloid derived suppressor cells (M-MDSCs) was

higher in hospitalized patients vs. both convalescent (follow up) outpatients and healthy donors (Zhou R. et al., 2020; Buttenschön and Mattner, 2021).

ACQUIRED IMMUNITY: T CELLS

Among components of both innate and adaptive immune system, there seems to be more coherence in the information on T cell responses observed during COVID-19 disease. A central object of study in several reports, the information obtained to date on changes in cellular immunity, and discussed below in relation to age and sex, may help us to better understand the differences in infection outcomes observed.

Functionally, T cells are considered naïve until they encounter their cognate antigen in the periphery, and phenotypically they are CCR7+CD45RA+CD28+CD27+ cells. In the context of SARS-CoV-2 infection, after encountering novel viral antigens, naïve T cells expand and differentiate into different types of effector cells, whose protective roles encompass TH-cellmediated activation of B cells to produce virus-specific antibodies and elimination of virus-infected cells by CTLs. SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells have been reported in COVID-19 patients (Braun et al., 2020; Sekine et al., 2020). Following activation, the chemokine receptor CXCR3 is rapidly induced on naïve cells T cells and preferentially remains highly expressed on TH1 cells and effector CD8+ T cells (Groom and Luster, 2011). In contrast to innate immune cells, T cells develop a memory for repeated challenges. Indeed, following clearance of pathogen, most of effector T cells die but a small subset further differentiates into long-lived memory T cells that provide longterm protective immunity (Mahnke et al., 2013). So, in the event of a second contact with the virus, memory T cells rapidly mature into effector cells, responding to infection. Previously studies in mice have highlighted the importance of specific cellmediated memory in protection from SARS-CoV-1 (Zhao J. et al., 2010; Channappanavar et al., 2014). It was shown that in some individuals exposure to SARS-CoV-2 has induced virusspecific T cell responses even in the absence of seroconversion, suggesting that individuals with no detectable antibodies may nonetheless be protected by cellular immunity (Gallais et al., 2021). This raises the question of whether T-cell responses would be more sensitive indicators of SARS-Co-V-2 exposure than antibody quantification of anti-nucleoprotein and antispike IgG or IgA levels in peripheral blood. However, individual variability in immune response must be taken into account, especially in view of the profound immune changes observed with aging. Thus, a thorough understanding of the role of T cells in the immune response to SARS-CoV-2 and how aging may impair their responsiveness is essential to gain insights into both the individual ability to respond to the first infection and the quality, magnitude, and durability of protective immunity against reinfection with SARS-CoV-2.

As this is an emerging pathogen to which the human population has never previously been exposed, although crossreactive T cell recognition between circulating 'common cold' coronaviruses and SARS-CoV-2 has been suggested (Grifoni et al., 2020), the key step in the immune response is undoubtedly its recognition by naïve, and not memory, T cells. Early and efficient virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses and CD4+ T celldependent antibody responses of sufficient magnitude against SARS-CoV-2 would probably be protective (Zhao J. et al., 2016). However, age-related alterations in the T cell compartment could lead to a failure to develop protective immunity in old patients. As previously mentioned, thymic involution is the main driver of the reduced absolute numbers and percentages of peripheral naïve T cells observed in old individuals. Their homeostatic peripheral proliferation is thought to compensate for this loss but can lead to the outgrowth of certain T cell clones at the expense of others, with shrinkage of the T cell repertoire. As a consequence, the pool of naïve T cells decreases with age with quantitatively and qualitatively impairs de novo CD8+ T-cell responses (Briceño et al., 2016). In parallel, there is an expansion of the memory T cell pool, probably due to chronic or persistent infections,

most commonly with Cytomegalovirus, which cause specific T cells to clonally expand through repetitive stimulation. One of the phenotypic characteristics of these persistent stimulated T cells is the progressive downregulation of the costimulatory receptor CD28 that is definitively lost in terminally differentiated T cells (Pangrazzi et al., 2020). These CD28- senescent T cells are characterized by low proliferative capacity, shortening of telomeres and express senescent markers, such as programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1). These age-associated changes in T cell subset distribution, especially in CTL, critically affect primary immune responses against viruses (Pawelec, 2018; Aiello et al., 2019). A recent study performed by our group has highlighted differences in the lymphocyte subset distribution in both helper and cytotoxic compartments between females and males during aging (Ligotti et al., 2021). These immune gender differences during aging and in case fatality rates in COVID-19 disease support the need to incorporate investigation of biological factors underlying differences in immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 between females and males in order to identify targeted therapeutic interventions aimed to improve antiviral immune function (Bunders and Altfeld, 2020).

Despite differences in patient stratification, several studies have reported lymphopenia, affecting all lymphocyte subsets, in a significant proportion of patients with severe diseases, both males and females, such that it can be considered, together with hyper-cytokinaemia, a signature for severe COVID-19 infection and pneumonia (Bermejo-Martin et al., 2020). The occurrence of lymphopenia (lymphocyte count $< 0.8-1.1 \times 109/L$, depending on the cut-off value used) was reported in 85% (Yang et al., 2020), 72.3% (Liu K. et al., 2020; Zhan et al., 2020), 66.7% (Meng Y. et al., 2020), 63% (Huang et al., 2020), and 42.9% (Chen G. et al., 2020) of infected cases, with the highest percentages observed in critically ill patients. Specifically, significant decreases in absolute T cell counts, TH cells, and CTL cells were observed in the COVID-19 patients compared to healthy controls, but accentuated in the severe cases (Cui et al., 2020; Wang F. et al., 2020), indicating SARS-CoV-2 infection has a negative impact on T-cell mediated immunity. In older COVID-19 patients (median age 71 years), low lymphocytes count was a strong predictor of poor outcome while high lymphocyte levels were predictive of better outcome (Wang L. et al., 2020). This peripheral lymphopenia could reflect the recruitment of lymphocytes from the blood to the infected site in response to combinations of different chemokines expressed by airway and alveolar blood vessel endothelial cells (Alon et al., 2021). A meta-analysis of the mean difference in lymphocyte counts at admission between patients with good and with poor COVID-19 outcomes has shown that lymphopenia was significantly associated with severe COVID-19 and this association was affected by age but not by sex (Zhao Q. et al., 2020). However, some studies have suggested that the male sex is inversely associated with lymphocyte count, especially in patients with comorbidity (Meng Y. et al., 2020; Qin et al., 2020), although not always confirmed (Zhao G. et al., 2021). In the peripheral blood of SARS-CoV-2-infected patients, both CD4+ and CD8+ T cell blood counts are dramatically decreased compared to healthy controls, with the highest evidence observed in severe cases (de Candia et al., 2021). Nevertheless, male COVID-19 patients have shown lower CD4+ T cell and higher CD8+ T cell proportions than female patients, indicating a possible more severe immune dysregulation (Zhao G. et al., 2021; **Table 4**).

Analysis of T cells in BAL of COVID-19 patients has identified lower CD8+ T cell levels in patients with severe infection than in patients with moderate infection, apparently against the hypothesis of sequestration on the site of infection. On the other hand, CD8+ T cells in BAL from patients with moderate infection have shown upregulation of genes involved in differentiation, activation, migration and cytokine-related pathways compared with severe cases (Liao et al., 2020; **Table 4**).

Despite the absolute counts of CD8+ T cells decreased, analysis of T cell activation has revealed a significant increment in the frequency and absolute numbers of activated (coexpressing HLA-DR and CD38) CD8+ T cells and increased multiple cytotoxic granules expression in COVID-19 pneumonia patients (De Biasi et al., 2020; Song et al., 2020; Chen Q. et al., 2021). Analysis of post-mortem lung tissue from 16 patients with COVID-19 has correlated the presence of abundant infiltrating activated CD8+ T cells (CD38, GZMA, GZMB, CCR5) with a specific immunopathological pattern characterized by low local expression of interferon stimulated genes, low viral counts, massive lung damage, and late death (Nienhold et al., 2020). Based on these pieces of evidence, it has been suggested that this aberrant activation of CTLs in patients with severe COVID-19 disease could play an important role in the pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 infection (Song et al., 2020). However, CD8+ T cells from older COVID-19 patients with mild disease do not show increased production of perforin and granzymes, probably due to high background levels of cytotoxic molecules (Westmeier et al., 2020; Table 4).

A significant increment in the frequency, but not in the absolute count, of activated CD4+ T cells or exhausted/senescent (PD-1+CD57+) peripheral CD4+ and CD8+ T cells was also observed (De Biasi et al., 2020). When gender differences were considered, this increase in percentages of activated and terminally differentiated T cells being significant in female but not in male patients compared with healthy controls, suggesting a more robust T cell response among female patients. Although these differences were observed in both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, more significant differences were found in the cytotoxic subset (Chen and John Wherry, 2020; Takahashi et al., 2020; **Table 4**). The implications and mechanisms underlying increased CD8+ activity are unknown in the context of this novel virus but may play a role in driving the immunopathogenesis of COVID-19.

The characterization of the T cell subsets in a cohort of 39 COVID-19 with a median age of 64 years (range 35–94) has revealed that a decrease in both the percentage and the absolute number of naïve CD45RA+CCR7+ CD8+ T cells and in the absolute number of naïve CD45RA+CCR7+ CD4+ T cells (De Biasi et al., 2020; Belaid et al., 2021). A similar trend was observed as CCR7+CD45RA- central memory T cells, while the percentage, but not the absolute number of terminal effector CCR7-CD45RA+T cells was higher,

although with a decreased proliferation index suggesting a lack of clonal expansion after activation (De Biasi et al., 2020). Compared to hospitalized COVID-19 patients during acute disease, patients at 3–6 months of convalescence showed higher proportions of CD4+ and CD8+ CCR7–CD45RA+ effector T cells and reduced expression of the proliferation marker Ki-67. In male patients, disease progression was associated with higher age and lower CD8+ T cell response (IFN- γ production and activation), while these correlations were not seen in females. On the contrary, female patients showed greater T cell response, characterized by higher percentages of activated and terminally differentiated CD8+ T cells (Takahashi et al., 2020; **Table 4**).

CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in acute COVID-19 patients showed a substantial reduction of CXCR3 and CXCR5 expression, irrespective of disease severity, that is recovered upon convalescence (Shuwa et al., 2021). In another study, when compared to their younger counterparts and to agematched healthy donors, over 80-year-olds COVID-19 patients showed a more pronounced reduction in CD8+ T cell count. Moreover, percentages of naïve CD45RO-CCR7+ CD28+ CD8+ T cells were markedly reduced in 29to 79-year-old group of COVID-19 patients, suggesting an ongoing cytotoxic response during SARS-Cov-2 infection, but these differences were not evident in the over 80 group, probably due to the reduced pool of naïve T cells in the old individuals. Likewise, the increase in CD8+ CD45RO-CCR7- CD28- terminally differentiated effector and CD45RO+ CCR7- CD28- effector memory T cells was more evident in the younger group than in the 80- to 96-year-old age group (Westmeier et al., 2020). CD4+ memory responses to SARS-CoV-2 were detected in 100% of recovered patients, while 70% established CD8+ memory responses. Most of T cell reactivity to the viral Spike protein was dependent on CD4+ T cells and these responses were correlated with anti-SARS-Cov-2 IgG and IgA titres in COVID-19 cases (Grifoni et al., 2020). A sophisticated and detailed analysis of T cell immunophenotype in COVID-19 patients has revealed the heterogeneity of the immune response to SARS-CoV-2 infection ranging from robust CD8+ and/or CD4+ T cell activation and proliferation to minimal detectable responses compared to healthy donors (Mathew et al., 2020). This suggests that the relationship between acquired immunity and COVID-19 pathogenesis is complex and must be taken into account in the design of therapies and vaccines (Table 4).

Most analyses were not stratified by gender. It therefore remains to be established whether cell-mediated immune response may differ between the two sexes and whether this affects the durability of immunity and vaccine approaches. Moreover, given the multitude of well-documented agerelated changes in the composition and responsiveness of the acquired immune system, further comparative studies between young and old are needed to investigate differences in virus-specific T cells responses. Indeed, any intervention aimed at improving immune status in old individuals should be targeted and individualized, especially in a context

TABLE 4 | Observed fluctuation in T cell subsets in adult COVID-19 patients.

T cell subsets	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References
Total CD3+CD19– T lymphocyte	Reduction (%)	Deceased	Survivors	Cui et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Deceased	Survivors	Cui et al., 2020; Belaid et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	Cases	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	Mild ^{ζ} /moderate ^{θ}	Song et al., 2020; Belaid et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe ^η	Mild ^ç	Song et al., 2020
CD3+CD4+ Helper T lymphocyte	Reduction (%)	Deceased	Survivors	Cui et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Deceased	Survivors	Cui et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Pneumonia patients	HD	Wang F. et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	$Mild^{\zeta} \ /moderate^{\theta}$	Song et al., 2020; Wang F. et al., 2020 Belaid et al., 2021; Taghiloo et al., 202
	No change (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Cases	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ^η	Mild ^ζ	Song et al., 2020
CD3+CD8+ Cytotoxic T lymphocyte	Reduction (%)	Deceased	Survivors	Cui et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Deceased	Survivors	Cui et al., 2020; Belaid et al., 2021
	Reduction (#)	Pneumonia patients	HD	Wang F. et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	$Mild^{\zeta} \ /moderate^{\theta}$	Song et al., 2020; Wang F. et al., 2020 Belaid et al., 2021; Taghiloo et al., 202
	No change (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Cases	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ^η	Mild	Song et al., 2020
CCR7+CD45RA+CD28+CD27+ CD4+ naïve	No change (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
CCR7-CD45RA+CD28+CD27+/- CD4+ central memory	No change (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
·····,	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
CCR7-CD45RA+CD28-CD27+/- CD4+ terminal effector	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	No change (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
CCR7-CD45RA+CD27- CD4+ naïve terminal effector	Increase (%)	Cases	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
CD38+HLA-DR+ CD4+ activated	No change (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Mild ^ç	HD	Song et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	HD	Song et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Deceased	Survivors	Belaid et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Cases	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
	. ,		Mild [¢] /moderate ^θ	
PD-1+CD57+ CD4+ exhausted/senescent	No change (%) Increase (%)	Severe ^η		Song et al., 2020; Belaid et al., 2021 De Biasi et al., 2020
	()	Severe ^η	HD	
	No change (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
CCR7+CD45RA+CD28+CD27+ CD8+ naïve	Reduction (%)	Severe ⁿ	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Severe ⁿ	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
CCR7+CD45RA+ CD8+ naïve	Reduction (%)	Severe ⁿ	Mild ^ç /moderate ^θ	Belaid et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	Deceased	Survivors	Belaid et al., 2021
CCR7-CD45RA+CD28+CD27+/- CD8+ central memory	Reduction (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020

(Continued)

TABLE 4 | Continued

T cell subsets	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References
CCR7-CD45RA-CD28+/-CD27+/- CD8+ effector memory	No change (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	No change (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
CCR7-CD45RA-CD8+ effector memory	Increase (%)	Deceased	Survivors	Belaid et al., 2021
CCR7-CD45RA+CD28-CD27+/- CD8+ terminal effector	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	No change (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
CCR7-CD45RA+CD27- CD8+ naïve terminal effector	Increase (%)	Cases	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
CD38+HLA-DR+ CD8+ activated	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Increase (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Mild ^ç	HD	Song et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	HD	Song et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Deceased	Survivors	Belaid et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	Mild ^ç	Song et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Cases	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ^η	$Mild^{\zeta} \ /moderate^{\theta}$	Belaid et al., 2021
PD-1+CD57+ CD8+ exhausted/senescent	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
	No change (#)	Severe ^η	HD	De Biasi et al., 2020
BAL T cells	Reduction (%)	Severe ⁿ /Critical ^L	$Moderate^{\theta}$	Liao et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Moderate ^θ	HD	Liao et al., 2020

T cell subset, peripheral blood T cell subset analyzed in the reported studies; (%), as frequency values; (#), as absolute number; Cases, COVID-19 patients (irrespective of severity); HD, healthy donors; Recovered, non-hospitalized subjects who had recovered from SARS-CoV-2 infection.

^cPatients with or without pneumonia admitted to general wards not requiring intensive care.

¹¹Patients experiencing the following: respiratory failure, respiratory rate > 30 bpm, oxygen saturation < 93% at rest, arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂)/fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) (PaO₂/FiO₂) ratio < 300 mmHg.

⁶Fever, respiratory symptoms, and pneumonia evidenced by computed tomography.

Any of the following: requirement for mechanical ventilation, shock, or concomitant organ failure.

such as COVID-19 that is fatal to a large proportion of this population.

ACQUIRED IMMUNITY: B LYMPHOCYTES

B cells function in the humoral immunity component of the acquired immune system, producing antibodies that are not secreted, but inserted into the plasma membrane where they serve as a part of B-cell receptors. When a naïve or memory B cell is activated by an antigen, it proliferates and may differentiate into a short living plasmablast, or a long living plasma cell (both known as antibody-secreting cells – ASCs) – it is not known if plasma cells represent a further maturation step of early plasmablasts (Jourdan et al., 2009; Khodadadi et al., 2019).

Immunosenescence impacts B lymphocytes at multiple levels. During aging, B cells show a decline in the number of newly produced clones flanked by a contraction of their repertoire, producing a variable level of accumulation of memory cells and an increase in the appearance of signs of exhaustion (Giefing-Kröll et al., 2015; Aiello et al., 2019; Crooke et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2019; Lian et al., 2020). The age associated decline in the amount of B cells appears more dramatic in men than in women, and menopausal related changes in B cell numbers are counteracted by hormone replacement therapy (Giefing-Kröll et al., 2015; Márquez et al., 2020a). Also, during aging women exhibit more pronounced chromatin accessibility at B cell *loci* than older male individuals, who suffer a downregulation of B cell-specific genes (Márquez et al., 2020a).

Changes in B cell distribution during COVID-19 affect the quality and intensity of SARS-CoV-2 elicited immune response, accounting for infection resolution and persistence of symptoms after viral clearance (Huang et al., 2021; Long et al., 2021; Shuwa et al., 2021; Wheatley et al., 2021). This was demonstrated also from a functional point of view, with both somatic hypermutation in B cell receptor (BCR) and higher antibody titres correlating with disease severity (Schultheiß et al., 2020; Okba et al., 2020). Thus, COVID-19 related B lymphocyte alterations determine not only disease severity but also the entity of long-term consequences and may have potential prognostic applications (Detsika et al., 2021; Kim C.W. et al., 2021; Kos et al., 2021; Shuwa et al., 2021).

Total B Cells

During aging a contraction of both number and percentage of peripheral B cells was described multiple times, with a more visible reduction in older males (Bulati et al., 2014; Giefing-Kröll et al., 2015; Hazeldine and Lord, 2020; Lian et al., 2020; Márquez et al., 2020b,a; Vellas et al., 2020). In COVID-19 the analysis of B cell changes according to a gender-based stratification of patients revealed that only the frequency of B cells was higher in both non-ICU male and female patients than in controls, reaching a statistically significant result narrowly when the comparison was performed between the two female groups (Takahashi et al., 2020). However, no sex or age correlated differences in B cell counts of COVID-19 patients were documented (Jurado et al., 2020; Takahashi et al., 2020; Jin et al., 2021).

In gender pooled reports about the total number and percentage of B cells in COVID-19+ subjects, data vary from a study to another on the basis of both the choice of the confronted parameter (number of cells rather than percentage) and the adopted criteria to stratify the analyzed subjects according to severity (Carsetti et al., 2020; Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020; Detsika et al., 2021; Kos et al., 2021; Shuwa et al., 2021; Xiong et al., 2021). Numerous papers are available documenting the invariability, the decrease and the increase of B cell numbers and frequency in various categories of COVID-19 patients (**Table 5**). This lack of homogeneity mirrors the absence of an agreement about the stratification of COVID-19 cases according to severity. In addition, the selected statistical analysis strategy, especially in the presence of multiple comparisons, may "mask" some statistically significant results, requiring a larger sample size or a different statistical approach to reveal relevant differences among the compared categories (Jurado et al., 2020; Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020; Woodruff et al., 2020; d'Alessandro et al., 2021; Newell et al., 2021; Shuwa et al., 2021). As a result, the abundance of confounding reports slows down the extrapolation of prognostic and predictive pieces of information from published reports.

Despite these contradictory data, a recent metanalysis demonstrated a statistically significant decrease in B cells in severe disease cases vs. non severe disease group (Akbari et al., 2020).

B cells	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References
Total peripheral blood B cells	No change (#)	Intubated	Non-intubated	Detsika et al., 2021
	No change (#)	Intubated (admission)	Intubated (recovery)	Detsika et al., 2021
	No change (#)	Severe ⁺ (admission)	Mild* (admission)	Jurado et al., 2020
	No change (#)	Moderate ^{&} (admission)	Mild* (admission)	Jurado et al., 2020
	No change (#)	Severe ⁺ (admission)	Moderate ^{&} (admission)	Jurado et al., 2020
	No change (#)	Critical [§]	SevereŁ	Liu Y. et al., 2021
	No change (#)	Cases	HD	d'Alessandro et al., 2021
	No change (#)	Severe>	Non-severe<	d'Alessandro et al., 2021
	Reduction (#)	Deceased	Survivors	Cantenys-Molina et al., 2021; Kos et al., 2021; Xiong et al., 2021
	Reduction (#)	Critical [§]	Moderate [@]	Liu Y. et al., 2021
	Reduction (#)	Severe°	Non-severe <	Zhang W. et al., 2020
	Reduction (#)	Composite ^a	Non-composite ^β	Zhang W. et al., 2020
	Increase (#)	ICU	NCU	Kos et al., 2021
	Increase (#)	ICU	NCU (non-COVID-19)	Kos et al., 2021
	Increase (#)	ICU	ICU (non-COVID-19)	Kos et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Convalescent	HD	Newell et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe>	Non-severe <	d'Alessandro et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe ⁺ (admission)	Mild* (admission)	Jurado et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ⁺ (discharge)	Mild* (discharge)	Jurado et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Moderate ^{&} (admission)	Mild* (admission)	Jurado et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Moderate ^{&} (discharge)	Mild* (discharge)	Jurado et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ⁺ (admission)	Moderate ^{&} (admission)	Jurado et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe+(discharge)	Moderate ^{&} (discharge)	Jurado et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	ICU	NCU	Kos et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	ICU	NCU (non-COVID-19)	Kos et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	ICU	ICU (non-COVID-19)	Kos et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	Severe ^γ	$Mild^\delta$	Shuwa et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	Severe ^γ	Moderate ^ε	Shuwa et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	Severe ^ç	Asymptomatic	Carsetti et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Cases	HD	Woodruff et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	Mild/moderate ^{θ}	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Cases	Convalescent	Files et al., 2021

TABLE 5 | Observed fluctuation in B cells in adult COVID-19 patients.

(Continued)

Immunopathology, Immunosenescence and COVID-19

TABLE 5 | Continued

B cells	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References
Bone marrow and spleen total B cells	Reduction (#)	Deceased	Controls ^{\$}	Ihlow et al., 2021
BAL B cells	Reduction (%)	Severe/	Mild/	Kim C.W. et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Mild/	HD/	Kim C.W. et al., 2021
	Increase (#)	Severe/	Mild/	Kim C.W. et al., 2021
	Increase (#)	Severe/	HD/	Kim C.W. et al., 2021

BAL, bronchoalveolar lavage; (%), as frequency values; (#), as absolute number; Cases, COVID-19 patients (irrespective of severity); ICU, intensive care unit patients; HD, healthy donors; NCU, normal care unit patients; NCU (non-COVID-19), normal care unit patients treated for other reasons than COVID-19; ICU (non-COVID-19), intensive care unit patients treated for other reasons than COVID-19; ICU (non-COVID-19), intensive care unit patients treated for other reasons than COVID-19; ICU (non-COVID-19), intensive care unit patients treated for other reasons than COVID-19; asymptomatic, patients who tested positive but had no symptoms. *Clinical mild symptoms with no abnormal radiological findings.

+Non-severe pneumonia.

⁸As defined by the physician in charge or meeting at least one of the following criteria: acute respiratory distress, shock, admission to the intensive care unit -ICU-; patients with a fatal outcome were also included in this group.

With any of the following: (1) respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation; (2) shock; or (3) other organ failure requiring monitoring and treatment in ICU.

^{*L*} Individuals experiencing any of the following: (1) respiratory distress, respiratory rate \geq 30 breaths/min; (2) oxygen saturation on room air \leq 93% at rest; (3) oxygenation index PaO₂/FIO₂ \leq 300 mmHg; or (4) lung infiltrates > 50% within 24–48 h.

\$Age matched subjects who died for cardiac conditions.

[>] ICU admission, mechanical ventilation, or high-flow oxygen therapy.

Patients who were not experiencing ICU admission, mechanical ventilation, or high-flow oxygen therapy.

[®] Fever and other respiratory tract symptoms with pneumonia on chest computed tomography.

[◦]Respiratory rate ≥ 30/min, a pulse oxygen saturation ≤ 93% on room air, oxygenation index ≤ 300 mmHg, respiratory failure for which invasive ventilation was necessary, signs of shock (circulatory failure), organ failure and ICU care.

∧Mild symptoms + normal radiology findings in both lungs, and fever, cough, and other respiratory symptoms + radiological signs of pneumonia.

^aPatients experiencing admission to the ICU, mechanical ventilation, or death.

 $^{\beta}$ Patients who did not experience admission to the ICU, mechanical ventilation, or death.

 $^{\gamma}Patients$ with > 10L or 60% supplemental oxygen, managed in ICU.

⁸Patients with < 3L or 28% supplemental oxygen.

^ePatients with < 10L or <60% supplemental oxygen, requiring non-invasive ventilation (NIV) or continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP).

[§]Patients with clinical signs of pneumonia with one of the following: respiratory rate > 30 breaths/min, severe respiratory distress, or SpO₂ < 90% on room air.

¹¹Patients experiencing the following: respiratory failure, respiratory rate > 30 bpm, oxygen saturation < 92% at rest, arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂)/fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) (PaO₂/FiO₂) ratio < 300 mmHg.

^θFever, signs of airway disease, with or without a tomographic image indicating pneumonia.

[/]No stratification criteria neither statistically significance data provided.

Transitional and Naïve B Cells

Immunosenescence is associated with a decrease in CD27-IgD+ naïve B lymphocytes and the consequential reduction in B cell repertoire diversity (Cancro et al., 2009; Crooke et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2019; Oh et al., 2019). To the best of our knowledge, no naïve B cell specific molecular and numerical analysis was performed as a function of age and gender in COVID-19, and naïve B cells are reported as mostly unchanged in their frequency irrespective of disease severity (Table 6; Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020; Long et al., 2021; Shuwa et al., 2021). However, frequency of CD19+CD27loIgM+IgD+ mature naïve B cells seemed to be correlated with seroconversion, considering that percentages recorded for this B subset were higher in patients with high seroconversion index values vs. subjects with low seroconversion index values (seroconversion indices were estimated by summing the Z-scores for each of the four seroconversion assays used by the authors - see Galbraith et al., 2021 for details) (Galbraith et al., 2021).

On the contrary, transitional B cells tend to remain stable in adults (Perez-Andres et al., 2010; Blanco et al., 2018) and may exert immunomodulatory functions producing IL-10 (Zhou Y. et al., 2020). In COVID-19 literature, data about transitional B cell frequency according to disease severity are not fully homogeneous, despite the majority of data suggest that a reduction in transitional B cells may contribute to more severe

disease (Table 6; Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020; Woodruff et al., 2020; Shuwa et al., 2021).

Some of the lack of reproducibility (leading to the same methodological considerations) that we emphasized in the previous paragraph may be also encountered in those studies dissecting alterations of transitional and naïve B cells in COVID-19 patients. In addition, a shared agreement about the terms by which expressing the immunophenotypic features of the described subset would be extremely beneficial to ensure the comparability of data (**Table 6**).

Memory B Cells

Dysregulation of B cell production, survival and turnover in older subjects affects the ability to respond to new antigens (thus influencing response to vaccination) and may cause the accumulation of class switched memory cells (IgD-CD27+), although the eventuality of such an effect is still a matter of debate (Ventura et al., 2017; Aiello et al., 2019; Crooke et al., 2019; Hazeldine and Lord, 2020). Also, age-associated B cells (ABCs), defined as CD11b+CD11c+CD21low/-T-bet+, increase with age, and accounts for a reduction in the generation of new B cells, the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and autoantibody production in autoimmune diseases (Rubtsova et al., 2015; Hagen and Derudder, 2020; Pietrobon et al., 2020; Sachinidis et al., 2020; Kim C.W. et al., 2021).

TABLE 6 | Observed fluctuation in naïve and transitional B cells in adult COVID-19 patients.

B cell subset	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References
CD27-IgD+ naïve	No change (%)	Severe ^γ	Moderate ^ε	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe ^γ	Mild ⁸	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe ^γ	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Moderate ^ε	Mild ⁸	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Moderate ^ε	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Mild ^δ	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Cases	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Recovered	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Severe ^κ	Prepandemic controls	Acosta-Ampudia et al., 2021
gD+CD38–/+ naïve	No change (%)	Severe ^η	Critical	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ^η	Mild/moderate ^{θ}	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Severe ^η	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Critical	Mild/moderate ^{θ}	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	No change (%)	Critical	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	No change (%)	$Mild/moderate^{\theta}$	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
CD21+CD27– naïve	No change (%)	Recovered	HD	Long et al., 2021
Naïve	Increase (%)	Mild/	HD	Huang et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Moderate/	HD	Huang et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Cured/	HD	Huang et al., 2021
CD24hiCD38hi transitional	Reduction (%)	Severe ^y	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	Severe ^γ	Convalescent	Shuwa et al., 2021
CD24+CD38hi transitional	No change (%)	Severe ^η	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Severe ^η	Mild/moderate ^{θ}	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Critical	Mild/moderate ^{θ}	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Mild/moderate ^{θ}	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
CD27-CD38int CD24+ transitional	Reduction (%)	ICU	Outpatients	Woodruff et al., 2020

B cell subset, peripheral blood B cell subset analyzed in the reported studies; (%), as frequency values; (#), as absolute number; Cases, COVID-19 patients (irrespective of severity); ICU, intensive care unit patients; Recovered, non-hospitalized subjects who had recovered from SARS-CoV-2 infection; HD, healthy donors; Outpatients, outpatients with milder disease.

 $^{\gamma}Patients$ with > 10 L or 60% supplemental oxygen, managed in ICU.

 $^{\delta}$ Patients with < 3L or 28% supplemental oxygen.

^ePatients with < 10L or <60% supplemental oxygen, requiring non-invasive ventilation (NIV) or continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP).

Patients with clinical signs of pneumonia with one of the following: respiratory rate > 30 breaths/min, severe respiratory distress, or SpO₂ < 90% on room air.

¹¹Patients experiencing the following: respiratory failure, respiratory rate > 30 bpm, oxygen saturation < 92% at rest, arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂)/fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) (PaO₂/FiO₂) ratio < 300 mmHg.

 $^{ heta}$ Fever, signs of airway disease, with or without a tomographic image indicating pneumonia.

^LAny of the following: requirement for mechanical ventilation, shock, or concomitant organ failure.

^k Respiratory distress, i.e., \geq 30 breaths/min. in resting state, oxygen saturation of 90% or less on room air; or arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂)/fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) of 300 or less.

No stratification criteria provided.

As regards B cell homeostasis in COVID19+ patients, to the best of our knowledge only one age focused study explored the effect of immunosenescence on memory B cell dynamics, demonstrating that percentage of CD21+CD27+ memory B cells exhibited a direct correlation with patients age (Kuri-Cervantes et al., 2020). Data from both COVID-19 patients (Lenti et al., 2020; Ogega et al., 2021; Shuwa et al., 2021) and recovered COVID-19 subjects (Long et al., 2021) showed no effects in terms of memory B cell accumulation, resembling those reports documenting a similar scenario during aging (Crooke et al., 2019). These findings were not confirmed by all the available studies, mainly because of differences in the patient stratification criteria, insufficient sample size and inconsistency in the evaluated immunophenotypic features that were used to

detect the desired subset (**Table 7**; Carsetti et al., 2020; Lenti et al., 2020; Mathew et al., 2020; Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020; Acosta-Ampudia et al., 2021; Shuwa et al., 2021).

Only depletion of peripheral IgM+ memory B cells seems to be a hallmark of SARS-CoV-2 infection (Carsetti et al., 2020; Lenti et al., 2020). Intriguingly, the percentage of IgM+ and switched memory B cells showed an inverse correlation with symptoms duration in convalescent patients, with no age or gender related influence (Newell et al., 2021).

As expected in immunocompetent subjects, seroconversion is positively associated with frequency of switched memory B cells, IgM+ memory B cells, CD19+CD27hiIgM-IgD+ c-delta switched memory B cells, and CD19+ CD11c+Tbet+ ABCs, whose percentages are higher in patients with a high seroconversion index vs. patients with a low seroconversion index (Galbraith et al., 2021).

Late memory CD27-IgD- Double negative (DN) B cells are exhausted memory cells that actively contribute to the inflammatory status associated with aging by secreting TNF- α and IL-6 (Bulati et al., 2014; Crooke et al., 2019; Fraussen et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2019; Hagen and Derudder, 2020; Pietrobon et al., 2020).

DN B lymphocytes reached a statistically significant expansion in both COVID-19 patients and convalescent subjects vs. controls (**Table 7**; Mathew et al., 2020; Shuwa et al., 2021). However, at an individual patient level, DN B cell fraction tends to decrease

TABLE 7 | Observed fluctuation in B cells in adult COVID-19 patients.

B cells	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References
CD21+CD27+ memory	Reduction (%)	Severe ^ρ	HD	Kuri-Cervantes et al., 2020
CD27+lgD+ unswitched memory	No change (%)	Severe ^y	Moderate ^ε	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe ^γ	$Mild^\delta$	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe ^y	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Moderate ^ε	$Mild^\delta$	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Moderate ^ε	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	$Mild^\delta$	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Severe ^κ	Prepandemic controls	Acosta-Ampudia et al., 202
	Reduction (%)	Severe ^η	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Critical	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Cases	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
gD+lgM+ unswitched memory	No change (%)	Severe	Mild	Ogega et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe	HD	Ogega et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Mild	HD	Ogega et al., 2021
CD27+IgD- switched memory	No change (%)	Severe ^γ	Moderate ^ε	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe ^y	Mild ⁸	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe ^y	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Moderate ^ε	Mild ⁸	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Moderate ^ε	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	No change (%)	$Mild^\delta$	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	Reduction (%)	Severe ^η	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Cases	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
CD27-IgM- switched memory	Reduction (%)	Severe ^ç	Mild ^π	Carsetti et al., 2020;
CD38+/-IgM-IgD- switched memory	No change (%)	Severe ^λ	Mildµ	Ogega et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe ^λ	HD	Ogega et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Mild ^µ	HD	Ogega et al., 2021
	No change (#)	Cases	HD	Lenti et al., 2020
	No change (#)	Cases	Hypofunction ^v	Lenti et al., 2020
	No change (#)	Cases	Splenectomy ^ξ	Lenti et al., 2020
CD27+IgD-IgM-CD38+ switched memory	Increase (%)	Severe ^ĸ	Prepandemic controls	Acosta-Ampudia et al., 2021
gM+ memory	Reduction (%)	Severe ^ç	Asymptomatic	Carsetti et al., 2020
given monory	Reduction (%)	Severe ^ç	Mild ^π	Carsetti et al., 2020
	Reduction (%)	Cases	HD	Lenti et al., 2020
gM-lgG- memory	Increase (%)	Severe ^ç	Asymptomatic	Carsetti et al., 2020
givi igo monory	Increase (%)	Severe ^ç	Mild ^π	Carsetti et al., 2020
CD27-IgD- double negative memory	Increase (%)	Severe ^y	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021;
5521-igb- double negative memory	Increase (%)	Convalescent	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021;
	Increase (%)	Convaiescent	Recovered	Mathew et al., 2021,
	. ,	Cases	HD	
CD38-/+CD24-CD21+CD11c- DN1	Increase (%) Reduction (%)	Cases Severe ^η	ΠD Mild/moderate ^θ	Mathew et al., 2020 Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
JUJU-7+UU24-UU21+UU110-UN1	Reduction (%)		Mild/moderate [®]	
	Reduction (%)	Critical ^L		Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
CD38-CD24-CD21-CD11c+ DN2	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	Mild/moderate ^e	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	Critical ^L	Sosa-Hernández et al., 202

(Continued)

TABLE 7 | Continued

B cells	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References
CD38-/+CD24-CD21-CD11c- DN3	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Critical	$Mild/moderate^{\theta}$	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Critical ^L	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020

B cell subset, peripheral blood B cell subset analyzed in the reported studies; BAL, bronchoalveolar lavage; (%), as frequency values; (#), as absolute number; Cases, COVID-19 patients (irrespective of severity); ICU, intensive care unit patients; Recovered, non-hospitalized subjects who had recovered from SARS-CoV-2 infection; HD, healthy donors; Outpatients, outpatients with milder disease; ARDS, acute respiratory distress syndrome; NCU, normal care unit patients; NCU (non-COVID-19), normal care unit patients treated for other reasons than COVID-19; Asymptomatic, patients who tested positive but had no symptoms.

Pincluded subjects were in the following condition(s): high flow nasal cannula-noninvasive, ventilator (non-ARDS), mild to severe ARDS, and ECMO.

 $^{\gamma}Patients$ with > 10L or 60% supplemental oxygen, managed in ICU.

 $^{\delta}$ Patients with < 3L or 28% supplemental oxygen.

^ePatients with < 10L or < 60% supplemental oxygen, requiring non-invasive ventilation (NIV) or continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP).

Patients with clinical signs of pneumonia with one of the following: respiratory rate > 30 breaths/min, severe respiratory distress, or SpO2 < 90% on room air.

¹¹Patients experiencing the following: respiratory failure, respiratory rate > 30 bpm, oxygen saturation < 92% at rest, arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂)/fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) (PaO₂/FiO₂) ratio < 300 mmHg.

 $^{ heta}$ Fever, signs of airway disease, with or without a tomographic image indicating pneumonia.

Any of the following: requirement for mechanical ventilation, shock, or concomitant organ failure.

^kRespiratory distress, i.e., ≥ 30 breaths/min. in resting state, oxygen saturation of 90% or less on room air; or arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂)/fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) of 300 or less.

 $^{\lambda}$ Hospitalized patients.

^µAmbulatory patients.

^vSpleen hypofunction patients.

^čPatients who underwent splenectomy for trauma.

^T Patients requiring no hospitalization and experiencing symptoms like with fever, myalgia, and fatigue without obvious chest high resolution computed tomography findings for COVID-19.

from acute disease to convalescent status (Newell et al., 2021; Shuwa et al., 2021). A keen characterization of DN B cell subsets, revealed that the increase of DN B cells in severe and critical patients may be attributable to an augmented CD38–CD24– CD21–CD11c+ DN2 and CD38–/+CD24–CD21–CD11c– DN3 fraction (**Table 7**; Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020).

As regards SARS-CoV-2 specific memory, widening evidences demonstrated that generation of SARS-CoV-2 memory B cells initiates early after infection/symptoms onset and is durable (Hartley et al., 2020; Abayasingam et al., 2021; Byazrova et al., 2021; Carsetti et al., 2021; Dan et al., 2021; Gaebler et al., 2021; Long et al., 2021; Ogega et al., 2021; Sakharkar et al., 2021; Sherina et al., 2021; Sokal et al., 2021; Tong et al., 2021). It remains to be deepened if sex may play a role in influencing the time of onset of B cell memory in COVID-19 subjects.

Plasma Blasts and Antibody Secreting Cells

Aging hampers the proper differentiation of B cells into plasma cells (Ventura et al., 2017; Crooke et al., 2019; Hazeldine and Lord, 2020). This phenomenon seems to be avoided during SARS-CoV-2 infection, since the plasmblast fraction of B cells was reported as augmented in all patients whereas levels tend to be restored in convalescent and recovered patients (Mathew et al., 2020; Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020; Long et al., 2021; Shuwa et al., 2021; Wildner et al., 2021; **Table 8**). This piece of data reflects an infection related reactive expansion, given that the percentage of plasma cells positively correlates with the fraction of IgG+ and IgA+ positive B cells (Shuwa et al., 2021). The increase in plasma cells showed a direct correlation with an oligoclonal expansion of antibody clones (Kuri-Cervantes et al., 2020). Reported evidences

for COVID-19 seem to recall the contraction of the B cell repertoire which was demonstrated in older people, although the involvement of the same molecular mechanisms remains to be elucidated (Aiello et al., 2019; Crooke et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2019; Lian et al., 2020). Obviously, plasma cells exhibited a significant association with seroconversion, with frequencies being higher in patients with high seroconversion indices vs. those with low ones (Galbraith et al., 2021).

Similar results were replicated at the lung level. In fact, the total number and proportion of BAL plasma cells was increased in COVID-19 patients (according with disease severity) vs. healthy controls (Kim C.W. et al., 2021).

B Cell Trafficking Phenotype

B cell trafficking phenotype exhibits profound modification during aging (Bulati et al., 2014).

During acute COVID-19, B cells showed a reduced expression of CXCR3, CXCR5 and integrin β 7 according to disease severity, with CXCR3 and CXCR5 level normalization in convalescent subjects (Shuwa et al., 2021).

With a detailed characterization of B cell subsets, it was documented that CXCR5 expression was reduced on naïve, plasmablasts, and memory B cells, including DN memory B cells (Kuri-Cervantes et al., 2020; Mathew et al., 2020). This is a very intriguing piece of data, since CXCR5 did not show any statistically significant difference in its expression on B lymphocyte subsets comparing young and old subjects (Bulati et al., 2014), thus it is not expected to be differentially modulated in COVID-19 as a consequence of aging.

BAL B lymphocytes from patients with mild disease express CCR6 and CXCR3, whereas BAL B cells from patients with

TABLE 8 | Observed fluctuation in ASCs and plasmablasts in adult COVID-19 patients.

ASCs and plasmablasts	Observation	Analyzed patients	Compared group(s)	References
CD19+/-IgM-IgD-CD38+/+ ASCs	No change (%)	Severe ^λ	Mild ^µ	Ogega et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Severe ^λ	HD	Ogega et al., 2021
	No change (%)	Mild ^µ	HD	Ogega et al., 2021
CD19+CD21–CD27+CD38+/high ASCs	No change	Recovered ⁵	HD	Long et al., 2021
CD27hiCD38hi plasmblasts	Increase (%)	Severe ^γ	Convalescent	Shuwa et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Severe ^γ	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Moderate ^ε	Convalescent	Shuwa et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Moderate ^ε	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Mild ⁸	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
	Increase (%)	Convalescent	HD	Shuwa et al., 2021
CD27+CD38+ plasmablasts	Increase (%)	Cases	Recovered ^p	Mathew et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Cases	HD	Mathew et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Cases	HD	Wildner et al., 2021;
	Increase (%)	ICU	Outpatients	Woodruff et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	ICU	HD	Woodruff et al., 2020
CD27+ CD38hi ASC/plasmablasts	Increase (%)	Severe ^η	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Critical	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	$Mild/moderate^{\theta}$	HD	Sosa-Hernández et al., 2020
CD38+CD24– plasmablasts	Increase (%)	Severe ^ç	Asymptomatic	Carsetti et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Severe ^ç	Mild ^π	Carsetti et al., 2020
	Increase (%)	Severe ^ç	Contacts ^o	Carsetti et al., 2020

ASCs, antibody secreting cells; (%), as frequency values; Cases, COVID-19 patients (irrespective of severity); ICU, intensive care unit patients; HD, healthy donors; Outpatients, outpatients with milder disease; Asymptomatic, patients who tested positive but had no symptoms.

 $^{\gamma}$ Patients with > 10 L or 60% supplemental oxygen, managed in ICU.

⁸Patients with < 3 L or 28% supplemental oxygen.

^ePatients with < 10 L or <60% supplemental oxygen, requiring non-invasive ventilation (NIV) or continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP).

⁵Patients with clinical signs of pneumonia with one of the following: respiratory rate > 30 breaths/min, severe respiratory distress, or SpO₂ < 90% on room air.

¹¹Patients experiencing the following: respiratory failure, respiratory rate > 30 bpm, oxygen saturation < 92% at rest, arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂)/fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) (PaO₂/FiO₂) ratio < 300 mmHg.

 $^{\theta}$ Fever, signs of airway disease, with or without a tomographic image indicating pneumonia.

^LAny of the following: requirement for mechanical ventilation, shock, or concomitant organ failure.

^k Respiratory distress, i.e., \geq 30 breaths/min. in resting state, oxygen saturation of 90% or less on room air; or arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂)/fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) of 300 or less.

^λHospitalized patients.

 $^{\mu}$ Ambulatory patients.

^vSpleen hypofunction patients.

^čPatients who underwent splenectomy for trauma.

^TPatients requiring no hospitalization and experiencing symptoms like with fever, myalgia, and fatigue without obvious chest high resolution computed tomography findings for COVID-19.

^PNon-hospitalized subjects who had recovered from SARS-CoV-2 infection.

⁵Adults with a prior positive COVID-19 PCR test who met the definition of recovery based on the guideline from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. ^a Contacts of SARS-CoV-2 confirmed cases who were negative by qPCR.

severe disease express more CXCR4 vs patients with mild disease and healthy subjects (Kim C.W. et al., 2021). Given that both CCR6 and CXCR4 are involved in B cell circulation to lymph nodes, whereas CXCR3 (whose gene is located on X chromosome)¹ rules B cell attraction to inflammation sites (Kunkel and Butcher, 2003), it would be worth deepening if BAL B cells from COVID-19 exhibit different B cell trafficking features according to both severity and gender. Also, in severe patients, BAL plasma cells had an increased expression of CCR2 and CCR10 (Kim C.W. et al., 2021). CCR2 is normally expressed on normal plasma cells, is renowned for mediating homing aberrant

plasma cells in multiple myeloma and is downregulated during B cell maturation, while CCR10 is highly expressed by IgA producing plasma cells (Vande Broek et al., 2003; Flaishon et al., 2004; Shirakawa et al., 2008; Hu et al., 2011). Also, in terminally differentiating B cells CCR10 expression may be induced by 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3, a known modulator of B cell homeostasis that showed a correlation with COVID-19 severity (Martens et al., 2020; Notz et al., 2021).

Functional Considerations About B Cells

As previously mentioned, inflammageing -defined as the balance between inflammatory and anti-inflammatory mechanisms pending toward inflammation- is a typical hallmark of an aging immune system (Ventura et al., 2017; Hazeldine and Lord, 2020).

¹https://www.genecards.org/cgi-bin/carddisp.pl?gene=CXCR3&keywords=cxcr3 (accessed July 22, 2021).

COVID-19 offers the chance to improve the knowledge about the deregulation of molecular mechanisms ruling the production of inflammatory mediators. In fact, cytokine storm, characterized by increased circulating cytokine levels, with potential lifethreatening acute systemic inflammation and secondary organ dysfunction, is a prominent feature of SARS-CoV-2 infection especially in severe cases (see section "Cytokine storm in COVID-19 disease").

As expected, after TLR9 agonist CpGB stimulation the percentage of IL-6+ B cells increased in acute COVID-19 patients vs. healthy controls and convalescent patients irrespective of possible chest X-ray abnormality (Shuwa et al., 2021). On the contrary, the percentage of IL-10+ B cells was significantly lower in patients with persistent lung pathology vs. healthy controls and normal chest X-ray subjects (Shuwa et al., 2021). However, analyzed at an individual patient level, the frequency of IL-10+ B cells increased from acute phase to convalescent status (Shuwa et al., 2021).

Transcriptomic analysis revealed that B cell immune answers are predominant in BAL fluid (Cavalli et al., 2020), and that BAL B cells from severe COVID-19 patients were highly activated by TNF- α signaling (Kim C.W. et al., 2021). B-cell activating factor (BAFF) receptor and transmembrane activator and calcium modulator and cyclophilin ligand interactor were expressed by all patients, but in severe patients there was an upregulation of apoptosis related gene transcription, probably mediated by BAFF signaling (Kim C.W. et al., 2021).

Study of peripheral B lymphocytes revealed a pattern of activation/exhaustion, characterized by increased frequency of CD69 and CD95 in hospitalized subjects vs. healthy controls and convalescent patients, and by an increase in PD1 frequency in non-hospitalized (convalescent) individuals vs. both healthy controls and COVID-19 hospitalized patients (Files et al., 2021). This may mirror the establishment of efficient mechanisms modulating strength and durability of B cell responses in convalescent subjects, given that both CD69 and CD95 are markers of lymphocyte activation (Catlett and Bishop, 1999; Vazquez et al., 2009), whereas PD1 is an immune modulator (Wang et al., 2019). Also, CD95 expression is increased on CD27+ B cells from older individuals vs. younger donors (Chong et al., 2005), and might be involved in age related differences in the regulation of anti-SARS-CoV-2 immune responses.

MESENCHYMAL STEM CELL TRANSPLANTATION IN COVID-19 PATIENTS: RATIONALE AND RESULTS

Mesenchymal stem cells, also known as mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) (Viswanathan et al., 2019), are heterogeneously multipotent stem cells that can be isolated from a variety of sources, including umbilical cord, human tissues like bone marrow and adipose tissue (using the stromal vascular fraction – SVF), and menstrual blood (Blaber et al., 2012; Kallmeyer and Pepper, 2015; Elgaz et al., 2019; Copcu, 2020; Gentile and Sterodimas, 2020a,b; Jeyaraman et al., 2020;

Juárez-Navarro et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2020; Barros et al., 2021; Gentile, 2021; Mazini et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2021).

Mesenchymal stem cells are universally renowned for their unique immunomodulatory properties; once led into circulation, they are able to reach inflammation sites (Kallmeyer and Pepper, 2015), where they exert an inhibitory function on neutrophils, monocytes, dendritic cells, NK, B and T lymphocytes (Elgaz et al., 2019; Juárez-Navarro et al., 2020; Kim H. et al., 2020; Moradinasab et al., 2021). MSC ruled immunomodulation is performed by direct cell-cell interaction (through the expression of molecules like B7H1, PD-L1, and PD-L2) (Elgaz et al., 2019; Lin et al., 2020) as well as by a paracrine action, mediated by vehiculation of anti-inflammatory mediators through extracellular vesicles (Schulman et al., 2018; Martin-Rufino et al., 2019; Gowen et al., 2020; Juárez-Navarro et al., 2020; Kim H. et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2020; O'Driscoll, 2020; Wang J. et al., 2020; Gentile, 2021; Raghav et al., 2021; Su et al., 2021) and by cytokine (IL-10, transforming growth factor- β , TNF-stimulated gene 6 protein, IFN- γ) and soluble factor indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase, prostaglandinE2, nitric oxide) secretion (Schulman et al., 2018; Elgaz et al., 2019; Martin-Rufino et al., 2019; Juárez-Navarro et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2020; Shetty, 2020; Gentile, 2021; Raghav et al., 2021). MSC polarization toward an anti-inflammatory phenotype is exacerbated by TLR stimulation elicited by pathogen components, like viral RNA (Waterman et al., 2010). Also, MSCs retain a differentiation potential making them ideal contributors to tissue repair (Blaber et al., 2012; Kallmeyer and Pepper, 2015; Elgaz et al., 2019; Copcu, 2020; Jeyaraman et al., 2020; Juárez-Navarro et al., 2020; Rogers et al., 2020).

As suggested by successful MSC use in a number of pathological scenarios involving uncontrolled immune activation with consequent tissue damage, like for example H9N2 induced acute lung injury, ARDS, autoimmune diseases and graft-versushost disease (Waterman et al., 2010; Elgaz et al., 2019; Coelho et al., 2020; Yen et al., 2020; Barros et al., 2021; Musial and Gorska-Ponikowska, 2021; Su et al., 2021), the undeniable immunomodulatory and inflammation relieving properties of MSCs make them putative candidates as rejuvenating factors for the older immune system, on the basis of the documented ability to reduce pro-inflammatory mediators and to promote the expansion of regulatory lymphocyte subsets (Yeo et al., 2021). Also, MSC transplantation can contribute to the amelioration of aging frailty (Schulman et al., 2018; Florea et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2019), but MSC may exhibit age related deteriorating functions linked to inflammageing, especially in terms of alterations in number and characteristics of extracellular vesicles, DAMP production, excessive IL-6 release, loss of MSC ability to shift monocyte polarization toward M2, and triggering of ineffective hemopoiesis (Tsuruhara et al., 2017; Lee and Yu, 2020). Potency also seems to be affected by aging in bone marrow derived MSCs (BM-MSCs), but not in MSC obtained from adipose tissue (Rogers et al., 2020).

Assuming also that MSCs are negative for ACE2 and TMPRSS2 SARS-CoV-2 receptor complex (Leng et al., 2020; Moradinasab et al., 2021), MSC transplantation or infusion of MSC derived extracellular vesicles in the context of a deregulated



immune response, cytokine storm and lung injury elicited during COVID-19 (especially in older people) appeared as a promising strategy (Gentile and Sterodimas, 2020a,b; Gorman et al., 2020; Monguió-Tortajada et al., 2020; Qin and Zhao, 2020; Rogers et al., 2020; Tsuchiya et al., 2020; Gentile, 2021; Raza et al., 2021).

Following the first paper by Leng et al. (2020) (see below), a number of data extrapolated from ongoing and concluded clinical studies on COVID-19 patients using both BM-MSCs and umbilical cord MSCs (UC-MSCs), together with reports employing MSCs from other sources or MSC vesicles, with positive results have been published so far (Al-Khawaga and Abdelalim, 2020; Barkama et al., 2020; Gentile et al., 2020; Golchin et al., 2020; Gorman et al., 2020; Liang et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2020; Meng F. et al., 2020; Sánchez-Guijo et al., 2020; Sengupta et al., 2020; Shu et al., 2021; Gentile, 2021; Jamshidi et al., 2021; Kouroupis et al., 2021; Moradinasab et al., 2021; Payares-Herrera et al., 2021; Sharma and Zhao, 2021).

In that paper, Leng et al. (2020) showed that MSCs cured or significantly improved the functional outcomes of seven patients without observed adverse effects. After treatment, the peripheral lymphocytes were increased, the C-reactive protein as well as TNF- α decreased, while IL-10 increased, and the overactivated cytokine-secreting immune cells CXCR3+CD4+ T cells, CXCR3+CD8+ T cells, and CXCR3+ NK cells disappeared in 3–6 days. In addition, a group of CD14+CD11c+CD11bmid regulatory DC cell population dramatically increased. Therefore, the intravenous transplantation of MSCs was safe and effective for treatment in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia, especially for patients in critically severe condition.

It was then demonstrated that both BM- and UC-MSCs showed to be able to improve COVID-19 survival rates (Shu et al., 2020; Häberle et al., 2021; Lanzoni et al., 2021; Moradinasab et al., 2021), symptoms (Liang et al., 2020; Meng F. et al., 2020; Shu et al., 2020; Tang et al., 2020; Zengin et al., 2020; Hashemian et al., 2021; Moradinasab et al., 2021), pulmonary functions (Liang et al., 2020; Meng F. et al., 2020; Shu et al., 2020; Zengin et al., 2020; Häberle et al., 2021; Moradinasab et al., 2021), inflammatory marker levels (CRP, TNF-α, neutrophil extracellular traps, IL-1RA, IL-5, IL-6, IL-18, IL-27, IL-17E/IL-25, IL-17F, CXCL-1, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, D-dimer) (Guo Z. et al., 2020; Liang et al., 2020; Tang et al., 2020; Zengin et al., 2020; Zhang Y. et al., 2020; Hashemian et al., 2021; Lanzoni et al., 2021; Moradinasab et al., 2021) and lymphopenia (Guo Z. et al., 2020; Liang et al., 2020; Zhu Y. et al., 2020) after few days of treatment. Placenta derived MSCs (Barkama et al., 2020), adipose derived MSCs (Sánchez-Guijo et al., 2020) and menstrual blood derived MSCs (Xu et al., 2021) showed to have similar effects.

In the context of the possible therapeutic use of MSCs to promote lung regeneration in COVID19, adipose and bone marrow derived MSCs are able to contribute to lung regeneration in animal models, by differentiation into type 2 alveolar epithelial cells and their immunomodulatory potential; in the case of adipose derived MSC, the success of both mechanisms is facilitated by their large availability (Copcu, 2020; Behnke et al., 2020; Gentile and Sterodimas, 2020a,b; Rogers et al., 2020). The same regenerative properties are shown by SVF, whose cellular components secrete pro-angiogenetic and immune-modulating mediators (Gentile and Sterodimas, 2020a,b; Gentile, 2021).

As regards the preference for autologous rather than allogenic alternatives, the choice is influenced by limited time availability as well as intrinsic dependence of MSC properties on the age of the donor; in fact, given that also MSC experience senescence (Lee and Yu, 2020), the choice of allogenic MSCs or more senescence resistant adipose derived MSC may be recommendable in older patients (Rogers et al., 2020; Moradinasab et al., 2021).

Molecular mechanisms triggered by MSC infusion and by exosome derived MSCs in COVID-19 patients are currently under investigation. As regards immune cell homeostasis, overactivated cytokine-secreting immune cells CXCR3+CD4+ T cells, CXCR3+CD8+ T cells, and CXCR3+ NK cells disappeared soon after the MSC transplantation (Leng et al., 2020), with a general increase in both percentage and count of B lymphocytes, NK, CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ cells (Liang et al., 2020; Sengupta et al., 2020; Tang et al., 2020; Zhang Y. et al., 2020; Zhu Y. et al., 2020) up to the decrease of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (Liang et al., 2020). This is nice food for thought, since MSC immunomodulation activity is exerted through inhibition of B, CD4+ and CD8+ T cell proliferation (Budoni et al., 2013; Joel et al., 2019; Moradinasab et al., 2021). Instead, MSC action on neutrophils is mainly functional rather than "numerical" (Li and Hua, 2017; Joel et al., 2019; Lin et al., 2020; Moradinasab et al., 2021), but the available data demonstrate that in more severe COVID-19 cases and in deceased patients neutrophils are also more abundant other that involved in cytokine storm establishment (see sections "Introduction" and "Neutrophils"). It remains to be demonstrated that MSC elicited an increase in COVID-19 T and B cell numbers may be related to an increase in the proportion of Tregs or Bregs, as observed in other contexts (Joel et al., 2019; Liu J. et al., 2020; Moradinasab et al., 2021) or if the apoptotic rate in neutrophils may be increased specifically in MSC treated patients. MSCs hamper B cell differentiation into plasma cells (Tsuruhara et al., 2017; Moradinasab et al., 2021); the same effect on COVID-19 patients and eventual consequences on anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibody production deserve further investigation. In addition, MSCs alter B cell trafficking phenotype, including downregulation of CXCR4 and CXCR5 (Joel et al., 2019), that are differentially regulated in COVID-19 (see section "B Cell Trafficking Phenotype section"). Molecular changes elicited by MSC influencing recirculation of B cells to lungs in the case of SARS-CoV-2 infection are still unexplored. Finally, given DN B cell increase in both immunosenescence and COVID-19 (see section "Memory B cells"), the potential rejuvenating effect of MSC on the exhausted subset, like DN B cells, might represent a putative mechanism of action contributing to the amelioration of these inflammatory conditions.

Similarly, (as mentioned above) CD14+CD11c+CD11bmid regulatory DC cell population increased after MSC transplantation, (Leng et al., 2020). The origin of CD14+CD11c+CD11bmid regulatory DC cells deserve to be assessed, because (I) CD11c+ DCs are reported as reduced in COVID-19 patients and show multiple functional alterations [see section "Dendritic cells (DCs)"] (II) the exploration of such an ontological pattern would put some more light on monocyte dynamics. CD11c is highly expressed by conventional DC2, powerful stimulators of naïve T cells (Rhodes et al., 2019) reduced in COVID-19 [see section "Dendritic cells (DCs)"] and by monocyte derived DCs (Delirezh et al., 2011; Boyette et al., 2017; Rhodes et al., 2019; Chometon et al., 2020). Despite this detail, no functional defects in conventional DC2 or monocyte derived DCs generation were studied in SARS-CoV-2 infected individuals so far. Data for better IL-1β, IL-6, and TNF-α producer classical macrophages (CD16-) are instead more commonly settled on detecting no variation in their frequency (see section "Monocytes and macrophages"). Since all monocytes are able to differentiate into macrophages, but (I) classical monocytes have a superior ability to differentiate into monocyte derived DCs (expressing CD11c) and (II) the relationship between conventional DC2 and monocytes is controversial (Delirezh et al., 2011; Boyette et al., 2017; Rhodes et al., 2019; Chometon et al., 2020), it would be worth discovering what molecular pathways are activated in classical monocytes by interacting with MSCs that may influence their immunophenotypic and functional faith.

Also, DCs exhibit a number of functional alterations in COVID-19, including reduced expression of CD86 and HLA-DR, whose upregulation is specifically hampered by MSCs during DC maturation (Joel et al., 2019). It remains to be assessed if this effect of MSCs on DCs is summed to that elicited by the microenvironment in SARS-CoV-2 infected tissue.

Together, these results underscore the role of MSCs in improving COVID-19 patient outcomes via maintenance of immune homeostasis, i.e., improving immunosenescence and relieving immunopathology.

CONCLUSION

Summarizing clinical findings discussed in the present paper, it is clear that the synergistic effects of immunosenescence and inflammageing (i.e., immunopathology) in older individuals have an important impact on their immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 infection (Figure 1) and should be taken into account whenever looking for factors influencing mortality rates in COVID-19 (Salimi and Hamlyn, 2020; Bajaj et al., 2021; Chen Y. et al., 2021). Changes in innate immune responses and the failure to trigger an effective acquired immune response (i.e., immunosenescence), in combination with a higher proinflammatory status (i.e., immunopathology) should explain why older people do not appropriately control viral replication and the potential clinical consequences triggered by a cytokine storm, also reducing the chances of proper recovery after infection resolution (Salimi and Hamlyn, 2020; Bajaj et al., 2021; Chen Y. et al., 2021). This awareness is critical to the implementation of any strategy aimed at improving protective immunity and vaccine efficacy against SARS-CoV-2 in the older population

(Bajaj et al., 2021). Regarding the gender differences in SARS-CoV-2 infection outcome reported in the present review, most studies are observational only and do not take into account that males and females may have several pre-existing conditions affecting the chance of successful aging, hence involving different responses to virus infection (Leng and Margolick, 2020; Mauvais-Jarvis et al., 2020; Sampathkumar et al., 2020; Ligotti et al., 2021; Lio et al., 2021). The key roles of immunosenescence and immunopathology in the outcome of SARS-CoV-2 infection are further supported by the beneficial results obtained with MSC infusion that, as previously discussed, act restoring immune homeostasis and contributing to lung repair (Gentile and Sterodimas, 2020a,b; Gorman et al., 2020; Monguió-Tortajada et al., 2020; Qin and Zhao, 2020; Rogers et al., 2020; Tsuchiya et al., 2020; Gentile, 2021; Raza et al., 2021). Therefore, the enhancement of the efficacy of the acquired immune response and the relief of the pro-inflammatory status

REFERENCES

- Abayasingam, A., Balachandran, H., Agapiou, D., Hammoud, M., Rodrigo, C., Keoshkerian, E., et al. (2021). Long-term persistence of RBD⁺ memory B cells encoding neutralizing antibodies in SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Cell Rep. Med.* 2:100228. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2021.100228
- Acosta-Ampudia, Y., Monsalve, D. M., Rojas, M., Rodríguez, Y., Gallo, J. E., Salazar-Uribe, J. C., et al. (2021). COVID-19 convalescent plasma composition and immunological effects in severe patients. *J. Autoimmun.* 118:102598. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2021.102598
- Agrati, C., Sacchi, A., Bordoni, V., Cimini, E., Notari, S., Grassi, G., et al. (2020). Expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in patients with severe coronavirus disease (COVID-19). *Cell Death Differ.* 27, 3196–3207. doi: 10. 1038/s41418-020-0572-6
- Agrawal, A., Agrawal, S., and Gupta, S. (2017). Role of dendritic cells in inflammation and loss of tolerance in the elderly. *Front. Immunol.* 8:896. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00896
- Aiello, A., Farzaneh, F., Candore, G., Caruso, C., Davinelli, S., Gambino, C. M., et al. (2019). Immunosenescence and its hallmarks: how to oppose aging strategically? a review of potential options for therapeutic intervention. *Front. Immunol.* 10:2247. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02247
- Akbar, A. N., and Gilroy, D. W. (2020). Aging immunity may exacerbate COVID-19. Science 369, 256–257. doi: 10.1126/science.abb0762
- Akbari, H., Tabrizi, R., Lankarani, K. B., Aria, H., Vakili, S., Asadian, F., et al. (2020). The role of cytokine profile and lymphocyte subsets in the severity of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Life Sci.* 258:118167. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118167
- Al-Khawaga, S., and Abdelalim, E. M. (2020). Potential application of mesenchymal stem cells and their exosomes in lung injury: an emerging therapeutic option for COVID-19 patients. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11:437. doi: 10.1186/s13287-020-01963-6
- Alkhouli, M., Nanjundappa, A., Annie, F., Bates, M. C., and Bhatt, D. L. (2020). Sex differences in case fatality rate of COVID-19: insights from a multinational registry. *Mayo. Clin. Proc.* 95, 1613–1620. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2020. 05.014
- Alon, R., Sportiello, M., Kozlovski, S., Kumar, A., Reilly, E. C., Zarbock, A., et al. (2021). Leukocyte trafficking to the lungs and beyond: lessons from influenza for COVID-19. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 21, 49–64. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-00 470-2
- Arunachalam, P. S., Wimmers, F., Mok, C. K. P., Perera, R. A. P. M., Scott, M., Hagan, T., et al. (2020). Systems biological assessment of immunity to mild versus severe COVID-19 infection in humans. *Science*. 369, 1210–1220. doi: 10.1126/science.abc6261
- Baj, J., Karakuła-Juchnowicz, H., Teresiński, G., Buszewicz, G., Ciesielka, M., Sitarz, E., et al. (2020). COVID-19: specific and non-specific clinical

should be an important issue both for SARS-CoV-2 infection resolution as well as for the appropriate generation of immunity upon vaccination.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors contributed to draft the manuscript, revised the manuscript, and approved the final version. ML, FP, and CC wrote the final version.

FUNDING

Original work performed by GC, CC, GA, and AA is funded by Improved Vaccination Strategies for Older Adults granted by European Commission (Horizon 2020 ID 848166).

manifestations and symptoms: the current state of knowledge. J. Clin. Med. 9:1753.

- Bajaj, V., Gadi, N., Spihlman, A. P., Wu, S. C., Choi, C. H., and Moulton, V. R. (2021). Aging, immunity,and COVID-19: how age influences the host immune response to coronavirus infections? *Front. Physiol.* 11:571416. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2020.571416
- Barbé-Tuana, F., Funchal, G., Schmitz, C. R. R., Maurmann, R. M., and Bauer, M. E. (2020). The interplay between immunosenescence and agerelated diseases. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 42, 545–557. doi: 10.1007/s00281-020-0 0806-z
- Barkama, R., Mayo, A., Paz, A., Solopov, A., Mann, T., Vadasz, Z., et al. (2020). Placenta-derived cell therapy to treat patients with respiratory failure due to coronavirus disease 2019. *Crit. Care Explor.* 2:e0207. doi: 10.1097/CCE. 000000000000207
- Barros, I., Silva, A., de Almeida, L. P., and Miranda, C. O. (2021). Mesenchymal stromal cells to fight SARS-CoV-2: Taking advantage of a pleiotropic therapy. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 58, 114–133. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2020.1 2.002
- Behnke, J., Kremer, S., Shahzad, T., Chao, C. M., Böttcher-Friebertshäuser, E., Morty, R. E., et al. (2020). MSC based therapies-new perspectives for the injured lung. J. Clin. Med. 9:682. doi: 10.3390/jcm9030682
- Belaid, B., Lamara Mahammad, L., Mihi, B., Rahali, S. Y., Djidjeli, A., Larab, Z., et al. (2021). T cell counts and IL-6 concentration in blood of North African COVID-19 patients are two independent prognostic factors for severe disease and death. J. Leukoc. Biol. doi: 10.1002/JLB.4COVA1020-703R. [Epub ahead of print].
- Bergenfelz, C., and Leandersson, K. (2020). The generation and identity of human myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Front. Oncol.* 10:109. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020. 00109
- Berghöfer, B., Frommer, T., Haley, G., Fink, L., Bein, G., and Hackstein, H. (2006). TLR7 ligands induce higher IFN-alpha production in females. J. Immunol. 177, 2088–2096. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.4.2088
- Bermejo-Martin, J. F., Almansa, R., Menéndez, R., Mendez, R., Kelvin, D. J., and Torres, A. (2020). Lymphopenic community acquired pneumonia as signature of severe COVID-19 infection. *J. Infect.* 80, e23–e24. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.02. 029
- Bernal, E., Gimeno, L., Alcaraz, M. J., Quadeer, A. A., Moreno, M., Martínez-Sánchez, M. V., et al. (2021). Activating killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors are associated with the severity of COVID-19. J. Infect. Dis. 224, 229–240. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiab228
- Blaber, S. P., Webster, R. A., Hill, C. J., Breen, E. J., Kuah, D., Vesey, G., et al. (2012). Analysis of in vitro secretion profiles from adipose-derived cell populations. *J. Transl. Med.* 10:172. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-10-172
- Blanco, E., Pérez-Andrés, M., Arriba-Méndez, S., Contreras-Sanfeliciano, T., Criado, I., Pelak, O., et al. (2018). Age-associated distribution of normal B-cell

and plasma cell subsets in peripheral blood. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 141, 2208–2219. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.02.017

- Boyette, L. B., Macedo, C., Hadi, K., Elinoff, B. D., Walters, J. T., Ramaswami, B., et al. (2017). Phenotype, function, and differentiation potential of human monocyte subsets. *PLoS One* 12:e0176460. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0176460
- Braun, J., Loyal, L., Frentsch, M., Wendisch, D., Georg, P., Kurth, F., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2-reactive T cells in healthy donors and patients with COVID-19. *Nature* 587, 270–274. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2598-9
- Briceño, O., Lissina, A., Wanke, K., Afonso, G., von Braun, A., Ragon, K., et al. (2016). Reduced naïve CD8(+) T-cell priming efficacy in elderly adults. *Aging Cell* 15, 14–21. doi: 10.1111/acel.12384
- Brunner, S., Herndler-Brandstetter, D., Weinberger, B., and Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. (2011). Persistent viral infections and immune aging. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 10, 362–369. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2010.08.003
- Budoni, M., Fierabracci, A., Luciano, R., Petrini, S., Di Ciommo, V., and Muraca, M. (2013). The immunosuppressive effect of mesenchymal stromal cells on B lymphocytes is mediated by membrane vesicles. *Cell Transplant.* 22, 369–379. doi: 10.3727/096368911X582769
- Bulati, M., Buffa, S., Martorana, A., Candore, G., Lio, D., Caruso, C., et al. (2014). Trafficking phenotype and production of granzyme B by double negative B cells (IgG(+)IgD(-)CD27(-)) in the elderly. *Exp. Gerontol.* 54, 123–129. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2013.12.011
- Bunders, M. J., and Altfeld, M. (2020). Implications of sex differences in immunity for SARS-CoV-2 pathogenesis and Design of Therapeutic Interventions. *Immunity* 53, 487–495. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.08.003
- Buttenschön, J., and Mattner, J. (2021). The interplay between dendritic cells and CD8 T lymphocytes is a crucial component of SARS-CoV-2 immunity. *Cell Mol. Immunol.* 18, 247–249. doi: 10.1038/s41423-020-00624-1
- Byazrova, M., Yusubalieva, G., Spiridonova, A., Efimov, G., Mazurov, D., Baranov, K., et al. (2021). Pattern of circulating SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody-secreting and memory B-cell generation in patients with acute COVID-19. *Clin. Transl. Immunol.* 10, e1245. doi: 10.1002/cti2.1245
- Cancro, M. P., Hao, Y., Scholz, J. L., Riley, R. L., Frasca, D., Dunn-Walters, D. K., et al. (2009). B cells and aging: molecules and mechanisms. *Trends Immunol.* 30, 313–318. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2009.04.005
- Cantenys-Molina, S., Fernández-Cruz, E., and Francos, P. (2021). Lopez Bernaldo de Quirós JC, Muñoz P, et al. Lymphocyte subsets early predict mortality in a large series of hospitalized COVID-19 patients in Spain. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 203, 424–432. doi: 10.1111/cei.13547
- Carsetti, R., Quinti, I., and Locatelli, F. (2021). COVID-19 pathogenesis and immunological findings across the clinical manifestation spectrum. *Curr. Opin. Pulm Med.* 27, 193–198. doi: 10.1097/MCP.000000000000775
- Carsetti, R., Zaffina, S., Piano Mortari, E., Terreri, S., Corrente, F., Capponi, C., et al. (2020). Different innate and adaptive immune responses to SARS-COV-2 infection of asymptomatic mild, and severe cases. *Front. Immunol.* 11610300. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.610300
- Caruso, C. (Ed.) (2019). Centenarians. An Example Of Positive Biology. Cham: Springer, doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-20762-5
- Catlett, I. M., and Bishop, G. A. (1999). Cutting edge: a novel mechanism for rescue of B cells from CD95/Fas-mediated apoptosis. *J. Immunol.* 163:2378-81.
- Cavalli, E., Petralia, M. C., Basile, M. S., Bramanti, A., Bramanti, P., Nicoletti, F., et al. (2020). Transcriptomic analysis of COVID-19 lungs and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid samples reveals predominant B cell activation responses to infection. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 46, 1266–1273. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2020.4702
- Channappanavar, R., Fett, C., Zhao, J., Meyerholz, D. K., and Perlman, S. (2014). Virus-specific memory CD8 T cells provide substantial protection from lethal severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection. *J. Virol.* 88, 11034– 11044. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01505-14
- Channappanavar, R., and Perlman, S. (2017). Pathogenic human coronavirus infections: causes and consequences of cytokine storm and immunopathology. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 39, 529–539. doi: 10.1007/s00281-017-0629-x
- Chen, G., Wu, D., Guo, W., Cao, Y., Huang, D., Wang, H., et al. (2020). Clinical and immunological features of severe and moderate coronavirus disease 2019. *J. Clin. Invest.* 130, 2620–2629. doi: 10.1172/JCI137244
- Chen, N., Zhou, M., Dong, X., Qu, J., Gong, F., Han, Y., et al. (2020). Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan China: a descriptive study. *Lancet* 395, 507–513.

- Chen, Q., Yu, B., Yang, Y., Huang, J., Liang, Y., Zhou, J., et al. (2021). Immunological and inflammatory profiles during acute and convalescent phases of severe/ critically ill COVID-19 patients. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 97:107685. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2021.107685
- Chen, Y., Klein, S. L., Garibaldi, B. T., Li, H., Wu, C., Osevala, N. M., et al. (2021). Aging in COVID-19: vulnerability, immunity and intervention. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 65:101205. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2020.101205
- Chen, Z., and John Wherry, E. (2020). T cell responses in patients with COVID-19. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 20, 529–536. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0402-6
- Chometon, T. Q., Siqueira, M. D. S., Sant Anna, J. C., Almeida, M. R., and Gandini, M. (2020). Martins de Almeida Nogueira AC et al. A protocol for rapid monocyte isolation and generation of singular human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *PLoS One* 15:e0231132. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231132
- Chong, Y., Ikematsu, H., Yamaji, K., Nishimura, M., Nabeshima, S., Kashiwagi, S., et al. (2005). CD27(+) (memory) B cell decrease and apoptosis-resistant CD27(-) (naive) B cell increase in aged humans: implications for age-related peripheral B cell developmental disturbances. *Int. Immunol.* 17, 383–390. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxh218
- Chua, R. L., Lukassen, S., Trump, S., Hennig, B. P., Wendisch, D., Pott, F., et al. (2020). COVID-19 severity correlates with airway epithelium-immune cell interactions identified by single-cell analysis. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 38, 970–979. doi: 10.1038/s41587-020-0602-4
- Coelho, A., Alvites, R. D., Branquinho, M. V., Guerreiro, S. G., and Maurício, A. C. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) as a potential therapeutic strategy in COVID-19 patients: literature research. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 8:602647. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.602647
- Collin, M., McGovern, N., and Haniffa, M. (2013). Human dendritic cell subsets. *Immunology* 140, 22–30. doi: 10.1111/imm.12117
- Conti, P., Ronconi, G., Caraffa, A., Gallenga, C. E., Ross, R., Frydas, I., et al. (2020). Induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 and IL-6) and lung inflammation by Coronavirus-19 (COVI-19 or SARS-CoV-2): antiinflammatory strategies. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents. 34, 327–331. doi: 10. 23812/CONTI-E
- Copcu, H. E. (2020). Potential using of fat-derived stromal cells in the treatment of active disease, and also, in both pre- and post-periods in COVID-19. Aging Dis. 11, 730–736. doi: 10.14336/AD.2020.0621
- Crooke, S. N., Ovsyannikova, I. G., Poland, G. A., and Kennedy, R. B. (2019). Immunosenescence and human vaccine immune responses. *Immun Ageing* 16:25. doi: 10.1186/s12979-019-0164-9
- Cui, N., Yan, R., Qin, C., and Zhao, J. (2020). Clinical characteristics and immune responses of 137 deceased patients with COVID-19: a retrospective study. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 10:595333. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.595333
- Cunha, L. L., Perazzio, S. F., Azzi, J., Cravedi, P., and Riella, L. V. (2020). Remodeling of the immune response with aging: immunosenescence and its potential impact on COVID-19 immune response. *Front. Immunol.* 11:1748. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01748
- d'Alessandro, M., Bergantini, L., Cameli, P., Curatola, G., Remediani, L., Sestini, P., et al. (2021). Peripheral biomarkers' panel for severe COVID-19 patients. *J. Med. Virol.* 93, 1230–1232. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26577
- Dan, J. M., Mateus, J., Kato, Y., Hastie, K. M., Yu, E. D., Faliti, C. E., et al. (2021). Immunological memory to SARS-CoV-2 assessed for up to eight months after infection. *Science* 371:eabf4063. doi: 10.1126/science.abf4063
- De Biasi, S., Meschiari, M., Gibellini, L., Bellinazzi, C., Borella, R., Fidanza, L., et al. (2020). Marked T cell activation, senescence, exhaustion and skewing towards TH17 in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. *Nat. Commun.* 11:3434. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17292-4
- de Candia, P., Prattichizzo, F., Garavelli, S., and Matarese, G. T. (2021). Cells: warriors of SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Trends Immunol.* 42, 18–30. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2020.11.002
- De Martinis, M., Franceschi, C., Monti, D., and Ginaldi, L. (2005). Inflamm-ageing and lifelong antigenic load as major determinants of ageing rate and longevity. *FEBS Lett.* 579, 2035–2039. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.02.055
- Delirezh, N., Majedi, L., Asri Rezaei, S., and Ranjkeshzadeh, H. (2011). Generation of mature monocyte-derived dendritic cells in the presence of heparin and monocyte conditioned medium: phenotypic and functional comparison. *Iran Biomed. J.* 15, 79–84.
- Detsika, M. G., Ampelakiotou, K., Grigoriou, E., Psarra, K., Jahaj, E., Roussos, C., et al. (2021). A novel ratio of CD8+:B-cells as a prognostic marker of

coronavirus disease 2019 patient progression and outcome. *Virology* 556, 79–86. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2021.01.002

- Domingues, R., Lippi, A., Setz, C., Outeiro, T. F., and Krisko, A., (2020). SARS-CoV-2, immunosenescence and inflammaging: partners in the COVID-19 crime. *Aging (Albany NY)* 12, 18778–18789. doi: 10.18632/aging.103989
- Du, R. H., Liang, L. R., Yang, C. Q., Wang, W., Cao, T. Z., Li, M., et al. (2020). Predictors of mortality for patients with COVID-19 pneumonia caused by SARS-CoV-2: a prospective cohort study. *Eur. Respir. J.* 55:2000524.
- Dutertre, C. A., Amraoui, S., DeRosa, A., Jourdain, J. P., Vimeux, L., Goguet, M., et al. (2012). Pivotal role of M-DC8⁺ monocytes from viremic HIV-infected patients in TNF α overproduction in response to microbial products. *Blood* 120, 2259–2268. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-03-418681
- Elgaz, S., Kuçi, Z., Kuçi, S., Bönig, H., and Bader, P. (2019). Clinical use of mesenchymal stromal cells in the treatment of acute graft-versus-host disease. *Transfus. Med. Hemother.* 46, 27–34. doi: 10.1159/000496809
- Epicentro. Istituto Superiore di Sanità (2021). Dati Della Sorveglianza Integrata COVID-19 in Italia. Available online at: https://www.epicentro.iss.it/ coronavirus/sars-cov-2-dashboard (accessed April 19, 2021).
- Fajgenbaum, D. C., and June, C. H. (2020). Cytokine storm. N. Engl. J. Med. 383, 2255–2273. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra2026131
- Fathi, A., Addo, M. M., and Dahlke, C. (2021). Sex differences in immunity: implications for the development of novel vaccines against emerging pathogens. *Front. Immunol.* 11:601170. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.601170
- Feng, E., Balint, E., Poznanski, S. M., Ashkar, A. A., and Loeb, M. (2021). Aging and interferons: impacts on inflammation and viral disease outcomes. *Cells* 10:708. doi: 10.3390/cells10030708
- Files, J. K., Boppana, S., Perez, M. D., Sarkar, S., Lowman, K. E., Qin, K., et al. (2021). Sustained cellular immune dysregulation in individuals recovering from SARS-CoV-2 infection. *J. Clin. Invest.* 131:e140491. doi: 10.1172/JCI140491
- Flaishon, L., Becker-Herman, S., Hart, G., Levo, Y., Kuziel, W. A., and Shachar, I. (2004). Expression of the chemokine receptor CCR2 on immature B cells negatively regulates their cytoskeletal rearrangement and migration. *Blood* 104, 933–941. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-11-4013
- Florea, V., Bagno, L., Rieger, A. C., and Hare, J. M. (2019). Attenuation of frailty in older adults with mesenchymal stem cells. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 181, 47–58. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2019.111120
- Franceschi, C., and Campisi, J. (2014). Chronic inflammation (inflammaging) and its potential contribution to age-associated diseases. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 69, S4–S9. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glu057
- Fraussen, J., Marquez, S., Takata, K., Beckers, L., Montes Diaz, G., Zografou, C., et al. (2019). Phenotypic and Ig repertoire analyses indicate a common origin of IgD-CD27- double negative b cells in healthy individuals and multiple sclerosis patients. *J. Immunol.* 203, 1650–1664. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1801236
- Fresán, U., Guevara, M., Elía, F., Albéniz, E., Burgui, C., and Castilla, J. (2021). Working group for the study of COVID-19 in Navarra. Independent role of severe obesity as a risk factor for COVID-19 Hospitalization: a spanish population-based cohort study. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 29, 29–37. doi: 10.1002/ oby.23029
- Fu, L., Wang, B., Yuan, T., Chen, X., Ao, Y., Fitzpatrick, T., et al. (2020). Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in China: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Infect. 80, 656–665. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.041
- Fu, Y. Q., Sun, Y. L., Lu, S. W., Yang, Y., Wang, Y., and Xu, F. (2020). Effect of blood analysis and immune function on the prognosis of patients with COVID-19. *PLoS One* 15:e0240751. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0240751
- Fulop, T., Witkowski, J. M., Olivieri, F., and Larbi, A. (2018). The integration of inflammaging in age-related diseases. *Semin. Immunol.* 40, 17–35. doi: 10.1016/ j.smim.2018.09.003
- Gabriele, L., Fragale, A., Romagnoli, G., Parlato, S., Lapenta, C., Santini, S. M., et al. (2021). Type I IFN-dependent antibody response at the basis of sex dimorphism in the outcome of COVID-19. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 58, 66–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2020.10.001
- Gaebler, C., Wang, Z., Lorenzi, J. C. C., Muecksch, F., Finkin, S., Tokuyama, M., et al. (2021). Evolution of antibody immunity to SARS-CoV-2. *Nature* 591, 639–644. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03207
- Galbraith, M. D., Kinning, K. T., Sullivan, K. D., Baxter, R., Araya, P., Jordan, K. R., et al. (2021). Seroconversion stages COVID19 into distinct pathophysiological states. *Elife* 10:e65508. doi: 10.7554/eLife.65508

- Gallais, F., Velay, A., Nazon, C., Wendling, M. J., Partisani, M., Sibilia, J., et al. (2021). Intrafamilial exposure to SARS-CoV-2 associated with cellular immune response without seroconversion, france. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 27, 113–121. doi: 10.3201/eid2701.203611
- Gao, Y. D., Ding, M., Dong, X., Zhang, J. J., Kursat Azkur, A., Azkur, D., et al. (2021). Risk factors for severe and critically ill COVID-19 patients: a review. *Allergy* 76, 428–455. doi: 10.1111/all.14657
- Gao, Z., Xu, Y., Sun, C., Wang, X., Guo, Y., Qiu, S., et al. (2021). A systematic review of asymptomatic infections with COVID-19. J. Microbiol. Immunol. Infect. 54, 12–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2020.05.001
- Gebhard, C., Regitz-Zagrosek, V., Neuhauser, H. K., Morgan, R., and Klein, S. L. (2020). Impact of sex and gender on COVID-19 outcomes in Europe. *Biol. Sex Differ*. 11:29. doi: 10.1186/s13293-020-00304-9
- Genebat, M., Tarancón-Díez, L., de Pablo-Bernal, R., Calderón, A., Muñoz-Fernández, M. Á, and Leal, M. (2021). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a perspective from immunosenescence. *Aging Dis.* 12, 3–6. doi: 10.14336/AD. 2020.0831
- Gentile, P. (2021). SARS-CoV-2: the "Uncensored" truth about its origin and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells as new potential immune-modulatory weapon. *Aging Dis.* 12, 330–344. doi: 10.14336/AD.2021.0121
- Gentile, P., Sterodimas, A., Pizzicannella, J., Calabrese, C., and Garcovich, S. (2020). Research progress on Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (AD-MSCs), drugs, and vaccines in inhibiting COVID-19 disease. *Aging Dis.* 11, 1191–1201. doi: 10.14336/AD.2020.0711
- Gentile, P., and Sterodimas, A. (2020a). Adipose-derived stromal stem cells (ASCs) as a new regenerative immediate therapy combating coronavirus (COVID-19)-induced pneumonia. *Expert. Opin. Biol. Ther.* 20, 711–716. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2020.1761322
- Gentile, P., and Sterodimas, A. (2020b). Adipose stem cells (ASCs) and Stromal vascular fraction (SVF) as a potential therapy in combating (COVID-19)-disease. *Aging. Dis.* 11, 465–469. doi: 10.14336/AD.2020.0422
- Giefing-Kröll, C., Berger, P., Lepperdinger, G., and Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. (2015). How sex and age affect immune responses, susceptibility to infections, and response to vaccination. *Aging Cell*. 14, 309–321. doi: 10.1111/acel.12326
- Golchin, A., Seyedjafari, E., and Ardeshirylajimi, A. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for COVID-19: present or future. *Stem Cell Rev. Rep.* 16, 427–433. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-09973-w
- Gómez-Belda, A. B., Fernández-Garcés, M., Mateo-Sanchis, E., Madrazo, M., Carmona, M., Piles-Roger, L., et al. (2021). COVID-19 in older adults: what are the differences with younger patients? *Geriatr. Gerontol. Int.* 21, 60–65. doi: 10.1111/ggi.14102
- Gorman, E., Shankar-Hari, M., Hopkins, P., Tunnicliffe, W. S., Perkins, G. D., Silversides, J., et al. (2020). Repair of Acute respiratory distress syndrome by stromal cell administration in COVID-19 (REALIST-COVID-19): a structured summary of a study protocol for a randomised, controlled trial. *Trials* 21, 462. doi: 10.1186/s13063-020-04416-w
- Gounder, S. S., Abdullah, B. J. J., Radzuanb, N. E. I. B. M., Zain, F. D. B. M., Sait, N. B. M., Chua, C., et al. (2018). Effect of aging on NK cell population and their proliferation at Ex vivo culture condition. *Anal. Cell Pathol. (Amst)* 2018:7871814. doi: 10.1155/2018/7871814
- Gowen, A., Shahjin, F., Chand, S., Odegaard, K. E., and Yelamanchili, S. V. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: challenges in clinical applications. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 8:149. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00149
- Grifoni, A., Weiskopf, D., Ramirez, S. I., Mateus, J., Dan, J. M., Moderbacher, C. R., et al. (2020). Targets of T cell responses to SARS-CoV-2 coronavirus in humans with COVID-19 disease and unexposed individuals. *Cell* 181, 1489–1501.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.015
- Groom, J. R., and Luster, A. D. (2011). CXCR3 in T cell function. *Exp. Cell Res.* 317, 620–631. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.12.017
- Gubbels Bupp, M. R., and Jorgensen, T. N. (2018). Androgen-induced immunosuppression. Front. Immunol. 9:794. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00794
- Günther, C., Starke, J., Zimmermann, N., and Schäkel, K. (2012). Human 6-sulfo LacNAc (slan) dendritic cells are a major population of dermal dendritic cells in steady state and inflammation. *Clin. Exp. Dermatol.* 37, 169–176. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2230.2011.04213.x
- Guo, L., Shi, Z., Zhang, Y., Wang, C., Do Vale Moreira, N. C., Zuo, H., et al. (2020). Comorbid diabetes and the risk of disease severity or death among

8807 COVID-19 patients in China: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 166:108346. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108346

- Guo, Z., Chen, Y., Luo, X., He, X., Zhang, Y., and Wang, J. (2020). Administration of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells in patients with severe COVID-19 pneumonia. *Crit. Care* 24:420. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03142-8
- Häberle, H., Magunia, H., Lang, P., Gloeckner, H., Körner, A., Koeppen, M., et al. (2021). Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for severe COVID-19 ARDS. J. Intensive Care Med. 36, 681–688.
- Hagen, M., and Derudder, E. (2020). Inflammation and the alteration of B-cell physiology in aging. *Gerontology* 66, 105–113. doi: 10.1159/000501963
- Haitao, T., Vermunt, J. V., Abeykoon, J., Ghamrawi, R., Gunaratne, M., Jayachandran, M., et al. (2020). COVID-19 and sex differences: mechanisms and biomarkers. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 95, 2189–2203. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2020. 07.024
- Hänsel, A., Günther, C., Baran, W., Bidier, M., Lorenz, H. M., Schmitz, M., et al. (2013). Human 6-sulfo LacNAc (slan) dendritic cells have molecular and functional features of an important pro-inflammatory cell type in lupus erythematosus. J. Autoimmun. 40, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2012.0 7.005
- Hänsel, A., Günther, C., Ingwersen, J., Starke, J., Schmitz, M., Bachmann, M., et al. (2011). Human slan (6-sulfo LacNAc) dendritic cells are inflammatory dermal dendritic cells in psoriasis and drive strong TH17/TH1 T-cell responses. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 127, 787–94.e1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.12.009
- Hartley, G. E., Edwards, E. S. J., Aui, P. M., Varese, N., Stojanovic, S., McMahon, J., et al. (2020). Rapid generation of durable B cell memory to SARS-CoV-2 spike and nucleocapsid proteins in COVID-19 and convalescence. *Sci. Immunol.* 5:eabf8891. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abf8891
- Hashemian, S. R., Aliannejad, R., Zarrabi, M., Soleimani, M., Vosough, M., Hosseini, S. E., et al. (2021). Mesenchymal stem cells derived from perinatal tissues for treatment of critically ill COVID-19-induced ARDS patients: a case series. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 12:91. doi: 10.1186/s13287-021-02165-4
- Hassani, M., Hellebrekers, P., Chen, N., van Aalst, C., Bongers, S., Hietbrink, F., et al. (2020). On the origin of low-density neutrophils. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 107, 809–818. doi: 10.1002/JLB.5HR0120-459R
- Hazeldine, J., and Lord, J. M. (2020). Immunesenescence: a predisposing risk factor for the development of COVID-19? *Front. Immunol.* 11:573662. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2020.573662
- Hearps, A. C., Martin, G. E., Angelovich, T. A., Cheng, W. J., Maisa, A., Landay, A. L., et al. (2012). Aging is associated with chronic innate immune activation and dysregulation of monocyte phenotype and function. *Aging Cell* 11, 867–875. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2012.00851.x
- Heras, E., Garibaldi, P., Boix, M., Valero, O., Castillo, J., Curbelo, Y., et al. (2020). COVID-19 mortality risk factors in older people in a long-term care center. *Eur. Geriatr. Med.* 12, 601–607. doi: 10.1007/s41999-020-00432-w
- Herold, T., Jurinovic, V., Arnreich, C., Lipworth, B. J., Hellmuth, J. C., von Bergwelt-Baildon, M., et al. (2020). Elevated levels of IL-6 and CRP predict the need for mechanical ventilation in COVID-19. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 146, 128–136.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.05.008
- Hoffmann, M., Kleine-Weber, H., Schroeder, S., Krüger, N., Herrler, T., Erichsen, S., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 cell entry depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and is blocked by a clinically proven protease inhibitor. *Cell* 181, 271–280.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052
- Hu, S., Yang, K., Yang, J., Li, M., and Xiong, N. (2011). Critical roles of chemokine receptor CCR10 in regulating memory IgA responses in intestines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, E1035–E1044. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1100156108
- Huang, C., Wang, Y., Li, X., Ren, L., Zhao, J., Hu, Y., et al. (2020). Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan China. *Lancet* 395, 497–506.
- Huang, L., Shi, Y., Gong, B., Jiang, L., Zhang, Z., Liu, X., et al. (2021). Dynamic blood single-cell immune responses in patients with COVID-19. *Signal. Transduct. Target Ther.* 6:110. doi: 10.1038/s41392-021-00526-2
- Iannetta, M., Savinelli, S., Rossi, R., Mascia, C., Marocco, R., Vita, S., et al. (2019). Myeloid and lymphoid activation markers in AIDS and non-AIDS presenters. *Immunobiology* 224, 231–241. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2018.11.011
- Ihlow, J., Michaelis, E., Greuel, S., Heynol, V., Lehmann, A., Radbruch, H., et al. (2021). B cell depletion and signs of sepsis-acquired immunodeficiency in bone marrow and spleen of COVID-19 deceased. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* 103, 628–635. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.12.078

- Jafarzadeh, A., Chauhan, P., Saha, B., Jafarzadeh, S., and Nemati, M. (2020). Contribution of monocytes and macrophages to the local tissue inflammation and cytokine storm in COVID-19: Lessons from SARS and MERS, and potential therapeutic interventions. *Life Sci.* 257:118102. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020. 118102
- Jamshidi, E., Babajani, A., Soltani, P., and Niknejad, H. (2021). Proposed mechanisms of targeting COVID-19 by delivering mesenchymal stem cells and their exosomes to damaged organs. *Stem Cell Rev. Rep.* 17, 176–192. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-10109-3
- Jeyaraman, M., Ranjan, R., Kumar, R., Arora, A., Chaudhary, D., Ajay, S. S., et al. (2020). Cellular therapy: shafts of light emerging for COVID-19. *Stem Cell Investig.* 7:11. doi: 10.21037/sci-2020-022
- Jiang, M., Guo, Y., Luo, Q., Huang, Z., Zhao, R., Liu, S., et al. (2020). T-Cell subset counts in peripheral blood can be used as discriminatory biomarkers for diagnosis and severity prediction of coronavirus disease 2019. J. Infect Dis. 222, 198–202. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiaa252
- Jin, J. M., Bai, P., He, W., Wu, F., Liu, X. F., Han, D. M., et al. (2020). Gender differences in patients with COVID-19: focus on severity and mortality. *Front. Public Health* 8:152. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00152
- Jin, S., An, H., Zhou, T., Li, T., Xie, M., Chen, S., et al. (2021). Sex- and age-specific clinical and immunological features of coronavirus disease 2019. *PLoS Pathog* 17:e1009420. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1009420
- Joel, M. D. M., Yuan, J., Wang, J., Yan, Y., Qian, H., Zhang, X., et al. (2019). MSC: immunoregulatory effects, roles on neutrophils and evolving clinical potentials. *Am. J. Transl. Res.* 11, 3890–3904.
- Jourdan, M., Caraux, A., De Vos, J., Fiol, G., Larroque, M., Cognot, C., et al. (2009). An in vitro model of differentiation of memory B cells into plasmablasts and plasma cells including detailed phenotypic and molecular characterization. *Blood* 114, 5173–5181. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-235960
- Juárez-Navarro, K. J., Padilla-Camberos, E., Díaz, N. F., Miranda-Altamirano, A., and Díaz-Martínez, N. E. (2020). Human Mesenchymal stem cells: the present alternative for high-incidence diseases, even SARS-Cov-2. *Stem Cells Int.* 2020:8892189. doi: 10.1155/2020/8892189
- Jurado, A., Martín, M. C., Abad-Molina, C., Orduña, A., Martínez, A., Ocaña, E., et al. (2020). COVID-19: age, Interleukin-6, C-reactive protein, and lymphocytes as key clues from a multicentre retrospective study. *Immun. Ageing*. 17:22. doi: 10.1186/s12979-020-00194-w
- Kallmeyer, K., and Pepper, M. S. (2015). Homing properties of mesenchymal stromal cells. *Expert. Opin. Biol. Ther.* 15, 477–479. doi: 10.1517/14712598.2015. 997204
- Khodadadi, L., Cheng, Q., Radbruch, A., and Hiepe, F. (2019). The maintenance of memory plasma cells. Front. Immunol. 10:721. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00721
- Kim, C. W., Oh, J. E., and Lee, H. K. (2021). Single cell transcriptomic re-analysis of immune cells in bronchoalveolar lavage fluids reveals the correlation of b cell characteristics and disease severity of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Immune Netw.* 21:e10. doi: 10.4110/in.2021.21.e10
- Kim, H., Lee, M. J., Bae, E. H., Ryu, J. S., Kaur, G., Kim, H. J., et al. (2020). Comprehensive molecular profiles of functionally effective MSCderived extracellular vesicles in immunomodulation. *Mol. Ther.* 28, 1628–1644. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.04.020
- Kim, Y. M., and Shin, E. C. (2021). Type I and III interferon responses in SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 53, 750–760. doi: 10.1038/s12276-021-00592-0
- Klein, S. L., and Flanagan, K. L. (2016). Sex differences in immune responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 16, 626–638. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.90
- Kos, I., Balensiefer, B., Lesan, V., Kaddu-Mulindwa, D., Thurner, L., Christofyllakis, K., et al. (2021). Increased B Cell activity with consumption of activated monocytes in severe COVID-19 patients. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 51, 1449–1460. doi: 10.1002/eji.202049163
- Kouroupis, D., Lanzoni, G., Linetsky, E., Messinger Cayetano, S., Wishnek Metalonis, S., Leñero, C., et al. (2021). Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells modulate TNF and soluble TNF Receptor 2 (sTNFR2) in COVID-19 ARDS patients. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 25, 4435–4438. doi: 10.26355/ eurrev_202106_26156
- Kramer, E. D., and Abrams, S. I. (2020). Granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells as negative regulators of anticancer immunity. *Front. Immunol.* 11:1963. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01963
- Kunkel, E. J., and Butcher, E. C. (2003). Plasma-cell homing. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 3, 822–829. doi: 10.1038/nri1203

Kurd, N., and Robey, E. A. (2016). T-cell selection in the thymus: a spatial and temporal perspective. *Immunol. Rev.* 271, 114–126. doi: 10.1111/imr.12398

- Kuri-Cervantes, L., Pampena, M. B., Meng, W., Rosenfeld, A. M., Ittner, C. A. G., Weisman, A. R., et al. (2020). Comprehensive mapping of immune perturbations associated with severe COVID-19. *Sci. Immunol.* 5:eabd7114. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abd7114
- Kvedaraite, E., Hertwig, L., Sinha, I., Ponzetta, A., Hed Myrberg, I., Lourda, M., et al. (2021). Major alterations in the mononuclear phagocyte landscape associated with COVID-19 severity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 118:e2018587118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2018587118
- Lanzoni, G., Linetsky, E., Correa, D., Messinger Cayetano, S., Alvarez, R. A., Kouroupis, D., et al. (2021). Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells for COVID-19 acute respiratory distress syndrome: A double-blind, phase 1/2a, randomized controlled trial. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 10, 660–673. doi: 10.1002/ sctm.20-0472
- Lauer, S. A., Grantz, K. H., Bi, Q., Jones, F. K., Zheng, Q., Meredith, H. R., et al. (2020). The incubation period of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) from publicly reported confirmed cases: estimation and application. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 172, 577–582. doi: 10.7326/M20-0504
- Lee, B. C., and Yu, K. R. (2020). Impact of mesenchymal stem cell senescence on inflammaging. BMB Rep. 53, 65–73. doi: 10.5483/BMBRep.2020.53.2.291
- Lee, J. S., Park, S., Jeong, H. W., Ahn, J. Y., Choi, S. J., Lee, H., et al. (2020). Immunophenotyping of COVID-19 and influenza highlights the role of type I interferons in development of severe COVID-19. *Sci. Immunol.* 5:eabd1554. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abd1554
- Leng, S. X., and Margolick, J. B. (2020). Aging, sex, inflammation, frailty, and CMV and HIV infections. *Cell Immunol.* 348:104024. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2019. 104024
- Leng, Z., Zhu, R., Hou, W., Feng, Y., Yang, Y., Han, Q., et al. (2020). Transplantation of ACE2⁻ mesenchymal stem cells improves the outcome of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. *Aging Dis.* 11, 216–228. doi: 10.14336/ AD.2020.0228
- Lenti, M. V., Aronico, N., Pellegrino, I., Boveri, E., Giuffrida, P., Borrelli de Andreis, F., et al. (2020). Depletion of circulating IgM memory B cells predicts unfavourable outcome in COVID-19. *Sci. Rep.* 10:20836. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-77945-8
- Li, M. Y., Li, L., Zhang, Y., and Wang, X. S. (2020). Expression of the SARS-CoV-2 cell receptor gene ACE2 in a wide variety of human tissues. *Infect. Dis. Poverty* 9:45. doi: 10.1186/s40249-020-00662-x
- Li, N., and Hua, J. (2017). Interactions between mesenchymal stem cells and the immune system. Cell Mol. Life Sci. 74, 2345–2360. doi: 10.1007/s00018-017-2473-5
- Li, Q., Guan, X., Wu, P., Wang, X., Zhou, L., Tong, Y., et al. (2020). Early transmission dynamics in wuhan, china, of novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia. N. Engl. J. Med. 382, 1199–1207. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001316
- Li, X., Xu, S., Yu, M., Wang, K., Tao, Y., Zhou, Y., et al. (2020). Risk factors for severity and mortality in adult COVID-19 inpatients in Wuhan. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 146, 110–118. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.04.006
- Lian, J., Yue, Y., Yu, W., and Zhang, Y. (2020). Immunosenescence: a key player in cancer development. J. Hematol. Oncol. 13:151. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00986-z
- Liang, B., Chen, J., Li, T., Wu, H., Yang, W., Li, Y., et al. (2020). Clinical remission of a critically ill COVID-19 patient treated by human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells: a case report. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 99:e21429. doi: 10.1097/MD. 000000000021429
- Liao, M., Liu, Y., Yuan, J., Wen, Y., Xu, G., Zhao, J., et al. (2020). Single-cell landscape of bronchoalveolar immune cells in patients with COVID-19. *Nat. Med.* 26, 842–844. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0901-9
- Ligotti, M. E., Aiello, A., Accardi, G., Aprile, S., Bonura, F., Bulati, M., et al. (2021). Analysis of T and NK cell subsets in Sicilian population from young to supercentenarian: the role of age and gender. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 205, 198–212. doi: 10.1111/cei.13606.2021
- Lin, B., Ferguson, C., White, J. T., Wang, S., Vessella, R., True, L. D., et al. (1999). Prostate-localized and androgen-regulated expression of the membrane-bound serine protease TMPRSS2. *Cancer Res.* 59, 4180– 4184.
- Lin, F., Ichim, T. E., Pingle, S., Jones, L. D., Kesari, S., and Ashili, S. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cells as living anti-inflammatory therapy for COVID-19

related acute respiratory distress syndrome. *World J. Stem Cells* 12, 1067–1079. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v12.i10.1067

- Lio, D., Scola, L., Giarratana, R. M., Candore, G., Colonna-Romano, G., Caruso, C., et al. (2021). SARS CoV2 infection _the longevity study perspectives. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 67:101299. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2021.101299
- Liu, J., Liu, Q., and Chen, X. (2020). The immunomodulatory effects of mesenchymal stem cells on regulatory B Cells. *Front. Immunol.* 11:1843. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01843
- Liu, K., Fang, Y. Y., Deng, Y., Liu, W., Wang, M. F., Ma, J. P., et al. (2020). Clinical characteristics of novel coronavirus cases in tertiary hospitals in Hubei Province. *Chin. Med. J. (Engl).* 133, 1025–1031. doi: 10.1097/CM9. 000000000000744
- Liu, Y., Tan, W., Chen, H., Zhu, Y., Wan, L., Jiang, K., et al. (2021). Dynamic changes in lymphocyte subsets and parallel cytokine levels in patients with severe and critical COVID-19. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 21:79. doi: 10.1186/s12879-021-05792-7
- Long, Q. X., Jia, Y. J., Wang, X., Deng, H. J., Cao, X. X., Yuan, J., et al. (2021). Immune memory in convalescent patients with asymptomatic or mild COVID-19. *Cell Discov*. 7:18. doi: 10.1038/s41421-021-00250-9
- Ma, S., Wang, C., Mao, X., and Hao, Y. B. (2019). Cell dysfunction associated with aging and autoimmune diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 10:318. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2019.00318
- Mahnke, Y. D., Brodie, T. M., Sallusto, F., Roederer, M., and Lugli, E. (2013). The who's who of T-cell differentiation: human memory T-cell subsets. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 43, 2797–2809. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343751
- Márquez, E. J., Chung, C. H., Marches, R., Rossi, R. J., Nehar-Belaid, D., Eroglu, A., et al. (2020a). Sexual-dimorphism in human immune system aging. *Nat. Commun.* 11:751. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-14396-9
- Márquez, E. J., Trowbridge, J., Kuchel, G. A., Banchereau, J., and Ucar, D. (2020b). The lethal sex gap: COVID-19. *Immun. Ageing* 17:13. doi: 10.1186/s12979-020-00183-z
- Martens, P. J., Gysemans, C., Verstuyf, A., and Mathieu, A. C. (2020). Vitamin D's effect on immune function. *Nutrients* 12:1248. doi: 10.3390/nu12051248
- Martin-Rufino, J. D., Espinosa-Lara, N., Osugui, L., and Sanchez-Guijo, F. (2019). Targeting the immune system with mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles: what is the cargo's mechanism of action? *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 7:308. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2019.00308
- Mathan, T. S., Figdor, C. G., and Buschow, S. I. (2013). Human plasmacytoid dendritic cells: from molecules to intercellular communication network. *Front. Immunol.* 4:372. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00372
- Mathew, D., Giles, J. R., Baxter, A. E., Oldridge, D. A., Greenplate, A. R., Wu, J. E., et al. (2020). Deep immune profiling of COVID-19 patients reveals distinct immunotypes with therapeutic implications. *Science* 369:eabc8511.
- Matic, S., Popovic, S., Djurdjevic, P., Todorovic, D., Djordjevic, N., Mijailovic, Z., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 infection induces mixed M1/M2 phenotype in circulating monocytes and alterations in both dendritic cell and monocyte subsets. *PLoS One* 15:e0241097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241097
- Mauvais-Jarvis, F., Bairey Merz, N., Barnes, P. J., Brinton, R. D., Carrero, J. J., DeMeo, D. L., et al. (2020). Sex and gender: modifiers of health, disease, and medicine. *Lancet* 396, 565–582. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31561-0
- Mazini, L., Ezzoubi, M., and Malka, G. (2021). Overview of current adipose-derived stem cell (ADSCs) processing involved in therapeutic advancements: flow chart and regulation updates before and after COVID-19. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 12:1. doi: 10.1186/s13287-020-02006-w
- McAloon, C., Collins, Á, Hunt, K., Barber, A., Byrne, A. W., Butler, F., et al. (2020). Incubation period of COVID-19: a rapid systeMatic et al., 2020; review and meta-analysis of observational research. *BMJ Open* 10:e039652. doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-039652
- Meftahi, G. H., Jangravi, Z., Sahraei, H., and Bahari, Z. (2020). The possible pathophysiology mechanism of cytokine storm in elderly adults with COVID-19 infection: the contribution of "inflame-aging". *Inflamm. Res.* 69, 825–839. doi: 10.1007/s00011-020-01372-8
- Meier, A., Chang, J. J., Chan, E. S., Pollard, R. B., Sidhu, H. K., Kulkarni, S., et al. (2009). Sex differences in the Toll-like receptor-mediated response of plasmacytoid dendritic cells to HIV-1. *Nat. Med.* 15, 955–959. doi: 10.1038/nm. 2004
- Meng, F., Xu, R., Wang, S., Xu, Z., Zhang, C., Li, Y., et al. (2020). Human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell therapy in patients with COVID-19: a

phase 1 clinical trial. Signal. Transduct. Target Ther. 5:172. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-00286-5

- Meng, Y., Wu, P., Lu, W., Liu, K., Ma, K., Huang, L., et al. (2020). Sex-specific clinical characteristics and prognosis of coronavirus disease-19 infection in Wuhan, China: a retrospective study of 168 severe patients. *PLoS Pathog.* 16:e1008520. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008520
- Micheletti, A., Finotti, G., Calzetti, F., Lonardi, S., Zoratti, E., Bugatti, M., et al. (2016). slanDCs/M-DC8+ cells constitute a distinct subset of dendritic cells in human tonsils [corrected]. *Oncotarget* 7, 161–175. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget. 6660
- Ministero della Salute (2021). *Covid-19 Situazione in Italia.* Available online at: http://www.salute.gov.it/portale/nuovocoronavirus/ dettaglioContenutiNuovoCoronavirus.jsp?lingua=italiano&id=5351&area= nuovoCoronavirus&menu=vuoto (accessed April 19, 2021).
- Mirandola, P., Ponti, C., Gobbi, G., Sponzilli, I., Vaccarezza, M., Cocco, L., et al. (2004). Activated human NK and CD8+ T cells express both TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) and TRAIL receptors but are resistant to TRAIL-mediated cytotoxicity. *Blood* 104, 2418–2424. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-04-1294
- Mjaess, G., Karam, A., Aoun, F., Albisinni, S., and Roumeguère, T. (2020). COVID-19 and the male susceptibility: the role of ACE2, TMPRSS2 and the androgen receptor. *Prog. Urol.* 30, 484–487. doi: 10.1016/j.purol.2020.0 5.007
- Monguió-Tortajada, M., Bayes-Genis, A., Rosell, A., and Roura, S. (2020). Are mesenchymal stem cells and derived extracellular vesicles valuable to halt the COVID-19 inflammatory cascade? *Curr. Evid. Future Perspect. Thorax.* 76, 196–200. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2020-215717
- Moore, J. B., and June, C. H. (2020). Cytokine release syndrome in severe COVID-19. *Science* 368, 473–474. doi: 10.1126/science.abb8925
- Moradinasab, S., Pourbagheri-Sigaroodi, A., Zafari, P., Ghaffari, S. H., and Bashash, D. (2021). Mesenchymal stromal/stem cells (MSCs) and MSC-derived extracellular vesicles in COVID-19-induced ARDS: mechanisms of action, research progress, challenges, and opportunities. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 97:107694. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2021.107694
- Moreno-Eutimio, M. A., López-Macías, C., and Pastelin-Palacios, R. (2020). Bioinformatic analysis and identification of single-stranded RNA sequences recognized by TLR7/8 in the SARS-CoV-2, SARS-CoV, and MERS-CoV genomes. *Microbes Infect.* 22, 226–229. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2020.04.009
- Moulton, V. R. (2018). Sex hormones in acquired immunity and autoimmune disease. Front. Immunol. 9:2279. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02279
- Musial, C., and Gorska-Ponikowska, M. (2021). Medical progress: stem cells as a new therapeutic strategy for COVID-19. *Stem Cell Res.* 52:102239. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2021.102239
- Neeland, M. R., Bannister, S., Clifford, V., Dohle, K., Mulholland, K., Sutton, P., et al. (2021). Innate cell profiles during the acute and convalescent phase of SARS-CoV-2 infection in children. *Nat Commun.* 12:1084. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21414-x
- Newell, K. L., Clemmer, D. C., Cox, J. B., Kayode, Y. I., Zoccoli-Rodriguez, V., Taylor, H. E., et al. (2021). Switched and unswitched memory B cells detected during SARS-CoV-2 convalescence correlate with limited symptom duration. *PLoS One* 16:e0244855. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0244855
- Nienhold, R., Ciani, Y., Koelzer, V. H., Tzankov, A., Haslbauer, J. D., Menter, T., et al. (2020). Two distinct immunopathological profiles in autopsy lungs of COVID-19. *Nat. Commun.* 11:5086. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18854-2
- Notz, Q., Herrmann, J., Schlesinger, T., Kranke, P., Sitter, M., Helmer, P., et al. (2021). Vitamin D deficiency in critically ill COVID-19 ARDS patients. *Clin. Nutr.* doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2021.03.001. [Epub ahead of print].
- O'Driscoll, L. (2020). Extracellular vesicles from mesenchymal stem cells as a Covid-19 treatment. *Drug Discov. Today* 25, 1124–1125. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis. 2020.04.022
- Ogega, C. O., Skinner, N. E., Blair, P. W., Park, H. S., Littlefield, K., Ganesan, A., et al. (2021). Durable SARS-CoV-2 B cell immunity after mild or severe disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* 131:e145516. doi: 10.1172/JCI145516
- Oh, S. J., Lee, J. K., and Shin, O. S. (2019). Aging and the immune system: the impact of immunosenescence on viral infection immunity and vaccine immunogenicity. *Immune Netw.* 19:e37. doi: 10.4110/in.2019. 19.e37

- Okba, N. M. A., Müller, M. A., Li, W., Wang, C., GeurtsvanKessel, C. H., Corman, V. M., et al. (2020). Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2-specific antibody responses in coronavirus disease patients. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 26, 1478–1488. doi: 10.3201/eid2607.200841
- Onofrio, L., Caraglia, M., Facchini, G., Margherita, V., Placido, S., and Buonerba, C. (2020). Toll-like receptors and COVID-19: a two-faced story with an exciting ending. *Future Sci. OA* 6:FSO605. doi: 10.2144/fsoa-2020-0091
- Orange, J. S. (2013). Natural killer cell deficiency. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 132, 515–525. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.07.020
- Ortega, M. A., Fraile-Martínez, O., García-Montero, C., García-Gallego, S., Sánchez-Trujillo, L., Torres-Carranza, D., et al. (2021). An integrative look at SARS-CoV-2 (Review). *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 47, 415–434. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2020. 4828
- Our World in data (2021). *Mortality Risk of COVID-19*. Available online at: https://ourworldindata.org/mortality-risk-covid (accessed April 12, 2021).
- Palmer, D. B. (2013). The effect of age on thymic function. Front. Immunol. 4:316. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00316
- Pangrazzi, L., Reidla, J., Carmona Arana, J. A., Naismith, E., Miggitsch, C., Meryk, A., et al. (2020). CD28 and CD57 define four populations with distinct phenotypic properties within human CD8+ T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 50, 363–379. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948362
- Paul, S., and Lal, G. (2017). The molecular mechanism of natural killer cells function and its importance in cancer immunotherapy. *Front. Immunol.* 8:1124. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01124
- Pawelec, G. (2018). Age and immunity: what is "immunosenescence"? Exp. Gerontol. 105, 4–9. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.10.024
- Payares-Herrera, C., Martínez-Muñoz, M. E., Vallhonrat, I. L., de Molina, R. M., Torres, M. P., Trisan, A., et al. (2021). Double-blind, randomized, controlled, trial to assess the efficacy of allogenic mesenchymal stromal cells in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome due to COVID-19 (COVID-AT): a structured summary of a study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials* 22:9. doi: 10.1186/s13063-020-04964-1
- Peña, J. E., Rascón-Pacheco, R. A., Ascencio-Montiel, I. J., González-Figueroa, E., Fernández-Gárate, J. E., Medina-Gómez, O. S., et al. (2020). Hypertension, diabetes and obesity, major risk factors for death in patients with COVID-19 in Mexico. Arch. Med. Res. 52, 443–449. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2020.12.002
- Pereira, B. I., De Maeyer, R. P. H., Covre, L. P., Nehar-Belaid, D., Lanna, A., Ward, S., et al. (2020). Sestrins induce natural killer function in senescent-like CD8+ T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 21, 684–694. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0643-3
- Perez-Andres, M., Paiva, B., Nieto, W. G., Caraux, A., Schmitz, A., Almeida, J., et al. (2010). Human peripheral blood B-cell compartments: a crossroad in B-cell traffic. *Cytometry B. Clin. Cytom.* 78(Suppl. 1), S47–S60. doi: 10.1002/cyto.b. 20547
- Pérez-Galarza, J., Prócel, C., Cañadas, C., Aguirre, D., Pibaque, R., Bedón, R., et al. (2021). Immune response to SARS-CoV-2 infection in obesity and T2D: literature review. *Vaccines (Basel)* 9:102. doi: 10.3390/vaccines9020102
- Pietrobon, A. J., Teixeira, F. M. E., and Sato, M. N. (2020). I mmunosenescence and inflammaging: risk factors of severe COVID-19 in older people. *Front. Immunol.* 11:579220. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.579220
- Pojero, F., Candore, G., Caruso, C., Di Bona, D., Groneberg, D. A., Ligotti, M. E., et al. (2021). The role of immunogenetics in COVID-19. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22:2636. doi: 10.3390/ijms22052636
- Pradhan, A., and Olsson, P. E. (2020). Sex differences in severity and mortality from COVID-19: are males more vulnerable? *Biol. Sex Differ.* 11:53. doi: 10. 1186/s13293-020-00330-7
- Qin, H., and Zhao, A. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for acute respiratory distress syndrome: from basic to clinics. *Protein Cell* 11, 707–722. doi: 10.1007/ s13238-020-00738-2
- Qin, L., Li, X., Shi, J., Yu, M., Wang, K., Tao, Y., et al. (2020). Gendered effects on inflammation reaction and outcome of COVID-19 patients in Wuhan. J. Med. Virol. 92, 2684–2692. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26137
- Rabaan, A. A., Al-Ahmed, S. H., Haque, S., Sah, R., Tiwari, R., Malik, Y. S., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2, SARS-CoV, and MERS-COV: a comparative overview. *Infez. Med.* 28, 174–184.
- Ragab, D., Salah Eldin, H., Taeimah, M., Khattab, R., and Salem, R. (2020). The COVID-19 cytokine storm what we know so far. *Front. Immunol.* 11:1446. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01446

- Raghav, A., Khan, Z. A., Upadhayay, V. K., Tripathi, P., Gautam, K. A., Mishra, B. K., et al. (2021). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes exhibit promising potential for treating SARS-CoV-2-infected patients. *Cells* 10:587. doi: 10.3390/ cells10030587
- Raza, S. S., Seth, P., and Khan, M. A. (2021). 'Primed' Mesenchymal stem cells: a potential novel therapeutic for COVID19 patients. *Stem Cell Rev. Rep.* 17, 153–162. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-09999-0
- Rhodes, J. W., Tong, O., Harman, A. N., and Turville, S. G. (2019). Human dendritic cell subsets ontogeny, and impact on HIV infection. *Front. Immunol.* 10:1088. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01088
- Rogers, C. J., Harman, R. J., Bunnell, B. A., Schreiber, M. A., Xiang, C., Wang, F. S., et al. (2020). Rationale for the clinical use of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells for COVID-19 patients. *J. Transl. Med.* 18:203. doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02380-2
- Ruan, Q., Yang, K., Wang, W., Jiang, L., and Song, J. (2020). Clinical predictors of mortality due to COVID-19 based on an analysis of data of 150 patients from Wuhan China. *Intensive Care Med.* 46, 846–848.
- Rubtsova, K., Rubtsov, A. V., Cancro, M. P., and Marrack, P. (2015). Age-associated B Cells: a T-bet-dependent effector with roles in protective and pathogenic immunity. *J. Immunol.* 195, 1933–1937. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501209
- Sacchi, A., Grassi, G., Bordoni, V., Lorenzini, P., Cimini, E., Casetti, R., et al. (2020). Early expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibits SARS-CoV-2 specific T-cell response and may predict fatal COVID-19 outcome. *Cell Death Dis.* 11:921. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-03125-1
- Sachinidis, A., Xanthopoulos, K., and Garyfallos, A. (2020). Age-associated B Cells (ABCs) in the prognosis, diagnosis and therapy of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). *Mediterr. J. Rheumatol.* 31, 311–318. doi: 10.31138/mjr. 31.3.311
- Sakharkar, M., Rappazzo, C. G., Wieland-Alter, W. F., Hsieh, C. L., Wrapp, D., Esterman, E. S., et al. (2021). Prolonged evolution of the human B cell response to SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Sci. Immunol.* 6:eabg6916. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol. abg6916
- Salimi, S., and Hamlyn, J. M. (2020). COVID-19 and crosstalk with the hallmarks of aging. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 75, e34–e41. doi: 10.1093/gerona/ glaa149
- Salminen, A., Kaarniranta, K., and Kauppinen, A. (2019). Immunosenescence: the potential role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) in age-related immune deficiency. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 76, 1901–1918. doi: 10.1007/s00018-019-03048-x
- Sama, I. E., Ravera, A., Santema, B. T., van Goor, H., Ter Maaten, J. M., Cleland, J. G. F., et al. (2020). Circulating plasma concentrations of angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 in men and women with heart failure and effects of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone inhibitors. *Eur. Heart J.* 41, 1810–1817. doi: 10. 1093/eurheartj/ehaa373
- Sampathkumar, N. K., Bravo, J. I., Chen, Y., Danthi, P. S., Donahue, E. K., Lai, R. W., et al. (2020). Widespread sex dimorphism in aging and age-related diseases. *Hum. Genet.* 139, 333–356. doi: 10.1007/s00439-019-02082-w
- Sánchez-Guijo, F., García-Arranz, M., López-Parra, M., Monedero, P., Mata-Martínez, C., Santos, A., et al. (2020). Adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells for the treatment of patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia requiring mechanical ventilation. A proof of concept study. *EClinicalMedicine* 25:100454. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100454
- Schäkel, K., Mayer, E., Federle, C., Schmitz, M., Riethmüller, G., and Rieber, E. P. (1998). A novel dendritic cell population in human blood: one-step immunomagnetic isolation by a specific mAb (M-DC8) and in vitro priming of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 28, 4084–4093.
- Schulman, I. H., Balkan, W., and Hare, J. M. (2018). Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for aging frailty. *Front. Nutr.* 5:108. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2018.00108
- Schultheiß, C., Paschold, L., Simnica, D., Mohme, M., Willscher, E., von Wenserski, L., et al. (2020). Next-generation sequencing of T and B cell receptor repertoires from COVID-19 patients showed signatures associated with severity of disease. *Immunity* 53, 442–455.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.06.024
- Sekine, T., Perez-Potti, A., Rivera-Ballesteros, O., Strålin, K., Gorin, J. B., Olsson, A., et al. (2020). Robust T cell immunity in convalescent individuals with asymptomatic et al., 2020; or mild COVID-19. *Cell* 183, 158–168.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.08.017
- Sengupta, V., Sengupta, S., Lazo, A., Woods, P., Nolan, A., and Bremer, N. (2020). Exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells as treatment

for severe COVID-19. Stem Cells Dev. 29, 747-754. doi: 10.1089/scd.2020. 0080

- Sha, J., Qie, G., Yao, Q., Sun, W., Wang, C., Zhang, Z., et al. (2021). Sex differences on clinical characteristics, severity, and mortality in adult patients with COVID-19: a multicentre retrospective study. *Front. Med. (Lausanne)* 8:607059. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.607059
- Sharma, D., and Zhao, F. (2021). Updates on clinical trials evaluating the regenerative potential of allogenic mesenchymal stem cells in COVID-19. NPJ Regen. Med. 6:37. doi: 10.1038/s41536-021-00147-x
- Sherina, N., Piralla, A., Du, L., Wan, H., Kumagai-Braesch, M., Andréll, J., et al. (2021). Persistence of SARS-CoV-2-specific B and T cell responses in convalescent COVID-19 patients 6-8 months after the infection. *Med (N Y)* 2, 281–295.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.medj.2021.02.001
- Shetty, A. K. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell infusion shows promise for combating coronavirus (COVID-19)- induced pneumonia. *Aging Dis.* 11, 462–464. doi: 10.14336/AD.2020.0301
- Shirakawa, A. K., Nagakubo, D., Hieshima, K., Nakayama, T., Jin, Z., and Yoshie, O. (2008). 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 induces CCR10 expression in terminally differentiating human B cells. J. Immunol. 180, 2786–2795. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.180.5.2786
- Shu, L., Niu, C., Li, R., Huang, T., Wang, Y., Huang, M., et al. (2020). Treatment of severe COVID-19 with human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11:361. doi: 10.1186/s13287-020-01875-5
- Shuwa, H. A., Shaw, T. N., Knight, S. B., Wemyss, K., McClure, F. A., Pearmain, L., et al. (2021). Alterations in T and B cell function persist in convalescent COVID-19 patients. *Med* (N Y) 2, 720–735.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.medj.2021.03.013
- Silvestre-Roig, C., Fridlender, Z. G., Glogauer, M., and Scapini, P. (2019). Neutrophil diversity in health and disease. *Trends Immunol.* 40, 565–583. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2019.04.012
- Sokal, A., Chappert, P., Barba-Spaeth, G., Roeser, A., Fourati, S., Azzaoui, I., et al. (2021). Maturation and persistence of the anti-SARS-CoV-2 memory B cell response. *Cell* 184, 1201–1213.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.01.050
- Solana, R., Campos, C., Pera, A., and Tarazona, R. (2014). Shaping of NK cell subsets by aging. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 29, 56–61. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2014.04. 002
- Song, J. W., Zhang, C., Fan, X., Meng, F. P., Xu, Z., Xia, P., et al. (2020). Immunological and inflammatory profiles in mild and severe cases of COVID-19. *Nat. Commun.* 11:3410. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17240-2
- Sosa-Hernández, V. A., Torres-Ruíz, J., Cervantes-Díaz, R., Romero-Ramírez, S., Páez-Franco, J. C., Meza-Sánchez, D. E., et al. (2020). B cell subsets as severityassociated signatures in COVID-19 patients. *Front. Immunol.* 11:611004. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.611004
- Su, Y., Guo, H., and Liu, Q. (2021). Effects of mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles in acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS): current understanding and future perspectives. J. Leukoc. Biol. 110, 27–38. doi: 10.1002/ JLB.3MR0321-545RR
- Sun, X. L., Hao, Q. K., Tang, R. J., Xiao, C., Ge, M. L., and Dong, B. R. (2019). Frailty and rejuvenation with stem cells: therapeutic opportunities and clinical challenges. *Rejuvenation Res.* 22, 484–497. doi: 10.1089/rej.2017.2048
- Taghiloo, S., Aliyali, M., Abedi, S., Mehravaran, H., Sharifpour, A., Zaboli, E., et al. (2021). Apoptosis and immunophenotyping of peripheral blood lymphocytes in Iranian COVID-19 patients: clinical and laboratory characteristics. *J. Med. Virol.* 93, 1589–1598. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26505
- Takahashi, T., Ellingson, M. K., Wong, P., Israelow, B., Lucas, C., Klein, J., et al. (2020). Sex differences in immune responses that underlie COVID-19 disease outcomes. *Nature* 588, 315–320. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2700-3
- Tang, L., Jiang, Y., Zhu, M., Chen, L., Zhou, X., Zhou, C., et al. (2020). Clinical study using mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of patients with severe COVID-19. *Front. Med.* 14:664–673. doi: 10.1007/s11684-020-0810-9
- Tay, M. Z., Poh, C. M., Rénia, L., MacAry, P. A., and Ng, L. F. P. (2020). The trinity of COVID-19: immunity, inflammation and intervention. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 20, 363–374. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0311-8
- Tian, W., Jiang, W., Yao, J., Nicholson, C. J., Li, R. H., Sigurslid, H. H., et al. (2020). Predictors of mortality in hospitalized COVID-19 patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Med. Virol. 92, 1875–1883. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26050
- To, K. K., Hung, I. F., Chan, J. F., and Yuen, K. Y. (2013). From SARS coronavirus to novel animal and human coronaviruses. J. Thorac. Dis. 5, S103–S108. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2013.06.02

- Tong, P., Gautam, A., Windsor, I., Travers, M., Chen, Y., Garcia, N., et al. (2021). Memory B cell repertoire for recognition of evolving SARS-CoV-2 spike. *bioRxiv* [Preprint] doi: 10.1101/2021.03.10.434840 bioRxiv: 2021.03.10.434840,
- Tsuchiya, A., Takeuchi, S., Iwasawa, T., Kumagai, M., Sato, T., Motegi, S., et al. (2020). Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells and their exosomes in severe novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) cases. *Inflamm. Regen.* 40:14. doi: 10.1186/s41232-020-00121-y
- Tsuruhara, A., Aso, K., Tokuhara, D., Ohori, J., Kawabata, M., Kurono, Y., et al. (2017). Rejuvenation of mucosal immunosenescence by adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Int. Immunol.* 29, 5–10. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxx001
- Tufa, D. M., Ahmad, F., Chatterjee, D., Ahrenstorf, G., Schmidt, R. E., and Jacobs, R. (2016). Brief report: HIV-1 infection results in increased frequency of active and inflammatory SlanDCs that produce high level of IL-1β. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* 73, 34–38.
- Tufa, D. M., Chatterjee, D., Low, H. Z., Schmidt, R. E., and Jacobs, R. (2014). TNFR2 and IL-12 coactivation enables slanDCs to support NK-cell function via membrane-bound TNF-α. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 44, 3717–3728. doi: 10.1002/eji. 201444676
- van der Made, C. I., Simons, A., Schuurs-Hoeijmakers, J., van den Heuvel, G., Mantere, T., Kersten, S., et al. (2020). Presence of genetic variants among young men with severe COVID-19. *JAMA* 324, 663–673. doi: 10.1001/jama. 2020.13719
- Vande Broek, I., Asosingh, K., Vanderkerken, K., Straetmans, N., Van Camp, B., and Van Riet, I. (2003). Chemokine receptor CCR2 is expressed by human multiple myeloma cells and mediates migration to bone marrow stromal cell-produced monocyte chemotactic proteins MCP-1, -2 and -3. *Br. J. Cancer* 88, 855–862. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6600833
- Vazquez, B. N., Laguna, T., Carabana, J., Krangel, M. S., and Lauzurica, P. (2009). CD69 gene is differentially regulated in T and B cells by evolutionarily conserved promoter-distal elements. *J. Immunol.* 183, 6513–6521. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.0900839
- Vellas, C., Delobel, P., de Souto Barreto, P., and Izopet, J. (2020). COVID-19, virology and geroscience: a perspective. J. Nutr. Health Aging 24, 685–691. doi: 10.1007/s12603-020-1416-2
- Ventura, M. T., Casciaro, M., Gangemi, S., and Buquicchio, R. (2017). Immunosenescence in aging: between immune cells depletion and cytokines up-regulation. *Clin. Mol. Allergy* 15:21. doi: 10.1186/s12948-017-0077-0
- Vidal, S. M., Khakoo, S. I., and Biron, C. A. (2011). Natural killer cell responses during viral infections: flexibility and conditioning of innate immunity by experience. *Curr. Opin. Virol.* 1, 497–512. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2011. 10.017
- Viswanathan, S., Shi, Y., Galipeau, J., Krampera, M., Leblanc, K., Martin, I., et al. (2019). Mesenchymal stem versus stromal cells: international society for cell & gene therapy (ISCT§) mesenchymal stromal cell committee position statement on nomenclature. *Cytotherapy* 21, 1019–1024. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2019.08.002
- Wan, Y., Shang, J., Graham, R., Baric, R. S., and Li, F. (2020). Receptor recognition by the novel coronavirus from wuhan: an analysis based on decade-long structural studies of SARS coronavirus. *J. Virol.* 94:e00127–20. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 00127-20
- Wang, D., Hu, B., Hu, C., Zhu, F., Liu, X., Zhang, J., et al. (2020). Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirusinfected pneumonia in Wuhan China. JAMA 323, 1061–1069.
- Wang, F., Nie, J., Wang, H., Zhao, Q., Xiong, Y., Deng, L., et al. (2020). Characteristics of peripheral lymphocyte subset alteration in COVID-19 pneumonia. J. Infect. Dis. 221, 1762–1769. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiaa150
- Wang, J., Xia, J., Huang, R., Hu, Y., Fan, J., Shu, Q., et al. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles alter disease outcomes via endorsement of macrophage polarization. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11:424. doi: 10.1186/s13287-020-01937-8
- Wang, L., He, W., Yu, X., Hu, D., Bao, M., Liu, H., et al. (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019 in elderly patients: characteristics and prognostic factors based on 4-week follow-up. J. Infect. 80, 639–645. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.019
- Wang, W., Thomas, R., Oh, J., and Su, D. M. (2021). Thymic aging may be associated with COVID-19 pathophysiology in the elderly. *Cells* 10:628. doi: 10.3390/cells10030628
- Wang, X., Wang, G., Wang, Z., Liu, B., Han, N., Li, J., et al. (2019). PD-1-expressing B cells suppress CD4+ and CD8+ T cells via PD-1/PD-L1-dependent pathway. *Mol. Immunol.* 109, 20–26. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2019.02.009

- Waterman, R. S., Tomchuck, S. L., Henkle, S. L., and Betancourt, A. M. (2010). A new mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) paradigm: polarization into a proinflammatory MSC1 or an immunosuppressive MSC2 phenotype. *PLoS One* 5:e10088. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010088
- Westmeier, J., Paniskaki, K., Karaköse, Z., Werner, T., Sutter, K., Dolff, S., et al. (2020). Impaired cytotoxic CD8+ T cell response in elderly COVID-19 patients. *mBio* 11:e02243–20.
- Wheatley, A. K., Juno, J. A., Wang, J. J., Selva, K. J., Reynaldi, A., Tan, H. X., et al. (2021). Evolution of immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 in mildmoderate COVID-19. *Nat. Commun.* 12:1162. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21 444-5
- Wildner, N. H., Ahmadi, P., Schulte, S., Brauneck, F., Kohsar, M., Lütgehetmann, M., et al. (2021). B cell analysis in SARS-CoV-2 versus malaria: increased frequencies of plasmablasts and atypical memory B cells in COVID-19. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 109, 77–90. doi: 10.1002/JLB.5COVA0620-370RR
- Wilk, A. J., Rustagi, A., Zhao, N. Q., Roque, J., Martínez-Colón, G. J., McKechnie, J. L., et al. (2020). A single-cell atlas of the peripheral immune response in patients with severe COVID-19. *Nat. Med.* 26, 1070–1076. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0944-y
- Woodruff, M. C., Ramonell, R. P., Nguyen, D. C., Cashman, K. S., Saini, A. S., Haddad, N. S., et al. (2020). Extrafollicular B cell responses correlate with neutralizing antibodies and morbidity in COVID-19. *Nat. Immunol.* 21, 1506– 1516. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-00814-z
- World Health Organization (2021). Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Situation Dashboard. Available online at: https://covid19.who.int/ (accessed on April 19, 2021).
- Wu, C., Chen, X., Cai, Y., Xia, J., Zhou, X., Xu, S., et al. (2020). Risk factors associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome and death in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 pneumonia in Wuhan, China. *Erratum JAMA Intern. Med.* 180:1031.
- Wu, Z., and McGoogan, J. M. (2020). Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a Report of 72314 cases from the chinese center for disease control and prevention. JAMA 323, 1239–1242. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020
- Xiong, L., Zang, X., Feng, G., Zhao, F., Wang, S., Zeng, W., et al. (2021). Clinical characteristics and peripheral immunocyte subsets alteration of 85 COVID-19 deaths. *Aging (Albany NY)* 13, 6289–6297. doi: 10.18632/aging.202819
- Xu, X., Jiang, W., Chen, L., Xu, Z., Zhang, Q., Zhu, M., et al. (2021). Evaluation of the safety and efficacy of using human menstrual blood-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in treating severe and critically ill COVID-19 patients: an exploratory clinical trial. *Clin. Transl. Med.* 11:e297. doi: 10.1002/ctm2.297
- Yang, X., Yu, Y., Xu, J., Shu, H., Xia, J., Liu, H., et al. (2020). Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a single-centered, retrospective, observational study. *Lancet Respir. Med.* 8, 475–481.
- Yen, B. L., Yen, M. L., Wang, L. T., Liu, K. J., and Sytwu, H. K. (2020). Current status of mesenchymal stem cell therapy for immune/inflammatory lung disorders: gleaning insights for possible use in COVID-19. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 9, 1163–1173. doi: 10.1002/sctm.20-0186
- Yeo, G. E. C., Ng, M. H., Nordin, F. B., and Law, J. X. (2021). Potential of mesenchymal stem cells in the rejuvenation of the aging immune system. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22:5749. doi: 10.3390/ijms22115749
- Zengin, R., Beyaz, O., Koc, E. S., Akinci, I. O., Kocagoz, S., Sagcan, G., et al. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell treatment in a critically ill COVID-19 patient: a case report. *Stem Cell Investig.* 7:17. doi: 10.21037/sci-2020-024
- Zhan, T., Liu, M., Tang, Y., Han, Z., Cheng, X., Deng, J., et al. (2020). Retrospective analysis of clinical characteristics of 405 patients with COVID-19. *J. Int. Med. Res.* 48:300060520949039. doi: 10.1177/0300060520949039
- Zhang, W., Li, L., Liu, J., Chen, L., Zhou, F., Jin, T., et al. (2020). The characteristics and predictive role of lymphocyte subsets in COVID-19 patients. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* 99, 92–99. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.06.079
- Zhang, Y., Ding, J., Ren, S., Wang, W., Yang, Y., Li, S., et al. (2020). Intravenous infusion of human umbilical cord Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells as a potential treatment for patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11:207. doi: 10.1186/s13287-020-01725-4
- Zhao, G., Xu, Y., Li, J., Cui, X., Tan, X., Zhang, H., et al. (2021). Sex differences in immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 in patients with COVID-19. *Biosci. Rep.* 41:BSR20202074. doi: 10.1042/BSR20202074

- Zhao, J., Zhao, J., Mangalam, A. K., Channappanavar, R., Fett, C., Meyerholz, D. K., et al. (2016). Airway memory CD4(+) T cells mediate protective immunity against emerging respiratory coronaviruses. *Immunity* 44, 1379–1391. doi: 10. 1016/j.immuni.2016.05.006
- Zhao, J., Zhao, J., and Perlman, S. (2010). T cell responses are required for protection from clinical disease and for virus clearance in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-infected mice. J. Virol. 84, 9318–9325. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01049-10
- Zhao, Q., Meng, M., Kumar, R., Wu, Y., Huang, J., Deng, Y., et al. (2020). Lymphopenia is associated with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infections: a systemic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* 96, 131–135. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.04.086
- Zheng, M., Gao, Y., Wang, G., Song, G., Liu, S., Sun, D., et al. (2020). Functional exhaustion of antiviral lymphocytes in COVID-19 patients. *Cell Mol. Immunol.* 17, 533–535. doi: 10.1038/s41423-020-0402-2
- Zhou, F., Yu, T., Du, R., Fan, G., Liu, Y., Liu, Z., et al. (2020). Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet* 395, 1054–1062. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)30566-3
- Zhou, R., To, K. K., Wong, Y. C., Liu, L., Zhou, B., Li, X., et al. (2020). Acute SARS-CoV-2 infection impairs dendritic cell and T cell responses. *Immunity* 53, 864–877.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.07.026
- Zhou, Y., Zhang, Y., Han, J., Yang, M., Zhu, J., and Jin, T. (2020). Transitional B cells involved in autoimmunity and their impact on neuroimmunological diseases. *J. Transl. Med.* 18:131. doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-0 2289-w
- Zhu, Y., Zhu, R., Liu, K., Li, X., Chen, D., Bai, D., et al. (2020). Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells for adjuvant treatment of a critically Ill COVID-19 patient: a case report. *Infect. Drug Resist.* 13, 3295–3300. doi: 10.2147/IDR. S272645

- Ziegler-Heitbrock, L., Ancuta, P., Crowe, S., Dalod, M., Grau, V., Hart, D. N., et al. (2010). Nomenclature of monocytes and dendritic cells in blood. *Blood* 116, e74–e80. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-02-258558
- Zimmermann, P., and Curtis, N. (2020). Why is COVID-19 less severe in children? A review of the proposed mechanisms underlying the age-related difference in severity of SARS-CoV-2 infections. *Arch. Dis. Child.* doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2020-320338 [Epub ahead of Print].
- Zingaropoli, M. A., Nijhawan, P., Carraro, A., Pasculli, P., Zuccalà, P., Perri, V., et al. (2021). Increased sCD163 and sCD14 plasmatic levels and depletion of peripheral blood pro-inflammatory monocytes, myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells in patients with severe COVID-19 pneumonia. *Front. Immunol.* 12:627548. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.627548

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ligotti, Pojero, Accardi, Aiello, Caruso, Duro and Candore. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Recent Advances of COVID-19 Modeling Based on Regenerative Medicine

Bagher Larijani^{1†}, Najmeh Foroughi-Heravani², Mina Abedi³, Akram Tayanloo-Beik^{2†}, Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani^{4†}, Hossein Adibi⁵ and Babak Arjmand^{2,3*†}

¹ Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical sciences, Tehran, Iran, ² Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ³ Metabolomics and Genomics Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ⁴ Proteomics Research Center, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ⁵ Diabetes Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) has caused a pandemic since December 2019 that originated in Wuhan, China. Soon after that, the world health organization declared Coronavirus disease-2019 a global health concern. SARS-CoV-2 is responsible for a lethal respiratory infection as well as the involvement of other organs due to its large tropism spectrum such as neurologic, cardiovascular, endocrine, gastrointestinal, and renal systems. Since the behavior of the virus is not fully understood, a new manifestation of the infection is revealed every day. In order to be able to design more efficient drugs and vaccines to treat the infection, finding out the exact mechanism of pathogenicity would be necessary. Although there have been some big steps toward understanding the relevant process, there are still some deficiencies in this field. Accordingly, regenerative medicine (RM), can offer promising opportunities in discovering the exact mechanisms and specific treatments. For instance, since it is not always possible to catch the pathophysiology mechanisms in human beings, several modeling methods have been introduced in this field that can be studied in three main groups: stem cell-based models, organoids, and animal models. Regarding stem cell-based models, induced pluripotent stem cells are the major study subjects, which are generated by reprogramming the somatic stem cells and then directing them into different adult cell populations to study their behavior toward the infection. In organoid models, different cell lines can be guided to produce a 3D structure including liver, heart, and brain-like platforms. Among animal models, mice are the most common species in this field. However, in order for mice models to be permissive to the virus, angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 receptors, the main receptor involved in the pathogenicity of the virus, should be introduced to the host cells through different methods. Here, the current known mechanism of SARS-CoV-2 infection, different suggested models, the specific

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Center for Biomedical Research Network of Diabetes and Associated Metabolic Diseases (CIBERDEM), Spain

Reviewed by:

Mahmood S. Choudhery, King Edward Medical University, Pakistan Bernat Soria, Miguel Hernández University of Elche, Spain

*Correspondence:

Babak Arjmand barjmand@sina.tums.ac.ir

[†]ORCID:

Bagher Larijani orcid.org/0000-0001-5386-7597 Akram Tayanloo-Beik orcid.org/0000-0001-8370-9557 Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani orcid.org/0000-0003-1767-7475 Babak Arjmand orcid.org/0000-0001-5001-5006

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 21 March 2021 Accepted: 22 September 2021 Published: 25 October 2021

Citation:

Larijani B, Foroughi-Heravani N, Abedi M, Tayanloo-Beik A, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Adibi H and Arjmand B (2021) Recent Advances of COVID-19 Modeling Based on Regenerative Medicine. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:683619. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.683619

98

response toward different manipulation as well as challenges and shortcomings in each case have been reviewed. Finally, we have tried to provide a quick summary of the present available RM-based models for SARS-CoV-2 infection, as an essential part of developing drugs, for future therapeutic goals.

Keywords: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, model, stem cell, induced pluripotent stem cells, regenerative medicine, organoid

INTRODUCTION

Emerging from Wuhan, China, severe acute respiratory syndrome Coronavirus-2(SARS-CoV-2) has introduced a new pandemic to the world. Coronavirus disease-2019(COVID-19) is the new deadly viral infection in the family of human coronaviruses including SARS and Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS). It is more contagious than the former ones and has caused considerable mortality and morbidity. Due to the lack of an effective treatment, the number of patients is rising constantly (Akhmerov and Marbán, 2020; Basiri et al., 2020; Becker, 2020; Golchin et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020).

Scientists' knowledge of this infection is rapidly growing, for instance, the function of the angiotensin-converting enzyme2 (ACE2) receptor in SARS-CoV-2 tropism and mechanism of infection is partially understood (Harmer et al., 2002; Becker, 2020; Yu et al., 2020). The ACE2 receptor is expressed on a large proportion of human cells such as lung parenchyma, the heart, kidney, and gastrointestinal tract. It is believed that the ACE2 receptor plays a significant role in the presentation of many symptoms: acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), diarrhea, etc. (Yiangou et al., 2020). Although many biotechnology companies have developed different vaccines and millions of people have been vaccinated to date, their effectiveness is still under question and longer followup is needed. Among various attempts and intensive research on possible strategies, constructing regenerative medicine (RM) based platforms has been investigated for a novel therapeutic approach that can provide the information needed for understanding the virus behavior and its pathogenesis (Ramezankhani et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). RM is about repairing, regenerating, and restoring the missing function of organs or tissues, thus it can be beneficial for studying the interactions between the virus and host cells and therefore, the pathophysiology, which can lead to the development of new drugs and vaccines (Atala et al., 2020; Basiri et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). As an example of therapeutic attempts, cell therapies, especially mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) therapy, have undergone investigations. MSCs have promising features like immunomodulatory effects, which are helpful in treating SARS-CoV-2 infection (Basiri et al., 2020; Golchin et al., 2020). At the time of writing this review, around 80 clinical trials are registered in www.clinicaltrials.gov that have utilized cell- based strategies including stem cells (mostly MSCs) and their derivatives (e.g., exosomes), memory T cells, and natural killer (NK) cells for treating COVID-19 and its related organ injuries. However, there are limited data on MSC therapy in pre-clinical studies, especially on models of lung injury of COVID-19 (Khoury et al., 2020; Ramezankhani et al., 2020; Ferreras et al., 2021; Park et al., 2021; Pérez-Martínez et al., 2021). Disease modeling (in vitro, in vivo, or both) is considered to be one of the major components of RM. Indeed, to elucidate the infection mechanisms and its manifestation in the human body, proper and reliable models are of urgent need. Accordingly, many animal models, different types of stem cells, and the cell-based cultures and organoids [a 3 dimensional (3D) structure in extracellular matrix (ECM)] have

Abbreviations: SARS-CoV-2, Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2; MERS, Middle East Respiratory Syndrome; RM, Regenerative Medicine; hESCs, Human Embryonic Stem Cells; hiPSCs, Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells; MSCs, Mesenchymal Stem Cells; NSCs, Neural stem cells; NPCs, Neural progenitor cells; NK, Natural killer cells; AT2s, Type2 Alveolar Epithelial Cells; ARB, Angiotensin Receptor Blocker; hrsACE2, Human Recombinant Soluble ACE2; ARDS, Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome; HSV1, Herpes Simplex virus-1; IFN, Interferon; HLA, Human Leukocyte Adhesion; hscTnI, Highly sensitive troponin-I; Cyr61, Cysteine-rich protein 61; CCN1, CCN family number 1; GSIs, y-Secretase Inhibitors; GFP, Green Fluorescent Protein; SFTPC, Surfactant Protein-C; QNHC, Quinacrine Dihydrochloride; MPA, Mycophenolic Acid; CLDN1, claudin1; SLC10A2, solute carrier family 10 member 2; CFTR, Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator; RLU, Relative Luciferase Units; ECM, Extracellular Matrix; SCID, Severe Combined Immune Deficiency; NOD, Non-obese Diabetic; NSG, NOD-SCID iL2RG^{null}; 3D, 3 dimensional; hACE2, Human Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2; hPSC, Human Pluripotent Stem Cell; PDGFb, Platelet Derived Growth Factor Subunit B; KRT18, Cytokeratin 18; TMPRSS2, Transmembrane Serine Protease 2; RIG-I, Retinoic acid-Inducible Gene-I-like; PAMPs, Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns; Ang-1, Angiopoietin-1; KGF, Keratinocyte Growth Factor; BNP, Brain Natriuretic Peptide; MAS, Macrophage Activation Syndrome; ORF, Open Reading Frame; GM-CSF, Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor; CXCL, C-X-C motif Chemokine Ligand; CXCL10/IP-10, C-X-C motif chemokine Ligand 10/Interferon y-induced Protein 10 kDa; S protein, Spike; BMI, Body Mass Index; PD, Programmed cell Death protein; CD, Cluster of Differentiation; NSP, Non-structural Protein; M protein, Membrane; E protein, Envelope; N protein, Nucleocapsid; HCQ, Hydroxychloroquine; LPS, Lipopolysaccharide; DEX, Dexamethasone; TNF-a, Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha; IL, Interleukin; NC, No Change; ARCoV, A vaccine candidate with the component of a mRNA sequence encoding the receptor binding domain of the virus which is encapsulated in lipid nanoparticles; RANTES, CCL5; Exo MSC-NTF, MCSderived exosomes producing neurotrophic factor; AKI, Acute Kidney Injury; NIH, National Institutes of Health; WHO, World Health Organization; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; RAS, Renin-Angiotensin System; SIRS, Severe Inflammatory Response Syndrome; BBB, Blood- Brain Barrier; TAT, Thrombin Antithrombin complex; ABSCs, Airway Basal Stem Cells; CS, Cigarette Smoke; APC, Antigen Presenting Cells; STAT-1, Signal Transducer And Activator Of Transcription 1; JAK, Janus kinase; CRISPR/Cas9, Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats and CRISPR-associated protein9; MASCp6, Mouse-Adapted Strain At Passage 6; Ifnar1-/- mice, C57BL/6 mice with a genetic ablation of their type I interferon receptors; Il28r-/- mice, C57BL/6 mice with a genetic ablation of their type III interferon receptors; WT, Wild Type; STAT2-/- hamster, lacking type I and III IFN signaling; IL28R hamster, lacking IFN type III signaling; ISG, Interferon-Stimulated Genes; GI, Gastrointestinal; PMN, Polymorphonuclear.

been used frequently to model diseases including neurological, cardiac, and metabolic disorders (Sterneckert et al., 2014; Doss and Sachinidis, 2019; Atala et al., 2020; Basiri et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2020; Payab et al., 2021). To model COVID-19, some of the most common animal species are mice, rats, and hamsters. For instance, mice have been genetically engineered to express the human ACE2 gene. In addition, there have been attempts toward using ACE2 expressing stem cells in RM platforms (Atala et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). Moreover, since SARS-CoV-2 affects multiple systems and organs, RM has played a role in analyzing the infection mechanism and host response by generating organoids of the lung, kidney, cardio, intestine which replicate the critical features of organs and model the disease in vitro (Atala et al., 2020; Basiri et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2020). In this review, a brief report of the known pathophysiology of SARS-CoV-2 infection in different organs is presented. Then, an extended review of recent advances toward designing models of COVID-19 is provided to help researchers find the best and most appropriate model. This article has tried to present the available data on modeling strategies of this new infection and their pros and cons for designing future effective therapeutic strategies.

MECHANISM OF SARS-COV-2 INFECTION

Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) is a highly transmissible virus that demonstrates a broad spectrum of tissue tropism, a quality that justifies its level of contagiousness (Harrison et al., 2020; Khoury et al., 2020). Due to its multi-organ tropism, a spectrum of pathologic symptoms from neurological, cardiac, pancreatic, digestive, and renal to the most common one, respiratory signs can be presented (Alsaad et al., 2020; Puelles et al., 2020; Qin and Zhao, 2020; Simoneau and Ott, 2020; Wiersinga et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). The multiorgan tropism is due to the ACE2 receptor expression on different cells around the body. In the following part, a brief description of the chain of events when SARS-CoV-2 attacks different organs of the body is presented. Knowing this mechanism helps us understand the foundation of each model designing better.

Lung

In respiratory tract involvement, SARS-CoV-2 causes symptoms from viral pneumonia to ARDS of the upper and lower respiratory tracts (Khoury et al., 2020; Simoneau and Ott, 2020; Youk et al., 2020). ARDS diagnosis is confirmed based on Berlin 2012 criteria: (1) presence of a clinical insult as well as new or worsening respiratory symptoms. (2) bilateral opacities on the imaging that are not fully described as effusion, collapse, or nodule. (3) respiratory failure due to edema that is not due to cardiac failure or volume overload and (4) impaired oxygenation that is described in three levels of mild, moderate, and severe each with its specific cut-offs (Gibson et al., 2020). Since the beginning of the pandemic in 2019, there have been some huge steps toward discovering the mechanism of action and virulence of the virus in order to improve the efficacy of vaccines and drug candidates (Ramezankhani et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2021). SARS-CoV-2 is composed of four main structural proteins including Spike (S), Membrane (M), Envelope (E), and Nucleocapsid (N). In the mechanism of virus infection, the very first step of pathogenicity is the entrance to the parenchymal lung cells by the interaction between ACE2 receptors and virus surface S protein (Harrison et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020; Ramezankhani et al., 2020; Shang et al., 2020; Simoneau and Ott, 2020; Yang et al., 2020). After that, viral S protein undergoes lysis by transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2) of the host cells. This gives the virus genome an opportunity to be translated to viral polymerase and proteases by the host ribosomes (Li et al., 2020; Simoneau and Ott, 2020). The products of this process are viral RNA and structural proteins (Fehr and Perlman, 2015; Li et al., 2020; Simoneau and Ott, 2020). The range of SARS-CoV-2 effects on the respiratory system varies from pneumonia to ARDS. The clinical definition was provided in the previous part. In SARS-CoV-2 infection, the pathological features of ARDS are associated with diffuse alveolar changes such as hyaline membrane formation, interstitial thickening, edema, and fibroblasts proliferation. The associated mechanisms are discussed in the following (Gibson et al., 2020). One of them is the direct cytopathic effect (Ramezankhani et al., 2020). Studies have shown that SARS-CoV-2 causes apoptosis and necrosis in ACE2 positive cells (airway epithelial cells in this case) via cytopathic effect. In addition, cilia movement cessation is another pathologic effect in the airways. Direct virus entrance in some other ACE2 positive cells is one of the possible suggested mechanisms of cell damage (Ramezankhani et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Considering the immunologic effects, the host retinoic acid-inducible gene-I-like (RIG-I) or Toll-like receptors recognize viral pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (Simoneau and Ott, 2020). In the cellular immune system, antigen presenting cells (APC) activate CD4 + cells as well as CD8 + T cells, which destroy infected cells directly. Furthermore, a part of the proinflammatory cytokine production (such as interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, IL-12, interferon(IFN)- γ , and Tumor Necrosis Factor(TNF)-a) is induced by CD4 + T cells, that leads to recruitment of innate immune cells (Costela-Ruiz et al., 2020; Ramezankhani et al., 2020). The uncontrolled production of inflammatory cytokines can also cause cytokine storm, which then leads to ARDS (Molinaro et al., 2020; Ramezankhani et al., 2020). The cytokine storm increases vascular permeability leading to edema as one of the items in ARDS criteria due to damaging the endothelial cell junctions (tight junction protein and the zonula occludens) as well as letting proteins, neutrophils, erythrocytes, and platelets pass into the interstitial tissue. This process is compatible with opacities seen in imaging. Then with the progression of alveolar accumulation with exudate, ventilation to perfusion mismatch is exaggerated and deteriorates impaired oxygenation that results in the progression toward ARDS (Molinaro et al., 2020; Ramezankhani et al., 2020; Suri et al., 2021). Another reason for the hyperinflammatory state is macrophage hyperactivation and neutrophil infiltration. macrophage hyperactivation causes macrophage activation syndrome (MAS) and the latter results in necroinflammation (Cao, 2020; Otsuka and Seino, 2020; Ramezankhani et al., 2020). Interferons (mainly IFN-1) are another group of antiviral factors produced because of antiviral

immune response (Boudewijns et al., 2020; Busnadiego et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2020; Simoneau and Ott, 2020). Memory T cells mostly show an immune response to SARS-CoV-2 structural proteins, especially S proteins. Accordingly, structural proteins could be considered as vaccine candidates (Ng et al., 2016; Ramezankhani et al., 2020). SARS-CoV-2 interferes with immune system antiviral actions by using different methods such as causing cell apoptosis and cytopathic effects (Simoneau and Ott, 2020). In addition, SARS-CoV-2 contains enzymes that modify viral and host cell RNAs. This mechanism makes the virus able to escape antiviral receptor detection. Different mechanisms have been proved to be associated with immune system evasion by SASR-CoV-2. SARS-CoV-2 possesses several proteins such as the NSP family, ORF proteins, M, N that are important in evading the immune system through several ways like cleaving host mRNA, inhibiting inflammatory cytokines production, sequestering viral RNA, inducing apoptosis or direct cytopathic effects, and inhibiting host proteins translation. Discussing these mechanisms in detail is beyond the scope of this article (Kasuga et al., 2021). Different factors have been known to be associated with poor prognosis of ARDS in COVID-19 patients, lymphopenia and cytokine storm are the two most important factors (Pourbagheri-Sigaroodi et al., 2020). Cell reduction in lymphopenia happens in T CD4 + and 8 + as well as B cells. The expression of CD38 and human leukocyte adhesion (HLA)-DR in T cells as the hallmark of T cell activation during viral pneumonia, was significantly higher in COVID-19 patients (Hue et al., 2020). PD-1 expression demonstrates immune dysfunction during sepsis. A study showed that during the pathogenesis of the infection, CD8 + T cells express lower levels of PD-1 in comparison to non-COVID ARDS patients (Hue et al., 2020). This finding supports the previous claim that immune system hyper activation is one of the associated mechanisms in ARDS development and probably forecasts its severity during COVID-19 infection (Hue et al., 2020). Higher levels of IL-10, CXCL10/IP-10, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and CX3CL1 as well as more severe viral shedding in the examination of nasopharyngeal swabs were also reported in COVID-ARDS patients (Hue et al., 2020). It highlights that immune dysregulation and more severe viral shedding are other negative prognostic factors of COVID-ADRS (Hue et al., 2020). Systemic inflammatory response, as well as multi-organ failure, can affect the susceptibility of developing ARDS. Comorbidities like old age, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, elevated BMI, cardiac and chronic lung diseases are associated with progression to ARDS in COVID-19 infection (Suri et al., 2021). On the other hand, some studies have reported a more severe phenotype of the disease in immunocompromised patients (Belsky et al., 2021). Therefore, we can conclude that hyper inflammatory response of a competent immune system and the cytopathic effect of the virus in the absence of an effective immune system are two possible underlying factors of developing ARDS. However, this deduction is not complete due to the lack of sufficient knowledge in the case of COVID-19 pathogenicity, which reflects the need for designing effective models in order to facilitate studying viral mechanisms of action in more detail (Remy et al., 2020).

Kidney

Renal involvement in COVID-19 infection is manifested most commonly as Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) which makes the patient prone to other complications (Robbins-Juarez et al., 2020; Arikan et al., 2021). Several pathophysiologic mechanisms have been suggested to be the cause of COVID-19 renal manifestations, which are discussed briefly in the following point. The first one is systemic hemodynamic instability (Legrand et al., 2021). In this state, due to decreased cardiac output or renal venous congestion, renal perfusion is disrupted. The underlying reasons for decreased cardiac output are mentioned under the cardiovascular system subtitle. On the other hand, venous dilation increases renal interstitial and tubular pressure that lead to a hypoxic situation as well as compromising the glomerular filtration rate (Legrand et al., 2021). Another underlying reason is cytokine storm, a life-threatening situation during which the immune system is highly activated and inflammatory cytokines are extensively released, causing organ failure. In addition to systemic inflammation, cytokine release can happen locally in renal tissue. During COVID-19 infection, renal cells start to release inflammatory cytokines such as TNF and FAS that cause renal dysfunction by direct cell injury (Legrand et al., 2021). The virus can also induce cell damage through the cytopathic effect that invades renal cells directly. On the other hand, SARS-CoV-2 inhibits type I IFN production which leads to increased viral replication as well as immune dysregulation. Out-of-control complement release is another underlying reason for hyperinflammatory state during SARS-CoV-2 infection that induces tissue injury. Adaptive immunity dysfunction such as T cell, plasmacytoid dendritic cell, eosinophil, and natural killer cell depletion has also been reported during the course of infection. The last mechanism is endothelial damage and micro-thrombi formation, the pathophysiology of which is discussed under the "cardiovascular system subtitle" (Legrand et al., 2021).

Eye

According to studies, COVID-19 infection does not cause specific retinal involvement, however, conjunctivitis has been reported in some cases with positive PCR (Pirraglia et al., 2020; Seah and Agrawal, 2020). On the other hand, patients with eye comorbidities are at risk of advanced or uncontrolled forms of the disease because of disrupted ophthalmic care delivery during the pandemic (Pujari et al., 2021). However, several ophthalmic symptoms have been reported in animal studies such as retinitis, conjunctivitis, anterior uveitis, chorditis, retinal detachment and, optic neuritis (Seah and Agrawal, 2020). The underlying vacuities during the COVID-19 infection can cause these symptoms (Seah and Agrawal, 2020). Tissue inflammation is also directly induced by viral replication in the retina that causes immune cells to infiltrate and pro-inflammatory cytokines to be released (Seah and Agrawal, 2020). An autoimmune nature of the infection is also suggested in the studies due to the autoantibodies that are produced during the infection against retinal cells that lead to degradation of photoreceptors, ganglion cells, and neuroretina (Seah and Agrawal, 2020). ACE2 protein, which is necessary for the virus entrance, is expressed in the aqueous humor but more studies are needed in order to explore its expression in other structures such as conjunctiva or cornea (Seah and Agrawal, 2020).

Gut

Patients with COVID-19 can show several gastrointestinal symptoms such as diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, gastrointestinal bleeding, and abdominal pain (Zhang J. et al., 2020). ACE2 receptor, as well as TMPRSS2, are highly expressed in the gastrointestinal system, thus viral entrance and replication happen extensively in the gut after the respiratory system. Tissue inflammation underlies these symptoms during infection (Steardo et al., 2020; Zhang J. et al., 2020). High levels of fecal calprotectin and IL-6 as inflammatory factors support this claim (Zhang J. et al., 2020). Hyper-inflammatory syndromes such as hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis and cytokine storm also are accused of organ failure in the gastrointestinal system like other body organs (Zhang J. et al., 2020). However, based on studies human defensin-5 protein that plays an important role against SARS-CoV-2 in the gut, can be increased during the inflammation (Zhang J. et al., 2020).

Liver

Abnormal liver transferase levels can be detected in about 15-43% of COVID-19 patients with more probability in severe cases (Zhang C. et al., 2020). Acute liver injury has also been reported in some studies (Zhang C. et al., 2020). Liver injury can happen during systemic inflammation that is caused by inflammatory cytokine release during the course of infection. High levels of Th17 and 2, IL-2,6,7,10, TNF-a, granulocytecolony stimulating factor, IFN-inducible protein-10, monocyte chemotactic protein 1 and macrophage inflammatory protein 1 alpha in COVID-19 patients support this idea (Li and Fan, 2020). Liver dysfunction can also happen through direct viral invasion in the infection (Zhang C. et al., 2020). In addition, stress- induced liver injury is another pathologic event that can be caused by hypoxia-reoxygenation, activation of oxidative stress mechanisms, intestinal endotoxemia, and activation of the sympathetic nervous and adrenocortical system in COVID-19 patients (Li and Fan, 2020). As cholangiocytes highly express ACE2 receptors, they are suggested to be one of the main cells responsible for liver injury in COVID-19 infection (Zhang C. et al., 2020). However, ACE2 is poorly expressed in the liver, suggesting that there are other entrance paths of the virus to infect the cells (Steardo et al., 2020). Drug toxicity is also mentioned to be another reason for liver dysfunction (Li and Fan, 2020; Zhang C. et al., 2020).

Brain

Neurological symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 infection are categorized into two different groups, the first one is anosmia and ageusia that are reported in mild cases and the second group of symptoms consists of mental confusion and cognitive impairment in severe cases (Chigr et al., 2020). ACE2 receptors in the CNS are specifically expressed in the brain stem, subfornical organ, paraventricular nucleus, the nucleus of tractus solitaries, and rostral ventrolateral medulla which are responsible for respiratory and cardiovascular systems regulation, therefore a part of these systems dysfunction can be explained by this claim (Chigr et al., 2020; Steardo et al., 2020). There are different entrance paths to the nervous system. Nasal inoculation of SARS-CoV-2 can infect CNS via the olfactory bulb; other paths are bloodstream (blood-brain barrier (BBB) disruption) and vagus nerve that carries the virus from the respiratory system (Chigr et al., 2020; Steardo et al., 2020). Like other organs, tissue inflammation affects the nervous system. Microglia and astrocyte activation support this issue (Steardo et al., 2020). Astrocytes can be attacked by the virus, cells that play an important role in forming BBB, so by astrocyte involvement, the neuro-infection expands. This situation happens when a systemic cytokine storm is triggered by SARS-CoV-2 (Steardo et al., 2020). BBB disruption leads to neuroinflammation that causes neuronal death (Steardo et al., 2020). Hence, the cognitive disorder, behavioral and personality changes that are reported in severe cases can be explained by this mechanism (Steardo et al., 2020). Persistent neuro-inflammation along with hypoxia is accompanied by more severe presentations such as delirium (Steardo et al., 2020).

Cardiovascular System

As mentioned before, cardiac function can be compromised during SARS-CoV-2 infection leading to decreased cardiac output and in advanced stages, multi-organ dysfunction. Cardiovascular injury can happen through different mechanisms. The first one as was mentioned before is systemic inflammation which involves the cardiovascular system as well as other tissue (Petrovic et al., 2020). Low level of inflammation is the reason for non-specific viral infection symptoms but in severe cases, if the severe inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) criteria are met, hemodynamic disorders such as shock, disseminated intravascular coagulopathy, and multi-organ failure will lead to cardiac dysfunction (Petrovic et al., 2020). In rare cases, myocardial injury due to hyper-inflammation is reported during COVID-19 infection that compromises cardiac function. Reninangiotensin system (RAS) activation in the first stages of SIRS to reverse the situation, is responsible for increasing blood pressure through different mechanisms, one of them is vasoconstriction. At first, this condition helps the cardiovascular system to reverse the situation but by the time, hypertension will increase the burden on the cardiovascular system until the heart cannot compensate for the situation (Petrovic et al., 2020). In addition, viral entrance through ACE2 down- regulates its production. This leads to an imbalance between ACE2 and angiotensinogen II levels that is another reason for cardiovascular failure (Petrovic et al., 2020). Hypercoagulable state of the body in COVID-19 as well as plaque instability can exaggerate cardiovascular failure. Hyper-inflammation is one of the triggers of hypercoagulability by disrupting the hematopoietic system (Petrovic et al., 2020). It also plays a negative role in inducing plaque instability. Elevated levels of catecholamines as a result of inflammation may cause plaque rupture that can lead to acute coronary syndrome (Petrovic et al., 2020). Plaque rupture, by exposing its content (foamy macrophage) as well as smooth muscles, induces micro- thrombi formation that can move to other organs and cause organ dysfunction (Petrovic et al., 2020). IL-6, an

inflammatory cytokine, can also be released by smooth muscles and worsen the situation.

MODELING COVID-19

As the pandemic goes on, the necessity to discover the mechanisms of virulence and injury to cells and tissues becomes more and more critical (Sun et al., 2020; Youk et al., 2020). Since it is not always possible to directly investigate the pathophysiology mechanisms in human beings, several modeling methods have been introduced including organoids, different types of stem cells, and animals (Boudewijns et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020; Shpichka et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2020). Several types of 3D-designed organoids derived from body organs that are targets of SARS-CoV-2 organotropism are discussed. Stem cell models can be categorized into two main groups induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) and non- iPSCs. Various types of animal models, each with the quality of being infected by the virus in an innate manner or by being induced through different methods are discussed extendedly under the subtitle. These models can have several functions other than helping the scientists understand different aspects of COVID-19 pathogenesis such as testing the efficacy of drug and vaccine candidates. Based on a recent update of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) COVID-19 treatment guideline, there are some antiviral, immunosuppressant, and antimalarial drugs that are used during the infection. Remdesivir -the only Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved COVID-19 drug- and dexamethasone are approved by the NIH guideline (Covid-19 Treatment Guidelines Panel, 2021). The convalescent plasma is suggested for the emergency cases. In addition, ivermectin, nitazoxanide, hydroxychloroquine, chloroquine, azithromycin, lopinavir/ritonavir, and other HIV Protease inhibitors are some other drugs that are not approved by the guideline. Remdesivir suppresses RNA transcription by inhibiting RNA polymerase function. Chloroquine as an antimalarial drug inhibits viral cell-binding by preventing the ACE-2 receptor to be glycosylated. Both Chloroquine and Hydroxychloroquine have immunomodulatory features as well as inhibiting viral fusion because of increasing endosomal pH and preventing viral genome to be released. Azithromycin as a synergistic drug has antiviral and anti-inflammatory effects. However, neither of them has shown efficacy in lowering viral load in respiratory tracts clinically. Ivermectin as an antiparasitic drug inhibits a specific type of intracellular transporting proteins of infected cells that are used by the virus to spread infection. But, it has not shown a significant clinical advantage in trials. HIV Protease inhibitors were suggested to inhibit COVID-19 proteases but trials did not support that clinically. Nitazoxanide is an antiparasitic drug that suppresses specific enzymes of the infected cell that are hijacked by the virus for processing viral proteins. Clinical trials do not confirm that in COVID-19 patients. Different types of anti-SARS-CoV-2 monoclonal antibodies have been proved to be effective in mild to moderate cases that are at the risk of COVID severity. Some other drugs are under evaluation such as colchicine, fluvoxamine, and other immunomodulators (Covid- 19 Treatment Guidelines

Panel, 2021). COVID-19 specific T lymphocytes as a plasma subset of convalescent donors have shown some progress in this field (Ferreras et al., 2021). Furthermore, RM has made some steps toward COVID-19 treatment. As previously mentioned, the efficacy of using MSCs in the treatment of the infection has been shown in different clinical studies (Sánchez-Guijo et al., 2020). However, there is still much to be done for the suggested medical, immunologic and RM treatments to be approved by valid organizations. Modeling can extensively advance this field of study.

Stem Cell Modeling

Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells-Derived Models

Although embryonic stem cells (ESCs) have been used in many clinical trials and studies as a valuable source in different fields of regenerative medicine, downsides such as ethical concerns and immune rejection following allogeneic transplantation led to the development of iPSCs. These stem cells are produced by reprogramming adult somatic cells and like ESCs, can differentiate into any type of somatic cells. IPSC discovery resulted in enormous progress in research areas such as biomedicine, drug discovery, diseases pathophysiology and etiology, cell therapy, and generally, regenerative and personalized medicine (Doss and Sachinidis, 2019). Moreover, hiPSCs have been recently used as beneficial models of infectious diseases. For instance, hiPSC-derived hepatocytes have been infected with hepatitis B virus, and hiPSC-derived cardiomyocytes have been studied for cardiomyopathy of Chagas disease. Another example is the study of hiPSC-derived neural progenitor cells (NPCs) infection with Zika virus and Herpes Simplex virus-1(HSV1). Accordingly, different types of cells derived from iPSCs have been investigated for SARS-CoV-2 infection (Nolasco et al., 2020). Type2 alveolar epithelial cells (AT2s) play a crucial role in the lung by producing surfactant and differentiating into type 1 alveolar epithelial cells (AT1s). However, their proliferation capacity is poor in in vitro cultures. On the other hand, hiPSC-derived AT2s have greater proliferative potential. AT2s derived from hiPSCs (either in an organoid form or *in vitro* culture at the air-liquid interface) have provided a valuable tool for studying and modeling the effects of SARS-CoV-2 infection on these cells and presenting the changes in cellular and molecular mechanisms including loss of surfactant gene expression, cellular toxicity and stress, and viral entry via TMPRSS2 (Anderson and Francis, 2018; Abo et al., 2020; Nolasco et al., 2020). In addition to lung infection, SARS-CoV-2 can cause systemic inflammation and infect other systems and organs like CNS, digestive tract, and liver (Kase and Okano, 2020; Simoneau and Ott, 2020). One of the proposed mechanisms of viral migration is endothelium infection. Although direct infection of endothelial cells by SARS-CoV-2 is reported, there are controversial results from studying hiPSC-derived endothelial cells. Results of these studies showed that the infection of these cells by SARS-CoV-2 pseudo virus entry was lower than other cells like cardiomyocytes and even no infection was detected while they expressed ACE2 (Nolasco et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). Therefore, one of the hypotheses

for the actual pathogenesis is in vivo up-regulation of ACE2 in response to systemic changes and interferon stimulation, as ACE2 is an interferon-stimulated gene (ISG). This hypothesis needs to be tested by models of endothelial cells from iPSCs. Besides, COVID-19 is known to bring a hypercoagulable state upon patients-probably not in a similar way to other infectionspresumably by cytokine storm and endothelial dysfunction. Therefore, hiPSC-derived endothelial cells can help understand the possible novel mechanisms of hypercoagulation in this vascular-thrombotic disease (Nolasco et al., 2020). There have been concerns about cardiac manifestations of COVID-19 since myocardial injury and arrhythmias are reported in some patients. ACE2 is expressed in cardiomyocytes that makes them susceptible to SARS-CoV-2 infection. It is found that patients with heart failure exhibit more ACE2 expression that can make them more prone to severe conditions. Also, high levels of highly sensitive Troponin-I (hs-cTnI) lead to a poor prognosis of the disease. It is not completely clear whether all cardiovascular changes are directly due to the virus infection or are results of other organ dysfunctions like impaired pulmonary function. Accordingly, different studies have used cardiomyocytes derived from hiPSCs and hESCs for modeling this condition and drug screening (e.g., ACE inhibitors or ARBs, remdesivir, and chloroquine). It is found that the cells are susceptible to viral infection and replication that causes apoptosis and contractility alterations, including ceased beating. In addition, the infection induces changes in gene expression like down-regulating ACE2 expression and the genes associated with mitochondrial function (Choi et al., 2020; Nolasco et al., 2020; Sharma et al., 2020). ACE2 has well-known protective effects for the heart by inhibiting overload of angiotensin II. Studies have shown that SARS-CoV-2 causes translocation of ACE2, which results in its suppression, and also the virus increases brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) expression. Hence, the infection results in dysregulation of angiotensin balance and leads to inflammation and thrombosis as well as increasing some inflammatory cytokines. It can be concluded that both the direct cytopathic effect and the immune response of the host are responsible for the cardiac injury (Wong et al., 2020). Different neurological disorders in patients with COVID-19 (especially those with comorbidities) are reported such as headache, loss of smell and taste, meningitis, and acute hemorrhagic necrotizing encephalopathy (Kase and Okano, 2020; Moriguchi et al., 2020; Poyiadji et al., 2020; Simoneau and Ott, 2020). It seems that SARS-CoV-2 can have a direct pathogenic effect on CNS cells in addition to causing cytokine storms, but the exact mechanism remains unclear. Therefore, many iPSC-derived models have been used to understand this mechanism (Simoneau and Ott, 2020). Cysteine-rich protein 61(Cyr61) or CCN family number 1(CCN1) is a virulent factor that is known to be enhanced in SARS-COV-2 infection. Further, ACE2 expression is high in some parts of the brain like the thalamus and choroid plexus. To investigate the potential role of these receptors for CNS infection, the expression of ACE2 and CCN1 was examined in neural stem cells (NSCs) and NPCs derived from hiPSCs. The expression of these SARS-CoV-2 targets not only was seen in hiPCS-derived NSC/NPCs but also was found in the young neurons differentiated from

these cells, thus SARS-CoV-2 can infect them. Moreover, this COVID-19 model was used to find a therapeutic approach. Pretreatment of hiPSCs-derived NSC/NPCs (neurosphere) with γ -secretase inhibitors (GSIs), DAPT, and compound 34, which inhibit signaling, was performed. The expression of CCN1 was significantly suppressed in neurospheres. Hence, GSIs can be used to treat CNS disorders of COVID-19, though further investigation is required (Kase and Okano, 2020). Some other studies of iPSC-derived brain organoids are addressed in the next section.

Other Stem Cell Models

In addition to the iPSC-derived models discussed, we reviewed models derived from other types of stem cells. For instance, scientists have used cultured human airway basal stem cells (ABSCs) as a MSC-based model of SARS-CoV-2 infection (Purkayastha et al., 2020). It was confirmed that the viral load in ABSCs that were exposed to cigarette smoking (CS) was about 2-3 folds higher than in the mock-exposed group. The result changed after 72 h due to cell apoptosis as well as patients' genetic differences. Other effects of CS on the respiratory tract are decreased ciliated cells as well as the increased level of ABSCs as a part of a repair response stimulated by the specific exposure. None of them would happen in a normal process of virus pathogenicity due to repair mechanism inhibition. An increased rate of apoptosis is also another finding during SARS-CoV-2 infection that is confirmed by ABSCs model. This process is reinforced by CS. This model also can be applied to investigate the effect of interferon therapy on innate immune system activity state. Based on the findings of ABSC models, down-regulation of gene expression including those associated with immune responses and metabolic processes would be another result of the infection, however, genes involved in interferon signaling and chromatin organization seem to be the exceptions. Altogether, ABSCs can be a suitable MSC model in order to study the virus mechanism of action leading to acute lung injury in humans, on which the effect of environmental factors such as CS can be studied (Purkayastha et al., 2020).

Organoid Models

Regenerative medicine has provided organoids that have many advantages in the field of disease modeling in comparison to in vivo and other in vitro models. Organoids can be generated either from adult stem cells or PSCs. Establishing organoids from PSCs like iPSCs and ESCs needs the media containing growth factors for culturing in a way that mimics the process of developing a particular structure in an embryo. On the other hand, organoids derived from adult stem cells are formed by providing a 3D matrix and growth factors for the resident stem cells of our targeted tissue (Atala et al., 2020; van der Vaart et al., 2021). This novel technology of artificially developed 3D structures is more accessible and a faster tool than animal models. Moreover, they mimic the relevant niche and maintain the genetic profile and physiological characteristics of their original tissue. Hence, since organoids have contributed to gaining more insight into the pathophysiology of different organ dysfunctions and investigating therapeutic approaches, they can serve as valuable models for investigating the SARS-CoV-2 infection and its treatment strategies (Atala et al., 2020; Mahalingam et al., 2021).

Lung

The primary cause of mortality in this pandemic is lung disease; therefore respiratory models including airway and alveolar organoids were used to study SARS-CoV-2. As an example of airway organoids, Lamers et al. generated 2D bronchoalveolar-like organoids in the air-liquid system and small airway 2D cultures from human small airway stem cells. The bronchoalveolar model included alveolar, basal, and rare neuroendocrine cells which were grown from 3D lung bud tip progenitor organoids. The models were infected by the virus and AT2 like cells were targeted in bronchoalveolar type while in small airway model, ciliated cells were known as the main targets of SARS-CoV-2. Moreover, to test drug screening, the bronchoalveolar model was treated with IFN- λ 1. The results showed reduced viral replication and infection. Despite the advantages of studying the pathogenesis using the airway organoids, establishing more specialized alveolar systems are essential (Salahudeen et al., 2020; Lamers et al., 2021; van der Vaart et al., 2021). ARDS is one of the most severe clinical presentations of COVID-19. As previously described, AT2s have a pivotal role in lung involvement and ARDS. However, modeling AT2s in vitro has been challenging due to limitations like rapid dedifferentiation, loss of phenotype, and requirement of supporting fibroblasts (Huang et al., 2020; Katsura et al., 2020). Accordingly, some recent studies have developed new models of AT2s derived from iPSCs. Huang et al. generated iPSC-derived AT2s cultured in 2D air-liquid interface and 3D epithelial spheres expressing surfactant protein-C (SFTPC). The 2D cultures were used to adapt the model with the physiopathology of SARS-CoV-2 infection as it happens at the apical membrane of the cells, 2D cultures can simulate the mechanism more accurately than the 3D types. ACE2 and TMPRSS2 expression was confirmed by immunofluorescence staining and the SARS-CoV-2 infection was indicated by localizing the viral particles in different spaces like the lamellar body and tubular myelin. After the infection, the epithelialintrinsic innate immune response including inflammatory phenotype and NF-κB signaling (1day post-infection), decreased expression of surfactant gene, cellular stress and toxicity, moderate IFN responses, and iPSC-derived AT2 death (4 days post-infection) was observed. Moreover, camostat mesylate (aTMPRSS2 inhibitor) and remdesivir administration resulted in reduced infection, which indicates therapeutic potentials (Huang et al., 2020). Katsura et al. (2020) established a novel alveosphere culture for AT2s from primary lung tissue that expressed ACE2 and TMPRSS2, and was permissive to the infection. Similar findings were reported after the SARS-CoV-2 infection including up-regulation of inflammatory signaling, cell death, surfactant loss, and the IFN response. In addition, pre-treatment of the alveospheres with IFNs revealed a prophylactic effect and reduced viral titers. One of the differences between these two studies is the time of IFN response; in the alveosphere model, the IFN

pathway was detected 48 h post-infection while in the iPSCderived model, it occurred 4 days after the infection. Another 3D culture technique was developed for hAT2s from healthy donor lungs by Youk et al., which established the cellular polarity and made the AT2s stable, although it did not completely present the full alveoli. It demonstrated transcriptional changes after SARS-CoV-2 infection, IFN response, and ISGs expression at 3 days post-infection (Youk et al., 2020). By comparing the details and results of the mentioned studies, some models have considerable advantages. For instance, 2D structures showed more virus titer than the 3D organoids, which can be more useful for testing the antiviral agents. Further, in 3D organoids, the apical side of the cells is inside the model while in the 2D culture, especially the bronchoalveolar-like model, they are exposed to the air. Hence, they are suggested to be more relevant and suitable for studying the virus pathogenesis (Lamers et al., 2021). Besides, Han et al. generated an in vivo model of lung organoids. The organoids were developed from human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs) and the presence of AT2-like cells and the expression of ACE2, and TMPRSS2 were validated. To make the *in vivo* model, progenitor cells of the lung were transplanted subcutaneously into non-obese diabetic (NOD) severe combined immune deficiency (SCID) gamma (NSG) iL2RG^{nul} mice and produced structures with AT2like cells expressing ACE2. To test the infection, the xenograft was inoculated with SARS-CoV-2 entry virus. The RNA analysis confirmed the infection, and the infected organoids showed enhanced chemokine signaling compared to the mock-infected group. Moreover, the inhibitory effects of some FDA-approved drugs including imatinib, mycophenolic acid (MPA), quinacrine dihydrochloride (QNHC), and chloroquine were investigated and a significant reduction of infection and virus entry was observed. In addition, the transplanted mice were treated with imatinib mesylate, MPA, or QNHC before virus inoculation that decreased the luciferase staining. Conclusively, lung organoids were introduced as useful candidates for modeling the drug discovery of COVID-19 (Han et al., 2021).

It is evident that organoids can contribute to understanding the mechanism of this new infection. The airway models can be studied for virus shedding and mild forms of the disease and the alveolar models are more relevant for research on severe stages and complications of COVID-19 (van der Vaart et al., 2021).

Liver

A liver organoid is produced by differentiation of hiPSCs into definitive endoderm and then, inducing liver cells (mainly albumin⁺ cells). The immunostaining showed ACE2 expression in most albumin⁺ hepatocytes. Next, using the SARS-CoV-2 pseudo-entry virus showed that the organoid is permissive to the infection that is similar to adult primary hepatocyte and cholangiocyte organoids. The results were consistent with the reports of COVID-19-related hepatitis, which was observed in some patients (Yang et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2020). In order to investigate the pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 infection in the liver, human liver ductal organoids were generated from liver bile duct-derived progenitor cells in a long-term 3D culture system. The immunostaining indicated ACE2⁺ and TMPRSS2⁺ cholangiocytes and the examination of SARS-CoV-2 genomic RNAs showed susceptibility of the cells to infection and increased viral load. Besides, the significant decrease in the viral load 24 h after the infection was due to enhanced expression of apoptotic factors and cholangiocytes' death. Since the main function of cholangiocytes is the transportation of bile acid, the tight junction between them is necessary for the collection and excretion of bile acid from hepatocytes into bile ducts. In SARS-CoV-2 infection, the expression of genes involved in cell junction organization such as claudin1 (CLDN1), a bile acid transportation like solute carrier family 10 member 2(SLC10A2) and cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) is decreased. Hence, it causes liver damage by impairing cholangiocyte function and accumulation of bile acid. In addition, the organoid can be used for drug discovery to prevent liver injury of COVID-19 (Zhao et al., 2020; Youhanna et al., 2021).

Eye

Although it is reported that eyes are affected in COVID-19, there is no available evidence of retinal involvement (Ahmad Mulyadi Lai et al., 2021). ACE2 and TMPRSS2 are known to be expressed in the retinal organoid (Mahalingam et al., 2021). Accordingly, hiPSC-derived retinal organoids and a retinal monolayer culture dissociated from the organoid were utilized. Real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR) and immunofluorescence staining showed ACE2 and TMPRSS2 expression both in the organoid and monolayer cultures. Additionally, SARS-CoV-2 pseudovirus containing the GFP coding sequence was employed to study the susceptibility of the organoids and the monolayer cultures to the infection. Detecting GFP signals demonstrated that SARS-CoV-2 could infect them and enhance the expression of some genes related to the apoptosis pathway and inflammation response. On the other hand, in a pre-print study, Makovoz et al. has produced hPSCderived whole eye organoids. The results showed that the expression of ACE2 and TMPRSS2 in the cornea was high and the corneal organoids were permissive for virus entry and infection. Limbus was found to be the most susceptible part which exhibited a significant NF-KB mediated inflammatory response. However, it is not clear whether the inflammation is due to direct infection or the virus spreading to the eye through systemic infection (Makovoz et al., 2020; Yu, 2021). Altogether, it seems that the eye is a route of infection; hence the organoids and monolayer cultures represent useful models of studying the SARS-CoV-2 mechanism of pathogenesis (Ahmad Mulyadi Lai et al., 2021).

Kidney

One of the most common organ damages in COVID-19 patients is AKI. Moreover, ACE2 is significantly expressed in convoluted tubules but it is not clear whether the kidney injury is due to direct cytopathic effects of the virus or immunopathogenic damage (Xia et al., 2020; Mahalingam et al., 2021). Hence, 2D conditional reprogramming (CR) and 3D organoid of human kidney proximal tubule epithelial cells (KPTECs) were established as novel platforms. The DNA repair ability and lineage function, and expression of specific function markers were maintained in CR KPTECs. Interestingly, the ACE2 expression was detected in both models with a higher level (around two-fold) in the 3D organoid. The permissiveness of the reprogrammed cells and the models for SARS-CoV-2 infection was estimated by reading relative luciferase units (RLU) after the pseudovirus infection. Hence, these cells have served as physiological platforms to model SARS-CoV-2 infection, investigate the kidney response, and use them for drug discovery (Xia et al., 2020). Further, one of the proposed treatments of COVID-19 is human recombinant soluble ACE2 (hrsACE2) which has undergone phases 1 and 2 clinical trials. The potential inhibitory effect of hrsACE2 was tested in kidney organoids developed from hESCs. A mixture of hrsACE2 and particles of SARS-CoV-2 was used for infecting the kidney organoid and qRT-PCR indicated a dose-dependent reduction in the level of SARS-CoV-2infection and viral load (Monteil et al., 2020).

Gut

Gastrointestinal symptoms of COVID-19 are one of the most familiar and prevalent effects of the infection that are present in around 50% of patients (Krüger et al., 2021). For improving research quality, different intestinal and colonic organoids were produced. For instance, a human small intestinal organoid (hSIO) was developed from primary gut epithelial stem cells. Cultured hSIOs were exposed to both SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2 and qRT-PCR assessment showed infected enterocyte lineage cells with both viruses. Further, mRNA sequence analysis indicated that SARS-COV-2 caused ISGs and cytokines induction and up-regulation of ACE2 stronger than SARS-COV (Lamers et al., 2020). In another study, human intestinal organoids were derived from PSCs. ACE2 and TMPRSS2 expression was seen in the intestinal cells except for goblet cells, which lacked ACE2 expression. The viral RNA levels exhibited infection of the organoid cells (not goblet cells). Additionally, the inhibitory effects of remdesivir, famotidine, and EK1 (a peptidic pancoronavirus fusion inhibitor) were investigated. The results showed that remdesivir blocked SARS-CoV-2 replication in a dose dependent manner; EK1 decreased the number of infected cells. However, famotidine did not show any inhibitory effect in the intestinal organoids. Thus, human intestinal organoids derived from PSCs represented a valuable physiological model for experimental studies (Krüger et al., 2021). Further studies indicated ACE2 and TMPRSS2 expression as well as SARS-COV-2 permissiveness of colonic organoid derived from hPSCs. For studying COVID-19 in vivo, the colon organoids were transplanted under the kidney capsule of NSG mice. In addition to ACE2 detection, infecting the organoid with SARS-CoV-2 via intra-xenograft inoculation confirmed the permissiveness and the viral infection of the organoids. Next, the inhibitory effects of some FDA-approved drugs were tested. Colonic organoids were treated with imatinib, QNHC, and MPA and then infected with SARS-CoV-2. They all resulted in decreased viral RNA level and nucleocapsid protein expression that means blocking the infection. Taken together, the colonic organoids have introduced an experimental model for drug discovery (Han et al., 2021).

Cardiovascular System

The endothelial damage of COVID-19 is a matter of great importance that needs further investigation. Not only As previously mentioned, hiPSCs derived endothelial cells express ACE2, yet they seem not to be infected with SARS-CoV-2 since the pseudo-entry virus resulted in low luciferase activity (Yang et al., 2020; Yiangou et al., 2020). On the other hand, capillary organoids derived from iPSCs exhibited SARS-CoV-2 replication that was revealed by analyzing qRT-PCR. Moreover, as discussed in kidney organoids, Monteil et al. revealed that the infection was reduced by adding hrsACE2 (Monteil et al., 2020). Collectively, there is a possibility that the injury of the endothelium is not due to direct infection but the paracrine effects that should be studied in different relevant models (Yiangou et al., 2020).

Brain

In spite of the reports on finding SARS-CoV-2 in CSF and brain, the exact prevalence of CNS infection and the mechanism of virus entry and pathogenesis are not fully understood (Pellegrini et al., 2020; Song et al., 2021). In a hiPSC-derived brain organoid, SARS-CoV-2 infected the neurons and induced cell death despite low levels of ACE2 expression. However, a productive replication of the virus was not detected. Besides, SARS-CoV-2 caused aberrant Tau localization and phosphorylation. Tau is a protein that is responsible for stabilizing the microtubules of neurons and promoting axonal growth. Tau dysfunction is known to be involved in Alzheimer's disease. While it is mainly localized at the axons, the infected neurons showed an increased level of Tau into the cell somas. Moreover, it was revealed that virus entry caused tau phosphorylation at the T231 site, which is remarkable for aberrant phosphorylation leading to neural toxicity. Although tau hyper phosphorylation and abnormalities in the infected neurons were detected, it is not completely clear whether they are the direct effects of the virus or the results of neural stress. Hence, more investigation is suggested (Ramani et al., 2020). Another study developed dorsal forebrain organoids from hESCs and reported that ACE2 was expressed in the organoid with a significant decreased level in the progenitor and stem cells. The neurons were found susceptible to the spike-containing SARS-CoV-2 pseudo-entry virus but increasing the viral load did not elevate the virus infectivity (Yi et al., 2020). Besides, the BBB and blood-CSF-barrier (B-CSF-B) are known as major obstacles to the entry of pathogens like SARS-CoV-2. B-CSF-B, which is simpler than BBB, consists of an epithelial layer of the choroid plexus, which has interactions with blood. In addition, it participates in the immune response by producing some inflammatory cytokines in the CSF. To test the choroid plexus role in SARA-CoV-2 neurotropism, the hPSC-derived brain organoids, which represented the choroid plexus and the cortical tissue, were developed. ACE2 and TRMPSS2 expression were detected in the choroid plexus and not in the neural progenitors. Next, the organoids were incubated with both SARS-CoV-2 spike pseudo virus and live SARS-CoV-2. The results showed that the epithelial cells of the choroid plexus were susceptible to the virus infection and its replication while the neural region exhibited little to no infection. Moreover, at 4 days post-infection, considerable damage to the barrier integrity and a decrease in the

internal fluid (CSF leakage) were reported (Pellegrini et al., 2020). Similar findings were reported by Jacob et al. who generated monolayer cultures of neurons, astrocytes, and microglia as well as organoids of the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, hypothalamus, midbrain, and choroid plexus (Jacob et al., 2020). The results showed no infection in the monolayer culture of microglia and sparse infection in cortical neurons and astrocytes. Additionally, introducing SARS-CoV-2 to the multiple organoids indicated a limited infection rate in neurons and astrocytes, which did not exhibit a significant increase, days after the infection. Notably, the choroid plexus regions in some organoids like the hippocampus showed greater numbers of infected epithelial cells. For more investigation, hiPSCs were grown to differentiate into the choroid plexus organoid, in which a productive infection was observed. SARS-CoV-2 led to enhanced cell death, inflammation, and changes in the barrier and secretory function (Jacob et al., 2020).

The number of studies using iPSC-derived cells and organoid models of COVID-19 associated disorders is rising. Most of these studies are discussed in the text and some other researches and pre-print literature are depicted in **Figure 1**. Also brief data on the pros and cons of each stem cell or organoid model check **Table 1**.

Animal Models

As previously discussed, COVID-19 is a new scientific field of study with noticeable gaps that have to be covered especially in testing the efficacy of new therapeutic methods in the field of clinical as well as regenerative medicine. Several animal models can be used with similarities to the human body in some aspects. These species also have been used for testing drug/vaccine candidates of clinical medicine and proved their efficacy, so it is implied that they can be suitable models for regenerative medicine investigations. Different species have been used in this field among which, mice are the most common (Sun et al., 2020). The problem is that mice are resistant to SARS-CoV-2 therefore this issue is resolved by introducing the human ACE2 (hACE2) receptor via an adenovirus into the cells (Atala et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2021). In a study, cytokeratin 18 (KRT18) promoter, which is an epithelium specific gene, was used for the host cells to express hACE2 (Chow et al., 1997; Zheng et al., 2021). This process causes pneumonia along with weight loss, severe pulmonary pathology, and SARS-CoV-2 replication in the lungs (Sun et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2021). In some other studies, Lipopolysaccharide has been used to simulate the hyperinflammatory state caused by SARS-COV-2 infection (Molinaro et al., 2020). Mice-based studies confirmed the role of the interferon I (IFN-I) pathway in the clearance of virus as well as the role of interferon II (IFN-II) signaling through signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT-1) in diminishing clinical severity and hyperinflammatory state of the respiratory system (Sun et al., 2020). In an experiment of Ad5-hACE2 mice, the application of plasma from recovered patients improved the disease severity in addition to increasing the clearance rate of the virus as well as remdesivir (Sun et al., 2020). Leukosomes have been suggested to promote the efficacy of anti-inflammation drugs when applied as a drug delivery system (Molinaro et al., 2020). Ferret is another animal


model of SARS-COV-2 infection, which is prone to SARS-COV *per se* and presents symptoms like cough, rhinorrhea, and lower physical activity (ter Meulen et al., 2004; Park et al., 2020). Positive samples of infectious virus only could be collected through upper respiratory tract washes, and not other collected specimens such as a rectal swab, which was positive of low copy numbers of non-infectious virus (Shi et al., 2020). Then, the application of suggested drugs such as lopinavirritonavir, Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ), emtricitabine-tenofovir, and human monoclonal antibodies led to lower severity of clinical presentations (ter Meulen et al., 2004; Park et al., 2020). Another study showed that as well as ferrets, cats, and with less susceptibility, dogs are prone to SARS-CoV-2. In a study using

cats as animal models, it was proved that the infection transmits in an airborne state among cats (Shi et al., 2020). Besides, in a study of Syrian hamsters as one of the permissive species to SARS-CoV-2, the STAT-2 signaling mechanism has been considered as one of the mechanisms involved in the virus pathogenesis as well as its protective role as part of the immune system (Boudewijns et al., 2020). Each discussed model has some advantages that make it appropriate to be used as a human body simulator but some disadvantages that make investigations more challenging. However, assessing these disadvantages opens new doors toward developing more efficient animal models. Several types of species models, specific manifestations of each after virus inoculation, and results of suggested drugs/vaccine candidates have been TABLE 1 | Pros and cons of stem cell and organoid models of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2).

Type of model		Pros	Cons	References
Stem cell models	MSC-based models	- Lower cost in contrast to lung organoid models	 Various differentiation capacity of stem cells from different donors variation in the number of infected cells in each set of cultures Limited sample size due to the challenges and costs of obtaining human tissue Lack of inflammatory cells in the cultures Offering only short-term culture capabilities in contrast to the stability and indefinite growing capabilities of organoid models 	Purkayastha et al., 2020; Chugh et al., 2021
	IPSC-derived models	 Generating various differentiated cells with same genetic background Mimicking the biology of host-virus interaction Patient (genotype)-specific Suitable for gene editing The susceptibility to become more complex via co-culturing Easy to keep in culture and maintain 	 Labor/time consuming and higher cost culture Possible variations among paths of differentiations Some limitations in representing the exact <i>in vivo</i> manifestation of infected tissues 	Nolasco et al., 2020; Chugh et al., 2021
Organoid models	Brain	 Allowing the scientist to explore neurotoxic effect of COVID-19 A suitable platform to study the antiviral effects of anti COVID-19 drugs through preserving BBB from viral damage 	-Absence of vascularization as in human brain - Requiring modification for making long-term observation possible	Chugh et al., 2021
	Gut	 Containing all proliferative and differentiated cell types of the <i>in vivo</i> epithelium Reflecting the high susceptibility of gastrointestinal system to be infected <i>in vivo</i>, by representing the high rate of enterocytes infection as the most common cell type pf intestinal system. 	- Weakness in showing the patient's defense mechanisms against digestive system infection during COVID-19 (intestinal flora and lymphatic system)	Lamers et al., 2020; Yu, 2021
	Kidney	 Effectively representing COVID-19 associated AKI Showing the efficacy of combination therapy using Remdesivir with human recombinant soluble ACE2 in reducing virus entry and replication. 	- Cannot mimic the exact features of native renal tissue	Chugh et al., 2021
	Cardiovascular system	 Suitable for exploring the efficacy of new drug candidates in reversing cardio-toxic effects of the virus Appropriate for validating the potential role of specific genetic variants in COVID-19 pathology 	 The impossibility of mimicking arrhythmia and myocardial infarction The need for careful adjusting of drug doses because of higher drug levels in the organoid in comparison to human blood due to the absence of metabolic organs in the cardiovascular organoids 	Yiangou et al., 2020; Yu, 2021
	Lung	 Allowing efficient viral replication Suitable for exploring interactions between human cells and viruses and the response of lung stem cells to SARS-CoV-2 Can be used to test drugs targeting a wide range of viruses 	 The absence of stroma and immune cells The absence of a definite culturing protocol in order to prevent bias 	Chugh et al., 2021; Lamers et al., 2021; Mallapaty, 2021; Yu, 2021
	Liver	 Investigated liver tissue damage of SARS-CoV-2 ex vivo. Mimicking host-virus interaction due to retaining the biology of individual tissues such as preserving human-specific ACE2 + /TMPRSS2 + population of cholangiocytes 	 Inability to reflect the cellular complexity of human hepatobiliary system for instance specific immune cell subsets Lack of non-parenchymal cells Presenting immature liver phenotype 	Zhao et al., 2020; Lui et al., 2021; Youhanna et al., 2021; Yu, 2021

SARS-CoV-2, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; AKI, Acute kidney injury; MSC, Mesenchymal Stem Cell; IPSC, Induced pluripotent stem cells; BBB, Blood Brain Barrier; ACE2, Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2; TMPRSS2, Transmembrane protease; serine 2.

Animal model	Method of model designing	Presented symptoms	Tested drugs/vaccine candidates	Results	References
Ferrets	Readily permissive to the virus	-↑Body temperatures -Infectious virus shedding through upper respiratory tract washes - Loss of appetite	-Lopinavir-ritonavir -HCQ -Emtricitabine- tenofovir	-↓Overall clinical scores than control group -↓Virus titer in emtricitabine-tenofovir-treated group	ter Meulen et al., 2004; Park et al., 2020; Shi et al., 2020
			Prophylactic human monoclonal antibody (against SARS-CoV)	-↓Viral replication in the lung -↓Viral induced lung pathology	
Outbred domestic cats	Readily permissive to the virus	 -Infectious virus shedding through nasal turbinate, soft palates, tonsils, tracheas, lungs -Massive lesions in the nasal and tracheal mucosa epitheliums and lungs 			Shi et al., 2020
hACE2 BALB/c mice	-Introducing hACE2 via adenovirus -Introducing KRT18	-Severe pneumonia -vasculitis -Severe brain involvement in some cases -Anosmia -Weight loss	-Plasma of recovered patients -Poly I:C -Remdesivir	-Protection against lethal severity -Accelerating virus clearance	Sun et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2021
BALB/c mice	Intraperitoneal injection of LPS	Severe lung damage (ARDS)	DEX-loaded leukosomes	-↑Therapeutic activity of dexamethasone -↓Inflammatory response	Molinaro et al., 2020; Zhang N. N et al., 2020; Kaspi et al., 2021
			ARCoV vaccine candidate	-↑Innate immune cells in the muscles in IM injection -↑Neutralizing antibodies and IgG -↑Cellular immunity (CD4 + or8 + T cells) -↑IFN-II, TNF-a, IL-2 -NC in IL-4 and IL-6	
			Exo MSC-NTF	-↓Alveolar wall thickness, fibrin presence, and neutrophil accumulation -↑Oxygenation saturation -↓Proinflammatory cytokines (IFN-II, IL-6, TNF-a, RANTES) -↓TF, TAT	
C57BL/6 mice (lfnar1-/- or ll28r-/-)		 Mild lung pathology (both) ↑Viral replication (Ifnar1-/-) ↑Intra-alveolar hemorrhage, peribronchiolar inflammation (Ifnar1-/-) 	Plasma of recovered patients	-3-10-fold↓in viral loads -NC in histopathological features -↓Akt1 mRNA levels -↑DDX58, cGAS mRNA levels	Yang et al., 2020
Immunocompetent BALB/c mice	Inoculated with MASCp6 virus	-Moderate pneumonia and inflammatory responses in the lung and trachea	ARCoV vaccine candidate	-Full immunization	Zhang N. N. et al., 2020
Macaca fascicularis	Readily permissive to the virus		ARCoV vaccine candidate	-↑IgG -↑IFN-II -↑IL-4 + /CD4 + cell response(no difference between vaccinated and placebo group)	Zhang N. N. et al., 2020

TABLE 2 | Animal models of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-COV-2) and the results of tested drug/vaccine candidates.

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | (Continued)

Animal model	Method of model designing	Presented symptoms	Tested drugs/vaccine candidates	Results	References
Syrian hamsters (WT)	Readily permissive to the virus	-Bronchopneumonia and inflammatory response, neutrophil infiltration, multifocal necrotizing bronchiolitis and edema in the lungs	-VHH-72-Fc -Plasma of recovered patients	-↓Viral loads in the lung (VHH-72-Fc)	Boudewijns et al., 2020
Syrian hamsters (STAT2-/- or IL28R-a-/-)	Readily permissive to the virus	 ↓ISG expression ↓Antiviral response NC in viral RNA levels in the lung (more infectious virus in STAT2-/-) ↑Proinflammatory cytokines in the lung ↓Lung pathology and PMN cells infiltration (STAT2-/-) Bronchopneumonia and peribronchiolar inflammation (IL28R-a-/-) 			Yang et al., 2020

hACE2, human Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2; KRT18, cytokeratin 18; HCQ, Hydroxychloroquine; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; DEX, dexamethasone; ARCoV, a vaccine candidate with the component of a mRNA sequence encoding the receptor binding domain of the virus which is encapsulated in lipid nanoparticles; IFN-II, interferon II; TNF-a, tumor necrosis factor alpha; IL-2, interleukin-2; NC, no change; Exo MSC-NTF, MCS-derived exosomes producing neurotrophic factor; RANTES, CCL5; TF, Tissue Factor; TAT, Thrombin Antithrombin complex; MASCp6, mouse-adapted strain at passage 6; Ifnar1-/- mice, C57BL/6 mice with a genetic ablation of their type II interferon receptors; II28r-/- mice, C57BL/6 mice with a genetic ablation of their type II interferon receptors; WT, wild type; STAT2-/- hamster, lacking type I and III IFN signaling; IL28R hamster, lacking IFN type III signaling; ISG, interferon-stimulated genes; GI, gastrointestinal; PMN, polymorphonuclear; VHH-72-Fc, SARS-CoV-2specific single-domain antibody Fc fusion construct.

provided in **Table 2**. Also, pros and cons of each species model are accessible in the **Figure 2**.

Challenges and Limitations

Despite all advantages of the models which were discussed, there are different challenges in the experimental researches on SARS-CoV-2 infection. IPSCs have been widely studied especially for generating organoids, to model the new pandemic disease, but there are some limitations that should be mentioned. For instance, there are some reports that during the reprogramming process, some of the epigenetic memory of donor cells is retained in iPSCs that can result in biased differentiation to target cells. Moreover, there are risks of tumorigenicity in the case of cell transplantation which are contaminated with undifferentiated iPSCs. However, novel protocols for differentiation and the purification process as well as using molecules that cause selective death of these cells have decreased the risks but more followup is needed. Besides, differentiating somatic cells from hiPSCs is considered to be expensive and time-consuming (Doss and Sachinidis, 2019; Nolasco et al., 2020). Notable bottlenecks of modeling using iPSC-derived cells are lack of maturity and exhibiting embryonic-like characteristics, especially in late-onset diseases. Some proposed ways to overcome these drawbacks are treatment with mitochondrial stress inducers to provoke aging and direct differentiation of somatic cells like fibroblasts to the relevant cells like neurons that share similar cell markers. On the other hand, novel technological advances like gene editing, organ-on-chip, and "-omics" methodologies can improve the iPSC-based therapeutic approaches (Doss and Sachinidis, 2019). Organoids, as a product of advancements in the fields of PSCs and cell therapy, ECM biology, and tissue engineering, have played a critical role in experimental studies. In the field of

RM, organoids have been presented for transplantation instead of organs like the liver, as they recapitulate the main aspects of the organs. Moreover, they represent a step forward to drug screening and a promising tool for personalized medicine. However, there are some obstacles both in the future transplant process and the current modeling area of this novel tool. Some of the challenges and disadvantages of different organoids and iPSC-derived cells are addressed in Table 1. The shape of the organoids, their size, and cell composition and maturation are not completely under control. Additionally, modeling complex and chronic diseases needs a suitable microenvironment and is based on advanced technology in bioengineering (Prior et al., 2019). Major limitations of organoids in studying SARS-CoV-2 infection include their simplicity and lack of immune cells. Therefore, the studies mainly focus on intrinsic pathways. For instance, SARS-CoV-2 causes epithelial damage and inflammatory response in the lung. Hence, the absence of immune cells and stroma are known as major challenges and limitations of lung organoids (Chugh et al., 2021). It is suggested that the organoids can be introduced to immune cells in culture to investigate extrinsic mechanisms of actions (Katsura et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020; Youk et al., 2020). Accordingly, hESCs were utilized in a study which is pre-print at the time of writing this review, to generate a co-culture of lung cells and macrophages. The results showed a reduction of SARS-CoV-2 N protein expression after adding macrophages, though N protein was detected in the macrophages per se. More studies are required to find the exact role of macrophages, and also other parts of the immune system in the pathogenesis of this virus (Duan et al., 2020; Simoneau and Ott, 2020). In another pre-print study, a mixture of the upper airway and alveolar cells derived from hiPSCs was developed. It showed that the airway cells are more prone to infection



than alveolar cells in a manner that was similar to the patients' lungs. Further, these novel models can be served as beneficial platforms for drug discovery (Simoneau and Ott, 2020; Tindle et al., 2021). In addition, since endothelial dysfunction and vascular impairment like thrombosis and microangiopathy have been found in patients' lungs, adding endothelial cells to lung organoids may lead to generating more relevant models (Lamers et al., 2021). Due to the complicated behavior of SARS-CoV-2, the involvement of multiple organs, and their interactions with different types of cells and stem cells, more advanced technologies like organ-on chips or complex organoids can be more beneficial (Chugh et al., 2021). Among challenges in brain organoids, the absence of vasculature in choroid plexus organoids and the presence of not fully mature neurons in cortical organoids, which affects the susceptibility to infection, would be worth mentioning (Pellegrini et al., 2020). Moreover, the results of studying SARS-CoV-2 infection in astrocytes, microglia, and cortical neurons are controversial and to some extent, inconsistent. Since these cells have a critical role in CNS homeostasis, developing brain organoids containing these kinds of cells could be useful to take a step forward (Ramani et al., 2021). Besides, the current technology of organoids cannot manifest the communication between different organs and immunological

responses in COVID-19 infection. In this context, animal models are more advantageous (Yu, 2021). As one of the most necessary major phases in manufacturing biomedical products, the ideal animal models should be able to simulate the disease in humans and its manifestations as similar to humans as it is possible. For COVID-19 modeling, the animal model must be permissive to the infection. Transgenic mice that express hACE2 are one of the best animal models, yet their availability is limited. Another mouse model is the adeno-associated virus delivery-based model, which expresses ACE2 in non-relevant cells and makes the interpretation of the analyzed data quite hard. Hamsters can model SARS-CoV-2 infection but they can only be used to study the mild forms of the disease because the lung pathology resolves to normal after 14 days post-infection (Kumar et al., 2020). As it was mentioned before, an important point about modeling this disease is that additional risk factors like advanced age and chronic diseases such as diabetes and obesity are associated with increased morbidity and mortality. These comorbidities cause alterations including the dysregulation in body homeostasis and repair mechanisms that make the infection progress to its severe and lethal forms. Hence, developing models with mentioned features to provide a platform for shifting the disease from a curable infection to a multi-organ failure state and ARDS can be beneficial. Accordingly, the results of using aged animals such as aged mice and old macaques showed higher levels of lung injury and inflammation. Other modified models for obesity (e.g., ob/ob and high-fat diet-induced obesity mice), diabetes (e.g., STZtreated and NOD mice), and immune deficiency/impairment (e.g., SCID and STAT1-knockout mice) might be more easily available to analyze the progression of the severe status of SARS-CoV-2 infection (Croy et al., 2007; Cleary et al., 2020; Payab et al., 2021). Another advantage of using proposed animal models is the possible ability to test the efficacy of interventions and treatments in different stages of the disease. When animal models which can develop multi-organ failure are used, suggested therapies for the mild to severe conditions of the infection can be tested in a pre-clinical setting. Therefore, the safety issues of the drugs and even prophylactic agents might be explored better (Cleary et al., 2020). Collectively, an appropriate model which develops the disease, the body response, and the comorbidities for a comprehensive understanding of the pathogenesis and possible treatments is still elusive. Though, available models have led to invaluable information on the disease and different vaccines (Cleary et al., 2020; Kumar et al., 2020).

CONCLUSION AND CLOSING REMARKS

The COVID-19 pandemic has placed a huge burden on people, communities, and health facilities all around the world. Great attempts toward understanding the disease and finding treatments and vaccines to fight against SARS-COV-2 are being made. Giant clinical trials such as the world health organization (WHO)'s Solidarity clinical trial and the randomized evaluation of COVID-19 (RECOVERY) trial of the United Kingdom are global platforms that are trying to identify the treatments of SARS-CoV-2 infection (No Author, 2020). Current available approved drugs for treating patients with COVID-19 are remdesivir, dexamethasone, and immunomodulators including tocilizumab and sarilumab (IL-6 inhibitors), baricitinib (a Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitor), for hospitalized patients, and anti-SARS-CoV-2 monoclonal antibodies like sotrovimab and casirivimab for non-hospitalized adults. In addition to these drugs, RMbased approaches including transplantation of progenitor or stem cells, tissues, and exosomes have also gained attention. Several trials of cell therapy are investigating the potential therapeutic effects of stem cells (Asgharzade et al., 2021; Covid-19 Treatment Guidelines Panel, 2021; Rodriguez-Guerra et al., 2021). Besides, RM has been considered to be a promising field for drug and vaccine discovery and exploring the pathogenesis of the virus through disease modeling. Stem cells (especially iPSCs) and organoids, as major components of RM, have been recognized as useful models of SARS-CoV-2 infection. Various PSC-derived cell types (e.g., AT2s, cardiomyocytes, and neurons) were generated to study the SARS-CoV-2 effect on human organs and systems. Regarding the extensive data to support the value and benefits of hiPSC-derived somatic cells to model different diseases as well as various kinds of viruses, several studies on SARS-CoV-2 infection have used this RM-based model. Developing hiPSC-derived AT2s has clarified some aspects of the viral

pathogenesis in the lungs. Moreover, endothelial cells derived from hiPSCs are known as a practical tool for studying the hypercoagulable state, which is caused by SARS-CoV-2 (Atala et al., 2020; Nolasco et al., 2020). The unique ability of SARS-CoV-2 to cause myocardial injury in a considerable percentage of patients has inspired scientists to explore the pathogenic mechanism. Research on hiPSCs has revealed that the virus directly affects the cardiomyocytes and actively replicates in these cells. Additionally, as mentioned before, the virus causes down-regulation of ACE2 expression, in contrast to other tissues like the intestine (Lamers et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2020). In addition, the antiviral effect of remdesivir and chloroquine was assessed in cardiomyocytes derived from hiPSCs and hESCs. Remdesivir exhibited stronger antiviral activity than chloroquine. However, it induced cardiotoxicity by causing QT prolongation and reducing cell viability at a higher concentration than the estimated peak plasma concentration. The results not only introduce the cardiomyocytes derived from hPSCs as a powerful experimental model for drug screening but also advise close monitoring of patients undergoing treatment with remdesivir, especially those with chronic heart diseases or severe form of COVID-19 (Choi et al., 2020). As well as hPSCs, organoids have acted as both ex vivo and in vivo models for lung injury in COVID-19. Transplantation of lung organoids into NSG mice and testing some proposed drugs have made the models more realistic and experimental (Han et al., 2021). Other organoid models including small and large intestine, kidney, retina, liver, pancreas, heart, and brain organoids are used and discussed in this review. For example, brain organoids and iPSC-derived neural cells have revealed some insights into the neurotropism of SARS-CoV-2. The number of these studies is still limited and the results are controversial, but they have been helpful in finding some of the underlying causes of neurological defects and also, testing some drugs. Based on currently available data, infecting the choroid plexus is a major component of brain damage. Different studies have suggested impairment of synaptogenesis, viral toxicity in NSC/NPCs, and neural cell death to explain the neurological symptoms. However, it is not clear whether neurons, astrocytes, or microglia are infected by the virus or not. There are reports of sparse to no infection in microglia and cortical neurons, yet more investigation is required (Jacob et al., 2020; Kase and Okano, 2020; Zhang B. Z. et al., 2020; Ramani et al., 2021).

In addition to the role of organoids in exploring damages of tissue and somatic cells, they are accepted as valuable *ex vivo* models for studying stem cells. Accordingly, reports have revealed that the stem cells can be affected by SARS-CoV-2 as it decreases the population of resident stem cells in the lung. Some studies have reported that one type of pulmonary stem cell expresses ACE2, which can lead to its loss. Besides, intestinal organoid-based studies showed that both quiescent and active intestinal stem cells express ACE2. Therefore, investigating the exact role of the signaling pathways and susceptibility of stem cells to SARS-CoV-2 are essential in terms of finding potential treatments (Chugh et al., 2021).

The application of organoids in studying new variants of SAR-CoV-2 is another novel advantage of this model. The new

variants including Delta and Lambda are more transmissible and can escape from the immune system and to some extent, the current vaccines. Organoid systems can provide a rapid platform for comparison of these strains and their susceptibility to vaccines and drugs (Mohammadi et al., 2021; van der Vaart et al., 2021). Modifying the organoids by using novel technologies like clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats and CRISPR-associated protein9 (CRISPR/Cas9) and biomaterials as well as combining different cell types can result in more applicable and reliable pre-clinical models (Yu, 2021).

Furthermore, different animal models have helped researchers investigate body response and treatment options. Mice, hamsters, ferrets, and primates are the most common animal models and their characteristics were addressed previously. The size, rapid growth, and breeding of mice have made them favorable animal models in preclinical studies. On the other hand, the problem of their resistance to SARS-CoV-2 infection has raised some issues. The application of hACE2 transgenedependent expression and adeno-associated virus delivery methods has helped scientists generate promising useful models. Nonetheless, there are still concerns about the similarity of hACE2 expression and distribution to humans and its related possible differences in modeling the SARS-CoV-2 infection mechanism. Hence, more specified manipulation of the relevant locus in mice may develop more accurate models. In contrast to mice, hamsters are known to be permissive to SARS-CoV-2. This model can be used for the mild form of COVID-19 and exploring the successful inflammation resolving

REFERENCES

- Abo, K. M., Ma, L., Matte, T., Huang, J., Alysandratos, K. D., Werder, R. B., et al. (2020). Human iPSC-derived alveolar and airway epithelial cells can be cultured at air-liquid interface and express SARS-CoV-2 host factors. *bioRxiv*. [Preprint].
- Ahmad Mulyadi Lai, H. I., Chou, S.-J., Chien, Y., Tsai, P.-H., Chien, C.-S., Hsu, C.-C., et al. (2021). Expression of Endogenous Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 in Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Retinal Organoids. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22:1320. doi: 10.3390/ijms22031320
- Akhmerov, A., and Marbán, E. (2020). COVID-19 and the Heart. Circ. Res. 126, 1443–1455.
- Alsaad, K. O., Arabi, Y. M., and Hajeer, A. H. (2020). Spectrum of histopathological findings in coronavirus disease-19, Middle East respiratory syndrome and severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Ann. Thoracic Med.* 15, 52–53. doi: 10.4103/ atm.atm_105_20
- Anderson, R. H., and Francis, K. R. (2018). Modeling rare diseases with induced pluripotent stem cell technology. *Mol. Cell Probes.* 40, 52–59. doi: 10.1016/j. mcp.2018.01.001
- Arikan, H., Ozturk, S., Tokgoz, B., Dursun, B., Seyahi, N., Trabulus, S., et al. (2021). Characteristics and outcomes of acute kidney injury in hospitalized COVID-19 patients: A multicenter study by the Turkish society of nephrology. *PLoS One* 16:e0256023. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0256023
- Asgharzade, S., Alizadeh, A., and Arab, S. (2021). Regenerative Medicine Approaches in COVID-19 Pneumonia. *Curr. Stem Cell Res. Therapy* 16, 647– 655. doi: 10.2174/1574888x16999210112205826
- Atala, A., Henn, A., Lundberg, M., Ahsan, T., Greenberg, J., Krukin, J., et al. (2020). Regen med therapeutic opportunities for fighting COVID-19. Stem Cells Translat. Med. 10, 5–13. doi: 10.1002/sctm.20-0245
- Basiri, A., Pazhouhnia, Z., Beheshtizadeh, N., Hoseinpour, M., Saghazadeh, A., and Rezaei, N. (2020). Regenerative Medicine in COVID-19 Treatment: Real Opportunities and Range of Promises. *Stem Cell Rev. Rep.* 17, 163–175. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-09994-5

mechanisms for therapeutic targets (Cleary et al., 2020; Kumar et al., 2020).

This review has discussed currently available models and their challenges in the paradigm of RM and proposed potential therapeutic approaches discovered in the experimental studies. Despite previous advances in this field, there are still shortcomings highlighted under the "CHALLENGES AND LIMITATIONS" section, which should be defeated in order to optimize COVID-19 RM modeling. For example, further exploration of gene editing or "omics" to improve the limitations of iPSC-based modeling such as immaturity and epigenetic memory retaining problems is suggested. However, economic efficiency should be considered in applying these new technologies. Altogether, considering the impossibility of studying the detailed mechanism of pathogenicity and the sequence of suggested drugs or vaccine candidates in human beings, these big steps toward RM in the SARS-CoV-2 field of study should be continued.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BL participated in the study design and drafting the manuscript. NF-H, MA, and AT-B contributed to the drafting of the manuscript. MR-T and HA provided final approval of the version to publish. BA supervised the project from the scientific view of point and advised on study design. All authors read, provided feedback, and approved the final manuscript.

- Becker, R. C. (2020). COVID-19 update: Covid-19-associated coagulopathy. J. Thromb. Thrombol. 50, 54–67. doi: 10.1007/s11239-020-02134-3
- Belsky, J. A., Tullius, B. P., Lamb, M. G., Sayegh, R., Stanek, J. R., and Auletta, J. J. (2021). COVID-19 in immunocompromised patients: A systematic review of cancer, hematopoietic cell and solid organ transplant patients. J. Infect. 82, 329–338. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2021.01.022
- Boudewijns, R., Thibaut, H. J., Kaptein, S. J., Li, R., Vergote, V., Seldeslachts, L., et al. (2020). STAT2 signaling as double-edged sword restricting viral dissemination but driving severe pneumonia in SARS-CoV-2 infected hamsters. *BioRxiv*. [Preprint].
- Busnadiego, I., Fernbach, S., Pohl, M. O., Karakus, U., Huber, M., Trkola, A., et al. (2020). Antiviral activity of type i, ii, and iii interferons counterbalances ace2 inducibility and restricts sars-cov-2. *MBio* 11, e1928–e1920.
- Cao, X. (2020). COVID-19: immunopathology and its implications for therapy. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 20, 269–270. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0308-3
- Chigr, F., Merzouki, M., and Najimi, M. (2020). Autonomic brain centers and pathophysiology of COVID-19. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 11, 1520–1522. doi: 10. 1021/acschemneuro.0c00265
- Choi, S. W., Shin, J. S., Park, S. J., Jung, E., Park, Y. G., Lee, J., et al. (2020). Antiviral activity and safety of remdesivir against SARS-CoV-2 infection in human pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. *Antiviral Res.* 184:104955. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2020.104955
- Chow, Y.-H., O'Brodovich, H., Plumb, J., Wen, Y., Sohn, K.-J., Lu, Z., et al. (1997). Development of an epithelium-specific expression cassette with human DNA regulatory elements for transgene expression in lung airways. PNAS 94, 14695–14700. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.26.14695
- Chugh, R. M., Bhanja, P., Norris, A., and Saha, S. (2021). Experimental Models to Study COVID-19 Effect in Stem Cells. Cells 10:91. doi: 10.3390/cells10010091
- Cleary, S. J., Pitchford, S. C., Amison, R. T., Carrington, R., Robaina Cabrera, C. L., Magnen, M., et al. (2020). Animal models of mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 infection and COVID-19 pathology. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 177, 4851–4865. doi: 10.1111/bph.15143

- Costela-Ruiz, V. J., Illescas-Montes, R., Puerta-Puerta, J. M., Ruiz, C., and Melguizo-Rodríguez, L. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 infection: The role of cytokines in COVID-19 disease. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 54, 62–75.
- Covid-19 Treatment Guidelines Panel (2021). Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Treatment Guidelines. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes ofHealth.
- Croy, B. A., Di Santo, J. P., Manz, M., and Bankert, R. B. (2007). "Chapter 13 -Mouse Models of Immunodeficiency," in *The Mouse in Biomedical Research*, 2nd Edn, eds J. G. Fox, M. T. Davisson, F. W. Quimby, S. W. Barthold, C. E. Newcomer, and A. L. Smith (Burlington: Academic Press), 275–289. doi: 10. 1016/b978-012369454-6/50091-1
- Doss, M. X., and Sachinidis, A. (2019). Current Challenges of iPSC-Based Disease Modeling and Therapeutic Implications. *Cells* 8:403. doi: 10.3390/cells8050403
- Duan, F., Guo, L., Yang, L., Han, Y., Thakur, A., Nilsson-Payant, B. E., et al. (2020). Modeling COVID-19 with Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cells Reveals Synergistic Effects of Anti-inflammatory Macrophages with ACE2 Inhibition Against SARS-CoV-2. Res. Square 2020, 3.rs–62758.rs.
- Fehr, A. R., and Perlman, S. (2015). Coronaviruses: an overview of their replication and pathogenesis. *Coronaviruses* 2015, 1–23. doi: 10.1007/978-1-071 6-0900-2_1
- Ferreras, C., Pascual-Miguel, B., Mestre-Durán, C., Navarro-Zapata, A., Clares-Villa, L., Martín-Cortázar, C., et al. (2021). SARS-CoV-2-Specific Memory T Lymphocytes From COVID-19 Convalescent Donors: Identification, Biobanking, and Large-Scale Production for Adoptive Cell Therapy. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9:620730. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.620730
- Gibson, P. G., Qin, L., and Puah, S. H. (2020). COVID-19 acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS): clinical features and differences from typical pre-COVID-19 ARDS. *Med. J. Aust.* 213, 54.e–56.e.
- Golchin, A., Seyedjafari, E., and Ardeshirylajimi, A. (2020). Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for COVID-19: Present or Future. Stem Cell Rev. Rep. 2020, 1–7.
- Han, Y., Duan, X., Yang, L., Nilsson-Payant, B. E., Wang, P., Duan, F., et al. (2021). Identification of SARS-CoV-2 inhibitors using lung and colonic organoids. *Nature* 589, 270–275.
- Harmer, D., Gilbert, M., Borman, R., and Clark, K. L. (2002). Quantitative mRNA expression profiling of ACE 2, a novel homologue of angiotensin converting enzyme. *FEBS Lett.* 532, 107–110. doi: 10.1016/s0014-5793(02)0 3640-2
- Harrison, A. G., Lin, T., and Wang, P. (2020). Mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 Transmission and Pathogenesis. *Trends Immunol.* 41, 1100–1115. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2020.10.004
- Huang, J., Hume, A. J., Abo, K. M., Werder, R. B., Villacorta-Martin, C., Alysandratos, K.-D., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Infection of Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Human Lung Alveolar Type 2 Cells Elicits a Rapid Epithelial-Intrinsic Inflammatory Response. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 962.e–973.e.
- Hue, S., Beldi-Ferchiou, A., Bendib, I., Surenaud, M., Fourati, S., Frapard, T., et al. (2020). Uncontrolled Innate and Impaired Adaptive Immune Responses in Patients with COVID-19 Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. *Am. J. Respirat. Crit. Care Med.* 202, 1509–1519. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202005-1885oc
- Jacob, F., Pather, S. R., Huang, W. K., Zhang, F., Wong, S. Z. H., Zhou, H., et al. (2020). Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Neural Cells and Brain Organoids Reveal SARS-CoV-2 Neurotropism Predominates in Choroid Plexus Epithelium. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 937.e–950.e.
- Kase, Y., and Okano, H. (2020). Expression of ACE2 and a viral virulenceregulating factor CCN family member 1 in human iPSC-derived neural cells: implications for COVID-19-related CNS disorders. *Inflammat. Regenerat.* 40:32.
- Kaspi, H., Semo, J., Abramov, N., Dekel, C., Lindborg, S., Kern, R., et al. (2021). MSC-NTF (NurOwn[®]) exosomes: a novel therapeutic modality in the mouse LPS-induced ARDS model. *Stem Cell Res. Therapy* 12, 1–10. doi: 10.1155/2019/ 6458237
- Kasuga, Y., Zhu, B., Jang, K. J., and Yoo, J. S. (2021). Innate immune sensing of coronavirus and viral evasion strategies. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 53, 723–736. doi: 10.1038/s12276-021-00602-1
- Katsura, H., Sontake, V., Tata, A., Kobayashi, Y., Edwards, C. E., Heaton, B. E., et al. (2020). Human Lung Stem Cell-Based Alveolospheres Provide Insights into SARS-CoV-2-Mediated Interferon Responses and Pneumocyte Dysfunction. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 890.e–904.e.
- Khoury, M., Cuenca, J., Cruz, F. F., Figueroa, F. E., Rocco, P. R. M., and Weiss, D. J. (2020). Current status of cell-based therapies for respiratory virus infections:

applicability to COVID-19. Eur. Respir. J. 55:2000858. doi: 10.1183/13993003. 00858-2020

- Krüger, J., Groß, R., Conzelmann, C., Müller, J. A., Koepke, L., Sparrer, K. M. J., et al. (2021). Drug Inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 Replication in Human Pluripotent Stem Cell–Derived Intestinal Organoids. *Cell. Mol. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 11, 935–948. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2020.11.003
- Kumar, S., Yadav, P. K., Srinivasan, R., and Perumal, N. (2020). Selection of animal models for COVID-19 research. *VirusDisease* 31, 453–458. doi: 10.1007/s13337-020-00637-4
- Lamers, M. M., Beumer, J., van der Vaart, J., Knoops, K., Puschhof, J., Breugem, T. I., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 productively infects human gut enterocytes. *Science* 369, 50–54. doi: 10.1126/science.abc1669
- Lamers, M. M., van der Vaart, J., Knoops, K., Riesebosch, S., Breugem, T. I., Mykytyn, A. Z., et al. (2021). An organoid-derived bronchioalveolar model for SARS-CoV-2 infection of human alveolar type II-like cells. *EMBO J.* 40:e105912.
- Legrand, M., Bell, S., Forni, L., Joannidis, M., Koyner, J. L., Liu, K., et al. (2021). Pathophysiology of COVID-19-associated acute kidney injury. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 2021, 1–14.
- Lei, X., Dong, X., Ma, R., Wang, W., Xiao, X., Tian, Z., et al. (2020). Activation and evasion of type I interferon responses by SARS-CoV-2. *Nat. Commun.* 11:3810.
- Li, J., and Fan, J.-G. (2020). Characteristics and Mechanism of Liver Injury in 2019 Coronavirus Disease. J. Clin. Translat. Hepatol. 8, 13–17.
- Li, X., Geng, M., Peng, Y., Meng, L., and Lu, S. (2020). Molecular immune pathogenesis and diagnosis of COVID-19. J. Pharmaceut. Anal. 10, 102–108. doi: 10.1016/j.jpha.2020.03.001
- Lui, V., Hui, K., Ottakandathil Babu, R., Yue, H., Chung, P. H. Y., Tam, P., et al. (2021). Human liver organoid derived intra-hepatic bile duct cells support SARS-CoV-2 infection and replication and its comparison with SARS-CoV2021. SARS. [Preprint]:1251458
- Mahalingam, R., Dharmalingam, P., Santhanam, A., Kotla, S., Davuluri, G., Karmouty-Quintana, H., et al. (2021). Single-cell RNA sequencing analysis of SARS-CoV-2 entry receptors in human organoids. J. Cell. Physiol. 236, 2950–2958. doi: 10.1002/jcp.30054
- Makovoz, B., Moeller, R., Zebitz Eriksen, A., tenOever, B. R., and Blenkinsop, T. A. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Infection of Ocular Cells from Human Adult Donor Eyes and hESC-Derived Eye Organoids. SSRN 2020:3650574.
- Mallapaty, S. (2021). The mini lungs and other organoids helping to beat COVID. *Nature* 593, 492–494. doi: 10.1038/d41586-021-01395-z
- Mohammadi, M., Shayestehpour, M., and Mirzaei, H. (2021). The impact of spike mutated variants of SARS-CoV2 [Alpha, Beta, Gamma, Delta, and Lambda] on the efficacy of subunit recombinant vaccines. *Brazil. J. Infect. Dis.* 2021:101606. doi: 10.1016/j.bjid.2021.101606
- Molinaro, R., Pasto, A., Taraballi, F., Giordano, F., Azzi, J. A., Tasciotti, E., et al. (2020). Biomimetic Nanoparticles Potentiate the Anti-Inflammatory Properties of Dexamethasone and Reduce the Cytokine Storm Syndrome: An Additional Weapon against COVID-19? *Nanomaterials* 10:2301. doi: 10.3390/ nano10112301
- Monteil, V., Kwon, H., Prado, P., Hagelkrüys, A., Wimmer, R. A., Stahl, M., et al. (2020). Inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 Infections in Engineered Human Tissues Using Clinical-Grade Soluble Human ACE2. *Cell* 181, 905.e–913.e.
- Moriguchi, T., Harii, N., Goto, J., Harada, D., Sugawara, H., Takamino, J., et al. (2020). A first case of meningitis/encephalitis associated with SARS-Coronavirus-2. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* 94, 55–58.
- Ng, O.-W., Chia, A., Tan, A. T., Jadi, R. S., Leong, H. N., Bertoletti, A., et al. (2016). Memory T cell responses targeting the SARS coronavirus persist up to 11 years post-infection. *Vaccine* 34, 2008–2014. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.02.063
- No Author. (2020). Biggest COVID-19 trial tests repurposed drugs first. Nat. Biotechnol. 38:510. doi: 10.1038/s41587-020-0528-x
- Nolasco, P., Borsoi, J., Moraes, C. B., Freitas-Junior, L. H., and Pereira, L. V. (2020). Human induced pluripotent stem cells as a tool for disease modeling and drug screening for COVID-19. *Genet. Mol. Biol.* 44(1 Suppl. 1):e20200198.
- Otsuka, R., and Seino, K.-I. (2020). Macrophage activation syndrome and COVID-19. *Inflammat. Regenerat.* 40, 1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2021.03.002
- Park, S. J., Yu, K. M., Kim, Y. I., Kim, S. M., Kim, E. H., Kim, S. G., et al. (2020). Antiviral Efficacies of FDA-Approved Drugs against SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Ferrets. *mBio* 11, e1114–e1120.
- Park, Y. J., Farooq, J., Cho, J., Sadanandan, N., Cozene, B., Gonzales-Portillo, B., et al. (2021). Fighting the War Against COVID-19 via Cell-Based Regenerative

Pellegrini, L., Albecka, A., Mallery, D. L., Kellner, M. J., Paul, D., Carter, A. P., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Infects the Brain Choroid Plexus and Disrupts the Blood-CSF Barrier in Human Brain Organoids. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 951.e–961.e.

Medicine: Lessons Learned from 1918 Spanish Flu and Other Previous

Tayanloo-Beik, A., et al. (2021). Brown adipose tissue transplantation as a novel

Pandemics. Stem Cell Rev. Rep. 17, 9-32. doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-10026-5

Payab, M., Abedi, M., Foroughi Heravani, N., Hadavandkhani, M., Arabi, M.,

- Pérez-Martínez, A., Mora-Rillo, M., Ferreras, C., Guerra-García, P., Pascual-Miguel, B., Mestre-Durán, C., et al. (2021). Phase I dose-escalation single centre clinical trial to evaluate the safety of infusion of memory T cells as adoptive therapy in COVID-19 (RELEASE). *EClinicalMedicine* 39:101086. doi: 10.1016/ j.eclinm.2021.101086
- Petrovic, V., Radenkovic, D., Radenkovic, G., Djordjevic, V., and Banach, M. (2020). Pathophysiology of cardiovascular complications in COVID-19. *Front. Physiol.* 11:575600. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.575600
- Pirraglia, M. P., Ceccarelli, G., Cerini, A., Visioli, G., d'Ettorre, G., Mastroianni, C. M., et al. (2020). Retinal involvement and ocular findings in COVID-19 pneumonia patients. *Sci. Rep.* 10, 1–7.
- Pourbagheri-Sigaroodi, A., Bashash, D., Olfatifar, M., Salari, S., and Abolghasemi, H. (2020). What We Know of the Prognostic Value of Lymphopenia in SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *IJBC* 12, 75–79.
- Poyiadji, N., Shahin, G., Noujaim, D., Stone, M., Patel, S., and Griffith, B. (2020). COVID-19–associated Acute Hemorrhagic Necrotizing Encephalopathy: Imaging Features. *Radiology* 296, E119–E120.
- Prior, N., Inacio, P., and Huch, M. (2019). Liver organoids: from basic research to therapeutic applications. *Gut* 68, 2228–2237. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319256
- Puelles, V. G., Lütgehetmann, M., Lindenmeyer, M. T., Sperhake, J. P., Wong, M. N., Allweiss, L., et al. (2020). Multiorgan and renal tropism of SARS-CoV-2. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 383, 590–592.
- Pujari, R., Chan, G., Tapply, I., and Bourne, R. R. (2021). The impacts of COVID-19 on glaucoma patient outcomes as assessed by POEM. *Eye* 2021, 1–3.
- Purkayastha, A., Sen, C., Garcia, G., Langerman, J., Shia, D. W., Meneses, L. K., et al. (2020). Direct Exposure to SARS-CoV-2 and Cigarette Smoke Increases Infection Severity and Alters the Stem Cell-Derived Airway Repair Response. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 869.e–875.e.
- Qin, H., and Zhao, A. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for acute respiratory distress syndrome: from basic to clinics. *Protein Cell* 11, 707–722. doi: 10.1007/ s13238-020-00738-2
- Rahim, R. A., and Muhammad, N. (2020). The Pursuit of Covid-19 Animal Models. IIUM Medical J. Malaysia 19:1610.
- Ramani, A., Müller, L., Ostermann, P. N., Gabriel, E., Abida-Islam, P., Müller-Schiffmann, A., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 targets neurons of 3D human brain organoids. *EMBO J.* 39:e106230.
- Ramani, A., Pranty, A. I., and Gopalakrishnan, J. (2021). Neurotropic Effects of SARS-CoV-2 Modeled by the Human Brain Organoids. Stem Cell Rep. 16, 373–384. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2021.02.007
- Ramezankhani, R., Solhi, R., Memarnejadian, A., Nami, F., Hashemian, S. M. R., Tricot, T., et al. (2020). Therapeutic modalities and novel approaches in regenerative medicine for COVID-19. *Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents* 56:106208. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.106208
- Remy, K. E., Mazer, M., Striker, D. A., Ellebedy, A. H., Walton, A. H., Unsinger, J., et al. (2020). Severe immunosuppression and not a cytokine storm characterizes COVID-19 infections. *JCI Insight* 5:e140329.
- Robbins-Juarez, S. Y., Qian, L., King, K. L., Stevens, J. S., Husain, S. A., Radhakrishnan, J., et al. (2020). Outcomes for patients with COVID-19 and acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Kidney Int. Rep.* 5, 1149–1160. doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2020.06.013
- Rodriguez-Guerra, M., Jadhav, P., and Vittorio, T. J. (2021). Current treatment in COVID-19 disease: a rapid review. *Drugs Context* 10, 2020–2010.
- Salahudeen, A. A., Choi, S. S., Rustagi, A., Zhu, J., van Unen, V., de la, O. S., et al. (2020). Progenitor identification and SARS-CoV-2 infection in human distal lung organoids. *Nature* 588, 670–675.
- Sánchez-Guijo, F., García-Arranz, M., López-Parra, M., Monedero, P., Mata-Martínez, C., Santos, A., et al. (2020). Adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells for the treatment of patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia

requiring mechanical ventilation. A proof of concept study. *EClinicalMedicine* 25:100454. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100454

- Seah, I., and Agrawal, R. (2020). Can the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) affect the eyes? A review of coronaviruses and ocular implications in humans and animals. *Ocular Immunol. Inflammat.* 28, 391–395. doi: 10.1080/09273948. 2020.1738501
- Shang, J., Wan, Y., Luo, C., Ye, G., Geng, Q., Auerbach, A., et al. (2020). Cell entry mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 117, 11727–11734.
- Sharma, A., Garcia, G., Wang, Y., Plummer, J. T., Morizono, K., Arumugaswami, V., et al. (2020). Human iPSC-Derived Cardiomyocytes Are Susceptible to SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Cell Rep. Med.* 1:100052. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2020. 100052
- Shi, J., Wen, Z., Zhong, G., Yang, H., Wang, C., Huang, B., et al. (2020). Susceptibility of ferrets, cats, dogs, and other domesticated animals to SARScoronavirus 2. *Science* 368, 1016–1020. doi: 10.1126/science.abb7015
- Shpichka, A., Bikmulina, P., Peshkova, M., Kosheleva, N., Zurina, I., Zahmatkesh, E., et al. (2020). Engineering a Model to Study Viral Infections: Bioprinting, Microfluidics, and Organoids to Defeat Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Int. J. Bioprint* 6:302.
- Simoneau, C. R., and Ott, M. (2020). Modeling Multi-organ Infection by SARS-CoV-2 Using Stem Cell Technology. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 859–868. doi: 10.1016/j. stem.2020.11.012
- Song, E., Zhang, C., Israelow, B., Lu-Culligan, A., Prado, A. V., Skriabine, S., et al. (2021). Neuroinvasion of SARS-CoV-2 in human and mouse brain. *J. Exp. Med.* 218:e20202135
- Steardo, L., Steardo, L. Jr., Zorec, R., and Verkhratsky, A. (2020). Neuroinfection may contribute to pathophysiology and clinical manifestations of COVID-19. *Acta Physiol.* 229, e13473–e.
- Sterneckert, J., Reinhardt, P., and Schöler, H. (2014). Investigating human disease using stem cell models. Nat. Rev. Genet. 15, 625–639. doi: 10.1038/nrg3764
- Sun, J., Zhuang, Z., Zheng, J., Li, K., Wong, R. L., Liu, D., et al. (2020). Generation of a Broadly Useful Model for COVID-19 Pathogenesis, Vaccination, and Treatment. *Cell* 182, 734.e–743.e.
- Suri, J. S., Agarwal, S., Gupta, S. K., Puvvula, A., Biswas, M., Saba, L., et al. (2021). A narrative review on characterization of acute respiratory distress syndrome in COVID-19-infected lungs using artificial intelligence. *Comput. Biol. Med.* 130:104210.
- ter Meulen, J., Bakker, A. B., van den Brink, E. N., Weverling, G. J., Martina, B. E., Haagmans, B. L., et al. (2004). Human monoclonal antibody as prophylaxis for SARS coronavirus infection in ferrets. *Lancet* 363, 2139–2141. doi: 10.1016/ s0140-6736(04)16506-9
- Tindle, C., Fuller, M., Fonseca, A., Taheri, S., Ibeawuchi, S.-R., Beutler, N., et al. (2021). Adult Stem Cell-derived Complete Lung Organoid Models Emulate Lung Disease in COVID-19. *Elife* 10:e66417.
- van der Vaart, J., Lamers, M. M., Haagmans, B. L., and Clevers, H. (2021). Advancing lung organoids for COVID-19 research. *Dis. Models Mechanis.* 14:dmm049060.
- Wang, L., Zhang, Y., and Zhang, S. (2020). Cardiovascular impairment in COVID-19: learning from current options for cardiovascular antiinflammatory therapy. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 7:78. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2020. 00078
- Wiersinga, W. J., Rhodes, A., Cheng, A. C., Peacock, S. J., and Prescott, H. C. (2020). Pathophysiology, Transmission, Diagnosis, and Treatment of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): A Review. JAMA 324, 782–793. doi: 10.1001/jama. 2020.12839
- Wong, C. K., Luk, H. K., Lai, W. H., Lau, Y. M., Zhang, R. R., Wong, A. C., et al. (2020). Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cardiomyocytes Platform to Study SARS-CoV-2 Related Myocardial Injury. *Circ. J.* 84, 2027– 2031. doi: 10.1253/circj.cj-20-0881
- Xia, S., Wu, M., Chen, S., Zhang, T., Ye, L., Liu, J., et al. (2020). Long Term Culture of Human Kidney Proximal Tubule Epithelial Cells Maintains Lineage Functions and Serves as an Ex vivo Model for Coronavirus Associated Kidney Injury. *Virol. Sin.* 35, 311–320. doi: 10.1007/s12250-020-00253-y
- Yang, L., Han, Y., Nilsson-Payant, B. E., Gupta, V., Wang, P., Duan, X., et al. (2020). A Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-based Platform to Study SARS-CoV-2 Tropism and Model Virus Infection in Human Cells and Organoids. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 125.e–136.e.

- Yi, S. A., Nam, K. H., Yun, J., Gim, D., Joe, D., Kim, Y. H., et al. (2020). Infection of Brain Organoids and 2D Cortical Neurons with SARS-CoV-2 Pseudovirus. *Viruses* 12:1004. doi: 10.3390/v12091004
- Yiangou, L., Davis, R. P., and Mummery, C. L. (2020). Using Cardiovascular Cells from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells for COVID-19 Research: Why the Heart Fails. *Stem Cell Rep.* 16, 385–397. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2020.11.003
- Youhanna, S., Wright, S. C., and Lauschke, V. M. (2021). Organotypic human ex vivo models for coronavirus disease 2019 research and drug development. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 59, 11–18. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2021.04.006
- Youk, J., Kim, T., Evans, K. V., Jeong, Y.-I., Hur, Y., Hong, S. P., et al. (2020). Three-Dimensional Human Alveolar Stem Cell Culture Models Reveal Infection Response to SARS-CoV-2. *Cell Stem Cell* 27, 905.e–919.e.
- Yu, F., Jia, R., Tang, Y., Liu, J., and Wei, B. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 infection and stem cells: interaction and intervention. *Stem Cell Res.* 2020:101859. doi: 10.1016/j. scr.2020.101859
- Yu, J. (2021). Organoids: A New Model for SARS-CoV-2 Translational Research. Int. J. Stem Cells 14, 138–149. doi: 10.15283/ijsc2\break0169
- Zhang, B.-Z., Chu, H., Han, S., Shuai, H., Deng, J., Hu, Y.-F., et al. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 infects human neural progenitor cells and brain organoids. *Cell Res.* 30, 928–931. doi: 10.1038/s41422-02\break0-0390-x
- Zhang, C., Shi, L., and Wang, F.-S. (2020). Liver injury in COVID-19: management and challenges. *Lancet Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 5, 428–430. doi: 10.1016/s2468-1253(20)30057-1
- Zhang, J., Garrett, S., and Sun, J. (2020). Gastrointestinal symptoms, pathophysiology, and treatment in COVID-19. *Genes Dis.* 8, 385–400. doi: 10.1016/j.gendis.2020.08.013

- Zhang, N.-N., Li, X.-F., Deng, Y.-Q., Zhao, H., Huang, Y.-J., Yang, G., et al. (2020). A Thermostable mRNA Vaccine against COVID-19. *Cell* 182, 1271.e–1283.e.
- Zhao, B., Ni, C., Gao, R., Wang, Y., Yang, L., Wei, J., et al. (2020). Recapitulation of SARS-CoV-2 infection and cholangiocyte damage with human liver ductal organoids. *Protein Cell* 11, 771–775. doi: 10.1007/s13238-020-00718-6
- Zheng, J., Wong, L.-Y. R., Li, K., Verma, A. K., Ortiz, M. E., Wohlford-Lenane, C., et al. (2021). COVID-19 treatments and pathogenesis including anosmia in K18-hACE2 mice. *Nature* 589, 603–607. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2943-z

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Larijani, Foroughi-Heravani, Abedi, Tayanloo-Beik, Rezaei-Tavirani, Adibi and Arjmand. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





T Cell Immunity Evaluation and Immunodominant Epitope T Cell Receptor Identification of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Spike Glycoprotein in COVID-19 Convalescent Patients

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Abdelkrim Hmadcha, Universidad Pablo de Olavide, Spain

Reviewed by:

Patompon Wongtrakoongate, Mahidol University, Thailand Bernat Soria, Miguel Hernández University of Elche, Spain

*Correspondence:

Aishun Jin aishunjin@cqmu.edu.cn †These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 17 April 2021 Accepted: 22 September 2021 Published: 03 November 2021

Citation:

Li L, Chen Q, Han X, Shen M, Hu C, Chen S, Zhang J, Wang Y, Li T, Huang J, Li S, Hao Y and Jin A (2021) T Cell Immunity Evaluation and Immunodominant Epitope T Cell Receptor Identification of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Spike Glycoprotein in COVID-19 Convalescent Patients. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:696662. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.696662 Luo Li^{1,2†}, Qian Chen^{1,2†}, Xiaojian Han^{1,2†}, Meiying Shen³, Chao Hu^{1,2}, Siyin Chen^{1,2}, Jing Zhang^{1,2}, Yingming Wang^{1,2}, Tingting Li^{1,2}, Jingjing Huang^{1,2}, Shenglong Li^{1,2}, Yanan Hao^{1,2} and Aishun Jin^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Immunology, College of Basic Medicine, Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ² Chongqing Key Laboratory of Cancer Immunology Translational Medicine, Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ³ Department of Endocrine Breast Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China

A better understanding of the role of T cells in the immune response to Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) is helpful not only for vaccine development but also for the treatment of COVID-19 patients. In this study, we determined the existence of SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells in the blood of COVID-19 convalescents. Meanwhile, the specific T cell response in the non-RBD region was stronger than in the RBD region. We also found that SARS-CoV-2 S-specific reactive CD4⁺ T cells exhibited higher frequency than CD8⁺ T cells in recovered COVID-19 patients, with greater number of corresponding epitopes presented. Importantly, we isolated the SARS-CoV-2-specific CD4⁺ T cell receptors (TCRs) and inserted the TCRs into allogenic CD4⁺ T cells. These TCR-T cells can be activated by SARS-CoV-2 spike peptide and produce IFN- γ *in vitro*. These results might provide valuable information for the development of vaccines and new therapies against COVID-19.

Keywords: SARS-CoV-2, COVID-19, T cell epitope, TCR, TCR-T

INTRODUCTION

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has been identified as the cause of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). As of June 17, 2021, more than 3 million deaths and 176 million cases have been reported worldwide.¹ Vaccines play an important role in the battle against COVID-19, and multiple vaccines have been rolled out in countries (Anderson et al., 2020; Polack et al., 2020; Voysey et al., 2021; Xia et al., 2021). The level of neutralizing antibody has been

¹https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html

reported to decrease both in most of the asymptomatic and symptomatic groups during the early convalescent phase (Long et al., 2020), with no high concentration of neutralizing activity found even in most recovered plasma samples (Li et al., 2020; Robbiani et al., 2020), suggesting that the effective window for the neutralizing antibody induced by vaccines may be relatively limited.

According to the research of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) and Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), T cell immunity plays a decisive part in the disease recovery and long-lasting protection (Zhao et al., 2010, 2016; Channappanavar et al., 2014a; Ng et al., 2016). T cells can clear the virus even in the absence of antibodies and when the innate immune system is not activated (Zhao et al., 2010). Meanwhile, the depletion of CD4⁺ T cells during SARS-CoV infection will delay virus clearance (Chen et al., 2010). Furthermore, T cells help clean the SARS-CoV and, at the same time, form a long-lasting memory response to it (Fan et al., 2009; Ng et al., 2016). SARS-CoV-2 can induce virus-specific T cells in the absence of seroconversion (Sekine et al., 2020; Gallais et al., 2021). Hence, for SARS-CoV-2, T cell-mediated cellular immunity may present certain beneficial advances over antibodies, and a strong and extensive T cell response may be essential for continuous immune protection against SARS-CoV-2. T cell-mediated cellular immunity largely depends on the recognition of its antigen presented by the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) through its T cell receptors (TCRs; Hu et al., 2021). Therefore, it is crucial to obtain SARS-CoV-2-specific TCRs with high functionalities for the immunological protection of this highly mutated coronavirus.

The current study aimed to investigate the T cells' response to SARS-CoV-2 spike protein (S protein) and identify the S-specific TCR. We found a stronger and broader SARS-CoV-2 S protein-specific CD4⁺ T cell response in most COVID-19 convalescent patients. Specifically, we have identified an immunodominant epitope B65 within the S protein, which presents a unique value for the peptide vaccine development. Further, we found an S-specific TCR targeting the immunodominant peptide B65. We also showed that normal CD4⁺ T cells constructed with B65-targeted TCRs exhibit functional reactivity against SARS-CoV-2 S. Our study provided valuable information for developing potential vaccines and new treatment strategies against COVID-19.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

COVID-19 Convalescent Patients and Healthy People

Blood samples of COVID-19 convalescent patients were collected from the Yongchuan Hospital of Chongqing Medical University and the Third Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University. Healthy people's blood samples, which were never exposed to SARS-CoV-2 or chronic infections, include hepatitis B or C, HIV, and Syphilis, which were collected from the Center of Immunology Research, Chongqing Medical University. This project was approved by the ethics committee of Chongqing Medical University (20200310). Informed consent was obtained from all individual donors before this research.

Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell Isolation

Whole blood was diluted with an equal volume of Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with 2% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco) and mixed gently. The diluted samples were pipetted down the side of the SepMateTM-50 tube (Stemcell Technologies, Vancouver, BC, Canada) with added LymphoprepTM (Stemcell). To separate peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), the diluted blood samples with density gradient medium were centrifuged at 1,200 × *g* for 10 min with the brake applied at room temperature. PBMCs were washed twice using PBS supplemented with 2% FBS (between the washes, spinning at 1,000 g, for 7 min at RT, and discarding the supernatant) and were cryopreserved until subsequent analysis.

Enrichment of IFN- γ -Secreting and CD4⁺T Cells

For the enrichment of IFN- γ -secreting T cells, peptide pools (5 μ M/peptide) for 6 h were used to stimulate the PBMCs of recovered COVID-19 patients. Then, IFN- γ -secreting T cells were caught using IFN- γ Secretion Assay Cell Enrichment and Detection Kit (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). CD4⁺T cells were selected by EasySep Human CD4⁺ T Cell Enrichment Kit (Stemcell).

T Cell Receptor Sequencing and Analysis

T cell receptor sequencing and analysis were performed as previously described (Hu et al., 2021). In short, RT PCR and nested PCR were used to amplify the TCR α and TCR β chain genes. Then, the PCR products were analyzed by sequencing (Tsingke, Guangzhou, China). The IMGT/V-QUEST tool was used to analyze the TCR repertoire.

Cell Culture

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells and CD4⁺Jurkat cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 (Gibco) containing 10% FBS, 2 mM GlutaMAXTM, 25 mM HEPES, and 10 µg/ml gentamicin (Gibco, Grand Island, NY, United States) and 55 µM 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States). 293T cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM GlutaMAXTM, 1 mM sodium pyruvate (Gibco), and MEM NEAA supplement (Gibco). IFN- γ -secreting T cells were expanded using irradiated (50-Gy) allogeneic PBMCs at a ratio of 1:100. The cells were cultured in a mixture medium [complete media: stocktickerAIM-V media (Gibco) = 1:1] containing 30 ng/ml OKT3 antibody (Miltenyi Biotec) and 3,000 IU/ml IL2 (PeproTech). All cells were cultured for 14 days before use.

Construction of Lentivirus Vectors and Cell Infection

Lentivirus vector construction and lentivirus production were established as previously described (Hu et al., 2021). To generate

TCR-transduced-CD4⁺ T and TCR-transduced-CD4⁺ Jurkat cells, CD4⁺ T cells were stimulated with 1 μ g/ml OKT3 antibody and 1 μ g/ml anti-CD28 antibody (Miltenyi Biotec) and cultured in a complete medium containing 100 IU/ml IL-2 for 48 h. CD4⁺ Jurkat cells and stimulated CD4⁺ T cells were seeded into 24-well-plates and incubated with 500 μ l lentivirus and 500 μ l RPMI 1640 for 6 h. Next, 500 μ l complete medium was replaced with a 2-ml complete medium and incubated for 48 h. Then, the cells were harvested and used for subsequent assays.

Stimulation of Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells With Peptides and Cocultured Experiment

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were stimulated with peptide (5 μ M) 24 or 48 h after resting overnight in complete medium. Supernatants of 24 h were collected for enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) to detect cytokine. Stimulated cells of 48 h were used to test SARS-CoV-2 specific T cells by flow cytometry. For a cocultured experiment: PBMCs as presenting cells were labeled with a 5- μ M peptide for 2 h at 37°C. The PBMCs were washed twice with PBS before coculturing with TCR-transduced CD4⁺ T or TCR-transduced-CD4⁺ Jurkat cells for 24 or 6 h, respectively. Flow cytometry was used to check the activated cells.

Flow Cytometry Analysis

The immunological phenotypes of PBMCs were assessed by flow cytometry using the following surface markers: BV510-anti-CD3, PerCP-Cy5.5-anti-CD4, FITC-anti-CD8, PE-anti-CD19, APC-anti-CD45RA, BV412-anti-CCR7, BV605-anti-CD56, PEanti-CD14, APC-anti-CD16 (BioLegend). The IFN-y-secreting T cells were detected using PE-anti-IFN-γ (Miltenyi Biotec) and BV510-anti-CD3. After stimulation with peptide for 48 h, the SARS-CoV-2 specific T cells were tested applying BV510anti-CD3, PerCP-Cy5.5-anti-CD4, FITC-anti-CD8 and BV421anti-CD137, and APC-anti-CD134 (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, United States). The activations of TCR-transduced-CD4⁺ Jurkat and TCR-transduced-CD4⁺ T cells were assayed using PerCP-Cy5.5-anti-CD4, APC-anti-mTCRβ, PE-anti-CD69, PEanti-IFN-y, and BV421-anti-CD137. In brief, cells were stained with various Abs at room temperature for 20 min. Then, the cells were washed with PBS and stained for 15 min using LIVE/DEAD viability dye (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States). Data were acquired using the FACSCelesta cytometer and analyzed by FlowJo software. For single-cell acquisition, CD3⁺CD4⁺CD134⁺CD137⁺T cells were sorted into 96-well PCR plates (Bio-Rad) at a single-cell level using FACSAria III.

IFN-y ELISA Assays

IFN- γ capture antibody (2 µg/ml, BioLegend) and IFN- γ detection antibody (1 µg/ml, BioLegend) were used to detect cytokine. The ELISA plate (Corning) was coated overnight with a capture antibody at 4°C and washed three times with PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20 (PBST), then blocked with 3% BSA

at 37°C for 1 h. Then, supernatants were added to the ELISA plate (50 μ l/well) and incubated at 37°C for 1 h. After washing with PBST for five times, the detection antibody was added and incubated at 37°C for 30 min. The plate was incubated with streptavidin-ALP (1:1,000) at 37°C for 30 min after washing with PBST five times. Next, the plate was washed with PBST six times, followed by incubation with 50 μ l pNPP solution (Mabtech, Stockholm, Sweden) at 37°C for 40 min. Finally, the plate was analyzed *via* the Varioskan LUX Multimode Microplate Reader at 405 nm.

Statistical Analysis

GraphPad Prism 8.0 was used for statistical analyses. Data are shown as the mean \pm SD. The unpaired *t*-test and Spearman's test were used for data analysis. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Immunological Phenotypes of Recovered COVID-19 Patients

Peripheral blood samples from 10 recovered individuals of COVID-19 were collected to study the T cells' immune response to SARS-CoV-2. All participants were diagnosed with mild COVID-19, including four men and six women, ranging from 32 to 59 years old, with a median age of 47. From symptom onset or positive PCR results to discharge, the recovery time is 7–26 days, with a median recovery time of 18 days. As a control group, we collected 10 healthy people who had not been infected with SARS-CoV-2.

To characterize cellular immunological phenotypes, we isolated PBMCs from the convalescent patients and the healthy controls for subsequent multicolor flow cytometry analysis. The proportions of B cells, monocytes, and natural killer (NK) cells were similar in the two groups (**Figures 1A–C**). Meanwhile, no significant differences were observed in the frequencies of CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells between the recovered group and the control group (**Figures 1D–G**). We also assess the subtype of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. The frequencies of CD4⁺ central memory T cells (T_{CM}), CD8⁺ T_{CM}, and CD8⁺ effector T cells (T_{EF}) were relatively higher in the recovered group than in the control group (**Figures 1H,I**).

Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Spike Glycoprotein-Reactive T Cells in Recovered COVID-19 Patients

To study SARS-CoV-2-specific T cell response, we selected S protein for being a key protein for viral entry affecting viral infections and being a target for vaccines (Anderson et al., 2020; Polack et al., 2020; Wrapp et al., 2020; Voysey et al., 2021; Weinreich et al., 2021; Xia et al., 2021). To this end, we designed 317 peptides containing 15 amino acids (aa), with 11-aa overlaps, to span the entire S protein. These peptides were divided into 32 mixed pools (Mix), each consisting of



10 peptides. The N-terminal of the S protein is designated as S-I, containing non-receptor-binding domain (non-RBD, S-I-N; Mix21-31) regions and the RBD (Mix15-20), while the C-terminal of the S protein is called SII (Mix32-46) (Figure 2A). To increase the amount of SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells, we performed rapid expansion in vitro. As shown in Figure 2B, the expansion process successfully increased the frequencies of SARS-CoV-2 specific T cells in 75% samples, although with only a slight effect on the samples of C10 and C28. Then, we determined the activation of the specific T cell populations by ELISA for the IFN- γ secretion post *in vitro* restimulation with different peptide pools for 24 h. We found that T cells specifically responding to multiple regions of the S protein do exist in the PBMCs of all recovered COVID-19 patients. These specific T cells demonstrated different reactivities to different regions of SARS-COV-2 S, which were 100% for S-I-N, 75% for RBD, and 87.5% for S-II. Of note, the RBD region accounted for the weakest T cell response from the majority of patient samples, including two that showed barely detectable levels of IFN- γ (Figure 2C). Further, we analyzed the magnitude and breadth of T cell reactivity to different S protein regions in detail. Collected T cell responses to individual Mix were compared, and we found that both S-I-N and S-II corresponded to larger numbers of peptide pools with better potential to induce IFN-y secretion, despite individual variations (Figures 2D,E). To investigate the clinical relevance of such T cell reactivity, we used Spearman's linear correlation and found no significant correlation between the magnitude and

breadth of T cell responses and patient age or the time of recovery (**Figures 2F–I**). Overall, these results indicated that the PBMCs of recovered COVID-19 patients contained specific populations of T cells with high reactivity to SARS-CoV-2 S protein, of which the RBD region might induce a relatively lower level of T cell responses.

Identification of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 S Protein-Specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T Cell Epitopes

To better characterize the specific epitopes for SARS-CoV-2 Sreactive T cells, single peptides from each positive mixture pool were used to stimulate T cells from recovered COVID-19 patients. A total of 11 peptides containing SARS-CoV-2 T cell epitopes were recognized by recovered COVID-19 patients PBMCs, 2 from S-I-N, 3 from RBD, and 6 from S-II (**Figures 3A,B** and **Table 1**). The T cells from C8 and C11 participants recognized 7 and 6 peptides, respectively (**Figure 3B** and **Table 1**). Furthermore, we determined whether these 11 positive peptides had preferential correspondence to CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells. Flow cytometry analysis showed that the frequency of SARS-CoV-2-specific CD4 + T cells was higher than that of CD8⁺ T cells (**Figure 3C**). Specifically, peptide B65 from S-I-N was recognized in seven out of eight participants (87.5%) and contained at least two epitopes recognized by CD4⁺ T cells or



 $CD8^+$ T cells (**Figure 3D** and **Table 1**). Moreover, we found that 10 of 11 peptides induced the activation of $CD4^+$ T cells, while only four peptides induced the activation of $CD8^+$ T cells (**Table 1**). Two patients, C8 and C11, whose samples were reactive to more peptides than the rest of the participants, contain both $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ SARS-CoV-2 S-specific T cells (**Table 1**). These results indicated that the $CD4^+$ subtypes predominantly managed the positive T cell responses to SARS-CoV-2 S protein.

Meanwhile, we evaluate the cross-reactivity of the PBMCs from healthy people to these positive peptides via IFN-y ELISA assays. Only the B250 peptide was found to induce a relatively higher level of T cell responses from 2 of 10 healthy donors (Figure 3E). Due to the reported similarity between SARS-CoV-2 and the common cold coronavirus (Mateus et al., 2020; Nelde et al., 2021), we examined the homology of the positive peptides to a few coronaviruses. We found that 10 of 11 positive peptides exhibited the highest degree of homology to SARS-CoV, followed by MERS-CoV, whereas B38 was specific to SARS-CoV-2 S protein (Figure 3F). Also, the majority of these positive peptides share a certain extent of sequence similarities to the human common cold coronaviruses 229E, HKU1, NL63, and OC43. Among them, the sequence of B250 showed a high resemblance to all coronaviruses examined. Notably, the immunodominant peptide B65 showed approximately 60% sequence similarity to SARS-CoV and 40% to MERS-CoV, while it presented relatively low homology levels to the four common cold coronaviruses (Figure 3F). These findings demonstrated the existence of SARS-CoV-2 S-reactive T cells in healthy people, and such cross-reactivity was highly likely due to the sequence similarity

between the S protein and those of the human common cold coronaviruses.

Reactivity of B65-Specific CD4⁺ TCR-T Cells to B65 Peptide *in vitro*

To identify the TCRs responsible for the specific T cell reaction to the immunodominant peptide B65, we sorted the CD134⁺CD137⁺CD4⁺ T cell population from the C11 sample at a single-cell level. All TCRs were examined by amplifying single-cell TCR genes and analyzing the TCR sequences by IMGT. Finally, a total of seven dominant TCRs were established in B65-specific TCR repertoire (Figure 4A). The top three dominant TCR clones (TCR1-3) were transduced into CD4⁺ Jurkat and the allogenic CD4⁺ T cells. As shown in Figure 4B, TCR1 and TCR2 were expressed in CD4⁺ Jurkat and CD4⁺ T cells both at high levels. To determine whether B65 could be recognized by the engineered cells, we loaded this peptide to PBMCs, which act as antigen-presenting cells, followed by a coculture with TCR-transduced CD4⁺ Jurkat or CD4⁺ T cells. The elevated expression of CD69 suggested that B65 can activate both TCR1- and TCR2-transduced Jurkat cells (Figure 4C left). Also, the increased levels of CD137 expression and IFN-y secretion demonstrated that B65 could induce the activation of TCR1-transduced CD4⁺ T, while TCR2 expressing CD4⁺ T was not responsive (Figure 4C right). These results showed that we successfully identified a specific CD4⁺ TCR against B65. In conclusion, we presented a dominant epitope of SARS-CoV-2 S from the PBMCs of COVID-19 convalescent



FIGURE 3 | Identification of SARS-CoV-2 S protein-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell epitopes. (A) The structure of SARS-COV-2 spike glycoprotein. (B) IFN- γ was determined by ELISA. 2 × 10⁻⁵ PBMCs for each participant were stimulated with a single peptide from positive mix pools (24 h). (C) The frequency of reactive CD4 + and CD8 + T cells to each peptide in participants. (D) FC plot example. FC was used to detect the reactive CD4 + T cells (CD3 + CD4 + CD8-CD134 + CD137 +) or CD8 + T cells (CD3 + CD4-CD8 + CD137 + CD134 +) in PBMCs stimulated by positive peptide or MART-1 (negative control) (48 h). (E) IFN- γ ELISA assays were used to evaluate the cross-reactivity of HP to peptide. 1 × 10⁻⁶ PBMCs for each HP were stimulated with each peptide (24 h). (F) The proportion of sequence identity of SARS-CoV-2 spike glycoprotein to the spike glycoproteins of SARS-COV, MERS-COV, and human common cold coronaviruses 229E, HKU1, NL63, and OC43. IFN- γ , interferon- γ ; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; PBMCs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; FC, flow cytometry; SARS-CoV-2, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; SARS-COV, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus; MERS-COV, Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV); MART-1, melanoma-associated antigen.

	Peptide	position	Amino acid sequence	CD4 + /CD8 + T cell response	Participants
S-I-N (N = 2)	B38	149–163	NKSWMESEFRVYSSA	CD4	C11 ^a
	B65	257–271	GWTAGAAAYYVGYLQ	CD4/CD8	C10 ^c , C11 ^a , C16 ^c C24 ^a , C25 ^a , C28 ^a , C36 ^c
RBD (N = 3)	S11	359–373	SNCVADYSVLYNSAS	CD8	C8 ^b
	S14	371–385	SASFSTFKCYGVSPT	CD4	C8 ^a
	S33	447-461	GNYNYLYRLFRKSNL	CD4	C28 ^a
S-II (N = 4)	B135 B136	745–759 749–763	DSTECSNLLLQYGSF CSNLLLQYGSFCTQL	CD4 CD4	C8 ^a , C11 ^a C8 ^a , C11 ^a
	B165	865-879	LTDEMIAQYTSALLA	CD4	C8 ^a , C11 ^a
	B166 B234	869–883 1141–1155	MIAQYTSALLAGTIT LQPELDSFKEELDKY	CD4 CD4/CD8	C8 ^a , C11 ^a C8 ^c
	B250	1205-1219	KYEQYIKWPWYIWLG	CD4/CD8	C28 ^c

TABLE 1 | Peptides containing T cell epitopes.

^aCD4⁺T cell response. ^bCD8⁺T cell response. ^Cboth CD4⁺ and CD8⁺T cell response.



patients, represented by the peptide B65, together with its specific functional TCR for CD4⁺ T cells.

DISCUSSION

This study found that SARS-CoV-2 S-specific reactive CD4 + T cells exhibited a higher frequency than CD8⁺ T cells in recovered

COVID-19 patients, with a greater number of corresponding epitopes presented. Importantly, we identified a peptide B65 within the S-I-N region containing immunodominant epitopes for CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, and it could induce a strong T cell response in convalescent PBMCs. Further, we successfully obtained the CD4⁺ TCRs recognizing B65 and confirmed that the constructed B65 TCR-T could display strong functional activity against SARS-CoV-2 S. Our findings provide vital information for understanding the cellular immunity against SARS-CoV-2 and for the development of effective strategies for COVID-19 treatment.

Compared with healthy people, COVID-19 convalescent patients were shown with similar T cells, yet they contained a significantly larger proportion of T_{CM} cells in their PBMCs. This finding was in line with the previous discovery that the majority of SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells exhibited T_{CM} phenotypes (Peng et al., 2020). Due to the limitation of sample size, we did not determine the specificity of these T_{CM} cells. Nevertheless, the overall robust response to the S protein indicated that recovered patients from COVID-19 might exhibit resistance to SARS-CoV-2-antigen reexposure. Moreover, we presented the evidence that both the frequency and epitopes of SARS-CoV-2-specific CD4⁺ T cells were higher than those of CD8⁺ T cells, which were consistent with recent findings in COVID-19 convalescents (Grifoni et al., 2020; Sekine et al., 2020). Given the divergent role of CD4⁺ T cells in regulating both humoral immunity and cellular immunity, we suspect that the relatively mild disease severity of these COVID-19 patients included in our study may benefit from a stronger CD4⁺ T cell response to SARS-CoV-2. This was supported by the recent finding that the number of SARS-CoV-2 S-specific CD4⁺ T cells was positively correlated with the anti-S RBD IgG titers and magnitude of SARS-COV-2 S-specific CD8⁺ T cells (Grifoni et al., 2020).

Knowledge obtained from studying SARS-CoV indicates that B cells and antibodies are comparatively short-lived (1-2 years), whereas memory T cells exhibit a longer life span (>6-17 years) (Channappanavar et al., 2014b; Zhao et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2020). Therefore, T cell immunity can be used to evaluate the timely effectiveness of vaccines and as a reflection of the long-term protection provided by vaccines. In this study, we evidenced that B65 within the S-I-N region of SARS-CoV-2 S could be recognized by the PBMCs of almost all participants tested, indicating that T cell responses and neutralizing antibodies might favor different regions of the S protein. To be noted, B65 does not contain any amino acids corresponding to the mutations of the highly infectious SARS-CoV-2 variants, such as B.1.1.7, B.1.351, B.1.28, and B.1.617 (Supplementary Material). Hence, B65 may serve as a valuable addition for assessing specific T cell responses post-vaccination, and it can also be used as a potential candidate for peptide vaccine development to trigger effective T cell response.

The T cell immune response plays an essential role in intracellular viral clearance (Yang et al., 2020; Weinreich et al., 2021). However, in COVID-19 patients, the total number of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells was significantly reduced, and their phenotype exhibited exhaustion markers, which usually lead to the functional impairment of T cells (Diao et al., 2020; Zheng H. Y. et al., 2020; Zheng M. et al., 2020). Hence, improving virus-specific T cell response may be the key to recovering COVID-19 patients, especially for severe cases. Adoptive T cell therapies have been proven to be an effective treatment approach against malignant tumors and viral infections (Leen et al., 2006). Studies have shown that there were SARS-CoV-2-specific memory T

cells in COVID-19 convalescents (Ferreras et al., 2021; Perez-Martinez et al., 2021), and the symptoms were significantly improved in patients with SARS-CoV-2 after being treated with SARS-CoV-2-specific memory T cells (Perez-Martinez et al., 2021). This result indicated that adoptive T cell therapies are an effective treatment for COVID-19. This study presented an S-specific TCR targeting the immunodominant peptide B65, with functional significance against SARS-CoV-2. Future studies with an enhanced transfection efficiency of TCRs and corresponding detailed functional verification *in vivo* may significantly increase the efficacy of SARS-CoV-2-specific CD4⁺ TCR-T cells and help us to better evaluate this potential therapeutic method for treating COVID-19 patients.

Both TCR and HLA are the restriction factors for TCR-T therapies. Previous work identified 30 HLA class I and 45 HLA class II alleles of HLA-restricted epitopes, which cover the most common specificities in the general worldwide population (Grifoni et al., 2021). To cover most populations, more TCR should be acquired based on these epitopes. Especially, to avoid host versus graft reaction (HVGR) and graft versus host reaction (GVHR), the patient autologous T cells can be used to construct TCR-T cells when treating COVID-19.

In conclusion, we confirmed that SARS-CoV-2 S protein induces strong and broad CD4⁺ T cell responses in the majority of COVID-19 convalescent patients. Further, we presented an immunodominant epitope B65 which might be a valuable candidate for peptide vaccine development. Importantly, SARS-CoV-2-specific-TCR-T cells could be a new approach of COVID-19 treatment.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Chongqing Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AJ designed the study. XH, QC, MS, CH, SC, TL, YW, YH, JH, and SL were responsible for collecting the samples. LL, XH, QC, MS, CH, SC, and JZ performed the experiments. LL, XH, and QC performed the single-cell TCR cloning. LL and QC performed the data analysis. AJ, LL, and QC wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Emergency Project from Chongqing Medical University and Chongqing Medical University fund (X4457).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the Yongchuan Hospital of Chongqing Medical University and the Third Affiliated Hospital of

REFERENCES

- Anderson, E. J., Rouphael, N. G., Widge, A. T., Jackson, L. A., Roberts, P. C., Makhene, M., et al. (2020). Safety and immunogenicity of SARS-CoV-2 mRNA-1273 Vaccine in older adults. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 383, 2427–2438. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa2028436
- Channappanavar, R., Fett, C., Zhao, J., Meyerholz, D. K., and Perlman, S. (2014a). Virus-specific memory CD8 T cells provide substantial protection from lethal severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection. *J. Virol.* 88, 11034– 11044. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01505-14
- Channappanavar, R., Zhao, J., and Perlman, S. (2014b). T cell-mediated immune response to respiratory coronaviruses. *Immunol. Res.* 59, 118–128. doi: 10.1007/s12026-014-8534-z
- Chen, J., Lau, Y. F., Lamirande, E. W., Paddock, C. D., Bartlett, J. H., Zaki, S. R., et al. (2010). Cellular immune responses to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) infection in senescent BALB/c mice: CD4+ T cells are important in control of SARS-CoV infection. J. Virol. 84, 1289–1301. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01281-09
- Diao, B., Wang, C., Tan, Y., Chen, X., Liu, Y., Ning, L., et al. (2020). Reduction and functional exhaustion of T cells in patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Front. Immunol. 11:827. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00827
- Fan, Y. Y., Huang, Z. T., Li, L., Wu, M. H., Yu, T., Koup, R. A., et al. (2009). Characterization of SARS-CoV-specific memory T cells from recovered individuals 4 years after infection. *Arch. Virol.* 154, 1093–1099. doi: 10.1007/ s00705-009-0409-6
- Ferreras, C., Pascual-Miguel, B., Mestre-Duran, C., Navarro-Zapata, A., Clares-Villa, L., Martin-Cortazar, C., et al. (2021). SARS-CoV-2-specific memory T lymphocytes from COVID-19 convalescent donors: identification, biobanking, and large-scale production for adoptive cell therapy. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9:620730. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.620730
- Gallais, F., Velay, A., Nazon, C., Wendling, M. J., Partisani, M., Sibilia, J., et al. (2021). Intrafamilial exposure to SARS-CoV-2 associated with cellular immune response without seroconversion, France. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 27, 113–121. doi: 10.3201/eid2701.203611
- Grifoni, A., Sidney, J., Vita, R., Peters, B., Crotty, S., Weiskopf, D., et al. (2021). SARS-CoV-2 human T cell epitopes: adaptive immune response against COVID-19. *Cell Host Microbe* 29, 1076–1092. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2021.05.010
- Grifoni, A., Weiskopf, D., Ramirez, S. I., Mateus, J., Dan, J. M., Moderbacher, C. R., et al. (2020). Targets of T cell responses to SARS-CoV-2 Coronavirus in humans with COVID-19 Disease and Unexposed Individuals. *Cell* 181, 1489.e15–1501.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.015
- Hu, C., Shen, M., Han, X., Chen, Q., Li, L., Chen, S., et al. (2021). Identification of cross-reactive CD8(+) T cell receptors with high functional avidity to a SARS-CoV-2 immunodominant epitope and its natural mutant variants. *Genes Dis.* (in press). doi: 10.1016/j.gendis.2021.05.006
- Leen, A. M., Myers, G. D., Sili, U., Huls, M. H., Weiss, H., Leung, K. S., et al. (2006). Monoculture-derived T lymphocytes specific for multiple viruses expand and produce clinically relevant effects in immunocompromised individuals. *Nat. Med.* 12, 1160–1166. doi: 10.1038/nm1475
- Li, S., Wang, W., Li, T., Han, X., Hu, C., Wang, Y., et al. (2020). Immune characteristics analysis reveals two key inflammatory factors correlated to the expressions of SARS-CoV-2 S1-specific antibodies. *Genes Dis.* (in press). doi: 10.1016/j.gendis.2020.12.007

Chongqing Medical University. We also thank all donors for their support. We appreciate the Department of Immunology of Toyama University for kindly providing technical advices.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcell.2021. 696662/full#supplementary-material

- Lin, Q., Zhu, L., Ni, Z., Meng, H., and You, L. (2020). Duration of serum neutralizing antibodies for SARS-CoV-2: lessons from SARS-CoV infection. J. Microbiol. Immunol. Infect. 53, 821–822. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2020.03.015
- Long, Q. X., Tang, X. J., Shi, Q. L., Li, Q., Deng, H. J., Yuan, J., et al. (2020). Clinical and immunological assessment of asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infections. *Nat. Med.* 26, 1200–1204. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0965-6
- Mateus, J., Grifoni, A., Tarke, A., Sidney, J., Ramirez, S. I., Dan, J. M., et al. (2020). Selective and cross-reactive SARS-CoV-2 T cell epitopes in unexposed humans. *Science* 370, 89–94. doi: 10.1126/science.abd3871
- Nelde, A., Bilich, T., Heitmann, J. S., Maringer, Y., Salih, H. R., Roerden, M., et al. (2021). SARS-CoV-2-derived peptides define heterologous and COVID-19-induced T cell recognition. *Nat. Immunol.* 22, 74–85. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-00808-x
- Ng, O. W., Chia, A., Tan, A. T., Jadi, R. S., Leong, H. N., Bertoletti, A., et al. (2016). Memory T cell responses targeting the SARS coronavirus persist up to 11 years post-infection. *Vaccine* 34, 2008–2014. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.02.063
- Peng, Y., Mentzer, A. J., Liu, G., Yao, X., Yin, Z., Dong, D., et al. (2020). Broad and strong memory CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells induced by SARS-CoV-2 in UK convalescent individuals following COVID-19. *Nat. Immunol.* 21, 1336–1345. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0782-6
- Perez-Martinez, A., Mora-Rillo, M., Ferreras, C., Guerra-Garcia, P., Pascual-Miguel, B., Mestre-Duran, C., et al. (2021). Phase I dose-escalation single centre clinical trial to evaluate the safety of infusion of memory T cells as adoptive therapy in COVID-19 (RELEASE). *EClinicalMedicine* 39:101086. doi: 10.1016/ j.eclinm.2021.101086
- Polack, F. P., Thomas, S. J., Kitchin, N., Absalon, J., Gurtman, A., Lockhart, S., et al. (2020). Safety and efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine. N. Engl. J. Med. 383, 2603–2615. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2034577
- Robbiani, D. F., Gaebler, C., Muecksch, F., Lorenzi, J. C. C., Wang, Z., Cho, A., et al. (2020). Convergent antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 in convalescent individuals. *Nature* 584, 437–442. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2456-9
- Sekine, T., Perez-Potti, A., Rivera-Ballesteros, O., Stralin, K., Gorin, J. B., Olsson, A., et al. (2020). Robust T cell immunity in convalescent individuals with asymptomatic or mild COVID-19. *Cell* 183, 158.e14–168.e14. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2020.08.017
- Voysey, M., Clemens, S. A. C., Madhi, S. A., Weckx, L. Y., Folegatti, P. M., Aley, P. K., et al. (2021). Safety and efficacy of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine (AZD1222) against SARS-CoV-2: an interim analysis of four randomised controlled trials in Brazil. South Africa, and the UK. *Lancet* 397, 99–111. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)32661-1
- Weinreich, D. M., Sivapalasingam, S., Norton, T., Ali, S., Gao, H., Bhore, R., et al. (2021). REGN-COV2, a neutralizing antibody cocktail, in outpatients with Covid-19. N. Engl. J. Med. 384, 238–251. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2035002
- Wrapp, D., Wang, N., Corbett, K. S., Goldsmith, J. A., Hsieh, C. L., Abiona, O., et al. (2020). Cryo-EM structure of the 2019-nCoV spike in the prefusion conformation. *Science* 367, 1260–1263. doi: 10.1126/science.abb2507
- Xia, S., Zhang, Y., Wang, Y., Wang, H., Yang, Y., Gao, G. F., et al. (2021). Safety and immunogenicity of an inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine, BBIBP-CorV: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 1/2 trial. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 21, 39–51. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(20)30831-8
- Yang, Y., Islam, M. S., Wang, J., Li, Y., and Chen, X. (2020). Traditional chinese medicine in the treatment of patients infected with 2019-New Coronavirus

(SARS-CoV-2): a review and perspective. Int. J. Biol. Sci. 16, 1708-1717. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.45538

- Zhao, J., Zhao, J., Mangalam, A. K., Channappanavar, R., Fett, C., Meyerholz, D. K., et al. (2016). Airway Memory CD4(+) T cells mediate protective immunity against emerging respiratory coronaviruses. *Immunity* 44, 1379–1391. doi: 10. 1016/j.immuni.2016.05.006
- Zhao, J., Zhao, J., and Perlman, S. (2010). T cell responses are required for protection from clinical disease and for virus clearance in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-infected mice. J. Virol. 84, 9318–9325. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01049-10
- Zheng, H. Y., Zhang, M., Yang, C. X., Zhang, N., Wang, X. C., Yang, X. P., et al. (2020). Elevated exhaustion levels and reduced functional diversity of T cells in peripheral blood may predict severe progression in COVID-19 patients. *Cell Mol. Immunol.* 17, 541–543. doi: 10.1038/s41423-020-0401-3
- Zheng, M., Gao, Y., Wang, G., Song, G., Liu, S., Sun, D., et al. (2020). Functional exhaustion of antiviral lymphocytes in COVID-19 patients. *Cell Mol. Immunol.* 17, 533–535.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Li, Chen, Han, Shen, Hu, Chen, Zhang, Wang, Li, Huang, Li, Hao and Jin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

